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AR 2012 – ShowcASing 
ouR tAlentS
Our leitmotiv for this year’s annual 
report is talents. In picture, graphic 
and written form, we aim to showcase 
the talents that characterise people, 
teams and projects at each of the sub-
sidiaries in the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group. Of course, talented people 
enjoy working with other talented 
people, so we asked some talented 
young photographers to call in on and 
take pictures of our colleagues at each 
of our locations. You will find a brief 
profile of our roving photographers 
at the beginning of the articles they 
helped to produce. For more informa-
tion on the Internet about each article, 
simply use the QR codes.
We have even included a poster (see 
right) to give you an overview of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group. Just take 
it out and hang it up! If you would rat-
her check out our key results first, all 
you have to do is turn over the report.

A QR (quick response) code is a two-dimensional bar code that can be read by your 
smartphone or tablet using an app. The code then takes you directly to the website.
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What is Talent?

alent is an elusive concept. Some have it; some 
do not - or at least that is the commonly held 
perception. It is something magical, something 
you are born with, that flows in your blood. It is 
in your genes, or so people say.

That the notion of a divine calling is still firmly anchored in 
people‘s minds is shown by a survey conducted by TOM-
MOROW FOCUS AG in  February 2013. Most respondents 
thought that talent is something you are born with rather 
than something you can learn. But 90 percent are never-
theless aware that industry and application play a very im-
portant role. 
This contradiction comes as no surprise. Talent is a com-
plex phenomenon, one that has been occupying scientists 
of the most varied disciplines for many years. Psychologists, 
social scientists, mathematicians, biochemists, neurologists 
and neurobiologists are asking what talent is all about and 
whether it really is inherited or rather learned. For this pur-
pose scientists have developed increasingly more sophisti-
cated tests in order to find out how intellectual and creative 
skills can be recognised and nurtured.

so WHat Is talent? 

The very concept gives rise to questions. The dictionary of 
the German language, Duden, tells us that talent is a ‘gift 
that enables someone to attain above-average achievements 
in a certain area, particularly in the artistic field’. But nowa-
days it is by no means only musical and artistic disciplines 
that produce talent. Child prodigies are increasingly to be 
found in the fields of sport, mathematics and games, such 
as chess. And in times when television shows will soon have 
cast every adolescent in the nation and where the winners of 
the shows disappear again in next to no time, the concept of 
talent seems badly overstretched anyway. 
Admittedly, scientists are not completely unanimous that ta-
lent is not a gift of God. Some look for talent in the genes. 
Others think that it can be learned for the most part. The 
results of research, however, show that being gifted is not 
enough in order to achieve success. Rather, there are many 
factors at play in the development and nurturing of talent. 
This has been shown by diverse studies.
At the beginning of the 1990s the Swedish psychologist An-
ders Ericsson, today one of the world‘s most renowned talent 
researchers, already carried out a very extensive investigati-
on with his colleagues at the Florida State University to find 

out how excellence is achieved. He carried out a study with 
30 violin students at the Berlin Academy of the Arts. The pro-
fessors divided the students into three achievement groups. 
In all three groups the students practised their music for 
many hours a week. Ericsson discovered that the factor that 
distinguished the good from the excellent was the number of 
hours they practised. The best students had already had an 
average of 10,000 hours of practice at the age of 20. Ericsson 
came to the conclusion that people need 10,000 hours and 
10 years in order to achieve excellence. And according to 
Ericsson, this not only applies to music and the arts, but also 
to sports and contests.
According to the latest scientific findings, continuous dedi-
cation to the subject of one‘s passion is the secret of all disci-
plines: in music (Mozart at the tender age of six had already 
had some 3500 hours of instruction from his father), in art 
(Michelangelo lived at the house of a stonemason between 
the age of six and ten where he practised working in stone), 
in sport (Boris Becker was already accepted into youth team 
of the Baden Tennis Association at the age of 10).

But for Ericsson it was not only the number of hours spent 
practising that was crucial, but also their intensity. The best 
players had carried out most of their exercises with concen-
trated individual training, consistently practising the passa-
ges that they did not yet master and thus continually im-
proving their standards. From this it can be concluded that 
those who do not venture beyond their limits will not achieve 
excellence. Another important factor is a high degree of to-
lerance for frustration and the ability to cope with setbacks.
Even renowned artists, musicians and writers had to suffer 
serious disappointments until they finally found success. 
When the Beatles auditioned for the Decca record compa-
ny in London in 1962, for instance, a different band won 
the contract because the Decca manager found the Beatles 
a little old-fashioned. The author Joanne K. Rowling also 
sent her Harry Potter manuscript to countless agents and 
publishers only to receive rejections until the Bloomsbury 
publishing house decided to give her a chance. And Albert 
Einstein as a recently qualified lecturer for mathematics 
and physics applied to countless universities and also re-
ceived many rebuffs.

t
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What is Talent?

WHat dIstIngUIsHes tHe   
sUCCessFUl FRoM tHe MedIoCRe? 

Are they any cleverer? The fact that talent has not so much 
to do with intelligence as with memory is an opinion put for-
ward by brain researcher Gerhard Roth. Going by the fact 
that only around 50 percent of intelligence is inherited, he 
thinks that certain areas of the brains of people who are con-
sidered to be intelligent are particularly fast at processing 
 information. „Here the biggest role is played by the number 
of nerve cells and their contacts, the synapses. A person 
who knows more than others either has more nerve cells or 
more effective connections - or both.“ Gerhard Roth does 
not believe that there is such a thing as an intelligence gene. 
Rather, it is many years of practice that improves and acce-
lerates the interconnections between the nerves. In general 
brains undergo considerable changes, even after childhood. 
This is also shown by studies. Gerhard Roth thinks that the 
first three years are among the most important in a child‘s 
development. Relaxed nurturing is the magical formula here. 
Exaggerated demands or pressure to achieve have a negati-
ve effect on children‘s learning ability.
He also says that you cannot teach people talent that they 
do not possess. Rather, it is a question of nurturing existing 
talent. According to Roth, intelligence, motivation and appli-
cation are the determining factors that turn the good into the 
excellent. Among talented people there are also early develo-
pers who even as children know exactly where they are going. 
But late developers also have good chances of achieving a 
certain degree of success. It naturally goes without saying 
that enthusiastic piano players who only discover their passi-
on at an advanced age will not become concert pianists. But 
here too prominent biographies show that there are excep-
tions from the rule. The well-known author Astrid Lindgren 
published her first children‘s book at the age of 37 and Joanne 
K. Rowling was 32 when the first volume of Harry Potter was 
published. Ultimately, motivation, curiosity, interest and per-
severance determine success or failure. The mere conviction 
that one is useless at mathematics, writing, music or sport 
and that nothing can be done about it, can become a self-ful-
filling prophecy. This has been shown by a study carried out 
by Stanford University on schoolchildren in the fifth grade.

WHo Has talent?

It is usually mentors, teachers and managers who discover 
and promote talented people, namely those who have a cer-
tain interest in doing so. Many pop musicians become fa-
mous because producers decide who they want to become 
a big name. In the case of authors it is publishers, for artists 
gallery owners and for athletes it is functionaries who decide 
on weal and woe. Nowadays the search for new talent is an 
industry all of its own. All over the globe agents are looking 
for young athletes, musicians, writers and new faces. And 
in the economy head-hunters spend their time chasing the 
talented. But here too it can be seen that a single success is 
not enough. Only those who work on and develop their talent 
manage to keep their heads above water.

WHat aRe CoMpanIes doIng FoR  
tHeIR talented peRsonnel?

Finding suitable applicants is one thing, but how can com-
panies hold on to good staff? After all, in times where there 
is a shortage of skilled manpower a company‘s competitive-
ness stands and falls with the quality of its personnel. So all 
members of staff are scrutinised as part of what is known as 
‘talent management’, from trainees to executives. Develop-
ment assessment centres and development discussions with 
staff provide an insight into the individual talent in a com-
pany. Targeted further training and development, time off in 
the form of sabbaticals in order to gain new motivation, and 
creativity can trigger incentives for lifelong learning.

70 percent of the respondents of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
survey are very conscious of their talent and claim to be gif-
ted in some way. And 62.9 percent said that they use their 
talent in their job. In the case of 45.7 percent their talent 
influences their job performance, and 41.4 percent say that 
their talent has a strong to very strong influence on their 
achievements at work and in their everyday lives. Only 12.9 
percent say that their talent has no influence on their achie-
vements at work and in their everyday lives.
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What is Talent?

WHat ConClUsIons Can Be dRaWn?

Those who do not draw attention to themselves as children 
due to their talent, who are not furthered and stretched and 
who do not have the necessary qualities such as motivation, 
application, perseverance etc. will find it difficult to stand 
out due to their brilliant achievements. But persevering with 
passion, practising and going beyond one‘s limits can bring 
a reasonable degree of success. And the result of these ef-
forts does not necessarily have to be a second Mozart, a 
world-class chess champion or a successor to Michelangelo.

Encouragement 
and nurturing 

Important:

Motivation Diligence &
Application

Passion Perseverance

Practice

Going beyond 
one's limits

Inheritance

Talent

Early developers 
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TOMORROW FOCUS Media

he TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media opinion pool is a 
platform for the market 
research surveys of the 
digital content marke-

ting company, TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media. The survey platform regularly 
asks users for their opinion on topics 
concerning media and society. TO-
MORROW FOCUS Media is one of the 
first marketers to have built up its own 
survey platform. More than 3,500 parti-

cipants have already registered for the 
opinion pool and this number is incre-
asing daily. Anyone who takes part in 
a survey can collect points, which can 
then be exchanged for shopping vou-
chers, for example. 
The opinion pool is an additional ser-
vice for advertisers, agencies and pu-
blishers in the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media network. They can make exclu-
sive use of the online panel to obtain 
cost-effective, fast responses to indi-

vidual questions on every kind of to-
pic and campaign. The TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Media opinion pool makes it 
possible to carry out individual surve-
ys as well as to integrate questions in 
monthly or quarterly omnibus surveys. 
We have used the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media opinion pool to ask those taking 
part about our annual report theme 
of ‘talents’. The information graphic 
shows the answers given by 724 par-
ticipants.

ouR own pool!

Company profile:

TOMORROW FOCUS Media is a leading 
German premium digital ad network.  
 
Business model: Online marketing 

Employees: 65

Based in: 
Munich, Hamburg, Dusseldorf and  
Frankfurt/Main in Germany

Managing Director:

Martin Lütgenau, Oliver Eckert

Company: 

TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH

Website:

www.tomorrow-focus-media.de 

t

Here is the link  
to the opinion pool
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Internettalentschmiede52.6%

of those surveyed think 
a talent can be either 
acquired or inherited.

TALENT

More than 50 percent of those surveyed think talent is mostly connected 
with creativity. Only just under 19 percent associate talent with intelligence.

Overall, talents are 
believed to be innate 
rather than something
acquired.

E=mc2

Creativity Intelligence

50% 19%

More than

believe diligence 
plays an important or 
very important role 
in relation to talent.90.9%

Diligence

What types of talents 
impress people the most?Art & music

Memory
& language

Mathematics,
intelligence
& mental agility

Sports, crafts 
& intuition

of those surveyed state
that they are not impressed 
by particular talents in others.

1.5%

In general, people are greatly
 impressed by talents in others.

Only 

Ranking of people who received 5 or more nominations:Who has talent?
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of those surveyed 
believe real talents
can be discovered 
in talent shows
on TV.

43.2%

Do you think everyone 
has a particular talent?

50%< 43.9%

Yes
No, it is possible 
to be equally 
good at everything

The majority of those 
surveyed say they 

have a particular talent.

use their talent in their careers.
74.6% also use it in their leisure
time. 

Do you actively develop your talent?

sometimes/often

70.7%

54.7% 47.9%

The talents of those surveyed are mainly in the following areas: Other talents mentioned by several people
(outside the categories given):

Art/music, intuition, language, intelligence

Mathematics, memory, mental agility, crafts

Sports

social skills (10) // organisational skills (9) // 
writing/ literature (8) // creativity (6) // cooking (5) 
// ability to empathise, IT skills, gaming skills (3)

82.8% 16.8% 0.4%

When did your talent develop?

62.9%

64.6%

45.7%

41.4%

12.9%

Talent influences
 performance at work 
or in everyday life

Talent 
influences work 
or everyday life strongly or very strongly

Has no  
influence
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71.5%28.5%

not at all

say talent runs in the family.

51.8%
state that their talent 
is encouraged 30% 14.1%

by family & friends by employer

by school, 
club 
or association

98.5%
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Talents

ElitePartner

which tAlentS mAke 
Someone AttRActive 
AS A pARtneR?

oyalty and humour are desi-
rable traits in a partner. But 
having particular talents also 
scores highly. ElitePartner has 
interviewed more than 1,700 

people and found out which talents are at-
tractive. Frozen lasagne and ready-made 
pizza only appeal to a few single people. 
On the other hand, 61 percent find it at-
tractive if their other halves can cook and 
conjure up a perfect candlelight dinner 
single-handedly. Men for whom the kit-
chen is foreign territory are also allowed 
to pick up a hammer. 71 percent of women 
find it sexy if men have good DIY skills. A 
bit of brains is also in demand. Knowledge 
of economics and finance is especially cal-
led for. Women, on the other hand, score 
with the stronger sex when it comes to 
good taste and musical talent. 57 percent 
of men find it attractive if their beloved 
has a beautiful home. 34 percent like her 
to sing or play a musical instrument.

34%
womenmen

71%
womenmen

Photography: Georg Pagenstedt
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TOMORROW FOCUS AG

very minute, people around the world send 168 
million emails, post 695,000 status updates on 
Facebook, and Google almost as many search 
terms.* The Internet has long since emerged as 
a challenger to television’s status as a key me-

dia outlet. Digitalisation is becoming increasingly advanced. 
Changes in media use are difficult to monitor and impact on 
a wide range of sectors – including the advertising industry, 
in which TOMORROW FOCUS AG is active with its digital ad 
network TOMORROW FOCUS Media and websites such as 
FOCUS Online, Finanzen100 and NetMoms.de.
In response to the changes, TOMORROW FOCUS AG organi-
sed its own panel discussion at the 2012 Medientage (Media 
Days) in Munich, Germany, to put key questions to experts 
specialising in all major forms of advertising. These included: 
‘What will the advertising market be like in 2015 and who 
stands to gain?’ Moderated by Christoph Schuh, member 
of the TOMORROW FOCUS Management Board, the issues 

were debated by F. Scott Woods (Commercial Director for 
Austria, Germany, and Switzerland at the social networking 
company Facebook), Thomas Wagner (CEO of the TV marke-
ter  SevenOne Media, a subsidiary of ProSiebenSat.1 Group), 
Andreas Schilling (Managing Director of Burda Community 
Network, the magazine advertising sales unit of Hubert Bur-
da Media), Volker Helm (Spokesperson of the media agency 
Mediaplus) and Dr Markus Frerker, Practice Leader Germa-
ny TMT (Telecoms, Media, Technology) at the management 
consultancy McKinsey & Company. The discussion centred 
primarily on three major hypotheses, which suggest a shift 
towards increasingly digital, mobile and social advertising in 
the next few years.

HYpotHesIs 1: adveRtIsIng WIll  
BeCoMe InCReasInglY dIgItal
Everyone who took part in the discussion agreed that the 
success of digital media – centring particularly on mobile de-

the futuRe of AdveRtiSing

e
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Talents

TOMORROW FOCUS AG

vices – would prompt advertisers to re-
allocate their budgets in favour of this 
media channel in the medium term. 
They agreed that this shift would pose 
a challenge for above-the-line media, 
especially print and TV. This made it all 
the more important to add new, digital 
platforms to existing media offerings, 
they said. 
The experts believe that the best ex-
ample of this is the trend towards 
viewers using a second screen – usu-
ally a handheld device – to interact 
with the television programme they 
are watching. Thomas Wagner menti-
oned the ProSieben show ‘The Voice of 
Germany’ as having successfully made 
use of such companion apps for porta-
ble devices. He said that this meant he 
had no concerns about television as a 
media outlet and added that the bigger 
question was how to make such new, 
additional services more attractive for 
sponsors and advertisers. 
Andreas Schilling from BCN added that 
the ongoing success of media compa-
nies from across the spectrum ultimate-
ly rested on whether they focussed on 
their own technological expertise or not.

HYpotHesIs 2: adveRtIsIng WIll 
BeCoMe InCReasInglY MoBIle
The members of the panel believe that 
smartphones and tablets are now out-
stripping the static PC, adding that 
mobile Internet use is increasing ra-
pidly. However, mobile advertising 
generates little income at present, 
they said. “The trend towards mobile 
advertising is progressing faster than 
we thought,” confirmed F. Scott Woods 
from Facebook. However, he went on 
to say that Facebook had made huge 
progress in capitalising financially on 
the mobile trend. In the third quarter 
of 2012, the company saw its mobile 
advertising revenue soar from nought 
to 14 percent, he said. “And we only 
really tackled the issue in April,” added 
F. Scott Woods.

HYpotHesIs 3: adveRtIsIng WIll 
BeCoMe InCReasInglY soCIal
According to a recent study by com-
Score, users spent more time on social 
networks like Facebook than conventi-
onal websites for the first time in June 
2011 – and that figure is set to keep ri-
sing. However, as in the case of mobile 
advertising, this advertising channel is 
only just starting to make money.
Referring to his company’s review sites 
HolidayCheck and jameda, Christoph 
Schuh – member of the Management 
Board at TOMORROW FOCUS AG – 
emphasised that the potential of social 
networks should nevertheless not be 
underestimated. “Users’ reviews have 
a considerable influence on purchasing 
decisions. People look at what other cu-
stomers have written about a particular 
product online”, said Christoph Schuh.
However, Dr Markus Frerker from 
McKinsey & Company explained that 
merely participating in social networks 
was no guarantee of success, citing the 
soft drink brand Pepsi as an example. 

He said that Pepsi had invested 20 mil-
lion dollars in a social media campaign 
in the USA and generated lots of Face-
book ‘likes’ and followers on Twitter as 
a result. In spite of this, sales of Pepsi 
actually fell during the campaign peri-
od. F. Scott Woods (Facebook) added 
that a company should never set itself 
the sole business objective of receiving 
lots of ‘likes’. It was much more im-
portant to communicate with genuine 
fans, he said. For this reason, he added 
that the key question which companies 
should ask themselves whenever they 
advertise on social media was precise-
ly what they hoped to achieve with the 
campaign.

At the end of the discussion, all the 
panellists agreed that developments in 
the media and advertising sector would 
remain interesting. However, opinions 
differed on who would emerge in 2015 
as the winners and losers. You can see 
the panellists’ answers to this question 
in our videos:

To see the video recording of the entire panel with 
other exciting questions like, is Facebook launching 
its own search engine, click here.  
.

Individual interviews 
with panel members:

*Source: Go-Globe.com
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BuSineSS incuBAtion centReS in geRmAny: 
munich child veRSuS BeRlin BeAR

t

16

he German Internet business is in a dynamic mood. Even politi-
cians have recognised the enormous growth potential and want 
to give the industry more support in the future. To find out what 
factors are important for successful business start-ups, we visited 
the Munich-based physician rating portal jameda, which belongs 

to  TOMORROW FOCUS AG, and we spoke with an Internet company outside the 
Group – the start-up Mentor which has established itself in the newly opened 
business start-up centre The Factory in Berlin.

Philipp Rösler, the Federal Minister of 
Economics and Technology, has high 
ambitions. His aim is a digital revo-
lution. By 2020 he wants Germany to 
be one of the top three countries in 
the world for IT start-ups. With this in 
mind, in February 2013 the Minister 
travelled to Silicon Valley, the centre of 
the global IT and Internet scene. The-
re he consulted with experts to ascer-
tain how the digitisation of the German 
economy can be accelerated and better 
growth conditions can be created for 
the IT industry. According to Philipp 
Rösler, the young Internet and tech-
nology industry with its creativity and 
innovations is a key industry which can 
provide stimulus for the whole of the 
German economy.

pRoFIle oF CoMpanY FoUndeRs

In the TNS Infratest study Monitoring 
Report Digital Economy 2012, Ger-
many ranked sixth in an international 
comparison. According to the Federal 
Association for Information Techno-
logy, Telecommunications and New 
Media (BITKOM), business start-ups 
in Germany arise mainly in the major 
population centres. Most Internet start-
ups are registered in Munich, with 3.52 
start-ups annually for every 10,000 
inhabitants. Berlin has an average of 
2.67 Internet start-ups annually per 
10,000 inhabitants.

According to BITKOM, the average 
German IT business founder is 38 ye-
ars old and has worked for more than 
17 years, including 11 years within this 
branch of industry. Most business foun-
ders provide the capital that is required 
for the first four years themselves (an 
average of 700,000 Euros) by drawing 
on their own capital and the earnings 
from their own business activities. Pu-
blic funds play hardly any role. 

jaMeda In MUnICH

For example the founders of jameda, 
Barbara Nowak, Michael Nowak, Mar-
kus Reif and Jan Richter, founded their 
company on a part-time basis alongside 
their full-time jobs. Barbara Nowak 
found it easy to persuade her three co-
founders to adopt her idea of creating a 
physician recommendation portal which 
would enable doctors to acquire new 
patients and would help patients loo-
king for the right doctor. The company 
was quickly founded. The four friends 
perfectly complemented each other 
with their skills in the areas of program-
ming, web design, search engine opti-
misation and marketing. After less than 
six months, jameda.de went online. 
The company started in the office sha-
red by Michael Nowak, Markus Reif 
and Jan Richter in the Glockenbach 
district in the heart of Munich, and 
the company still has its offices there 

jameda

by Ursula Narr

Company profile:

jameda is Germany‘s biggest  physician 
recommendation portal with compre-
hensive  editorial information. 
 
Business model:

Online advertising and premium  
services for physicians and other  
health care professionals

Employees:  19

Based in:  Munich, Germany

Managing Director: Dr Philipp Goos

Company: jameda GmbH

Website: www.jameda.de 
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today. The business founders regularly 
sat together well into the night at week-
ends and after their regular jobs, deve-
loping their business concept. In the 
start-up phase they did not have much 
time for family, friends and others acti-
vities. Getting the company established 
was more difficult and slower than they 
had expected. 
It took three years before a significant 
number of users and an adequate le-
vel of public awareness were reached. 
At the same time, it became clear that 
fresh capital was necessary for further 
growth. „We had the technical experti-
se. But making things big is a different 
matter. The Munich-based company 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG contributed 
the right competence and resources 
which we had been lacking,“ says Mar-
kus Reif. For example jameda was in-
tegrated into the high-coverage news 
portal FOCUS Online. 

valUaBle sWappIng  
oF  expeRIenCes

The exchange of experience within the 
TOMORROW FOCUS network, for exa-
mple with the hotel rating portal Holi-
dayCheck, helped in the ongoing deve-
lopment of the company‘s own product. 
The mixture of the start-up spirit on the 
one hand and long-term Internet expe-
rience on the other hand has obviously 
benefited jameda. TOMORROW FO-
CUS AG has held shares in jameda for 
almost five years, initially with just over 
50 percent, then as the sole sharehol-
der since 2011. The sustainable growth 
strategy developed jointly by the foun-
ders and TOMORROW FOCUS, which 
concentrated on quality rather than 
quantity, has been worthwhile. Over 
three million patients use the physician 
rating portal per month, and today 20 
people work for the portal. This makes 
jameda Germany‘s leading physician 

rating portal by a long way. 
But the informal start-up atmosphere at 
the heart of Munich has remained. The 
big city location of Munich is important 
for jameda not only because of the pro-
ximity to the investor: „Munich is the 
ideal location for our further growth 
for three reasons. Firstly, with its out-
standing higher education institutions 
the city has a large number of talented 
and motivated graduates. Secondly, the 
large number of new media, Internet 
and IT companies in and around Mu-
nich create a valuable network for the 
exchange of experience. And thirdly, 
Munich and the surrounding area offer 
an attractive quality of life“, comments 
Barbara Nowak.

jameda co-founders:

Michael Nowak, Jan Richter (above,  

left to right), Barbara Nowak and  

Markus Reif (below, left to right)
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jameda

The development team of  

Mentor outside the company’s 

office at Factory in Berlin

sYneRgY eFFeCts oF  
Co-WoRkIng In BeRlIn

An exchange of experience with other 
companies and the proximity to inve-
stors can be seen as factors for success. 
This is underlined by a new co-working 
project in Berlin, known as ‘Factory’. 
Factory is a property development pro-
ject with a total of 10,000 sqm of office 
space in the centre of the city, Berlin-
Mitte. 3,000 sqm are reserved exclusi-
vely for very new Internet companies. 
The underlying idea of the initiators of 
the Factory is that the spatial proximi-
ty of start-ups, established companies, 
investors and mentors on the complex 
should create synergies. 
One start-up which has already settled 
in the Factory is the development team 
for Mentor, an app which is due to be 
launched in the spring of 2013. Philipp 
Merlin Scharff, Jeremias Wolf, Lukas 
Kampfmann and Niclas Rohrwacher 
are currently adjusting the last tech-
nical details of the Mentor app, which 

aims to help its users to achieve their 
personal goals in life. They plan to cre-
ate a social network in which people 
with similar ideas can provide mutual 
encouragement and exchange hints to 
help each other to achieve their aims in 
life. The four young founders decided 
to set up their own business while they 
were still students. At the time they did 
not have a business idea, but they had 
the firm intention to implement their 
own business. After they graduated in 
Theatre, Law and Social and Economic 
Communication in 2011, they founded 
a company and started to search for 
a promising business idea. With the 
Mentor project, the four start-up foun-
ders eventually looked for investors 
and ended up in the Factory. 
Their office in a small brick building on 
the factory grounds is very important 
for the four developers of Mentor. They 
regularly discuss their experience with 
their neighbours, such as the start-ups 
Views and Soundcloud. Lukas Kampf-
mann comments that they can learn 

from the experiences and mistakes 
of others. The campus atmosphere of  
Factory, with communal areas which 
are available to all of the companies 
on the site, offers ideal working con-
ditions. Exchange of experience and 
social interaction are the central focus. 
The young business founders were in 
Berlin during their time as students, 
so there was no question about where 
they would set up their business. But 
the capital city also offers ideal condi-
tions to find qualified employees and 
make the right contacts. In addition to 
the IT, media and culture companies 
which are based here, the international 
flair is the special factor which makes 
the city attractive for people from all 
over the world. Lukas Kampfmann sees 
great potential in the information tech-
nology and Internet scene in Berlin: 
„The infrastructure is just developing. 
When it really gets going, we‘ll be in 
the eye of the storm.“
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jameda

Since the autumn of 2012 patients can 
use jameda to make online appoint-
ments with their healthcare practitioner. 
„Most people have time and leisure to 
see about their medical appointments 
after work in the evening, in the lunch 
break or at the weekend. But that‘s pre-
cisely when there‘s no one at the surgery 
who can be contacted,“ says Dr Philipp 
Goos, Managing Director of jameda. 
„With the offer of online appointments 

people can now make their medical ap-
pointments when it‘s convenient, regar-
dless of surgery opening times.“ On the 
jameda profile of the selected healthca-
re practitioner patients can find the free 
timeslots and can choose up to three 
possible appointments. The desired 
dates are then confirmed by email sent 
from the surgery. 1000 healthcare prac-
titioners have already activated the ap-
pointment function.

doctoR‘S AppointmentS  
All Round the clock
tHe teaM oF jaMeda, tHe MUnICH poRtal FoR ReCoMMendIng HealtH-
CaRe pRaCtItIoneRs, aRe ConstantlY developIng neW FUnCtIons to 
Make lIFe easIeR FoR BotH patIents and HealtHCaRe pRaCtItIoneRs.

no FoRMUla FoR sUCCess, 
BUt tHeRe aRe FaCtoRs tHat 
 ContRIBUte to It

There is no panacea for a successful In-
ternet start-up, but there are some fac-
tors which help. Both jameda and Men-
tor benefit from a strong network and 
the opportunity to share experience. 
Investor contact and solid funding are 
important factors, and it is also helpful 
to be close to major population centres 
where competent employees can be 
found. And last but not least, business 
founders must have certain characteri-
stics. For the jameda founder Michael 
Nowak they are „competence, and the 
determination to see it through. Ho-
wever hard it may be. An almost crazy 
endurance and the belief that you will 
make it. That is what makes the diffe-
rence between a successful start-up 
and a failed venture.“ And „if you have 
a good idea, you should be the one to 
put it into practice. Otherwise, some-
one else will.“

Michael nowak 

„ IF YoU Have a good 
Idea, YoU sHoUld Be 
tHe one to pUt It Into 
pRaCtICe. otHeRWIse, 
soMeone else WIll.“
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More than 400 employees from every 
group location met again this year at 
the employee information day of TO-
MORROW FOCUS in Munich, Germa-
ny. They listened to talks and presenta-
tions on the latest developments at the 
group, and addressed their questions 
to the members of the Supervisory 
Board and Management Board. 
In the evening, the traditional TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS summer party was held 
on Prater Island. It was even possible 
to watch the European Championship 
football match between Germany and 
Italy on a large screen set up for the 
occasion. The happy atmosphere con-
tinued unabated despite the defeat of 
the German national team. Both em-
ployees and guests enjoyed a lively 
evening full of celebration. 
Organising such a major event to run 
smoothly requires a talent for organi-
sation. This is where the TOMORROW 
FOCUS event manager, Sandra Franz, 
comes in. The information graphic 
shows everything Sandra has to think of 
and organise when planning the event.

employee infoRmAtion dAy 
And SummeR pARty 2012

AR 2012



1239 bratwursts

800 hazelnut Danishes

712 steaks

637 portions potato salad

350 coconuts

Sandra Franz,
Event Manager

28  June
2012

emails

M
in

er
al

 w
at

er

participants at 
the summer party

staff

guests

637

224

413

1845

rounds of negotiations 
with service providers

60
Drops of
Valerian

outdoor temperature
29°C

outdoor temperature
21°Cindoor temperature

24°C

biscuits
1016

478
litres

312
hours’ work 7

chats with the 
god of the weather 

728,133,647,238 things

tables
62 1 x

1 x

6 

4 buses

  826 

128.9 kg salad

stacking 

A to do list of 

chairs

446 

6

speakers
17

11
locations 
viewed

scoops of ice cream

Table football

723

Italy 2 – Germany 1

: (

beers

cups of 
coffee

3021
photos

headsets

14 talks, 21 agenda items, 8 videos, 
634 flower garlands, 12180 M&Ms, 
73.5 kg antipasti, 36.8 kg baguettes, 
216 ice cubes, 10.08 sqm screen, 1 football 
rodeo, 5 disco balls, 1 photo box, 34 beer 
garden tables with benches, 140 bar stools, 
6 Weber barbecues, 184 candle holders, 
4 handheld microphones, 4 projectors, 
1 stage, 64 service staff, 228 hotel rooms, 
1 DJ, 6 sun umbrellas, 804 energy drinks
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ouR 
employeeS
Continuous training and lifelong lear-
ning are essential factors in our suc-
cess. In order to ensure the competi-
tiveness of TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
and its subsidiaries, we are continuing 
to invest in an extensive programme of 
internal and external further training.

Suitable training measures and career 
moves are chosen on the basis of ag-
reements made in the annual target ag-
reement and feedback (TAF) interviews 
with regard to personal and professio-
nal development.
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TOMORROW FOCUS AG

very year entrepreneurs, 
experts, investors and me-
dia representatives meet 
at Hubert Burda Media‘s 
innovation conference by 

the name of ‚Digital Life Design‘ (DLD) 
in order to exchange notes about Inter-
net trends and developments in digi-
talisation. This year Christoph Schuh, 
member of the Management Board 
at TOMORROW FOCUS AG, hosted a 
DLD13 panel to debate the question 
‚What are the future trends in digital 
marketing?‘ with well-known experts 
from the advertising industry. The po-
dium participants were Michael Ruben-
stein of AppNexus, Mark Read of WPP 
Digital, Robert Lang of Criteo, Florian 
Heinemann of Project A Ventures, and 
Stephanie Hospital of Orange Digital. 
In the evening TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
invited the German Internet and media 
sector to its traditional online dinner at 
the Bayerischer Hof. It was the seventh 
time that this event had taken place, 
and it now counts as one of the most 
important evening highlights around 
the DLD-Conference. The guests in-
cluded corporate representatives, in-
vestors, journalists and customers of 
the TOMORROW FOCUS Group who 
exchanged notes on current trends and 
topics and made new contacts.

dld13

The management team of TOMORROW FOCUS AG

Toon Bouten (TOMORROW FOCUS AG), Jürgen  
Feldmann (Burda), Volker Helm (Mediaplus)

e

Matthias Ehrlich (UIM), Tobias 
Ragge (HRS), Christoph Schuh 
(TOMORROW FOCUS AG), 
Henning Gebhardt (DWS), 
Volker Helm (Mediaplus)

Dinner at 
Bayerischer Hof

Photography: Susanne Mölle

AR 2012
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Terry von Bibra (Yahoo), Jochen Schmidt (Beeren-
berg Bank), Roland Schaber (Smartclip)

Martin Enderle (Scout Group), 
Stan Sugarman (G+J) 

Tobias Ragge (HRS), Malcolm Myers 
(Venture Capitalist)

Anke Domscheidt-Berg (entrepreneur),  
Isabell Welpe (Technical University Munich)

Philipp Welte (Burda), Andreas Schilling (BCN), 
Christoph Schuh (TOMORROW FOCUS AG)

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer (TOMORROW FOCUS AG), Andreas Türck (pilot), Dr. Christian Wegner  
(ProsiebenSat.1), Toon Bouten (TOMORROW FOCUS AG), Patrick Martin (Alegro Capital)

Petra Albers (TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media), Alisa Yasui (pilot)

Franziska Bluhm (WiWo Online), Tanja zu Waldeck und Jens Echterling 
(netmoms), Oliver Eckert (FOCUS Online), Dr. Rainer Kiefer (Chip)

Jens Echterling (netmoms), Volker Schütz (Horizont), Daniel Steil 
(FOCUS Online), Martin Lütgenau (TOMORROW FOCUS Media)

Ralph Klin (Deutsche Post), Franziska Deecke (DLD),  
Gregor Vogelsang (Burda)
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Julia Unkel

Julia Unkel has worked as a freelance  
photodesigner since 2006, specialising  

in portrait, industrial and engineering 
 photography. Her free-form projects  

consist mainly of conceptualisations  
of social documentary material.

She draws on different genres,  
with an emphasis on interior, portrait  

and still life photography. 

Julia lives and works in  
Dortmund, Germany.

For us, she photographed our  
employees at Finanzen100 and  
NetMoms in Cologne, Germany.

www.juliaunkel.com

GB 2012
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womAn, cAReeR, fAmily 30-33

win-win AdveRtiSing 34-35
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Netmoms.de

tAnjA zu wAldeck – foundeR of 
netmomS And motheR of fouR

r Tanja Princess of Wal-
deck and Pyrmont is a co-
founder and managing 
director of NetMoms 
GmbH and the mother of 

four children. She manages to achieve 
a perfect balance between her career 
and her role as a mother. In this inter-
view, we talk to her about her skill at 
managing her life as both a mother and 
a managing director, as well as about 
women in the professional world.

HoW and WHY dId YoU estaBlIsH 
netMoMs?

Dr Tanja Princess of Waldeck and Pyr-
mont: After five years at the manage-
ment consulting firm McKinsey & Com-
pany, I was faced with a decision as to 
what direction I wanted my life to take. 
I was expecting my first daughter, and 
I knew that as a mother I would need 
more flexibility in my career than my 
job as a management consultant could 
offer. So my university friend Jens Ech-
terling and I decided to start our own 
company. In the USA, at the time, the-
re were some interesting new online 
communities for mothers. We were 
very excited by the way they worked 
and what they were offering, and felt 
the idea would work well with German 
parents too, so that was how NetMoms 

was born. We started as a communi-
ty, which was incredibly well received 
by German mothers. Our community 
grew rapidly. In 2008 we also began 
to develop the NetMoms magazine, 
and in 2010 we added a product test 
section to the website. We now have 
a very comprehensive offering for pa-
rents, including information, opinion 
exchange opportunities and product 
tips. We enjoy further developing the 
portal on an ongoing basis. Since 2009 
we have also had a Polish and a Spa-
nish website.

not ManY WoMen BeCoMe 
Involved In InteRnet staRt-Ups. 
as a WoMan, dId YoU enCoUnteR 
pRejUdICe, oR dId YoU FInd 
YoUR gendeR gave YoU soMe 
advantages?

I didn’t have any bad experiences as a 
company founder. In fact, sometimes 
being a woman is very helpful if you 
want to stand out from the crowd. And 
I’ve never had to deal with any prejudi-
ce from my business partners. On the 
contrary – as a mother of four children, 
I have no trouble convincing anyone in 
our sector that I know what I’m talking 
about. Most products we deal with are 
ones that we have at home, and I know 
how my children get on with them. If 

anyone asks a question that implies a 
criticism, it tends to be personal, for 
instance, ‘Doesn’t your family suffer be-
cause of your career?’ I always give the 
same answer – you can have both a hap-
py family and a fulfilling professional life, 
but you have to be very well organised, 
and you need the support of your family.

do YoU eveR ReaCH YoUR lIMIt? 
do YoU Have a CopIng stRategY?

I try to heed the early signs, and not let 
myself get stressed out if possible. Du-
ring the past few years I have learnt that 
there are three important things that 
help. The first is being able to delegate 
as many tasks as possible. If at night, 
after a long day at work, I still had to do 
the laundry or go shopping, I would be 
completely worn out. Second, it is im-
portant to me to accept that I can’t be 
involved in everything and that I can’t 
do everything. Of course, I miss things 
that the children are going through du-
ring the day, and I often think, ‘Damn, 

d

Company profile:

NetMoms is one of Germany’s 
 widest-reaching parent portals.
 
Business model:

Earnings from advertising 

Employees:  15

Based in:   Cologne, Germany

Managing Directors:

Dr Tanja Princess of Waldeck  
and Pyrmont, Jens Echterling    

Company: NetMoms GmbH

Website:  www.netmoms.de 

Dr Tanja Princess of Waldeck and PyrmontAR 2012
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I’d really like to have been there.’ But 
you can’t do everything, and you have 
to accept that. Third, it is important to 
ignore other people’s criticisms and 
strange expectations. Many women 
react to questions or criticism over-
sensitively and are often unsettled by 
other people who live their lives dif-
ferently. I have learnt to listen only to 
my husband and both our mothers. I 
ignore everyone else’s advice. If we are 
happy with our lives, then we are doing 
things right. That’s the only thing that 
counts.

Have YoU anY advICe oR tIps to 
oFFeR? WHat sHoUld YoU take 
Into ConsIdeRatIon IF YoU aRe a 
pRoFessIonal WoMan plannIng 
to Have a FaMIlY?

The most important thing is to find the 
right man, who is also prepared to do 
his part in the home. You should dis-
cuss this as early as possible and then 
make sure he does his bit. You should 
also look in good time for a working 
environment that offers enough flexi-
bility for the family. Is there a flexible 
system of working hours, and are there 
others in the company who have a fa-
mily and a career? Also, you shouldn’t 
try to save on small things. It can be 
expensive to delegate many tasks, but 
it’s often a good investment. For exam-
ple, a regular cleaner, good childcare 
you can rely on, and good technical 
appliances all help you cope with the 
everyday routine.

Netmoms.de

AR 2012

32



Netmoms.de

Talents

In YoUR expeRIenCe, HoW sHoUld WoMen BeHave 
In tHe WoRld oF BUsIness? sHoUld tHeY tRY to 
tone doWn tHeIR FeMInInItY, oR eMpHasIse tHeIR 
FeMInIne tRaIts?

Many women think that their work will be noticed automa-
tically if it is good. Men, on the other hand, tend to assert 
themselves more obviously. Women must do that too, rather 
than holding back out of a misplaced sense of modesty. As 
a woman in a very masculine environment, you have to play 
the same game to a certain extent.

do YoU tHInk WoMen Have speCIal talents tHat 
tHeY sHoUld Use MoRe In tHeIR CaReeRs?

Women are good communicators. They are often perceptive 
and can respond well to other people. Women should hold 
onto this skill rather than trying to be too much like men.

WHat aRe YoUR plans FoR tHe FUtURe oF net-
MoMs? WHat aBoUt YoUR oWn peRsonal plans?

Apart from continuing to expand the content of NetMoms, 
we are currently working on expanding our Polish and Spa-
nish websites. We may well also set up further websites in 
other countries. Apart from that, TOMORROW FOCUS has 
set us the goal of building up further content verticals. We’re 
looking forward to that – it’s a new challenge for our team. 
In my private life, my goal is to build up a special bond with 
each of my children. For instance, I go to ballet lessons with 
my eldest girl, and swimming with my younger children. I 
want to have time alone with each child.

jUst ReCentlY YoU WeRe on tHe FRont oF tHe 
geRMan WoMen’s MagaZIne CoveR BeCaUse oF 
YoUR ModeRn vIeWs on WoMen, CaReeRs and 
FaMIlY. WHat do YoU Hope to aCHIeve FRoM tHIs?

I want to be a role model for young women. We have to set 
an example to show that it can be done! You don’t have to 
choose between family and career. With enough creativity, 
you can combine all kinds of things.

Tanja in a video interview  
at the DLD-Conference 2013

YoU aRe also a MeMBeR oF tHe BoaRd oF tHe 
geRMan laRge FaMIlIes assoCIatIon (veRBand 
kIndeRReICHeR FaMIlIen deUtsCHland e.v.). WHY 
Have YoU BeCoMe Involved In tHe assoCIatIon?

I think it’s a shame that large families have become so 
unusual in Germany and that there is often a negative per-
ception of them. As an association, we want to change this 
image and to get across clearly the notion that life with se-
veral children can be wonderful. Large families have also 
disappeared from the view of politicians, communities and 
companies. You notice this every day in many small ways: 
family tickets to a swimming pool often only allow for two 
children, houses generally have at most two children’s be-
drooms, and much more. We want to increase awareness of 
the issue at all levels.

 WHat do YoU tHInk oF gendeR qUotas?

I don’t think gender quotas achieve much in executive 
boards and supervisory boards, because there are too few 
women in middle management anyway. So where are the 
women supposed to come from to fill a quota? Politicians 
and companies have to put in a huge amount of work to 
make it possible to combine family and work responsibili-
ties. It’s only when we manage this that we will stop losing 
women on the way to top management.

100%

100%

100%

Mother

Managing director

Woman
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Company profile:

Finanzen100 is a finance and stock 
market portal specialising in mobile 
solutions.
 
Business model:

Innovative online and  
mobile advertisement 

Employees:  13

Based in:  Cologne, Germany 

Managing Director: Oliver Eckert

Company: Finanzen100 GmbH

Website:  www.finanzen100.de 

Finanzen100

Finanzen100

he use of the mobile Inter-
net is rapidly increasing. 
However, many mobile 
services find it difficult to 
achieve adequate adver-

tising revenue. One reason is certain-
ly the current lack of special forms of 
advertising designed for mobile users. 
One of the few platforms that under-
stands the mobile advertising business 
is the finance and stock market infor-
mation portal Finanzen100.

MoBIle FIRst

In 2010, one year after its launch, Fi-
nanzen100 was already supporting the 
‘Mobile First’ strategy. The core idea 
behind this strategy is to gear the ap-
plications and functions of the portal to 
the needs of the user of mobile devices 
from the very beginning and, as a se-
cond step, to adapt them to the classi-
cal Internet use. The Finanzen100 team 
has consistently followed this strategy, 

moBile AdveRtiSing
with AdditionAl vAlue

developing the necessary know-how 
and instinct for mobile advertising. 
This has now turned out to be a cru-
cial competitive advantage. The young 
finance portal already generates half of 
its advertising revenue through mobi-
le advertising and has been profitable 
since 2012. Only few mobile portals as 
yet can claim to do this. 

WIn-WIn adveRtIsIng

Finanzen100 is particularly successful 
with its self-created innovative form of 
advertising known as the ‘app-in-app 
solution’. An example is the iPhone 
app. On the home page of this app, 
under the ‘Issuers’ tab, there is a list 
of banks that offer additional price 
information for derivatives or other 
financial products on their own sub-
page. User tests performed by Finan-
zen100 show that these overlays are 
perceived not so much as advertising, 
but more as useful supplementary in-
formation. Advertisers can create a 
presence on Finanzen100 in their own 
corporate design.
„Although our customers want to in-
troduce their financial products on the 
mobile Internet, they don‘t necessarily 
wish to run their own mobile landing 
page for this purpose. For them it‘s 
easier if they can link their contents 
to our app and our users then benefit 
from the additional market informa-
tion. That‘s a win-win situation for 
everyone,“ says Freya Früh, Sales Ma-
nager at Finanzen100.
As the advertisers on Finanzen100 
specialise in different products, they 
can freely design the contents and 
appearance of their sub-pages, thus 
creating an individual advertising pre-
sence. The financial institute HSBC 
Trinkaus & Burkhardt, was one of the 

t
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Finanzen100

first customers for this new form of 
advertising. On its channel users can 
search for HSBC certificates and war-
rants. In addition, they will find a news 
feed about HSBC products and a vi-
deo page with the latest features from 
HSBC Trading TV. Under the ’Newslet-
ter and Books’ tab, users can subscribe 
to the bank‘s daily trading newsletter 
and the monthly market observation 
magazine or download new ebooks on 
the subject of derivatives. „We were 
looking for a way of offering our pro-
ducts to the appropriate target group 
in mobile form. This is precisely what 
we‘re achieving through the integra-
tion in the Finanzen100 app. We have 
first-class response rates on our chan-
nel,“ explains Matthias Hüppe, Head of 

Derivates Public Distribution at HSBC 
Trinkaus & Burkhardt. 

tRadIng WItH FIn100

For Freya Früh, the future of mobile 
advertising lies in integrating useful 
corporate contents into an independent 
editorial service. „We are even going 
one step further and are currently inte-
grating a broker link into our apps. Our 
users can then trade securities straight 
from our app.“ This means that mobile 
advertising on Finanzen100 is not only 
useful, but functional as well. 

Finanzen100’s app-in-app advertising for iPhones 

Moritz Ziegler, Markus Nimtz and Freya Früh (left to right) are the experts in mobile advertising at Finanzen100.
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Netmoms

„with enough 
cReAtivity, 
you cAn comBine
All kindS
of thingS“.
dr tanja princess of Waldeck and pyrmont, netMoms
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Henning Bode

Henning Bode studied photojournalism and 
documentary photography. Since 2008 he  

has worked as a professional photographer, 
specialising in reportage and portrait 

 photography. As he says: “Corporate pho-
tography is about accurately capturing the 
subject’s personality and conveying other 
information – usually in just one picture. 

Each time I take a portrait photo, I find  it 
fascinating to balance in one composition the 
location, the quality of light, and especially 

the person I want to photograph.” 

Henning lives and works in Hamburg, Germany.

He photographed our employees who  
work there at ElitePartner, Cellular and 

 TOMORROW FOCUS Media.
www.henningbode.com

AR 2012

38



Shooting StAR

coo pluS cAmeRA 44-51

52-53

cupid’S ASSiStAntS 40-43

cReAtive pAck AnimAlS 54-57

39



litePartner offers the best 
service of all matchmaking 
agencies − this is what Ger-
man singles have decided .* 
These are the faces behind 

this success: ElitePartner‘s 19 client 
advisors. With plenty of empathy they 
ensure the online matchmaker‘s USP: 
service quality and singles with class. 
 
The 1,600 enquiries that the ElitePart-
ner Customer Service members answer 
each day by email, telephone or fax, 
from 8.00 hours in the morning until 
8.30 hours in the evening, are a motley 
assortment: How do I log in? Why are 
the profile images blurred? And how 
do I behave on our first date? However, 
the most frequent questions are more 
of a psychological than a technical na-
ture. For unlike signing a new mobile 
phone contract or placing an order 
with a mail order company, the search 
for a new partner entails a great deal 
of personal involvement. A client ad-
visor in matters of the heart therefore 
needs special skills. Rebecca Salomon, 
Supervisor of ElitePartner‘s Customer 
Service, explains: „The search for a 
partner is a very intimate and sensitive 
matter and we as client advisors need 
a great deal of intuition and a certain 
amount of psychological skill.“ Some 
of the people in search of partners on 
ElitePartner are no novices in matters 
of love and are sceptical and deman-
ding when looking for a partner. „Ad-
vising our members in matters of love 
is an enormous responsibility and one 
of which we are very conscious,“ con-
firms Gisa Wierzchowski, Head of Cu-

stomer Service.
ElitePartner client advisors are able to 
show clients sympathy and intuition, 
bolstering and supporting them in their 
search for the right partner. „Recently 
we had a call from a woman in search 
of a new partner for the first time af-
ter 40 years of marriage,“ says Gisa 
Wierzchowski. „My job is to boost her 
confidence. Advice on how to create a 
profile and also the odd compliment 
now and then on a good photo or pro-
file entry are ways of building up self-
confidence and improving a member‘s 
attitude. Your chances of success in fin-
ding the right partner are much greater 
if you‘ve got a positive attitude.“

eMpatHY Is not soMetHIng  
YoU Can leaRn 

A sure instinct for the right words is 
a skill that our eight male and eleven 
female advisors have not picked up at 
university. Intuition, being able to li-
sten, helpfulness and stress resistance: 
these are all qualities needed by our 
staff. In addition, the colleagues regu-
larly exchange notes and engage in 
continuing professional development. 
„If you‘re looking for advice, you‘ll 
find a sympathetic ear everywhere. 
You learn a lot through discussions,“ 
reveals Gisa Wierzchowski. „But your 
own experience is also of inestima-
ble value; it improves your emotional 
competence.“ Furthermore, in their 
everyday work our client advisors get 
to know many facts and backgrounds 
in relation to the search for a partner 
and love, whether this be through the 

cupid‘S ASSiStAntS:  
cuStomeR SeRvice with empAthy

ElitePartner

e

19
client advisors 

*Source: Service Ranking or the Service Value GmbH

Company profile:

ElitePartner is Germany’s biggest online 
matchmaking agency for university 
graduates and sophisticated singles. 
 
Business model: Subscription service

Employees:  76

Based in:   Hamburg, Germany

Managing Directors:

Dr. Georg Pagenstedt, Dr. Jost Schwaner

Company: EliteMedianet GmbH

Websites: 
www.ElitePartner.de
www.AcademicPartner.de
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Talents

client advisors 

ElitePartner Customer Service members 
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ElitePartner

gUaRdIans oF tHe  
CoRpoRate pHIlosopHY

In addition, Customer Care ensures 
the success of the ElitePartner product 
with numerous other tasks. They are 
simultaneously guardians of the cor-
porate philosophy. ElitePartner speci-
alises in finding the right partner for 
singles with class and serious inten-
tions. However, not everyone in search 
of a partner on the Internet is intere-
sted in a permanent relationship with a 
suitable partner. In order to guarantee 
quality and safety in the search for a 
partner on ElitePartner, each profile at 
ElitePartner passes through a manual 
screening process. Only this makes it 
possible to filter out singles with un-
serious intentions. Unsuitable profiles 
and fraudsters, known as romance 
scammers, are identified and blocked 
immediately. The experts in this area 
are the colleagues in Customer Ser-
vice. They rigorously check new inco-
ming profiles together with all infor-
mation and photos. 

If the profile does not match the mem-
bership, is full of spelling mistakes and 
contains implausible data, e.g. a 21-ye-
ar-old with a doctorate, it is blocked im-
mediately. This accounts for around 25 
percent of all new registrations. At peak 
times, such as Christmas and the be-
ginning of the year, Customer Service 
receives up to 7,000 new registrations 
each day. For the Customer Service 
team this means keeping a cool head 
and still taking enough time for the job. 
For despite the high rate of new regis-
trations, quality and safety are para-
mount when screening the profiles.

Now and then our client advisors answer 
enquiries about personality tests and 
technical problems. They also process 
customer photos and terminations on re-
quest. „I like the diversity! The customer 
queries and the tasks are as diverse as 
the people behind them,“ says Rebecca 
Salomon enthusiastically when descri-
bing her job. „That‘s certainly one of the 
reasons why most colleagues have been 
working for ElitePartner for so long.“ 

ElitePartner studies or discussions with 
colleagues from other departments. 
A client advisor‘s personal nature is one 
of the core qualifications they bring to 
this job in the service of love. So it co-
mes as little surprise that our 19 staff 
have very diverse educational back-
grounds ranging from graduates in eth-
nology to administrative clerks. At 29 
the average age is astonishingly young. 
„There is no age limit to competence in 
affairs of the heart,“ answers the team 
leader with insight. The success shows 
that she is right - as the current service 
ranking of Service Value GmbH proves. 
In 2012 ElitePartner was distinguis-
hed as the Service Champion among 
matchmaking agencies. „This cachet 
is based on the level of customer ser-
vice as clients have experienced it - this 
shows that members are satisfied with 
our service. That‘s a particularly big 
compliment for our team and motivates 
us to become that little bit better,“ says 
Gisa Wierzchowski with pride.

putting their hearts into it

a sympathetic ear
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Customer Service outfits generally have 
a high rate of fluctuation, but this is not 
the case with ElitePartner. Many staff 
remain with ElitePartner Customer 
Service even after leaving university. 
Our two team leaders have been wor-
king as Cupid‘s assistants since 2006 
and 2007. „Here we offer a safe and 
protected working environment, where 
confidence is built up and given back. 
We‘re a committed team,“ says Gisa 
Wierzchowski. „And every day we deal 
with the most wonderful thing in the 
world: love!“ adds Rebecca Salomon. 
This pleasant subject will also motivate 

the team to become the Service Cham-
pion among matchmaking agencies 
once again in 2013.

Talents

ElitePartner

„And eveRy dAy we deAl with  
the moSt wondeRful thing in  
the woRld: love!“
Rebecca salomon

ElitePartner Customer Service team in Hamburg, Germany
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ElitePartner

hat does a COO 
do? A chief ope-
rating officer ma-
nages a company‘s 
operative business 

- as the name implies. At EliteMedianet, 
the COO is responsible for the impor-
tant core processes such as online mar-
keting, media buying, technical matters 
and finance. This is a pragmatic job that 
requires a lot of experience.
Since the spring of 2009 Georg Pagen-
stedt has been COO at EliteMedianet 
GmbH, a company based in the Ger-
man city of Hamburg which runs the 
matchmaking agency portal ElitePart-
ner. He has plenty of experience of the 
type mentioned. In the past, he held 
positions as CEO, COO and Head of 
Corporate Development at well-known 
companies in the communications in-
dustry and online sector. He gained his 
doctorate at the University of Cologne 

in Germany. In addition to his gift for fi-
gures and online technology, Georg Pa-
genstedt has another very special talent: 
a special compositional eye for peo-
ple, colours and forms, and capturing 
them in a photographical work of art. 

Georg Pagenstedt developed his pas-
sion for photography due to a pho-
to workshop at school. However, the 
workshop was not organised at the 
school where he had studied but at his 
daughter’s school. For Georg Pagen-
stedt has only been practising serious 
photography for little more than two 
years. At the time he was looking for 
an analogue camera for his daughter, 
because the workshop was into traditi-
onal photography and developing their 
own photos. When buying the analo-
gue camera he spontaneously treated 
himself to a digital Leica with a wide-
angle lens. 

w
coo pluS cAmeRA 
– portrait of georg pagenstedt 

Georg Pagenstedt in the Port of Hamburg
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Henning Bode, Fotograf
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Talent: Fotografie

TalentsPhotography: Georg Pagenstedt
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As one of the first members of Google+, 
Google‘s social media community, he 
started to publish his photos, and so his 
talent quickly became noticeable. Today 
he has 18,000 followers on his Google+ 
profile, including international photo 
enthusiasts and photographers who are 
full of praise for his photos. “The feed-
back from a photographer that I hold in 
esteem is of very great value to me. I‘m 
not after clicks on the ‘+button’,“ says 
Georg Pagenstedt. If someone asks him 
for a photo, he offers it free of charge. „I 
earn my money working for EliteMedia-
net, and others need money more than I 
do.“ Incidentally, in return for the use of 
his photos for this annual report he sug-
gested making a donation to the project 
„Fotos für die Pressefreiheit“ (photos 
for freedom of press) of the charitable 
organisation „Reporter ohne Grenzen“ 
(reporters without borders), a wish we 
were pleased to accommodate.

Close-Up oF tHe sUBjeCt

Georg Pagenstedt only takes spontane-
ous photos, which is quite in contrast 
to his attitude at work. „When I set out 
I never know what‘s expecting me and 
what photos I‘ll be taking. If I see some-
thing interesting out comes the camera. 
The right moment is crucial.“ From his 
point of view, each everyday situation 
can be photographed in such a way that 
it appears to be something special. This 
works, for instance through additional 
levels such as humour, contrasts, reflec-

tions, geometry and shadows. Of course, 
good use must be made of the available 
means, i.e. light or the choice of a fixed 
focal length. Georg Pagenstedt prefers 
to use wide-angle lens and gets right up 
close to his subjects. He usually shoots 
people in a certain context. However, he 
never looks for a certain motif, but for an 
idea of what something could look like in 
a photo. On Flickr somebody has written 
the following about his photos: ‚A nice 
surreal, almost dreamlike feeling.‘ In 
his opinion, this statement describes his 
photos very well. 
Georg Pagenstedt does not follow 
anyone‘s example in photography, but he 
does like to be inspired by photo books. 
He likes Alex Webb, Trent Parke, Ray K. 
Metzker, but also Martin Parr - images 
that transport him to another world. He 
is not so interested in techniques and 
theory. It is the good image in itself that 
is important. „Of course the question of 
what makes a good photo is extremely 
subjective. And the image itself says a lot 
about the world view and the personality 
of the photographer. To cite Martin Parr: 
‚I am what I photograph!‘ “I‘d subscribe 
to that,“ says Georg Pagenstedt.
His hobby, photography, is how he com-
pensates for the large amount of intel-
lectual labour his job involves. A photo 
by the British photographer Nick Turpin 
hangs on a wall of his office, so that he 
never loses sight of his passion, not even 
when at work. Being a photographer 
and being a COO also have something 
in common. „Photography‘s just like 

ElitePartner

„photogRAphy‘S juSt like 
Anything elSe. you hAve  
to put in A lot of effoRt  
And tRy out A thing oR two  
to get good ReSultS. “
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Talents

anything else. You have to put in a lot of 
effort and try out a thing or two to get 
good results. And you also need a touch 
of luck,“ explains Georg Pagenstedt.

elItepaRtneR galleRY 

Talented people like keeping compa-
ny with other talented persons. This is 
also reflected in the company. Perhaps 
this is why Georg Pagenstedt is not the 
only visual talent at EliteMedianet. At 
the moment the offices of the Hamburg 
matchmaking agency are adorned by 
photos of Hamburg’s harbour area ta-

ken by Gisa Wierzchowski, Head of Cu-
stomer Service. Shortly Marcel Sauer, 
Head of Development, will be using the 
rooms as a gallery to exhibit his photos. 
„Continual improvement, enthusiasm 
and feedback culture are important va-
lues for us. We build on the stimulus and 
ideas of our colleagues. They are our 
engine. So in addition to offering first-
rate opportunities for continuing profes-
sional development we also try to reach 
our staff through their personal passion, 
be it to achieve a work-life balance or to 
allow them to use their talent directly in 
their jobs,“ says Georg Pagenstedt.

Pictures from  
Georg  Pagenstedt’s 
‘Grey’ series
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www.pagenstedt.de
Profile of Georg Pagenstedt  
at Google+

Photography: Georg Pagenstedt
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ora Bassy (20) is training for a vocational digital and print media 
qualification at the online marketer TOMORROW FOCUS Media in 
Hamburg, Germany. Although she may be at the very beginning of 
her career in marketing, she already has an amateur sporting ca-
reer after discovering a special talent for shooting eight years ago. 

In her free time, Nora can often be found at the shooting range and is part of the 
German Shooting Federation’s regional team. 

Shooting StAR

n
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TOMORROW FOCUS Media

Talents

Nora came to shooting via archery, which she started lear-
ning at the age of 11 at a small club around the corner from 
her home. Her passion for the rifle sport began when she 
tried out shooting the first time. She has stucked with it sin-
ce then. Nora competes in freehand air rifle and small-bore 
20x3 positional (standing, kneeling, prone) events. Thanks 
to her love of the sport and her determination to excel, her 
performance has steadily improved over the years. Her talent 
was soon spotted. At the age of 16, she competed in a quali-
fier held by the North-West German Shooting Federation and 
made it onto the youth team. One year later, she became part 
of the regional squad. 
Nora stumbled upon her unusual hobby purely by chance. 
Its biggest appeal for her is the constant challenge of hitting 
more and more bull’s-eyes. “Every shot is like a competition 
in itself. You have 40 chances at the perfect shot and it all 
depends on how often you manage to do it.” It may look easy 
to the uninitiated, but shooting calls for calmness, concen-
tration, technical skill and mental strength. 

Thanks to her training, Nora is very familiar with her capabi-
lities. As well as making her more disciplined, shooting has 
made her better at analysing problems independently and 
finding their root causes. All of these skills are very useful 
in the wider world and have already helped Nora to get her 
marketing career off to a good start. Her interest in the me-
dia industry developed while Nora was at school. After seve-
ral interesting work experience placements at newspapers 
and film companies, Nora quickly decided that she wanted 
to pursue a career in the media. She spotted a job advert 
by TOMORROW FOCUS Media after having passed her A-
levels, which set her on her current course. Nora was given 
a taste of each department during her training and finally 
found her niche in the AdTraffic team, which is responsible 
for the technical integration of advertisements into websites. 
She is already allowed to deal with the technical side of im-
plementing adverts supplied by creative agencies and check 
that they work properly with very little supervision. Her daily 
routine also includes team meetings and workshops. Nora 
loves being part of the TOMORROW FOCUS Media team in 
Hamburg: “Someone is always there to help and support me 
when I need it, but I’m allowed to try out new things on my 
own first. I find that really motivating!”

a FIRst FoR BotH tRaInee and CoMpanY 

The beginning of Nora’s traineeship was a new experience 
for TOMORROW FOCUS Media too, as Nora is the first vo-
cational trainee at the company. Nora’s mentor, Christiane 
Hansen, wanted to make sure that her protégée gained a 
detailed insight into all of the departments to learn about 

the links between departments and see how the various 
workflows dovetail. “We give our trainees plenty of support 
across the board because we want them to develop into ju-
nior staff who tackle their tasks with a can-do attitude rather 
than thinking ‘Oh my God, how on earth am I going to do 
that?’.” This approach has helped Nora to further enhance 
her skills and keep a cool head in stressful situations – espe-
cially in new, surprising circumstances. 

This in turn helps her with her sports competitions. If so-
mething unexpected happens during an event, Nora is now 
even better equipped to deal with it. Nora travels to shooting 
competitions throughout Germany and loves to do well and 
be part of an elite group of athletes.

Training for shooting competitions gives Nora the strength 
to switch off and concentrate solely on herself. Thanks to 
her hobby, she can realistically gauge what she can and 
cannot do, which gives her a sense of security. Success 
has not always come easily to her – there have been a few 
setbacks along the way. But that has helped to boost her 
confidence and taught her to keep her nerve, both at com-
petitions and at work.

FoCUs on neW taRgets 

Nora has put her sporting career on the back burner for the 
time being. She is taking the final exam for her media course 
a year early, so it is rapidly drawing closer. Nevertheless, she 
tries to make it to the shooting range once a week. When she 
has completed her vocational training, Nora would like to 
stay at TOMORROW FOCUS Media and become a permanent 
part of the AdTraffic team in Hamburg. It looks like being an 
exciting year for her away from the office too: Nora is mo-
ving out of home and into her first flat, and she is also hoping 
to rank highly at the German Shooting Championships 2013. 
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cReAtive pAck AnimAlS
At cellulAR

Thorsten Jonas, Ben Krammer and Jörn Siedentopp 
(left to right) are concept designers at Cellular in Hamburg
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rchitect, pack animal, 
listener – This is how 
Thorsten Jonas, Ben 
Krammer and Jörn Sie-
dentopp describe the 

demands made of them in their job. 
They work as concept developers at Cel-
lular, one of Germany‘s leading mobile 
agencies with customers such as ARD, 
Red Bull, Volkswagen and ZDF. Their 
task is to design concepts for many 
different applications (apps) for mobile 
devices and TV sets with Internet capa-
bility, known as Smart TVs. This is an 
exciting and varied task, but one that 
also requires many different talents.
In a figurative sense a concept developer 
is an information architect who draws 
up construction plans. These plans de-
scribe the structures of an application. 
What contents can be seen on the indi-
vidual pages? Where are the operating 
elements, and what are their functions? 
Depending on the job at hand, the con-
ception process also starts at the basis, 
developing a company‘s mobile stra-
tegies for instance. This is followed by 
the development of the user interface 
for the apps or web platforms. „We get 
our inspiration for this from surfing the 
web, for instance, where we get plenty 
of digital input,“ says Thorsten with a 
laugh. Ben adds: „The ideas often come 
straight from everyday life, when travel-
ling on the train and even when taking a 
shower. It‘s important to simply be curi-
ous and to keep your eyes open.“ 
If the three concept developers could 
choose a project for the future, Thor-
sten, Ben and Jörn would like to de-
velop a concept for an environmental 
organisation such as the World Wild 
Fund for Nature (WWF) or Greenpeace. 
„These organisations need to attract at-
tention. So the concept must be really 
bold and provocative,“ say the three, 
their eyes shining with enthusiasm.

A

Cellular

Thorsten Jonas, Ben Krammer and Jörn Siedentopp 
(left to right) are concept designers at Cellular in Hamburg
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But even when ideas are flowing fast 
and freely, the concept developers 
still need to concentrate on two cen-
tral things, on the wishes and goals 
of the customers, and on the needs of 
the users and the entertainment fac-
tor. Only when customers are satisfied 
and users like using the apps have 
Thorsten, Ben and Jörn done their job 
properly and, most importantly, done  
it well.
In their job it is essential to work with 
other teams like designers or technical 
developers. These are already taken 
on board at an early stage in the con-
ception phase to test the concept for 
feasibility at the very outset. The input 
of these colleagues naturally generates 
many new ideas that form part of the 
concept. The current status of the pro-
ject is then discussed in regular follow-
up sessions and solutions are develo-
ped for possibly critical points.
The three developers like to refer to 
their own team as a pack. The pack 
functions all the better the more di-

verse the experience and background 
of each individual is. „We all have quite 
different backgrounds - from business 
economist to computer scientist. So 
we can examine a concept from many 
different angles and it‘s this that pro-
duces creative and tailor-made ideas 
and approaches without losing sight of 
feasibility and the cost framework,“ ex-
plains Thorsten. The tasks of Thorsten, 
Ben and Jörn also include listening 
very carefully and asking questions in 
order to develop suitable solutions for 
customers‘ specific requirements. „We 
definitely need a certain degree of skill 
in order to communicate new ideas to 
the customer,“ says Jörn.

tHe FUtURe oF televIsIon

The conception of Smart TV applica-
tions is a particular challenge in com-
parison with the conception of mobile 
apps. Users who are used to touching 
all interaction elements, as they do on 
their smartphones or tablets, have to 

AR 2012

56



Company profile:

Cellular is an integrated service agency 
for mobile Internet, apps and Smart TV 
on the European market.
 
Business model:

Integrated services for mobile solutions 
and Smart TV

Employees:  50

Based in:

Hamburg, Germany; Vienna, Austria

Managing Directors:

Roman Kocholl, Birger Veit 

Company: Cellular GmbH

Website:  www.cellular.de  

solutions for your mobile environment

Cellular

rethink when it comes to Smart TV, as 
interaction with the television set does 
not take place on the screen itself. The 
remote control device as an operation 
element has many more buttons than 
the normal computer mouse that is usu-
ally used to navigate the Internet. This 
limits operability somewhat, but smart 
TVs continue to develop at a breath-
taking speed. In the near future smart 
TVs will merge even more closely with 
the smartphone and the tablet. The key 
word here is ‘second screen’.  Contents 
can then be transferred seamlessly 
from one screen to the other. Active 

participation in TV programmes or the 
parallel consumption of supplementary 
contents are possible even today. In fu-
ture the TV screen will not only be used 
to watch television, but will become an 
intelligent news centre within the fami-
ly, replacing the traditional pinboard.

Talents

Ben Krammer, Thorsten Jonas and Jörn Siedentopp
(left to right) with the Smart TV app they designed for wetter.com
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Heidi Fröhlich

The driving forces behind Heidi Fröhlich’s 
photography are a curiosity about people, 

their personalities and their personal stories.
Whether she is creating a portrait of a Lao 
monk or the managing director of a clothing 
firm, her camera serves as a medium for 
 communication and her photography as a 

means of capturing moods, situations  
and feelings and presenting them authentically.

Heidi works as a freelance photographer in 
Munich, Germany. She specialises in portrait 

and reportage photography.

For us, she photographed our  
employees at FOCUS Online, TFT  

and TOMORROW FOCUS AG.
www.heidi-froehlich.de
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Romina Lemmert, Channel Manager at FOCUS OnlineAR 2012
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FOCUS Online

Talents

SummiteeR
omina Lemmert is passio-
nate about outdoor sports 
in the mountains. Whether 
it is biking, snowboarding, 
skiing or climbing, it is all 

about slopes! Romina enjoys over-
coming obstacles, picking up speed 
and then maintaining control at high 
speeds. This 27-year old outdoor 
enthusiast’s job is channel manager 
of FOCUS Online and she brings the 
digital world of her job and her spor-
ting hobby together in her blog, Out-
doormind.de. 
“For me, the best thing of all is being 
active in the natural world of the gre-
at outdoors… being alive and free,” is 
how she puts it. She began blogging 
four years ago with Stylecrave, a life-
style blog, which soon inspired her 
to found her own blog, Outdoormind.
de, which is aimed at Austrian, Ger-
man and Swiss open air adventurers 
and reports all about the news, pro-
ducts and people involved in the field 
of outdoor sports. Romina goes on to 
say: “Ideally I write about my own ex-
periences and about products I’ve te-
sted myself. My readers like that best 
because my articles therefore have so-
mething extra.”

HIgHlY-RegaRded  
IndUstRY expeRt 

Her hobby also helps her in her job. 
As a FOCUS Online channel mana-
ger, Romina is its expert on outdoor 
advertisers, attends sports trade fairs 
such as ISPO or Outdoor, and talks to 
the sector’s big advertising spenders. 
“I am of course much sought after as 
the person to contact in this field as 
I know what I’m talking about and 
know my way round the sector very 
well,” explains Romina. Romina has 
now been working as  a FOCUS On-

line channel manager and for Amica.
de, the well-known beauty and fashion 
portal, for eighteen months. One of 
her many tasks is to develop creative 
ideas for advertisers. These include 
editorial special topics that advertisers 
can sponsor and ‘advertorials’, which 
offer an informative mixture of edito-
rial content and advertising messages. 
Partnerships involving some share in 
the turnover are possible, as is the 
case with Amica Shop, and also part-
nerships with social media integration. 
Romina goes on to say: “In the course 
of our channel management, we show 
our customers the many different me-
thods of integrating advertising on our 
pages in diverse and attention-getting 
ways, such that our readers regard the 
advertising as enriching rather than 
intrusive.”
This obviously works really well for 
Romina and her colleagues at  FOCUS 
Online, as it continues to count as one 
of Germany’s most manageable groups 
of profitable news portals. The editori-
al quality is just right and underlines 
the portal’s impressive development 
and reach. FOCUS Online has doubled 
the number of its hits in less than two 
years, and broke the 60-million visits 
per month barrier in January 2013. 
With the trend continuing upwards, 
FOCUS Online is all in all Germany’s 
strongest-growing news portal. 

next stop: oUtdooR,  
oUtdooR, oUtdooR!

Romina, however, has no wish to rest 
on these professional laurels and she 
wants to gain new outdoor advertisers 
for FOCUS Online for the future. An 
‘outdoors special’ in the portal’s sports 
department will be the result of 
Romina’s involvement in the outdoor 
sports sector. 

R
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FOCUS Online

Company profile:

Focus Online is Germany’s third biggest 
online news portal
 
Business model :

Online advertising 

Employees:  54

Based in:  Munich, Germany

Managing Director: Oliver Eckert,
  Martin Lütgenau

Company: 
TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH

Websites: www.focus.de
  www.amica.de
  www.max.de  

In the future, Romina would like to focus her blog on the sub-
ject of women in outdoor sports. “More and more women are 
taking part in all sorts of outdoor sports and leading manufactu-
rers are increasingly designing products specially for women, 

but until now there have been hardly any good pages providing 
such information,” she says. Romina is also undertaking quite 
something in her own private life, as she plans to cross the Alps 
on a mountain bike and climb an over 6,000-m peak. 

Here is the link to Romina’s blog,  
outdoormind.de
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62



FOCUS Online

Talents

Romina freeriding 
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TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies

fRom expeRtS to expeRtS

f a website is to be built in re-
sponsive design it‘s impor-
tant for the technical and the 
creative side to be closely in-
tertwined, right from the very 

beginning,“ says Lisa Zizlsperger, Art 
Director at TFT. She is standing before 
more than 20 interested listeners who 
have gathered to hear her presentation 
on responsive design. Using beamers 
and a screen she presents the latest 
trends and, together with her colleague 
Anian Leistner, explains what is impor-
tant for the technical implementation 
of layouts for various devices. After 
almost 45 minutes they have reached 
the end of their talk and the audience is 
invited to submit questions.

HIdden talents

A situation like this arises about once 
or twice a month at this technical and 
creative agency, alongside Lisa Zizl-
sperger and Anian Leistner, TFT em-
ploys many talented people who count 
among the leading experts in their field. 
As it would be a real pity not to pass on 
this knowledge and share it with other 
departments, regular TFT Academies 
have been held since November 2010. 
There is practically no limit to the ran-

ge of subjects. From technical talks like 
“Test-driven development and conti-
nuous integration or SASS – CSS on 
steroids“ through administrative topics 
up to presentations on certain tools or 
methods such as SCRUM, so far virtual-
ly everything has been discussed. The 
speakers are free to talk on their own 
or in small teams.

„The Academy is a wonderful way of 
keeping all colleagues up to date on all 
innovations and trends,“ says Alexand-
ra Neiber, web analyst at TFT since the 
beginning of 2013. „I particularly like 
the mixture of theory and practice, as 
well as the pleasant and informal at-
mosphere in which the talks are held. 
Everyone can ask questions and due to 
the colourful mixture of developers, de-
signers and hosting specialists you get 
a qualified response to every question.” 
TFT has even been distinguished with 
the HR Successful Practice Award of 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG for the suc-
cessful way in which its internal trans-
fer of knowledge takes place. With the 
award once a year employees are ho-
nored for special achievements in the 
field of company values, collaboration, 
training.

tRansFeR oF knoWledge and InnovatIon at tFt

i

Company profile:

TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies is  
one of the leading technology and 
 creative services providers for web-based 
IT  solutions in Germany.

Business model:

Integrated Internet services 

Employees: 46

Based in: Munich, Germany

Managing Director: Timo Salzsieder

Company:

TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH

Website: www.t-f-t.net 
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founded 2010

Bastian Konetzny giving a presentation 
to the TFT Academy
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Heidi Fröhlich, Fotografin Talent: Austausch

1. HoW dId YoU get tHe Idea oF  
FoUndIng a tFt aCadeMY?

Bastian Konetzny: The developer community has had what 
are known as ‘bar camps’ for many years. These are public 
events where people get together and discuss interesting to-
pics like frontend development. We took these as an example 
and thought about how we could implement this format within 
TFT. Then we had the idea of testing on a small scale, in the 
evening during the week, how something like this could work 
and be accepted. And this is how our Academy was born.

2. HoW aRe tHe topICs FoR tHe talks set?  
do YoUR ColleagUes appRoaCH YoU pRoaCtIvelY 
oR do YoU UsUallY look FoR speCIFIC sUBjeCts?

Initially I did think about subjects that could be discussed in 
this context. Then I usually collected subjects that I had no-
ticed the whole team were interested in discussing. And then 
I simply went through the company and asked my colleagues 
whether they felt like holding a talk on one of these sug-
gestions or introducing their own topic. In the meantime, 
however, people proactively come up to me and say: „Look, 
I‘ve got an idea that I‘d like to present.“   
  

3. WHat Is speCIal FoR YoU aBoUt tHe aCadeMY?

Everyone can simply speak about what they can do best and 
what they‘d like to communicate. It doesn‘t matter if it‘s so-
mething minor like a couple of JavaScript tricks or layout 
tips - people can present their topics regardless of size or 
complexity, across entire departments. This naturally means 
that every member of staff has the opportunity to keep up 
to date on trends and innovations from other areas as well.

4. Is tHeRe an aCadeMY tHat  
YoU Have  paRtICUlaRlY lIked?

Of course, I naturally liked all the Academies because it‘s 
simply a very attractive format. But my favourite so far was 
the Express Academy. An Academy usually lasts between 30 
and 60 minutes. The Express Academy, however, consisted 
of several speakers who each had no more than ten minutes‘ 
speaking time. That was similar to a ‘hot seat’. Due to the 
tight timeslots the talks were short and brisk, and nearly all 
of TFT‘s subject areas were broached.

4 QueStionS put to  
BAStiAn konetzny,  
weB developeR  
And initiAtoR of  
the tft AcAdemy 
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uring the course of the 
previous year it also be-
came apparent that the-
re was genuine talent to 
be found among the TFT 

staff, even going beyond their personal 
subject areas. “At the Management Off-
site in February the individual subsidi-
aries of TOMORROW FOCUS AG were 
asked to look at the subject of innova-
tion in the company,” says Timo Salz-
sieder, Managing Director of TFT. „We 
passed this request straight on to our 
staff and asked them to develop spe-
cific product ideas.“ As TFT has only 
operated in the market for corporate 
customers so far, these are now to be 
the first products for end consumers. 
Finally the experimenting got under-
way, in small groups behind closed 
doors. In order not to disclose the 
innovative concepts too soon, it was 
decided to keep the ideas ‘below the 
surface’ until they were developed 
and ready for market launch. This was 

when the submarine projects were 
born! During the development phase, 
the TFT personnel followed the lean 
start-up model. Here the focus during 
product development is only on the 
aspects that are really relevant and all 
assumptions are continually measured 
and examined. At the same time, the 
groups were committed to four major 
principles from the very outset:

„We have ventured into virgin ter-
ritory with the development of B2C 
product ideas and the adoption of the 
lean start-up model. I think it’s fantas-
tic how much creative potential there 
is to be found among our staff,“ says 
Timo Salzsieder with enthusiasm af-
ter almost a year of experimenting. 
In recent months one of the ideas was 
further developed and implemented 
so fast that the product is now on the 
verge of being launched and put on the 
market. It will be exciting to see when 
the submarine emerges.

1.) tHe neW pRodUCts sHoUld solve eveRYdaY pRoBleMs;
2.) We aCt aCCoRdIng to peRFeCt etHICal pRInCIples;
3.) We do not BUIld Clones; and
4.) We aCt lIke a staRt-Up CoMpanY.

d

emeRging SuBmARineS 

TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies
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TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies

To switch off and clear their 
minds the TFT staff like to 
play at the popular football 
table – usually in the evening. 
For the best table football 
team, there is a coveted chal-
lenge cup, which is constantly 
changing offices.

Thilo Habenreich, Daniel Codilla, Christian Etbauer, Catharina Cardinal von Widdern (left to right)  
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Talent 2

„ in the meAntime 
people pRoActively 
come up to me 
And SAy: look, 
i‘ve got An ideA 
thAt i‘d like  
to pReSent. “
Bastian konetzny, toMoRRoW FoCUs technologies
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Heidi Fröhlich, Fotografin
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Talent: Controlling & WP´s

The Controlling team of TOMORROW FOCUS AG: Kerstin Trottnow, Oliver Mischke, 
Martin Houzer, André Radke and Karin Nawrath (left to right)

75



TOMORROW FOCUS AG

undeR contRol
At the Munich headquar-
ters of TOMORROW FO-
CUS AG there are five 
colleagues working right 
next door to the office of 

Chief Financial Officer Dr Dirk Schmel-
zer who have everything under control. 
They use several hundred Excel tables 
filled with key financial data, compare 
target figures with actual figures, put 
together the plans of the subsidiaries 
to form a general plan, provide the Ma-
nagement Board with key figures as a 
basis for decisions and monitor busi-
ness development and performance. 
The names of these five colleagues are: 
Martin Houzer, Oliver Mischke, Ka-
rin Nawrath, André Radke and Kerstin 
Trottnow. They make up the Financial 
Controlling team of TOMORROW FO-
CUS AG. However, because of the spe-
cial structures of the TOMORROW FO-

CUS Group their job differs from the textbook version 
of classical controlling.

MIxed FoRM ContRollIng

“Our Controlling team in Munich is a hybrid between 
controlling and group accounting. This is because 
we work with a very large number of completely dif-
ferent subsidiaries, each with own business models 
and different staffing strategies,” says Kerstin Trott-
now, Commercial Manager at TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG. The TOMORROW FOCUS Group consists of lar-
ge subsidiaries like HolidayCheck and ElitePartner 
with their own accounting and controlling depart-
ments, but also small companies which rely on the 
team in Munich for some tasks. Financial controller 
Oliver Mischke, for instance, is responsible for the ac-
counting and controlling of the advertising segment, 
which comprises TOMORROW FOCUS Media, inclu-
ding FOCUS Online, the finance and stock market 
portal Finanzen100 and the parent portal NetMoms.de. 
“I‘m more involved on the operative side than my 

A

(from left to right) André Radke, Karin Nawrath, Martin Houzer, Kerstin Trottnow 
and Oliver Mischke
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colleagues. I provide support when the 
single-entity financial statements are 
being prepared, for example, and I‘m 
involved in the companies‘ content-
related planning,” explains Oliver. 

tHe FIgURes aRe In

The accounting data with which the 
Controlling team of TOMORROW FO-
CUS AG works are prepared by a ser-
vice provider. They form the basis for 
the financial statements that will be 
disclosed, and thus for the interim and 
annual reports. 
At the same time, the controllers of 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG prepare the 
financial statement figures for inter-
nal use which the Management Board 
uses as a basis for their decisions. The 
financial statements for internal use 
are compared with the financial state-
ment for external use. “In principle we 
have to arrive at the same result in two 
different ways. That‘s an additional sa-
fety mechanism and guarantees that 
everything is correct. Final responsibi-
lity naturally lies with us here in Mu-
nich,” says Kerstin Trottnow. 

ContRollIng - please take oveR! 

In financial year 2012 TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG successfully completed four 
takeovers with the travel portals Tjin-
go, Zoover and Ecotour, and the parent 
portal NetMoms.de. This involved a lot 
of work for the Controlling staff as well. 
“Before takeovers we verify the effects 
on the consolidated balance sheet and 
the statement of income,” says Kerstin 
Trottnow. Extensive simulations are 
carried out for this purpose. The Excel 

simulation tool has been developed by 
Kerstin Trottnow herself. The Control-
ling department therefore provides im-
portant criteria for deciding in favour of 
or against an acquisition. In addition, it 
simulates the optimum financing of the 
takeover. Once the decision has been 
taken and the takeover process begins, 
Controlling is involved in drafting the 
contract. It checks various clauses and 
their long-term effects. The consolida-
tion of the new company and possible 
accounting risks are discussed with 
the responsible auditors. It is after the 
takeover that the work of the control-
lers really begins: the integration of 
the newly acquired company into the 
Group. So they visit new subsidiaries in 
person in order to introduce a standar-
dised monthly reporting system. In the 
case of smaller companies that have not 
had their own accounting and control-
ling departments so far, the Controlling 
staff of TOMORROW FOCUS AG provi-
des valuable assistance in introducing 
the necessary processes and reporting 
tools.

tHe Most IMpoRtant poInts aRe 
to Be FoUnd In tHe notes

The Controlling team also helps to pre-
pare the annual report by drawing up 
the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. The notes (in the mandato-
ry part of this report) provide a detailed 
explanation of a company‘s consoli-
dated balance sheet, the consolidated 
statement of income, as well as share-
holdings and equity investments.
“We start by updating the general dis-
closures. When the final figures are 
available, they are carefully analysed 

and any changes or differences are 
explained,“ says Kerstin Trottnow. For 
example, we explain the repayment of 
liabilities (section 8.29 of the notes). 
„The most important thing here is cross 
checking. The same figure keeps recur-
ring in different places in the notes or 
in the management report. If anything 
is modified, it must be altered every-
where. So we have to be particularly 
careful,“ says Kerstin Trottnow. 
The person mainly responsible for the 
annual financial statements for 2012 
and the contact for the auditors, who 
spend six weeks at the company to mo-
nitor the work of the Controlling team, 
is financial controller André Radke. “I 
closed the door of my office from Ja-
nuary until March and did nothing but 
calculating, checking and writing,” 
says André Radke with a laugh. He 
naturally received support from his 
colleagues. Manager Kerstin Trottnow, 
for instance, takes care of the IFRS7 
disclosures (for example in sections 
8.28 and 8.29 of the notes) and of the 
final acceptance of the notes. Colleague 
Karin Nawrath contributed the com-
ments on the statement of income (sec-
tion 9 of the notes). Martin Houzer, on 
the other hand, was responsible for the 
percentage-of-completion revenues 
and other financial liabilities (sections 
9.2 and 13.2.) 
“Our biggest strength is clearly our 
team spirit. The great passion that 
unites us are figures. We give each 
other mutual support, discuss technical 
issues and simply enjoy working toge-
ther. That‘s the secret of our success,“ 
says Kerstin Trottnow.
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TOMORROW FOCUS AG

Company profile:

TOMORROW FOCUS AG is one of  
the leading exchange-listed Internet  
groups in Germany.
 
Business model: Holding

Employees:  22

Based in:  Munich, Germany 

Management Board:
Toon Bouten, Dr Dirk Schmelzer, 
 Christoph Schuh

Website:
www.tomorrow-focus.de
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 juliA hAntow 
Up-and-CoMIng talent 
In CoRpoRate developMent

s a trainee in Corporate De-
velopment at TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG, there is always 
a lot to do, whether iden-
tifying new Internet trends, 

helping to negotiate takeovers or doing 
squats every day. (More on that later!)
Trainee Julia Hantow (25) joined the 
Corporate Development team at the 
company’s head office in Munich, Ger-
many, in December 2012. During her 
two-year traineeship she will spend 
time at different sites belonging to the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group and will 
work on a range of projects. Her next 
stop is the online dating agency Elite-
Partner in Hamburg, Germany.
Julia graduated in Media Studies from 
Ilmenau University of Technology be-
fore going on to complete her Master’s 
degree in Business Administration at the 
University of Münster, Germany, where 
she focused on Management, Business 
Cooperation and Mergers & Acquisitions. 
During her degree course, she gained a 
lot of practical experience with Rund-
funk Berlin-Brandenburg (the regional 
public broadcaster for the federal states 
of Berlin and Brandenburg), immobilio.
de (at the time a new start-up company), 
IBM Germany, the German-Irish Cham-
ber of Industry and Commerce and the 
strategic consultancy s&i Management 
Partners in Munich.

oFF to WoRk aBRoad

She has always had an interest in the 
Internet business and has spent a good 
deal of her spare time researching on-
line issues. Thus her career path after 
graduation was obvious. Julia wanted to 
find a growing Internet-based compa-
ny, ideally one that would allow her to 
spend time working abroad. “The trainee 
programme is a perfect match for my de-
gree. What’s more, in my second year, 
I’ll be able to spend some time in ano-
ther country. We have subsidiaries in the 
Netherlands, France and Switzerland. 
Who knows, with TOMORROW FOCUS 

A



79

 juliA hAntow 
Up-and-CoMIng talent 
In CoRpoRate developMent

AG expanding its international presence, 
perhaps the list will be even bigger by 
then,” she adds. In fact, Julia can already 
point to international experience during 
her degree course, as she studied for a 
term at Tongji University in Shanghai, 
China. “I learned a lot about Chinese cul-
ture and how to negotiate with Chinese 
people. You have to behave quite diffe-
rently from the way we are accustomed 
to as Europeans. It was good training. Of 
course, another challenge was the langu-
age. I didn’t really have any choice but 
to learn Mandarin as quickly as possible. 
In day-to-day life, you can’t get very far 
with English.”

tHeoRY Meets pRaCtICe

As soon as she began her traineeship, 
Julia was allowed to take part in the ne-
gotiations covering every aspect of the 
takeover of the parents’ and mothers’ 
portal netmoms.de. “It was exactly what 
I had learnt in theory, and it was a really 
good feeling to be putting what I’d learnt 
into practice.” 
In corporate development, it is essential 
to keep an eye open all the time for new 
industry trends that is what Julia enjoys 
most. “I was allowed to take part in the 
DLD-Conference 2013 in Munich in Ja-
nuary. International pioneers and indus-
try giants from the digital world come to 
the conference once a year to exchange 
ideas and discuss the latest trends. Being 
there was a brilliant experience, and I 
learned a huge amount,” says Julia.
Julia Hantow wants to use her time with 
the company to train in corporate deve-
lopment and strategy. She also wants to 
learn how to make important decisions 
quickly – even when there is risk and 
pressure involved – so that she can la-
ter take on management responsibilities. 
“I’m looking forward to my next trai-
nee postings and to learning lots more. 
There’s one thing I’m sure I will miss, 
though, when I go to Hamburg – our dai-
ly team ritual here in Munich. We all do 
squats together before we start work!”

Julia being interviewed at  
the DLD-Conference 2013



Alexander Stertzik

„Photographing a cake 
can be art.“ (Irving Penn)

Inspired by photographers Richard Avedon 
and Irving Penn, Alexander Stertzik had 

already devoted a lot of time to  photography 
while he was studying design. Later 

 Alexander made it his career, eventually 
specialising in portrait, still life and 

 lifestyle photography.

He lives and works in Constance  
on Lake Constance, Germany.

Alexander photographed our employees at 
HolidayCheck in Bottighofen, Switzerland.

www.alexanderstertzik.de
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HolidayCheck

plAying hARd with A clinicAl finiSh
here are 5.7 million unique 
users* visiting the Holiday-
Check website every month 
to read and write holiday 
ratings, compare prices, 

look for tips in the forum or book ho-
lidays. They use the website’s many 
functionalities without realising that 
there are people working behind the 
scenes all the time. New software is 

being implemented, processes impro-
ved and new functions incorporated in 
such a way that there is no downtime to 
inconvenience users. The people with 
responsibility for ensuring this conti-
nuity are the staff of the HolidayCheck 
IT department. Jüfan Geiger is one of 
them. Outside of work, Jüfan is a talen-
ted basketball player.

WoRkIng aWaY BeHInd tHe 
sCenes

Jüfan’s team mainly takes care of in-
tegrating new elements into the web-
site, such as the new travel time gra-
ph, which shows holidaymakers clearly 
the cheapest time to travel. Jüfan de-
scribes the process: “We have several 
hard-working developers working on 
changes and upgrades to our software 
products. It’s when a developer wants 
to place a finished product on the web-
site that my colleagues and I become 
involved. First of all, we give the pro-
duct a thorough ‘health check’, before 
thinking up a process by which we can 
integrate the product into the website 
without any outages.”
But Jüfan’s work covers not only the 
front end of the website – the part that 
the user sees – but also the back end. 
This is where all the background pro-
cesses, such as the editing of data, take 
place. Jüfan explains: “Metaphorically 
speaking, I’m the engineer who puts 
new parts into a machine while it’s run-
ning.” Jüfan has a degree in computer 
science. For his job, he says, you have 
to enjoy working as part of a team.   

*AGOF January 2013

t
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Alexander Stertzik, Fotograf

„i’m 2.05 metReS tAll,  
But you ReAlly only 
need to Be BiggeR thAn  
the douBteR inSide you.“
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FoR love oF tHe gaMe

For a long time, Jüfan was also part 
of a great sporting team. He played 
professional basketball for ten years. 
He came to this sport through being 
interested in a girl who always played 
basketball on a particular court. Jüfan 
laughs: “Almost every day for nine 
months I ran through half the city, just 
to be on the same court as her. Unfor-
tunately, I never asked for her phone 
number, and there was no such thing 
as Facebook at that time!” When the 
winter came and it wasn’t possible to 
play outside any longer, a co-player 
took him along to training, and that’s 
how his basketball career began. Jü-
fan played for the German Bundesliga 
teams of Tübingen, Freiburg, Speyer 
and Constance, as well as the Taiwan 
Mobile Clouded Leopards in Taipeh.
His professional career ended three 
years ago. “Now I play in the Holiday-
Check lunchtime table tennis team, 
and sometimes in the veterans basket-
ball league,“ he says with a laugh.
According to Jüfan, as a basketball pla-
yer you need to be quick and power-
ful yet calm and clinical. It does help 
to have the right physical attributes 
for your sport, but he feels it is not the 
decisive thing. Jüfan comments: “I’m 
2.05 metres tall, but you really only 
need to be bigger than the doubter in-
side you.”
Talent and height may be important, 
but it is also important to have time for 
training. In his Bundesliga days, Jüfan 
trained twice every day. He remem-
bers: “HolidayCheck always supported 
me. As long as you don’t let your work 

slide, you’re allowed the opportunity 
to pursue your sport or your hobby at 
the same time.” Basketball has always 
been Jüfan’s way of relaxing and ex-
ercising, first when he was studying 
and later when he started working. 
He particularly likes the fact that it de-
mands you put everything into it. He 
has learnt a lot from doing sports, for 
instance how to cope with the occa-
sional defeat. He remarks: “In sport, 
you win or you lose, but losing is no 
disgrace if you’ve given it your best 
shot.” However, he sees as his greatest 
success neither his sport nor his work. 
“My wife and children are my biggest 
success,” he smiles.

gloBetRottIng aMBItIons

His greatest dream is to book a trip 
around the world through Holiday-
Check and to play basketball on eve-
ry continent. In his luggage he would 
bring a basketball, which he would ask 
all his opponents to autograph.
At HolidayCheck, Jüfan also has a lot 
planned for this year. Several exciting 
upgrades are planned for the website, 
to make it even easier for customers to 
search, book and submit ratings. So Jü-
fan and his colleagues will have a lot to 
do in 2013. He says confidently: “Our 
users expect a lot from us, and so does 
the market. We are a great team here 
in Bottighofen, and will continue to in-
spire users.”
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holding StAck SkiRmiSh
with ciRcuS StRAcciAtelli

„pleASe hold 
             the line!“

HolidayCheck

Members of the HolidayCheck travel centre team in Bottighofen, Switzerland
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HolidayCheck
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lease hold the line – your call is important to us.” 
We have all experienced telephone hotlines with 
irritating ‘holding stacks’ and maddening eleva-
tor music. By way of revenge on behalf of all suf-
ferers, Berlin Radio 104.6 RTL has actually been 

turning the tables on their tormentors. The broadcaster’s 
moderators regularly phone famous name customer support 
lines masquerading as, for instance, Circus Stracciatelli to 
give their operators a taste of their own medicine. One mo-
derator, Arno and his morning team, got through to Nicole 
Böttger, an employee at the HolidayCheck travel centre to 
cancel a trip. But the radio guys had not reckoned with the 
crafty HolidayCheck team, who reacted right away and very 
wittily by launching into a live ‘holding stack’ skirmish – to 
the delight of the station’s listeners!

1,100 InCoMIng Calls eaCH daY  

Such calls to the HolidayCheck travel centre are, of course, 
the exception. Its agents speak most of the time with cu-
stomers needing care before, during and after booking their 
trips. The travel team deals with an average of 1,100 inco-
ming calls each day. “From start to finish, our job is to keep 
cheerful and to empathise and sympathise with the custo-
mer,” explains Claudia Haller, head of the 70-strong travel 
centre team at its main office in Bottighofen, Switzerland. 
She went on to say that: “On top of their sound knowledge 
of the travel business, each travel centre employee has to be 
good with people, capable of multitasking, and sometimes 
have saintly patience. Our customers’ holidays are the most 
important time of their year for which many will have saved 
up for ages. So everything should, of course, be perfect for 
them. When they are booking their trips, therefore, we enjoy 
giving them practical advice on a one-to-one basis”.
To ensure their work is varied, the customer agents rotate 
daily between the various tasks needing attention, such as 
processing emails, dealing with telephone enquiries and 
completing paperwork. But there are also experts for par-
ticular tasks, such as the team that copes with tour orga-
nisers’ operational changes, which has the unenviable job 
of telling the customer about sudden changes to flight and 
hotel arrangements when these occur because of flight can-
cellations, hotel closures or other unforeseen incidents. This 
calls for much tact and sensitivity, as well as understanding 
the customer’s point of view. Another team specialises in 

preparing quotations and seeking alternative travel arrange-
ments. Other employees respond to Facebook enquiries, for 
example for hotel recommendations or suitable destinations.
Claudia Haller sums it all up when she says: “We have a su-
per young team tackling all sorts of problems cheerfully and 
together. We’ve managed every situation that’s cropped up 
so far. Some customers are, of course, prejudiced against 
customer service hotlines, so we make it our business – day 
after day – to ensure such prejudices fade away rapidly just 
by being very friendly and doing our jobs skilfully.”

Here is the link to the radio recording

Company profile:

HolidayCheck operates the biggest 
German-language holiday reviews and 
bookings portal on the Internet. 

Business model:
Commission earned from package 
holidays, hotel and car rental bookings, 
and from online advertising.

Employees: 266

Based in:  Bottighofen,  
Switzerland

Managing Director:  Gilles Despas, 
Patrick Feil

Company: HolidayCheck AG 

Websites:

www.holidaycheck.de, .at, .ch, .com, .co.
uk, .cz, .pl, .ru and many more
www.mietwagencheck.de

p

87



Hannah Lipowsky

Hannah Lipowsky’s photography is simple yet 
sophisticated. She manages to capture the 
unique personality of each of her subjects 

with sensitivity and honesty. Her photographs 
have an emotional impact without being 
 sentimental. They are authentic without 

trying to shock, and always aim to do justice 
to the person in front of the camera.  

Hannah has a passion for finding  extraordinary 
stories, getting to know exceptional 

 characters, and capturing them in her 
pictures. This is how she came to create her 
portraits of the first generation of Japanese 
surfers, and of 196o‘s soul and blues legends 

in the southern United States.

Hannah lives and works in Amsterdam  
in the Netherlands.

She photographed our employees at Zoover, 
Meteovista and Tjingo in the Netherlands.

www.hannahlipowsky.com
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WHat does a MeteoRologIst’s noRMal WoRkIng 
daY look lIke?

Meteorologists are not familiar with the word normal. The 
weather tends to plan our work for us, but we do have a 
schedule. In the morning we start with coffee and soon after 
that a general weather forecast. During the day we make dif-
ferent forecasts for various customers and purposes, such as 
newspapers and Netherlands TV stations. 

WHat kInd oF data do YoU need FoR a WeatHeR 
FoReCast?

Computer-generated statistical models are the backbone of 
every weather forecast. Besides these models, we use real-
time data such as radar, satellite and observations. Climate 
data is helpful for comparing current situations. 

Company profile: 
Meteovista is one of the leading 
 providers of meteorological data  
and services in the Netherlands  
and other European countries.

Business model:

Supplier of weather data to companies 
and the media

Employees: 20

Based in: Zeist, Netherlands

Managing Directors:  Bas Rasker, 
Stephan Bosman

Gesellschaft:  Webassets B.V.
 
Website: www.meteovista.de

ince 2001, Meteovista has become one of the leading B2B and B2C 
providers of meteorological data and services in the Netherlands 
and other European countries. The website offers a huge range of 
forecasting and other weather-related information. It attracts around 
20 million visitors every month. Meteovista employs nine meteoro-

logists who create different forecasts for consumers, the media and companies. 
We talked to their team leader Hans Roozen and asked him what we had always 
wanted to know about the weather.

thRee dimenSionAl weAtheR 
thinkeRS

S
Hans Roozen, Chief Meteorologist at Meteovista
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HoW do YoU pRodUCe a WeatHeR FoReCast?

First of all we use real-time data to find the starting point for 
our weather forecast models. Then we analyse the different 
models and compare them to each other. From that point the 
meteorologist starts to build the whole picture.

WHeRe does tHe data CoMe FRoM?

We collaborate with different data providers. One is the Ger-
man company MSWR (Meteo Service Weather Research) 
which is based in Berlin. MSWR calculates forecasts on an 
hourly basis using information provided by the NOAA Glo-
bal Forecast System and local data in conjunction with their 
own MOS model. MOS means ‘Model Output Statistics’ and 
is a statistical technique for modern weather forecasting. We 
convert this hourly data into daily data and all the other se-
condary parameters shown on the website. We have our own 
models for our agricultural forecast, which focuses on crop 
diseases. During winter we use data from Rijkswaterstaat 
(RWS), which is part of the Dutch Ministry of Infrastructure 
and the Environment, to forecast road temperatures for our 
own Slippery Road Information System (GMS2Plus). This 
system is used by local and regional government and at na-
tional level. We also ingest weather observations for actual 
weather reports and reanalyse historic weather situations. 

do YoU soMetIMes dIFFeR In YoUR FoReCast FRoM 
otHeR pRovIdeRs?

Yes, of course. Weather providers do not all use the same 
source. Computer-based models and the way they are inter-
preted are also very important. In fact, they are crucial for 
the quality of a forecast.

HoW ManY daYs In advanCe Can YoU FoReCast tHe 
WeatHeR?

At the moment, worldwide models calculate 14 days ahead, 
which is pretty far if you ask me. Of course, as you can ima-
gine, the forecast for tomorrow will be more accurate than 
one 14 days ahead. The longer you run a model, the less 
reliability you have. 

YoU also pRodUCe FoReCasts FoR HealtH-Related 
IssUes (e.g. tHe dangeR oF CatCHIng FlU) and 
spoRts (WInteR spoRts CondItIons). HoW does 
tHat WoRk?

Again, there is a lot of maths involved. We work out ratings 
for the weather and for weather-related subjects. The rating 
is calculated by mixing the different variables that are im-
portant for that specific item. You can see the results on our 
platform. Here you can find, for example, a map of Germany 
showing the likelihood of catching the flu or a rating from 1 
to 10 points for the conditions in a skiing area. You can also 
choose parameters such as minimum snow depth or hours 
of sunshine per day, and the platform will show you all the 
skiing areas that fit your criteria. 

WHat Was tHe Most exCItIng WeatHeR pHenoMe-
non YoU Have expeRIenCed dURIng YoUR CaReeR?

I once tracked some very high, almost invisible, ‘dry’ thun-
derstorms over the Moroccan city of Marrakech. They pro-
duced downbursts with the power to rip out trees. 

Is It possIBle to InFlUenCe tHe WeatHeR In anY 
WaY? YoU oFten Read stoRIes aBoUt expeRIMents 
to pRodUCe aRtIFICIal CloUds and RaIn. 

There have been a lot of experiments, but so far all attemp-
ts have failed. There is a discipline called geo-engineering 
that aims to use technology to stop global warming, e.g. by 
removing carbon dioxide. They might just come up with a 
credible plan to mitigate climate change. 

HoW do YoU BeCoMe a MeteoRologIst?

You have to study hard! There are different meteorology 
courses of studies in the Netherlands – in Utrecht and Wage-
ningen. Some of our meteorologists learned their skills with 
the Royal Dutch Air Force.

do YoU need a speCIal talent oR passIon to Be a 
MeteoRologIst? 

The key is being able to think in three dimensions.
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Luuk Roestenberg and Stephan Bosman with the most beautiful app in the Netherlands 
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Company profile:

Zoover is the biggest holiday reviews 
portal in Belgium, Luxembourg and the 
Netherlands.
 
Business model:

Commission earned per click or from 
bookings of package holidays or hotels.

Employees:  52

Based in:

Zeist, Netherlands; Cologne, Germany

Managing Directors:

Bas Rasker, Stephan Bosman

Company: Webassets B.V.  
 
Websites: 
www.zoover.de, .nl, .fr, .es, .com, 
.se, .it, .ru, and many more

Zoover

Talents* How nice is Zoover!

f you hear a Dutchman say ‘zo 
ver’ he is saying ‘so far’, yet 
he could also be talking about 
Zoover, the most popular tra-
vel platform in the Netherlands. 

Zoover is a review portal where tra-
vellers can share their experience of 
accommodation, holiday destinations 
and tourist attractions. It has a web 
presence in 25 countries worldwide. 
The Zoover websites are consulted 
150 million times a year by travellers 
planning their holidays. 

tHe BIRtH oF ZooveR

Zoover started its business in 2004 
in the Netherlands and has grown ra-
pidly since then. “Dutch people are 
passionate travellers and tend to rely 
on the opinion of friends and family 
when choosing a hotel or a destinati-
on. With Zoover, they have access to 
over two million rewies in their own 
language,” says Stephan Bosman, 
CEO of Zoover. Zoover’s success sto-
ry started with the review platform 
Vakantiereiswijzer – in English ‘travel 
guide’. It was one of the first review 
platforms for holidays in the Nether-
lands. In 2004, the online entrepreneur 
Bas Rasker recognised the platform’s 
potential and bought the website. He 
combined Vakantiereiswijzer’s more 
than 500,000 reviews with a very user-
friendly interface and connected it to 
other travel platforms in the Nether-
lands. This was when Zoover was born. 
In 2007, the online travel entrepreneur 
Stephan Bosman joined him as COO 
and later as CEO of Zoover. He deve-
loped the platform at an international 
level. “Global presence is really impor-

tant if you want to compete with other 
big review websites. Now over 70 per-
cent of our website visitor traffic is ge-
nerated outside the Netherlands,” says 
Stephan Bosman. 

a stRong BRand 

Over the years Zoover has become THE 
online travel brand in the Netherlands. 
In 2012, Google carried out a study that 
involved the four largest tour operators 
in the Netherlands. The results showed 
that over 60 percent of the people who 
had booked via one of these tour ope-
rators took their decision by using Zoo-
ver. In a representative survey where 
Dutch people were asked for a travel ra-
ting portal 60 percent of those surveyed 
mentioned Zoover, while the globally 
known platform Tripadvisor was menti-
oned by 7 percent of Dutch people. 

oWn BookIng engIne

The brand and the high traffic in com-
bination with a cost-per-click payment 
model have made Zoover very success-
ful. Cost per click (or CPC) means that 
a website owner gets paid by another 
website owner every time a link is cli-
cked which leads the user to the latter’s 
website. However, since December 
2012 Zoover has been expanding its 
business model through the integra-
tion of its own booking engine. Now 
Zoover’s customers can make their 
bookings directly via the Zoover web-
site and are not directed to the website 
of a tour operator. The advantage of an 
own booking engine is higher commis-
sions from tour operators than in a CPC 
payment model. In addition, with an 

hoe leuk iS zooveR!*

i
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Zoover

own booking engine Zoover knows its 
customers and thus can develop a tai-
lor-made marketing approach in order 
to meet the customers’ requirements. 
The advanced technology for Zoover’s 
new booking engine comes from the 
TOMORROW FOCUS affiliate compa-
ny, Tjingo, a Dutch online travel agent 
(OTA) that developed its own booking 
engine. Zoover is the leading holiday 
review plattform in Benelux. Its high 
traffic and the quality of its reviews plus 
Tjingo’s state-of-the-art technology 
will make Zoover also one of the major 
OTAs in the Netherlands.

BeaUtIFUl app

Dutch people are not only keen travel-
lers, they are also frequent users of the 
mobile web according to the consumer 
choices study 2011/2012 carried out 
by the research company GfK. This is 
the reason why Zoover has developed 
some of the most popular apps in the 

Netherlands. Their latest iPad app cal-
led ‘Hoe leuk is Nederland’ - which me-
ans ‘How nice are the Netherlands’- has 
been recognised by a well-known app 
review website as ‘the most beautiful 
Dutch app they have ever seen’. Users 
of the app can discover more than 200 
activities that are funny, really origi-
nal and quite difficult to find. The app 
shows activities for all ages, budgets 
and interests and combines these with 
accommodation nearby. “We wanted to 
have an app that offers additional value 
to users. So we took another approach. 
Why just search for a destination or ac-
commodation? Why not search for fun 
first of all? The focus of the app is to in-
spire the user,” explains Luuk Roesten-
berg, Head of New Media at Zoover. 
Under his guidance, Zoover has laun-
ched two other apps. The Zoover app 
for Android and iPhone offers many 
good features to travellers. All the Zoo-
ver data can be found in the app and 
users can book a hotel room directly via 

the app. The app of Meteovista is also 
a big success. Meteovista is an affiliate 
company of Zoover and provides real-
time weather data. In the first 250 days 
the app was downloaded 500,000 times 
and made it to the top position in the 
Apple App Store in the Netherlands wi-
thout any marketing or promotion. 

IMpoRtant CoMpetItIve  
advantages 

The Dutch travel market is a very pro-
gressive market. In comparison with 
other European markets a high rate of 
package holidays is booked online. In 
the future, the competitive edge will 
come from advanced booking techno-
logies and a state-of-the-art mobile ap-
proach. Zoover is well prepared to hold 
a leading position in the Benelux mar-
ket. “The fact that people in the Nether-
lands and Belgium really love our brand 
helps us to grow and explore new busi-
ness fields,” says Stephan Bosman.

Zoover’s ‘Hoe leuk is Nederland’ app 

AR 2012

94



Tjingo
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Tjingo’s Managing Directors, Björn Huiskes and Jan van der Tempel

tjing, tjing, tjingo!

ince April 2012 the Dutch 
online travel agency Tjin-
go has been part of the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group. 
In the Netherlands Tjingo 

is well-known for its top performance 
price comparison functionalities and 
its entertaining TV adverts. But what is 
the name Tjingo all about? 

alWaYs tHe CHeapest  
tRavel deal

The brand name comes from ‘Tjing 
Tjing’, the sound of a cash register, 
and means that you can always find 

the cheapest travel deal on its website. 
“When people plan their holidays they 
usually pick the place where they want 
to go. They care less about the tour 
operator where they actually book 
their holiday. They compare offers and 
prices, and then make a decision. Yet 
searching for offers and comparing 
these takes a lot of time and can be 
really frustrating. That’s why we show 
our customers only the very best of-
fers available on the market. Custo-
mers can be sure that we compare the 
major operators on the market, and 
that we help them to save time and 
money,” says Björn Huiskes, founder 

and Managing Director of Tjingo. In 
addition to the guaranteed best price 
functionality, the advanced booking 
technology of Tjingo offers a special 
filtering feature. “On other platforms, 
customers have to enter a destination 
and a date first to find a holiday. Ho-
wever, if they have not yet made up 
their minds about the destination or if 
the destination is less important than 
the price, it is impossible to do an ef-
fective search. On our platform, custo-
mers have a variety of search options 
in order to satisfy different require-
ments. The customer decides when to 
use which search filters,” comments 

S
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Company profile:

Tjingo is one of the leading Dutch  
online travel agents.
 
Business model:

Commission earned from  
package  holiday bookings

Employees:  20

Based in:  Woerden, Netherlands

Managing Directors:

Jan van der Tempel, Björn Huiskes 

Company:  Tomorrow Travel B.V.
  
Websites: www.tjingo.nl 
  www.holidaycheck.nl

Tjingo

Björn Huiskes

(Managing director)

Jan van der Tempel, also founder and 
Managing Director of Tjingo.

tv adveRts WItH  
tHe  vakantIeMatseR

To present the advantages of the plat-
form to a broad audience in the Nether-
lands, the Tjingo team has produced 
advertisements for TV and the web. 
Robert Schmidt, responsible for mar-
keting at Tjingo, and Bjorn Huiskes de-
cided to do most of the work relating to 
the spots in-house and carried out the 
set-up, storyboard, planning and pro-
duction themselves. They only hired an 
external camera crew and a producer. 
“First of all we analysed what kind of 
ingredients we needed to make a good 
ad. We aimed to create a TV advert 
that really shouted ‘Holiday!’ And we 

wanted to do the filming in an attrac-
tive sunny environment. To maximise 
the association for prospective custo-
mers, we worked with real tourists. So 
no skinny models combined with faked 
reactions, but real tourists with genu-
ine responses,” says Robert Schmidt. 
Since Tjingo’s slogan is ‘Laat je ook 
matsen’ (which means: let somebody 
do you a favour), Björn and Robert de-
cided to show exactly that in the ad. 
The ‘Vakantiematser’ (roughly trans-
lated: holiday buddy) was sent out to 
ask real Dutch tourists at their holiday 
destination what they had paid for their 
holidays. If they had paid more than 
the best deal offered on Tjingo, the 
Vakantiematser would return travel-
lers the excess money they had paid in 
cash, even though they had not made 
the booking with Tjingo.

AR 2012
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For filming the team travelled to Egypt 
and approached tourists right on the 
beach. The role of the the Vakantie-
matser was played by Jacob Kirchjun-
ger, a crowd-entertainer for the biggest 
TV-network in the Netherlands. As a 
warm-up entertainer Jacob makes sure 
that the studio audience during shows 
like ‘Idols’ (DSDS in Germany and Pop 
Idol in UK) and ‘The Voice of Holland’ 
remains enthusiastic and cheerful du-
ring advertising breaks in live shows. 
Robert and Björn chose him because 
he has experience with people, and be-
cause of his good voice and his likeable 
and cheerful personality. 

good FeedBaCk 

The team produced five spots of 30 
seconds each, three of which were 

aired on the big TV networks in the 
Netherlands, such as RTL and SBS, 
and on three public channels. The 
spots were also shown on the Tjingo 
website, on YouTube, Facebook and 
Hyves (a Dutch social media platform). 
“The feedback was very good. When 
we spoke to someone we had never 
met before and we said that we were 
working for Tjingo, people said right 
away ‘Oh yes, for the Vakantiematser, 
the guy who pays back the money,” 
explains Robert Schmidt with a laugh. 
Tjingo recorded twice as much website 
traffic during the time when the spots 
were aired.“The key to the enormous 
success of the adverts was empathy 
for the consumer and the fact that the 
team managed to explain Tjingo’s pro-
duct in a simple and entertaining way,” 
says Björn Huiskes. 

At the moment Tjingo is working on 
new ads with a more technical focus 
that aim to explain how the different 
features of the website work. So stay 
tuned!

Robert schmidt

(Marketing)

Link to Tjingo TV ads
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„we help 
 conSumeRS  
SAve money  
And time.“
Björn Huiskes
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Prisca Martaguet

Prisca Martaguet is a German-French 
 photographer with bags of energy.

Her portfolio includes illustrative portraits, 
social reportage and conceptual photography 
for magazines and companies. Her photogra-
phic style is direct, full of curiosity, and 
always has a little sprinkling of humour.

Prisca lives in Paris, France,  
and in Berlin, Germany. She likes to be  

out and about all the time.

For us, she photographed our Ecotour 
colleagues in the French town of Courbevoie, 

France and made the accessories for the 
motives herself.

www.prisca-martaguet.com
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Ecotour

n Internet booking en-
gine (IBE) is the core of 
an online travel agency. 
Ecotour.com is one of the 
only online travel agencies 

(OTAs) in Europe that owns and designed 
its own IBE. The French travel platform 
developed its own booking technology to 
be able to offer a particularly comprehen-
sive range of package holidays at very at-
tractive prices. 
An IBE is software based on a server 
that can be used to make reservations 

for flights, hotels, package holidays and 
other travel services via the Internet. The 
booking engine is connected to different 
computer reservation systems and tour 
operators. When a user enters a reque-
st, for example a location or the date of 
a holiday, the IBE can search in realtime 
for available offers and generate price 
offers. The more advanced the software, 
the better the travel offers and the ability 
to meet the customer’s needs.
“When we started, there was no Global 
Distribution Service (GDS). This is a re-
servation system that travel agents use to 
find available hotels, flights and package 
holidays. And there were no standard 
feeds for it in France. We found that to 
be able to create a new brand in package 
holidays, we would have to develop the 

Build youR own holidAy
technology ourselves,” explains Guillau-
me Victor-Thomas, founder and CEO of 
Ecotour.com.
Ecotour started with a very small team of 
three people. During the development of 
their own booking engine they focused 
primarily on the customer’s needs. “As a 
travel agency for private customers, we 
wanted to improve processes and relia-
bility,” says Guillaume. In their first year, 
the team was able to generate EUR 8 mil-
lion in gross book value. “We then deci-
ded to go ahead and integrate all manda-

tory stages of our business into the IBE, 
which means from customer relationship 
management (CRM) to accounting and 
supplier billing reconciliation.”
Today the IBE of Ecotour – known as 
‘Automated Retail and Management 
for e-Travel (ARMe)’ – has a very large 
range of functionalities, including brand 
management, cascading white labelling, 
personalisation of messages, automated 
vouchers and self-service. ARMe has 
links to over fifty tour operators and of-
fers the largest inventory on the French 
travel market. Live prices and availabili-
ties are merged in a simple search engi-
ne for the customer. 

H O T E L

... and putting it together into  
a tailor-made package holiday

= dynamic packaging

selecting everything separately…

dYnaMIC HolIdaYs

A new and unique feature of ARMe is 
Dynamic Packaging. Customers can se-
lect a hotel, flight and other services se-
parately and thus create their personal 
package holiday instead of just selec-
ting from existing package offers. This 
massively extends the inventory that 
can be booked on the website. “Our 
inventory grew a lot in January 2013 
when we added tickets for flights with 
low cost airlines that can be combined 
with hotels. We are the first on the 
French market to be able to combine 
those feeds dynamically and mix them 
with the offer of the tour operators. We 
are presenting 1,500 offers with dy-
namic packaging at the moment. Our 

A
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Talents

Company profile:

Ecotour is one of the four biggest  
online travel agents in France
 
Business model:

Commission earned from  
package  holiday and hotel bookings 

Employees:  26

Based in:  Courbevoie, France

Managing Directors:
Guillaume Victor-Thomas, Matthias Papet

Company:  RPC Voyages SAS 

Websites: www.ecotour.fr
  www.holidaycheck.fr  

customers have a big benefit from the 
wide range of offers. We are migrating 
from an OTA to a marketplace.” says 
Guillaume.

MUCH soUgHt-aFteR soFtWaRe

Also other companies in the French 
market are using the technology of Eco-
tour as SaaS (software as a service) and 
white label solution in order to boost 
their productivity. “After the 2008 cri-
sis, we thought it would be worthwhile 
to offer our technology to third parties. 
So we entered into business relations 
with the online travel agency Go Vo-
yages. The market stagnation impacted 
profitability, and some of the French 
online travel companies focused on re-

ducing costs. Many players still work 
with old systems. ARMe is the answer 
for those players because it is a mature 
system that has already proved its ad-
vantage,” explains Guillaume.

Guillaume Victor-Thomas (right) and the Technology team of Ecotour 
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Talents
The Ecotour team developed a dynamic packaging technology that enables people 
to put together their own package holidays.
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Ecotour

Talents

n 2012 the whole world held its breath while Fe-
lix Baumgartner made an amazing BASE jump 
from ‘the edge of space’. Our Managing Director of 
Ecotour.com, Guillaume Victor-Thomas, is an ex-
perienced skydiver and BASE jumper himself. We 

talked with him about his thrilling hobby. 

WHat Is tHe dIFFeRenCe BetWeen  
skYdIvIng and Base jUMpIng?
Guillaume Victor-Thomas: Skydiving means to exit an air-
craft and return to earth with a parachute that slows you 
down. You can choose the length of time of free fall. Skydi-
ving is a sport that is very emotive, impressive and is very 
popular. There are dozens of skydiving centres in France 
and in other countries. You can make 10 to 18 jumps a day, 
train with a team and even participate in competitions. 
BASE jumping and skydiving are related but not the same, 
and their equipment is now starting to differ more. BASE 
stands for ‘Buildings, Antennas, Spans and Earth‘, and it 
means to jump from fixed objects, such as bridges, sky-
scrapers, rocks etc. There have been 6,000 to 10,000 BASE 
jumps around the world with many of them illegal and 
extremely dangerous. The sport has also changed a lot in 
recent years. When I started BASE jumping, getting away 
from the object was a safety requirement. Now BASE jum-
pers wear wingsuits, get close to the object and fly 1 to 2 
metres away from it. So just falling from a rock is not en-
ough anymore. Wingsuits have opened up new dimensions 
in BASE jumping. In a few years, maybe, people will have 
jet propellers on their feet - like the inventor Yves Rossi. 

WHY and HoW dId YoU staRt  
skYdIvIng and Base jUMpIng? 
Just after we developed the first e-travel service and flight 
booking engine in France -Travelprice.com - and sold it 
to the Lastminute Group in 2001, I was looking for some-
thing new in my life. I was interested in sports offering an 
adrenaline buzz. So I tried several activities such as car 
racing, jet-skiing, flying a plane. Then I went skydiving. It 
was a big experience: total freedom with no limits except 

the ground after 50 seconds of free fall. Depending on 
the movements you make and the axis, the time spent in 
free fall can last up to 1 minute 20 seconds. After I had 
perfected my skydiving skills – I had made around 1,000 
skydiving jumps up to then – I was introduced to BASE 
jumping by a mentor. 

WHat Is so speCIal aBoUt It?  
dId It IMpaCt YoUR WoRk lIFe?
Definitely. I decided to skydive every day and to become 
an extreme photographer. I was moving the whole year 
with the seasons, and I was taking and selling pictures to 
magazines and tabloids. This was a radical change of life 
but I had great moments travelling all around the world. 
After completing a contract for an advertising shoot for 
Jaeger-LeCoultre watches, I decided to come back to real 
life, and I founded Ecotour.com. Today I do not do BASE 
jumping anymore. I have a family, and my sense of re-
sponsibility does not allow me to practise that kind of 
sport. Yet I still go skydiving once in a while. It gives you 
another perspective, helps to get out of the daily routines 
and to have new ideas. 

WHat WoUld YoU ReCoMMend IF soMeone  
Is InteRested In skYdIvIng oR Base jUMpIng? 
As far as skydiving is concerned you should start with an 
experienced instructor and a tandem jump. So you can see 
if you like it. It is a great experience when you overcome 
the fear and leave the plane. Out of 100 people, 99 people 
like it and about 15 want to do it again. With BASE jum-
ping it is completely different. You need to have a lot of 
experience and training before you can do it. It is highly 
dangerous and you should not get into it if you do not have 
the relevant skills.

WHat Was YoUR Most exCItIng jUMp? 
It was a skydive in Kenya. After negotiating for eight days, 
the helicopter pilot showed me some place in the middle of 
nowhere. After 15 minutes flying, we were 6,000 feet above 
sea level when we left the helicopter. It was just amazing!

 up in  
the  
 S k y

i

Guillaume Victor-Thomas
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the link to the video
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„people in the 
 netheRlAndS And 
Belgium ReAlly 
love zooveR.“
stephan Bosman, Zoover
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Tom Ziora

For Tom Ziora, photography means 
 preserving a bit of the ephemeral. As he 
says: “If my pictures succeed in telling a 

story that can be conveyed not only through 
the photographer‘s eye, but interpreted 
 individually by everyone who sees them,  

I have done my job right.”

Tom lives and works in the German cities  
of Aalen, Stuttgart and Munich.

For us, he photographed Toon Bouten, 
Christoph Schuh and Dr Dirk Schmelzer, 

 members of the Management Board of 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG.

 www.tomziora.com
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inteRview with  
toon  Bouten

antonIUs ‘toon’ BoUten (54) Has Been tHe neW 

Ceo oF toMoRRoW FoCUs ag’s ManageMent 

BoaRd  sInCe 1  janUaRY 2013. We dIsCUssed WItH 

HIM HIs  CaReeR, neW CHallenges and talents. 
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TOMORROW FOCUS AG

oon, CoUld YoU FIRst tell Us  
a BIt aBoUt YoURselF? 

Antonius „Toon“ Bouten: I was born in Amster-
dam in the Netherlands. After studying at the 

Technical University in Eindhoven I started work at Philips, 
whose international orientation pleased me. In my further pro-
fessional life I then worked for Internet, consumer electronics 
and information technology companies in various countries, 
namely Denmark, Germany, Italy, Sweden, and the French-
speaking districts of Switzerland. I’ve been living in Munich 
now for 17 years but often worked elsewhere over that period. 
My family is, of course, very pleased that I’m now working in 
Munich and no longer away travelling the whole week.
 
YoU Have WoRked In ManY laRge CoMpanIes. 
WHICH pHases oF YoUR CaReeR Have Been tHe 
Most InteRestIng so FaR? 

Each job naturally has its interesting sides. I can say, though, 
that the most interesting phases of the 28 years of my pro-
fessional life were those in which it was all about building 
something up, developing a long-term strategy, and driving 
new ideas forward. That was the situation, for instance, 
with Compaq Computers and Jobline, an online recruiting 
company. The objective always has to be creating long-term 
shareholder value.

WHat Is YoUR FIRst IMpRessIon  
oF toMoRRoW FoCUs?

TOMORROW FOCUS is a solid company with good business 
models, strong brands and very good results. The good at-
mosphere and the team spirit in the Group impressed me 
particularly. The employees are highly motivated and prepa-
red to perform superbly. Now it’s time to take the next step, 
there is still much unutilised potential that I’d like to awaken. 

WHat aRe YoUR plans FoR tHe  
toMoRRoW FoCUs gRoUp?

We are currently working up a strategy for the years ahead 
to 2018. What I can say already is that we are reinforcing our 
efforts to increase synergies within the Group, for instance 
in the cases of search engine optimasation or mobile know-
how for the future. We have many fields in which we could 
achieve even better results by working more closely with 
our own subsidiaries. TOMORROW FOCUS AG has huge 
potential in the German market, but especially with regard 
to international markets. I believe, therefore, that many of 

our companies should have a long-term global orientation. 
We must build scalable business models that we can roll out 
internationally. By exploiting new markets both organically 
and by takeovers, we could be developing new products and 
services that might be interesting for our domestic market in 
Germany as well. 

WHat, In YoUR vIeW, Have geRMan  
FIRMs stIll to leaRn?

I have the feeling that German firms are very cautious and 
invest much time in planning before they start implementing 
anything. German medium-sized enterprises also often tend 
to plan from the outset just for the German market and not 
internationally, quite the reverse of the approach of many 
medium-sized US American and Dutch companies. Some-
times one has to think bigger and even take a calculated risk. 
‘Think big and just do it!’ Otherwise someone else will. 

WHat In YoUR opInIon sUCCeeds  
In tHe InteRnet seCtoR?

An excellent scalable business model is the key. A good idea 
is the first step but then one must also know how it can be 
monetised. What profit model suits, how do I increase my 
traffic, make my brand well known, scale my technology and 
create a market for myself? For that one needs innovative 
people with experience and a network, like the TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group, which offers the ideal prerequisites for 
exchanging experience and thus for achieving long-term 
success. 

WHat MUst YoUR eMploYees knoW aBoUt YoU?

I stand for direct communications and a culture of transpa-
rent feedback within the company, whose employees can 
come to me with new ideas at any time. Making mistakes is 
also completely OK providing one addresses them openly, 
works with everyone to find solutions and learns from them. 
I would like my employees to bring passion to their work, 
enjoy it and deliver first-class performance. 

WHat Is YoUR gReatest talent?

I believe my greatest talent is being able to absorb and com-
bine information from diverse sources very well. I am very 
open and there is scarcely any area that does not interest me. 
So I get a great deal of input that, if correctly analysed and 
assembled, leads on to new solutions and business ideas.

t
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„…theRe iS Still much 
unutiliSed potentiAl thAt 
i’d like to AwAken.“
toon Bouten
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Key figures

KEY FIGURES

 
31  Dec.  2012 31 Dec.  2012

Change in 
percent

Total assets in Euro million 259.5 184.4 +40.7

Equity in Euro million 107.7 96.6 +11.5

Debt in Euro million 151.7 87.8 +72.8

Equity ratio in percent 41.5 52.4 –20.8

Debt ratio in percent 58.5 47.6 +22.9

 
2012 2011

Change in 
percent

Consolidated revenue (external)* in Euro million 149.1 135.9 +9.7

Segments:

Transactions in Euro million 109.3 90.1 +21.3

Advertising in Euro million 27.3 32.6 –16.3

Technologies in Euro million 12.5 13.2 –5.2

Group EBITDA in Euro million 28.1 21.4 +31.3

Group EBIT in Euro million 20.0 16.8 +19.0

Group EBT in Euro million 15.7 13.1 +19.9

Group earnings after taxes in Euro million 14.7 11.3 +31.3

Earnings per share in Euro 0.28 0.21 +33.3

Number of employees as at 31 December (FTE) 678 590 +14.9

*including EUR 7.6 million revenues of AdJug Group. The majority in AdJug was sold in August 2011 

Segment revenue

2007

2008

2009

Transactions 
70.0%

Advertising
21.4%

Technologies 
8.6%

Transactions 
59.2%

Advertising
33.0%

Technologies 
7.8%

Transactions 
66.3%

Advertising
25.0%

Technologies 
8.7%

2010

2011

Transactions 
66.3%

Advertising
24.0%

Technologies 
9.7%

2012

Transactions 
73.3%

Advertising
18.3%
Technologies 
8.4%

Transactions 
65.4%

Advertising
26.1%

Technologies 
8.5%

*

*
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Key figures

Structure of shareholders at 31 December 2012 (in percent, rounded)

Development of TOMORROW FOCUS Group key figures

Burda Digital GmbH 64.5 %

Free float 33.5 %

Managing Board and Supervisory Board  2.0 % 

 53.0

 65.6

 74.9

 77.1

 92.2

 106.9
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(in Euro million)
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 28.1
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 5.7
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Group EBIT 
(in Euro million)

 16.8

 20.0

     –0.04

 0.10

 0.15

 0.05

 0.05

 0.16

Earnings per share
(in Euro)

 0.21

 0.28
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DeaR ShaRehOlDeRS,

Another successful year lies behind us at TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG, one in which we have again set new re-
cords for revenue and earnings. 

On the operating side, this success is due to the consi-
stent implementation of our business strategy, which 
has focused on selective expansion in the existing Ad-
vertising segment and on efforts to build up a new, 
transactions-based segment with brands such as 
 HolidayCheck and ElitePartner.

In order to ensure that both segments will continue 
to grow strongly at both national and international le-
vel over the coming years, in 2012 we carried out four 
strategically important takeovers in the areas of travel 
and advertising.

Furthermore, as proof that strong growth and share-
holder rewards can go hand in hand, we increased our 
dividend to EUR 0.06 for the year under review. That is 
by no means standard practice among companies with 
such a focus on growth.

eaRninGS peR ShaRe Up 33 peRCenT

At EUR 149 million, the TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
can report its highest ever annual revenue, a full ten 
percent up on the previous record set in 2011. 

There were new earnings records, too, with  EBITDA 
(earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortisation) 30 percent higher at EUR 28 million and 
earnings per share up 33 percent at EUR 0.28.

inTeRnaTiOnaliSaTiOn OF TRavel 
 OpeRaTiOnS piCkS Up SpeeD

We scaled up and gave a sustainable boost to our tra-
vel operations in the Transactions segment through 
three new takeovers.

By way of example, we improved our market posi-
tion in France significantly by acquiring the online 
travel agent Ecotour.fr. The combination of Ecotour’s 
advanced bookings platform with HolidayCheck.fr’s 
ratings content also provides considerable scope for 
further growth. 

Dr Dirk Schmelzer
Chief Financial Officer

LEttER to  
ShaREhoLdERS

Letter to Shareholders
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Our takeover of the online travel agent Tjingo.nl and 
the leading Dutch hotel ratings platform Zoover al-
lowed us to break into the attractive Benelux travel 
market. Here, too, there is a good deal of potential for 
further growth through the integration of Tjingo’s boo-
king technology into the Zoover platform.

In the financial year 2012, these two portals already 
contributed around EUR 10 million to the segment’s 
total revenue, which showed a year-on-year improve-
ment of 21 percent to EUR 109 million. 

As usual, this splendid result was also driven by our 
hotel ratings and holiday bookings portal Holiday-
Check, which recorded particularly strong growth in 
the German-speaking countries.

The same is true of the Group’s premium matchmaker 
ElitePartner, which increased its revenue, despite a 
general consensus that the overall market is stagna-
ting, and thus also its market share. 

The physician ratings portal Jameda also delivered a 
pleasing set of results, returning a profit for the first 
time in December.

aDveRTiSinG SeGMenT pURSUeS 
 veRTiCaliSaTiOn STRaTeGy

Revenue in the Advertising segment was nine percent 
up on the previous year with an above-average rise in 
earnings from operating activities.

This was partly due to the success of our premium di-
gital advertising network TOMORROW FOCUS Media, 
which posted a series of excellent results in 2012.

FOCUS Online also made an important contribution to 
the overall performance of the Advertising segment in 
2012 by delivering another substantial increase in its 
visitor reach figures and closing the year with a posi-
tive operating result. 

Finanzen100, the Group’s finance and stock market 
portal, reported a major increase in its visitor reach 

figures over just one year to make it one of Germany’s 
top three stock market information portals. This achie-
vement was due in no small measure to Finanzen100’s 
consistent Mobile First strategy.

At the beginning of the fourth quarter, we sold the di-
gital rights of use to the brands TV-Spielfilm, Fit for 
Fun and Cinema to the Burda News Group, which had 
previously taken over editorial operation and product 
management of the three portals as a licensed partner 
in 2009. The Group’s digital ad network TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media will continue to market the portals’ on-
line and mobile content. 

In December, we acquired the parent portal Net-
Moms.de, one of the highest-reach portals of its kind 
in Germany. The takeover is part of our strategy of in-
corporating high-reach, vertically structured thema-
tic portals that offer potentially wide-ranging syner-
gies. Under the deal, the Group’s digital advertising 
network TOMORROW FOCUS Media has taken over 
the marketing of the portal, which has been profitable 
for some years.

neW SeRviCeS TO aTTRaCT neW CUSTOMeRS

While the Technologies segment reported a slight de-
cline in revenue for 2012 as a result of postponed or-
ders, its prospects are nevertheless positive. 

New customers were attracted by a range of smart-
TV solutions developed at Cellular, the segment’s full-
service mobile agency.

The Group’s digital technology and creative agency 
TFT GmbH established itself in several new areas, e.g. 
as a service provider for e-commerce solutions, and 
also expanded its customer base.

pOSiTive OUTlOOk FOR 2013

Over recent years, the TOMORROW FOCUS Group has 
built up numerous valuable and sustainable Internet-
based business models and continues to further deve-
lop them with the help of its dedicated workforce. 

Letter to Shareholders
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Letter to Shareholders

Looking ahead at financial 2013, we are confident that 
we can maintain our established trajectory of growth, 
with contributions of course from our new brands Eco-
tour, Netmoms, Tjingo and Zoover. Our overall aim is 
for the Group to deliver double-digit increases in reve-
nue and operating EBITDA.

Of course, we are also exploring the potential for 
acquiring additional Internet-based companies in 
Germany and elsewhere that would complement our 
existing portfolio, especially in the areas of travel and 
advertising, and help us to create one of Europe’s lea-
ding and above all most valuable Internet groups. 

As our shareholders, we hope that you will stay with us 
as we pursue this goal.

Yours sincerely

The Management Board



TOMORROW FOCUS AG once again maintained regular 
and transparent contact throughout the whole of 2012 
with investors, analysts and business journalists.
The Management Board presented the company at 
numerous road shows and investor conferences in 
Cologne, Dusseldorf, Frankfurt/Main, London, Munich 
and Zurich. There were further opportunities to pre-
sent the company to investors, analysts and business 
journalists at three in-house investor events held in the 
German cities of Frankfurt/Main and Munich. 

The Management Board also took part in question and 
answer sessions with well-known business and stock 
market media organisations.
TOMORROW FOCUS AG is committed to the equitable 
treatment of all investors. All relevant information, 
such as presentations at key investor events, can be 
found on the company’s website at www.tomorrow- 
focus.com. Here investors can also find a comprehen-
sive range of in-depth background information about 
the company.

InvEStoR RELatIonS
busy schedule of road shows 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG  |  Neumarkter Strasse 61  |  81673 Munich  |  Germany
www.tomorrow-focus.de     www.facebook.de/tomorrowfocus     www.twitter.com/tomorrowfocus
www.youtube.com/tomorrowfocus

inveSTOR anD pUBliC RelaTiOnS COnTaCT

Armin Blohmann
phone:  +49 (0) 89 9250-1256
fax: +49 (0) 89 9250-2403
email: a.blohmann@tomorrow-focus.de

Sabine Minar
phone:  +49 (0) 89 9250-1208
fax:  +49 (0) 89 9250-2403
email: s.minar@tomorrow-focus.de

All relevant investors‘
information can be found on

www.tomorrow-focus.com/ 
investor-relations/ 

Investor Relations

RECOMMENDATION PRICE TARGET

Bank of America Merrill Lynch buy EUR 5.50

Bankhaus Lampe Research buy EUR 5.00

Berenberg Bank Research buy EUR 5.00

Deutsche Bank Research hold EUR 4.00

HSBC Global Research outperform EUR 4.80

Warburg Research buy EUR 5.20

*13 February 2013; no guarantee of completeness 

analysts’ ratings of TOMORROW FOCUS aG share*
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Investor Relations

kEy DATA ShARE PRICE DEvElOPMENT

DEvElOPMENT 
Of ThE
yEAR-END 
ClOSING PRICE 
SINCE 2005*

German securities code (WkN): 549532 Starting price 2012: EUR 3.40 2005: EUR 2.09

ISIN: DE0005495329 low 2012: EUR 3.26 2006: EUR 2.45

Stock exchange symbol: TFA high 2012: EUR 4.37 2007: EUR 3.14

Stock exchange segment: Prime Standard Closing price 2012: EUR 3.87 2008: EUR 2.55

Designated Sponsor: HSBC Trinkaus Development of share price in 
2012: 15.5 percent

2009: EUR 3.35

Indices: CDAX, Technology All Share, Prime All Share Development of TecDAX in 2012: 
20.9 percent

2010: EUR 3.61

Number of shares at 31.12.2012: 53,012,390, no-par-value 
bearer shares

Closing price 08.03.2013: 
EUR 4.14

2011: EUR 3.35

Number of shares at 12.02.2013: 58,055,588, no-par-value 
bearer shares

2012: EUR 3.87

Market capitalisation: EUR 240.4 million (as at 8 March 2013) 

* Figures based on year-end closing prices for the TOMORROW FOCUS share on Xetra

key TOMORROW FOCUS share data

2007  EUR 134.6 million

2008  EUR 120.2 million

2009  EUR 177.6 million

2010
 EUR 191.4     
 million

2011  EUR 177.6 million

2012 EUR 205.2       
 million

Market capitalisation

* Figures based on year-end closing prices for the TOMORROW FOCUS share on Xetra

Shareholder structure as at 31 December 2012 
(rounded)

Burda Digital  
GmbH 
64.52 percent

Free float
35.48percent

Management  
Board and 
Supervisory Board
1.97percent 

in %  
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2012

february March April May June July August September October November December

The TOMORROW FOCUS share in 2012

TOMORROW fOCUS AG

TecDAX

Publication of the financial 
results for the financial 

year of 2012

Acquisition of majority 
shareholding in Ecotour

Publication of the financial 
results for the third quarter 

of 2012

Acquisition 
of NetMoms 

GmbH

  Publication of the financial 
results for the first 

quarter of 2012

Acquisition of majority 
shareholding in Zoover

Acquisition of majority 
shareholding in Tjingo
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Dear Shareholders 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG completed four strategi-
cally important corporate acquisitions in 2012, thus 
preparing the ground for further sustainable growth 
of the company. While the takeover of Ecotour, Tjingo 
and Zoover helped to speed up the internationalisati-
on of its travel market operations within the Transac-
tions segment, the acquisition of NetMoms further 
expanded the Group’s portfolio of thematic, marke-
ting-based portals centred around FOCUS Online. 
 Overall, the TOMORROW FOCUS Group achie-
ved another substantial rise in its revenue and ope-
rating profit. This is due to its sustainable business 
strategy and above all to the high level of commit-
ment shown by its employees and managerial staff as 
well as by the members of the Management Board. 

Main issues discussed by the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
performed the activities incumbent upon it under 
German law and the company’s articles of associ-
ation during the financial year 2012. It conferred 
regularly with the Management Board and diligent-
ly supervised its activities. Both verbally and in wri-
ting, the Management Board kept the Supervisory 
Board informed about the business plan, the latest 
business situation, future strategy, risk manage-
ment and all major events affecting the company. 
The Supervisory Board was directly involved in all 
decisions of fundamental relevance to the Group.
 All resolutions proposed by the Management 
Board were approved by the Supervisory Board af-
ter detailed examination.
 A total of four regular Supervisory Board mee-
tings were held on 23 March, 22 May, 16 October 
and 7 December 2012. A further unscheduled mee-
ting was held on 2 March 2012. During the course 
of the year, the Supervisory Board adopted a total 
of nine resolutions by way of circulation.
 The main issues discussed at the regular Su-
pervisory Board meetings were the development 
of revenue, earnings, employment levels and the 
financial and cash position of TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG and the Group.
 On 14 February 2012, the Supervisory Board 
approved a resolution by circulation to continue ne-
gotiations through to the signing of an agreement 
with the owners of the Dutch company Tjingo B.V., 
which operates an online travel agency by the same 
name, and with the Tjingo Group’s affiliates and 
subsidiaries. The agreement was subsequently con-

cluded at the end of March 2012 after performing 
due diligence.
 At its unscheduled meeting on 2 March 2012, 
the Supervisory Board discussed TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG’s future business strategy and Holiday-
Check AG’s ongoing internationalisation strategy. 
At this meeting, the Supervisory Board also appro-
ved further negotiations with the shareholders of 
the Dutch company Webassets B.V., which operates 
the Zoover hotel ratings portals, on the acquisition 
of a stake in the company. On 9 July 2012, after 
performing due diligence, the Supervisory Board 
adopted a resolution by means of written circulati-
on to approve the purchase of a 51 percent stake in 
Webassets B.V.
 At its meeting on 23 March 2012, the Super-
visory Board examined TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s 
performance over the financial year 2011 along 
with the single-entity and Group financial state-
ments and management reports of TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG as at 31 December 2011. On 27 March 
2012, it approved the results of the statutory au-
dit and formally adopted the single-entity financial 
statements, the Group financial statements and the 
dependency report. At the meeting on 23 March 
2012, the Supervisory Board also addressed the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s strategic and orga-
nisational development in 2012. This was follo-
wed by a Management Board presentation on the 
Group’s current performance and a report from the 
Managing Directors of TOMORROW FOCUS Media 
GmbH on the state of its current marketing opera-
tions and on the news portal FOCUS Online. 
 At its meeting on 22 May 2012, the day prece-
ding the company’s annual general meeting of 
shareholders, the Management Board reported on 
the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s current liquidity 
situation and plans for 2012 and on potential cor-
porate acquisitions. Among other items, it informed 
the Supervisory Board of the initial contractual ne-
gotiations being conducted with the shareholders 
of the French company RPC Voyages SAS, which 
operates the online travel agency Ecotour.com, 
with the aim of acquiring a majority share in the 
company. The Supervisory Board gave its approval 
to further negotiations and on 3 August 2012, after 
completing due diligence, adopted a resolution by 
means of circulation to approve the acquisition of a 
55 percent stake in RPC Voyages SAS.
 At the meeting on 22 May 2012, the Manage-
ment Board gave a detailed report to the Supervi-
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sory Board on the current state of negotiations for 
the sale of the company’s minority holding in Ad-
Jug Ltd., and the Supervisory Board approved fur-
ther negotiations on this matter with Dentsu Inc. 
On 3 August 2012, the Supervisory Board adopted 
a resolution by means of circulation to sell the 
company’s remaining 20 percent minority holding 
in AdJug Ltd. to Dentsu Inc. 
 This was followed by reports from the manage-
ment board of jameda GmbH and the Managing Di-
rector of TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH 
on the current state of business and ongoing strate-
gy of their companies.
 On 23 May 2012, the Supervisory Board adopted 
a resolution by means of circulation to amend the 
wording of article 3 paragraph 1 of the articles of as-
sociation with immediate effect in such a way that 
company announcements were to be published the-
reafter in the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) and 
no longer in the Electronic Federal Gazette (elektro-
nischer Bundesanzeiger). The amendment was made 
necessary by the statutory change of name from 
‘Electronic Federal Gazette’ to ‘Federal Gazette’.
 On 5 September 2012, the Supervisory Board of 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG appointed Antonius ‘Toon’ 
Bouten to the position of CEO and Chairperson of 
the Management Board with effect from 1 January 
2013. This followed the announcement by the in-
cumbent Chairperson Stefan Winners to move to 
the Management Board of Burda Media Holding on 
1 January 2013.
 On 26 September 2012, the Supervisory Board 
adopted a resolution by means of circulation to ap-
prove the decision by Stefan Winners to step down 
early from the office of Chairperson of the Manage-
ment Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG on 1 Oc-
tober 2012 and to terminate his existing service 
contract on 30 September 2012 by means of a can-
cellation agreement.

At the Supervisory Board meeting on 16 October 
2012, the Management Board reported to the Su-
pervisory Board on a number of matters including 
the second forecast of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group for the financial year 2012 and the progress 
made in integrating the companies acquired during 
the financial year.
 The Management Board subsequently reported 
on its plans to sell the digital rights of use to the 
brands Cinema, Fit for Fun and TV Spielfilm to the 
Milchstrasse GmbH publishing group for a sum of 
EUR 5.8 million (based on an independent valuati-
on) less any licence fees already paid. The sale was 
approved by the Supervisory Board.
 The Supervisory Board meeting held on 7 
December 2012 again included an assessment of 
the latest market and business conditions of TO-
MORROW FOCUS AG. The Management Board 
presented its business plan for TOMORROW FO-
CUS AG covering the financial year 2013, including 
details of the anticipated cash situation. The plan 
was discussed at length and then approved by the 
Supervisory Board. 
 The Supervisory Board subsequently examined 
the issue of compliance with the latest version of 
the German Corporate Governance Code dated 15 
May 2012. It approved the Declaration of Confor-
mity with the German Corporate Governance Code 
drawn up together with the Management Board 
and, as recommended by the Code, conducted a 
detailed review of its own efficacy.
 The Management Board then reported to the 
Supervisory Board on the initial contractual nego-
tiations being conducted with the shareholders of 
NetMoms GmbH, which operates the parent portal 
by the same name, aimed at the complete takeover 
of the company. The Supervisory Board gave its 
approval to further negotiations up to the signing 
of an agreement. After completing due diligence, 
the sale agreement was finally concluded on 21 
December 2012.
 Outside the regular Supervisory Board mee-
tings, the Chairperson of the Supervisory Board 
was in personal or telephone contact with the Ma-
nagement Board several times a month in order to 
remain up to date with developments in the busi-
ness situation and significant business transactions. 
The Chairperson of the Supervisory Board also held 
separate strategy meetings with the Management 
Board to discuss the outlook and future strategy of 
individual business areas.

Dr Paul-Bernhard Kallen, 
Chairperson of 

the Supervisory Board
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Composition of the Management Board 
Stefan Winners left the company as planned on 
30 September 2012 after holding the position of 
Chairperson of the Management Board of TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS AG since June 2005. The Supervisory 
Board would like to thank Stefan Winners for his 
outstanding work.
 On 5 September 2012, the Supervisory Board 
of TOMORROW FOCUS AG adopted a resolution 
by means of circulation to appoint Antonius ‘Toon’ 
Bouten (53) to the position of CEO and Chairperson 
of the Management Board. He subsequently joined 
the company on 1 January 2013.
 As the company’s new Chief Executive Officer, 
Toon Bouten can offer a wealth of international 
management experience with leading European 
companies.

Committees 
No committees were formed in the financial year 
2012.

Corporate Governance 
No member of the Supervisory Board attended fe-
wer than half of the Supervisory Board meetings.
 No conflicts of interest of the members of the 
Supervisory Board arose in connection with their 
membership of the TOMORROW FOCUS AG Super-
visory Board.
 At its meeting on 7 December 2012, the Super-
visory Board examined the efficacy of its activities as 
required by the German Corporate Governance Code.
 The Management Board and Supervisory Board 
made a joint declaration of conformity pursuant to 
Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act 
(Aktiengesetz, AktG) on 7 December 2012. The de-
claration was made permanently available to the 
public on the company’s website. Reference is also 
made to the Corporate Governance Report informa-
tion on the company’s website. 

Annual financial statements and  
consolidated financial statements
TOMORROW FOCUS AG prepared its annual fi-
nancial statements and management report in ac-
cordance with the statutory requirements of the 
German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, 
HGB). The consolidated financial statements and 
the Group management report were prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs).

The Munich-based branch office of Pricewater-
houseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft (PwC), Frankfurt am Main, Ger-
many, audited the annual financial statements and 
the management report of TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
for the financial year from 1 January to 31 Decem-
ber 2012 and the consolidated financial statements 
and the Group management report for the same fi-
nancial year. The auditor was requested at the time 
of the appointment to place the main emphases of 
the audit on the realisation and correct accrual of 
revenue; the impairment value of goodwill in the 
consolidated financial statements and of the reco-
gnition of equity investments and shareholdings in 
the single-entity financial statements; the recogni-
tion and valuation of intangible assets in the con-
solidated financial statements; the calculation and 
impairment value of deferred tax assets and liabi-
lities; the first-time consolidation of RPC Voyages 
SAS, Tomorrow Travel B.V. and Webassets B.V.; the 
disposal of the minority holding in AdJug Ltd.; the 
sale of the digital rights of use to the brands Cine-
ma, Fit for Fun and TV Spielfilm; and the complete-
ness of disclosures in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 Pursuant to section 317, paragraph 4 of the 
German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, 
HGB), the auditor carried out an inspection and 
found that the Management Board has put in place 
a monitoring system, that the company fulfils the 
statutory requirements for early detection of risks 
that might jeopardise the existence of the company 
and that the Management Board has taken suitable 
steps to identify new developments and counteract 
risks at an early stage.
 The auditor submitted the declaration of inde-
pendence required under the German Corporate 
Governance Code to the Supervisory Board and 
disclosed the audit and consultancy fees charged 
for the corresponding financial year.
 The auditor detailed the audit principles in 
the audit report. It ascertained that TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG complied with the statutory require-
ments of the German Commercial Code (Handels-
gesetzbuch, HGB) and/or International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The auditor did not 
raise any objections in connection with the audit.
 The annual financial statements and the conso-
lidated financial statements received the auditor’s 
unqualified approval. The single-entity financial 
statements, consolidated financial statements, sin-
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gle-entity management report, Group management 
report and the auditor’s report were made available 
to all members of the Supervisory Board. 
 The financial statements were discussed in de-
tail at the Supervisory Board’s balance sheet mee-
ting on 21 March 2013 in the presence of the au-
ditor, who also provided a report. The Supervisory 
Board went on to consider the findings of the audit 
on the impairment value of goodwill in the consoli-
dated financial statements and of the recognition of 
equity investments and shareholdings in the single-
entity financial statements before going on to dis-
cuss the final consolidation of the AdJug Group.
 The financial statements and management re-
ports for both the single entity and the Group were 
examined by the Supervisory Board. This scruti-
ny focused on the fist-time consolidation of RPC 
 Voyages SAS, Tomorrow Travel B.V. and Webassets 
B.V.; the disposal of TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s mi-
nority holding in AdJug Ltd.; the sale of the digital 
rights of use to the brands Cinema, Fit for Fun and 
TV Spielfilm. The Supervisory Board also examined 
in detail the calculation and impairment of deferred 
tax assets and liabilities.
 No objections were raised after conclusion of 
this examination. The Supervisory Board there-
fore approved the result of the examination at its 
meeting on 21 March 2013. The single-entity and 
consolidated financial statements prepared by the 
Management Board were endorsed and adopted by 
the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board ap-
proved the management report and the Group ma-
nagement report and agreed with the assessment of 
the company’s future development.

Scrutiny of the dependency report pursuant to 
section 314, paragraphs 2 and 3 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG)
At its meeting on 21 March 2013, the Supervisory 
Board examined the report drawn up by the Ma-
nagement Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG pur-
suant to section 312 of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG) on the disclosure of 
related-party transactions in the financial year 2012 
(dependency report). 
 No objections were raised following this exa-
mination. The Management Board explained the 
advantages and possible risks associated with the 
transactions specified in the dependency report to 
the members of the Supervisory Board, who then 
examined and weighed them against each other. 

The Supervisory Board also requested an explanati-
on of the principles according to which the services 
provided by the company and the consideration re-
ceived are determined.

The auditor also examined the dependency report 
and issued the following audit opinion:

‘Following our statutory audit, it is our considered 
judgment that:
1.  the factual information contained in the report 

is accurate;
2.  in terms of the legal transactions shown in the 

report that were conducted under the circum-
stances known at the time, the consideration paid 
by the company was not inappropriately high.’

The auditor submitted the audit report to the Su-
pervisory Board. The dependency report and au-
dit report were made available to the Supervisory 
Board in good time. The statutory auditor attended 
the meeting of the Supervisory Board on 21 March 
2013 and outlined the most important results of its 
audit of the dependency report.
 The Supervisory Board, for its part, examined 
the Management Board’s dependency report and 
the audit report produced by the statutory auditor. 
 The Supervisory Board agreed with the audit 
findings and approved the report based on the con-
cluding results of its own examination. Following 
the concluding result of the audit, there are no ob-
jections from the Supervisory Board to the decla-
ration of the Management Board at the end of the 
dependency report.

Thanks
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the 
members of the Management Board and all emplo-
yees of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group for their ex-
cellent work in 2012 and wishes the company’s ma-
nagement and workforce renewed success in 2013.

Munich, Germany, March 2013

On behalf of the Supervisory Board

Dr Paul-Bernhard kallen
Chairperson
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 toMoRRoW  FoCUS GRoUp ManaGEMEnt REpoRt 
for the financial year 2012

1. Corporate structure and core business

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG is an independent Internet 
group based in Munich, Germany.
The Group’s business activities are divided into 
three operating segments (Transactions, Adverti-
sing and Technologies) and a non-operating seg-
ment (Holding).
 The Transactions segment includes Holiday-
Check AG, EliteMedianet GmbH and jameda GmbH. 
In addition, the following companies are now fully 
consolidated in the Transactions segment:
•	 	since	1	April	2012:		TOMORROW	Travel	B.V.	(for-

merly Vakantiekart B.V.);
•	 	since	1	July	2012:	Webassets	B.V.;	and
•	 	since	30	September	2012:	RPC	Voyages	SAS.
 The Advertising segment comprises Finan-
zen100 GmbH and  TOMORROW  FOCUS Media 
GmbH. Up to 31 July 2011, the AdJug Group was 
also consolidated in this segment. From 1 August 
2011 up to the sale of the Group’s remaining hol-
ding on 31 August 2012, the AdJug Group was 
recognised in the balance sheet at equity and its 
contribution to earnings in the financial result.
 The Technologies segment is made up of 
  TOMORROW   FOCUS Technologies GmbH and 
 Cellular GmbH.

2. General information about  
the management report

Definitions
All mentions of ‘ TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’, 
‘ TOMORROW  FOCUS Group’, ‘the group of com-
panies’ or ‘the Group’ in this management report 
relate to the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group. 

forward-looking statements
This management report contains statements and 
information about the future which are based on 
the assumptions and estimates of the Management 
Board of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG. All statements 
contained in the management report which are not 
based on past facts are forward-looking statements. 
These statements reflect our current expectations 
and assumptions after consideration, among other 
things, of the general economic framework and sec-
tor-specific developments, opportunities to recruit 

and promote the loyalty of employees, online com-
petition and competition in the Internet and media 
sector, business strategy implementation, the deve-
lopment and launch of new products and services, 
opportunities to exploit intellectual property, the 
regulatory and political environment, adaptation 
to technological progress, market acceptance of 
our products and services, risks relating to terro-
rist attacks and war, specific environmental risks 
and their potential consequences for parts of the 
company, the integration of acquired companies 
or assets, the satisfaction of customer expectations 
and other risks and uncertainties. When used with 
reference to the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group, typi-
cal phrases and words such as ‘intend’, ‘estimate’, 
‘expect’, ‘believe’, ‘plan’, ‘reckon’, ‘estimate’, ‘will’, 
‘should’, ‘would’, ‘want’, ‘are confident that’, etc., 
indicate that a statement is forward-looking and ba-
sed on present expectations, assumptions and esti-
mates. Although we feel that these expectations are 
realistic, we cannot guarantee their correctness. 
Assumptions can be affected by a vast number of 
internal and external risks and uncertainties, which 
may cause the actual results to be considerably 
more positive or negative than the forward-looking 
statements or forecasted results. We recommend 
that readers do not rely on these statements to an 
inappropriate extent. The  TOMORROW  FOCUS 
Group does not intend nor is it under any obligati-
on to update or correct forward-looking statements.

Internal control system
Revenue and profits are some of the parameters 
which  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG analyses monthly 
and compares with the original business plan and 
the twice-yearly extrapolation forecast to control 
and monitor the development of the individual sub-
sidiaries. 

In addition, further non-financial key performance 
indicators are calculated each month for control 
purposes and are used within all the operating 
companies of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group. Ex-
ternal indicators such as inflation rates, interest 
rates, general economic trends and market-specific 
business developments are also regularly analysed 
for company management purposes. In addition, 
there are regular scheduled meetings and share-
holder meetings with the individual subsidiaries.
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* Participating interests of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG; February 2013

Business segments of  TOMORROW  FOCUS aG

TR
AN

SA
CT

IO
NS

TECHNOLOGIES

ADVERTISING
aDveRTiSinG 
Advertising-based business models

NetMoms GmbH,  
Cologne, Germany 
100%*

Finanzen100 GmbH, 
Cologne, Germany 
100%*

 TOMORROW  FOCUS Media GmbH, 
Munich, Germany 
100%*

 TOMORROW  FOCUS Media GmbH, 
Munich, Germany 
100%*

TeChnOlOGieS 
Integrated services for mobile and stationary web solutions

Cellular GmbH,  
Hamburg, Germany  
100%*

 TOMORROW  FOCUS Technologies 
GmbH (TFT), Munich, Germany
100%*

TRanSaCTiOnS 
Transaction-based business models

jameda GmbH,  
Munich, Germany 
100%*

HolidayCheck AG, 
Bottighofen, Switzerland 
94%*

Webassets B.V.,  
Zeist, Netherlands
51%*

 TOMORROW Travel B.V., 
Woerden, Netherlands
100%*

RPC Voyages SAS, 
Coubevoie, France
55%*

Webassets B.V.,  
Zeist, Netherlands
51%*

EliteMedianet GmbH,  
Hamburg, Germany  
100%*
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German gross domestic product (GDp) up again 

Source: Germany’s Federal Statistics Office (DESTATIS)

3. Macro-economic situation

German economy shows further signs of recovery
According to Germany’s Federal Statistics Office, 
the German economy proved resilient in 2012. Pri-
ce-adjusted gross domestic product (GDP) was up 
0.7 percent despite the European economic crisis.
 A report on the economic situation in the 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Group‘s key market segments 
in 2012 is provided below.
 Further expansion of transaction-based services
The German market for transaction-based online 
services aimed at private consumers (B2C) conti-
nues to benefit from the trend towards increasing 
use of the Internet. According to the 2012 Allens-
bach Computer and Technology Analysis (ACTA), 
the number of online buyers has been growing re-
markably steadily for years. In 2004, 45.0 percent 

of the population between the ages of 14 and 64 
had previously used the Internet to buy products or 
services; in 2012 the figure reached 74.0 percent.

C h a n g e s  ov e r  p r e v i o u s  y e a r  ( i n  p e r C e n t )

2006  3.2

2007  2.5

2008  1.3

2009 -5.0  

2010   3.6

2011   3.0

2012   0.7

74

Strong growth in number of online buyers

Base: German population from 14 to 64 years
Source: Allensbach Computer and Technology Analysis (ACTA) 2004 to 2012

in %

70

60

50

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

54

59

63
66

68 69

Strong growth in online holiday bookings

Base: German-speaking population from 14 years and above, until 2010 only German population Source: ReiseAnalyse (RA) 2000 to 2012 (face-to-face)
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Market share of online advertising is increasing

* classical online advertising without affiliate networks and search engine marketing Source: Nielsen Media Research, gross advertising expenditure in 2012

m a r k e t  s h a r e s  o F  a dv e rt i s i n g  m e d i a  i n  2 0 1 2  ( i n  p e r C e n t )

Radio 5.1%

Internet* 9.9%

Other types of media 6.5% 

Mail advertising 11.5%

Periodicals 12.2%

 Television 38.4%

According to the 2012 report on online travel mar-
ket facts and figures (Daten und Fakten 2012 zum 
Online-Reisemarkt) published by the German Asso-
ciation of Online Travel Agents (VIR), the use of the 
Internet to book holidays also grew rapidly during 
the year under review. The survey estimates that 
33.0 percent of all Germans over the age of 14 made 
an online booking in 2012. The corresponding fi-
gure for 2010 was 29.0 percent and for 2008 24.0 
percent. Total market revenue (online and offline) 
for 2012 is estimated at EUR 50.73 billion. Almost 
half of this figure (EUR 24.03 billion) is attributable 
to the online sector. The figures include all travel 
services, e.g. flights, hotels and package tours.

In the view of the company, the revenue genera-
ted by dating platforms on the German-language 
Internet is likely to have been on a par with the 
previous year.

Clear growth in online advertising
Nielsen Media Research expects total gross ex-
penditure on advertising in Germany to have been 
EUR  29.4 billion in 2012, a decrease of EUR  0.2 
billion (around 0.3 percent) compared to the pre-
vious year‘s figure. TV was once again the most 
important advertising medium, generating gross 
advertising income of EUR 11.3 billion in Germa-
ny during 2012 (2011: EUR 11.1 billion). German 
newspapers take second place with advertising in-
come of EUR 5.0 billion (2011: EUR 5.2 billion), fol-
lowed by periodicals, which generated advertising 
income of EUR 3.6 billion (2011: EUR 3.6 billion). 
Gross advertising expenditure for the classic online 

advertising covered by the Nielsen surveys (not in-
cluding affiliate network and keyword advertising) 
was EUR 2.9 billion in 2012. The gross figure for 
year-on-year growth is around EUR 0.8 billion (ap-
proximately 17 percent).

 TOMORROW  FOCUS estimates that the gap bet-
ween gross and net growth did not widen any fur-
ther in 2012. As a result, the net rate of growth in 
percentage terms is at roughly the same level.

Continued growth in IT services market
According to the forecast issued by the German 
Association for Information Technology, Telecom-
munications and New Media (BITKOM), the Ger-
man IT services market fell by around 2.1 percent 
in 2012 to generate a market volume of EUR 34.9 
billion.  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG regards this fore-
cast as realistic.

 Newspapers 17.0%

2009  32.5

2010  33.1

2011  34.2

2012*  34.9

iT services market grows again

* Forecast; Source: BITKOM – ICT market figures November 2012
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4. Significant measures and events 

Transactions segment
Gilles Despas appointed CEO at HolidayCheck AG
In April 2012, the Board of Directors of Holiday-
Check AG based in Bottighofen, Switzerland, ap-
pointed Gilles Despas to the post of CEO and Chair-
person of the Management Board with effect from 
14 May 2012. 
 Gilles Despas succeeds Jörg Trouvain, who cho-
se to step down for personal reasons.
 He has previously held a number of posts inclu-
ding ten years as Managing Director Continental 
Europe at ebookers Ltd. 
 Before joining HolidayCheck AG, he was Senior 
Strategic Advisor at STA Travel.

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG acquires  
Dutch online travel agent Tjingo
At the end of March,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG ac-
quired a 55.0 percent stake in the Tjingo Group 
(subsequently renamed  TOMORROW Travel B.V.), 
which operates the Dutch online travel agent Tjin-
go.nl. The sale took effect on 1 April 2012. The pri-
ce paid for the takeover was in the single-digit milli-
ons and was settled partly in cash. Under the terms 
of the deal,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG also contribut-
ed a cash capital increase of EUR 0.5 million and a 
non-cash capital increase of EUR 1.2 million in the 
form of a licence for the Dutch hotel ratings plat-
form HolidayCheck.nl. Further details of the price 
paid for the stake can be found in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements (section 3.5).
  TOMORROW Travel B.V.’s existing shareholders 
exercised their contractually agreed option enti-
tlement, thus allowing  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
to acquire the remaining 45 percent of the Dutch 
company’s shares as early as on 31 August 2012 for 
EUR 4.0 million. The purchase price was adjusted 

to take account of the company’s net debt. Since 
the liabilities were valued at EUR 7.5 million when 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG acquired its majority hol-
ding, the deal resulted in a EUR 3.5 million boost to 
earnings with no impact on cash flow.
 Tjingo.nl is based in Woerden, Netherlands, and 
is one of the most successful online package tour 
brokers in the Netherlands. In an Internet survey 
conducted in 2011, it was voted the country’s best 
online travel agent.

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG acquires majority  holding 
in Webassets B.V., operating company of the hotel 
ratings portal Zoover and a weather portal
In July 2012,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG acquired a 
51.0 percent stake in Webassets B.V. 
 The company operates Zoover, the Netherlands’ 
biggest hotel and holiday ratings portal, and the 
MeteoVista weather platforms. 
 The agreed purchase price was EUR  19.9 mil-
lion (after a EUR  1.1 million adjustment for the 
company’s cash holdings and net debt). As part of 
the deal, one of the company’s co-founders gave 
up his entire stake. The remaining 49.0 percent 
will be held by co-founder Bas Rasker and other 
existing shareholders. Further agreements have 
been signed that could allow  TOMORROW  FOCUS 
AG to take over all the remaining shares by 2017. 
The exact amounts payable for each tranche of the 
total purchase price will depend on the company’s 
future performance. The company will be headed 
as before by CEO Stephan Bosman and co-founder 
Bas Rasker. Further details of the price paid for the 
stake can be found in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements (section 3.5)
 Zoover’s core markets are Belgium, France, 
Germany, the Netherlands and Poland. In 2012, 
Germany’s consumer organisation Stiftung Waren-
test rated Zoover.de the second-best hotel ratings 
portal in the country after HolidayCheck.
 MeteoVista is a B2B and B2C provider of meteo-
rological data and services in the Netherlands and 
other European countries.
 There are also plans for Zoover to collaborate 
intensively with  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s Dutch 
brand Tjingo. Following the complete integrati-
on of Tjingo’s technology in December 2012, it is 
now possible for users to book their package ho-
lidays directly on the Zoover platform. Internati-
onal content will be exchanged between Zoover 
and  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s subsidiary Holi-
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dayCheck, both of which also plan to share a sin-
gle technology platform allowing them to develop 
customer-friendly IT solutions such as mobile apps. 
It is anticipated that the MeteoVista weather plat-
forms will join forces and collaborate with other 
companies in the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group.

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG acquires majority  
stake in French online travel agent Ecotour.com  
(RPC Voyages SAS) 
In August 2012,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG an-
nounced that it would be acquiring a 55 percent 
stake in the French online travel agent Ecotour.
com (RPC Voyages SAS) with effect from 17 Sep-
tember 2012. Guillaume Victor-Thomas, founder of 
Ecotour, and other existing investors retain 45 per-
cent of the company’s shares. He continues to act 
as Chairperson. Matthias Papet, Country Manager 
at HolidayCheck France, was appointed Managing 
Director. The aim of the takeover is to link Ecotour.
com’s advanced booking platform with Holiday-
Check France’s ratings content and SEO (search 
engine optimisation) expertise.
 The purchase price, which was partly settled 
in cash, includes a non-cash capital contributi-
on of EUR 4.0 million in the form of a licence for 
the French hotel ratings platform HolidayCheck.
fr operated by  TOMORROW  FOCUS subsidiary 
 HolidayCheck AG and a cash capital contribution of 
EUR 1.5 million. 
 The deal also includes an earn-out clause that 
could trigger a payment of EUR 3.5 million according 
to schedule. This provision expires in March 2014.
 A further agreement was signed with the foun-
ders and existing shareholders covering the ac-
quisition of the remaining shares. Under the terms 
of this agreement,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG could 
take over the company completely by 2016. Further 
details of the purchase price paid for the stake can 
be found in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements (section 3.5).
 Ecotour.com is based in the French town of Cour-
bevoie near Paris. It is a licensed online travel agent 
that covers the entire bookings value chain. For this 
purpose the company has developed its own booking 
technology with links to over fifty tour operators. 
Other travel industry providers also use the techno-
logy as a white label solution and SaaS (software as 
a service) in order to boost their productivity. 
 Ecotour’s booking technology makes it possi-
ble to combine individual flights and hotels using 

a system of dynamic packaging. This extends the 
range of services that can be booked on the site. 
The integration of Ecotour’s booking technology 
into the French HolidayCheck platform will trans-
form HolidayCheck.fr into an integrated ratings and 
bookings portal along the lines of HolidayCheck AG 
in the German-speaking countries (Austria, Ger-
many and Switzerland). The main contribution of 
HolidayCheck.fr to Ecotour.com will take the form 
of hotel ratings content. The combined expertise of 
the two companies will primarily be used to achieve 
a significant increase in traffic on both platforms 
using a variety of strategies including targeted SEO 
measures.
 According to travel industry surveys, France is 
the biggest package tour market in Europe after 
Germany, the UK and the Netherlands. Given its re-
latively low proportion of online bookings compared 
to other European countries, there is considerable 
potential for growth.  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s ac-
quisition of Ecotour.com will speed up the expansi-
on of HolidayCheck AG in the French market.

Advertising segment
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sells minority holding  
in AdJug Ltd. to Dentsu Inc.
In September 2012,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sold 
its 20 percent minority holding in AdJug Ltd., which 
operates two Internet advertising marketplaces in 
the United Kingdom and in Germany, to AdJug’s 
majority shareholder, the international media and 
advertising group Dentsu Inc., for EUR 1.2 million. 
The sale took effect on 31 August 2012 and produ-
ced a loss of EUR 2.0 million.

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sells Internet operations 
of TV Spielfilm, Fit for Fun and Cinema
In October 2012,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sold the 
digital rights of use to the brands of TV Spielfilm, Fit 
for Fun and Cinema, together with all their tangible 
and intangible assets and rights (e.g. domains, in-
tellectual property rights, and trademark, title and 
name rights) to the Burda News Group, which had 
previously taken over editorial operation and pro-
duct management of the three portals in 2009. The 
sale took effect on 1 October 2012 and produced 
income of EUR 5.1 million. The Group’s digital ad 
network  TOMORROW  FOCUS Media will continue 
to market the portals’ online and mobile content.
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 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG scales back  
holding in AdAudience GmbH
In October 2012, following an increase in the 
number of AdAudience GmbH shareholders 
from four to seven, the percentage stake held by 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Media GmbH in the company 
(previously recognised in the balance sheet at equi-
ty) fell from 25.0 percent to 14.3 percent. As a re-
sult, the remaining holding is now recognised as an 
equity interest. The deconsolidation of AdAudience 
GmbH produced income of EUR 0.4 million.

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG acquires parent portal 
NetMoms GmbH and funds takeover by a capital 
increase in kind
In December 2012,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG ac-
quired all shares in NetMoms GmbH, which ope-
rates the parent portal Netmoms.de. The sale took 
effect on 1 January 2013. 
 Vendors are the existing shareholders of Net-
Moms GmbH’s, including its founders and Mana-
ging Directors, Dr Tanja Princess of Waldeck and 
Pyrmont and Jens Echterling, who continue to lead 
the company. Payment was settled partly by means 
of a cash sum and partly from the issue of 258,040 
new shares in  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG in the form 
of a non-cash capital increase out of authorised 
capital. To this end, with the approval of the Su-
pervisory Board, the Management Board had taken 
the decision to increase the share capital of the 
company by EUR 258,040 from EUR 53,012,390 to 
EUR 53,270,430 through the issue of 258,040 new 
shares against contributions in kind. 
 With a monthly reach of 1.52 million unique 
users - according to a study of the German Working 
Group for Online Media Research (AGOF) in Sep-
tember 2012 - and 4.18 million visits - according to 
the figures recorded by the German Audit Bureau of 
Circulations (IVW) in November 2012 - Netmoms.
de is one of Germany’s widest-reaching parent por-
tals. Besides its German-language portal, the com-
pany operates two more parent portals in Spain and 
Poland, as well as a photo album portal by the name 
of Fambooks.net.
 The Netmoms.de website offers high-quality 
content and has established a very active communi-
ty on a platform that is specially designed for mobi-
le devices.
 The aim of the takeover is to strengthen 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s Advertising segment by 
integrating vertically structured, high-reach thema-

tic portals with considerable potential for synergies 
in the areas of search engine optimisation (SEO), 
content and marketing. The Group’s own digital 
marketing specialist,  TOMORROW  FOCUS Media, 
took over the premium marketing activities of Net-
moms.de on 15 January 2013.
 NetMoms GmbH was formed in 2007 with 15 
employees and has been profitable since 2009.

Note: In order to simplify the implementation of 
a cash capital increase, the decision taken on 21 
December 2012 to increase capital against non-
cash contributions in order to fund the takeover 
of NetMoms GmbH was cancelled on 6 February 
2013. It was then re-adopted on 15 March 2013 af-
ter completion of the cash capital increase (see also 
section 9 of this Group Management Report).

Administration
2012 annual general meeting  
approves dividend increase
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG held its ordinary general 
meeting of shareholders at the Haus der Bayerischen 
Wirtschaft in Munich, Germany, on 23 May 2012.
 The event was attended by around 100 sharehol-
ders and proxy holders representing approximately 
81.3 percent of the share capital with voting rights.
 All items on the agenda requiring approval were 
adopted with large majorities.
 There was almost unanimous approval (99.99 
percent in favour) for a resolution to pay a dividend 
of EUR  0.06 per qualifying notional no-par-value 
share. This was equivalent to a dividend increase of 
EUR 0.01 per share compared to the previous year, 
which saw the first-ever dividend payout.

Toon Bouten appointed new CEO  
at  TOMORROW  FOCUS
In September 2012, the Supervisory Board of 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG appointed Antonius ‘Toon’ 
Bouten (53) from the Netherlands as the new CEO 
and Chairperson of the Management Board. He 
took up his new post on 1 January 2013.
 The company’s new Chief Executive Officer has 
acquired considerable international experience 
over many years with leading European companies. 
Before joining  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, he held 
the position of CEO with European Directories, a 
local search and lead generation specialist based 
in Amsterdam and London with operations throug-
hout Europe.
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Prior to this, from 2006 to 2009, he was President 
and CEO of the Danish headset maker GN Netcom. 
Between 2004 and 2006, as Executive Vice Presi-
dent and General Manager, Toon Bouten led the 
European operations of Philips Electronics NV’s 
consumer electronics division with a billion-euro 
budget and responsibility for the group’s sales and 
marketing activities in 48 countries.

Going further back, he spent around ten years with 
a number of well-known international informati-
on and communications technology (ICT) firms as 
well as web-based companies. During this period, 
as Vice President and General Manager at Compaq 
Computers, he built up the consumer segment in 
the Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) region. 
As CEO at Jobline International, he was responsible 
for the online job portal’s initial public offering. Af-
ter graduating in engineering, Toon Bouten began 
his career in 1984 with Philips in the Netherlands.

He takes over from Stefan Winners, who as previ-
ously reported left the company to join the Manage-
ment Board of Hubert Burda Media Holding. In his 
new role Stefan Winners is responsible for the Bur-
da Digital division, which holds a majority share in 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG. 

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s new Management Board 
will therefore be made up of Toon Bouten alongside 
existing members Christoph Schuh (responsible for 
the company’s advertising, dating and mobile sub-
sidiaries) and Dr Dirk Schmelzer (CFO).

5. earnings, financial position and assets  
of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group

Earnings position of the  
 TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
The consolidated revenue of the  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Group for the financial year 2012 sho-
wed a year-on-year increase of 9.7 percent from 
EUR 135.9 million to EUR 149.1 million. 

The increase was largely driven by results in the 
Group’s Transactions segment, with revenue up 
EUR 19.2 million on the previous year at EUR 109.3 
million. Both HolidayCheck AG and EliteMedia-
net GmbH contributed to an impressive segment 
performance. Between them, RPC Voyages SAS, 
 TOMORROW Travel B.V. and Webassets B.V., all of 
which were newly consolidated within the Transac-
tions segment in the financial year 2012, generated 
revenue of EUR 10.5 million towards the Group and 
segment totals. 

Revenue in the Advertising segment fell by 
EUR 5.3 million to EUR 27.3 million, reflecting the 
fact that the Group and segment totals for the previ-
ous year included revenue of EUR 7.6 million from 
the AdJug Group.  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sold its 
majority holding in the AdJug Group on 1 August 
2011 and its remaining stake on 5 September 2012. 
If we exclude this amount in our comparison, the 
figure for 2012 represents an increase in segment 
revenue of EUR 2.3 million. The segment’s credi-
table performance is attributable in equal measure 
to  TOMORROW  FOCUS Media GmbH and Finan-
zen100 GmbH. 

In the Technologies segment, revenue was down 
EUR 0.7 million at EUR 12.5 million, largely as a 
result of a decline in the revenue of Cellular GmbH. 
This was partly caused by the postponement of or-
ders to the financial year 2013. 

The Group’s earnings figures for the financial year 
2012 contain various non-recurring items. These 
are outlined below. 
 
Under International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs), the takeovers of RPC Voyages SAS, Webas-
sets B.V. and  TOMORROW Travel B.V. led to depre-
ciation and amortisation totalling EUR 1.0 million 
in respect of the assets identified when allocating 
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the purchase price. Furthermore, the goodwill va-
lue of  TOMORROW Travel B.V. was partly written 
down by EUR  1.2 million in connection with the 
takeover of Webassets B.V. and a corresponding 
change of strategy for the Dutch travel market.

A non-recurring increase in earnings came from 
the earlier than anticipated acquisition of the re-
maining 45 percent stake in  TOMORROW Travel 
B.V., which operates the Dutch online travel agent 
Tjingo.nl. The Dutch company’s existing share-
holders exercised their contractually agreed put 
option before maturity and sold their holdings to 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG for EUR 4.0 million. The 
sale took effect on 30 September 2012. Since the 
mentioned liabilities were valued at EUR 7.5 million 
when  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG acquired its majo-
rity holding, the deal resulted in a EUR 3.5 million 
boost to earnings with no impact on the Group’s 
cash position. The early completion of this takeover 
speeds up the integration of  TOMORROW Travel 
B.V. as part of the travel operations of  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG.

The sale of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s 20 percent 
minority holding in AdJug Ltd. with effect from 31 
August 2012 to AdJug’s majority shareholder Den-
tsu Inc. for EUR 1.2 million produced a loss on dis-
posal of EUR 2.0 million.

By contrast, the decision to sell the digital rights 
of use to the brands TV Spielfilm, Fit for Fun and 
Cinema to the Burda News Group with effect from 
1 October 2012 generated a profit on disposal of 
EUR 5.1 million.

Group earnings before interest, taxes, depreciati-
on and amortisation (Group EBITDA) rose by 31.3 
percent to EUR  28.1 million in the financial year 
2012 from EUR 21.4 million in the previous year.

Group earnings before interest and taxes (Group 
EBIT) stood at EUR  20.0 million for the financial 
year 2012 compared to EUR  16.8 million in the 
previous year. This is equivalent to a rise of 18.8 
percent.

The consolidated financial result of the 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Group for the financial year 
2012 was minus EUR 4.3 million compared to mi-
nus EUR 3.7 million in the previous year. This was 

due to an increase of EUR 0.3 million in financial 
expenses as a result of higher compounding on put 
options in connection with the Group’s 2012 acqui-
sitions; a reduction of EUR 0.1 million in financi-
al income owing to a decline in interest payments 
from bank deposits; and an increase of EUR 0.1 mil-
lion in the negative contribution to earnings from 
the equity holdings still recognised at equity during 
part of the financial year 2012.

Group earnings before taxes (Group EBT) for the 
financial year 2012 were 19.9 percent higher at 
EUR 15.7 million compared to EUR 13.1 million in 
2011.

Group earnings after taxes for the financial year 
2012 were EUR 14.7 million, up 31.3 percent on the 
previous year’s figure of EUR 11.2 million.

Group comprehensive income for the financial 
year 2012 rose by 58.2 percent to EUR 14.4 million, 
compared to EUR 9.1 million in 2011.

Consolidated earnings per share for the financi-
al year 2012 were EUR 0.28, up from the figure of 
EUR 0.21 in the previous year. 

There follows a breakdown of the earnings situation 
for financial 2012 in each of the business segments.

EBITDA for the Transaction segment ended the 
year 1.2 percent higher at EUR 22.2 million com-
pared to EUR  21.9 million in 2011. At EUR  16.3 
million, the figure for EBIT was down 19.4 per-
cent from EUR  20.2 million in the previous year. 
The main reason for this decline in EBIT was an 
increase of EUR  4.2 million in amortisation and 
depreciation, comprising amortisation and depre-
ciation in respect of the assets identified when al-
locating the purchase price on the first-time con-
solidation of RPC Voyages SAS, Webassets B.V. 
and  TOMORROW Travel B.V., and a partial write-
down of EUR 1.2 million in the goodwill value of 
 TOMORROW Travel B.V. 

EBITDA for the Advertising segment in the fi-
nancial year 2012 showed an improvement from 
EUR 3.1 million in 2011 to EUR 10.0 million, while 
EBIT rose from EUR 1.2 million to EUR 8.7 million 
year on year. The main factors here were revenue 
and earnings growth at  TOMORROW  FOCUS Media 
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Development of  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group revenue and earnings

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

 53.0

 65.6

 74.9

 77.1

 92.2

 106.9

Revenue 
(EUR million)

 135.9

 149.1

 0.6

 7.6

 15.2

 9.6

 12.6

 18.2

EBITDA
(EUR million)

 21.4

 28.1

 0.6

 4.8

 11.7

 5.7

 8.9

 12.6

EBIT 
(EUR million)

 16.8

 20.0

 -1.9

 4.3

 6.3

 2.3

 2.1

 10.6

Earnings after taxes
(EUR million)

 11.2

 14.7

 –0.4

 0.10

 0.15

 0.05

 0.05

 0.16

Earnings per share
(EUR) 

 0.21

 0.28

GmbH and Finanzen100 GmbH; profit of EUR 5.1 
million from disposal of the digital rights of use to 
the brands TV Spielfilm, Fit for Fun and Cinema; 
and deconsolidation profit of EUR 0.4 million from 
the sale of the Group’s stake in AdAudience GmbH. 

In the Technologies segment, EBITDA stood at 
EUR 1.5 million in the financial year 2012, margi-
nally down on the 2011 figure of EUR 1.7 million. 
EBIT was unchanged at EUR 0.7 million.

EBITDA for the non-operating holding segment 
decreased slightly to minus EUR 5.6 million in the 
financial year 2012 compared to minus EUR  5.2 
million in the previous year. EBIT was also down 
from minus EUR 5.4 million to minus EUR 5.8 mil-
lion year on year. The main factor behind these de-
clines was an increase in legal and consulting costs 
in connection with the Group’s 2012 acquisitions. 
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Notes to other items in the statement of income

The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group‘s other opera-
ting income rose from EUR 5.4 million in 2011 to 
EUR 12.6 million in 2012. In the previous year, this 
item contained non-recurring income of EUR  1.5 
million from the disposal of the company’s stake in 
AdJug Ltd. The figure for 2012 is largely attribu-
table to non-recurring income of EUR 5.1 million 
from the disposal of the digital rights of use to the 
brands TV Spielfilm, Fit for Fun and Cinema and 
non-recurring income of EUR 3.5 million (with no 
impact on the cash position) following the decision 
of the existing shareholders of  TOMORROW Travel 
B.V. to exercise their put option.

Cost of materials at the  TOMORROW  FOCUS 
Group stood at EUR 24.8 million in financial 2012 
compared to EUR 23.7 million in the previous year. 
This rise was mainly due to higher purchases of 
services after the first-time consolidation of the 
Group’s 2012 acquisitions.

The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group‘s personnel costs 
for the financial year 2012 increased to EUR 45.5 
million compared to EUR 41.1 million in 2011. This 
was primarily due to the increase in staff numbers 
after the first-time consolidation of the companies 
acquired in 2012.

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible and 
tangible assets was up from EUR  4.6 million in 
2011 to EUR 8.2 million. The rise was mainly due 
to amortisation and depreciation in respect of the 
assets identified when allocating the purchase price 
on the first-time consolidation of RPC Voyages SAS, 
Webassets B.V. and  TOMORROW Travel. B.V., and 
to a partial write-down of EUR  1.2 million in the 
goodwill value of  TOMORROW Travel B.V. 

Other operating expenses at the  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Group rose from EUR 57.0 million in 2011 
to EUR  66.8 million. The main factors here were 
a EUR 10.4 million increase in the marketing and 
sales costs of the Transactions segment and a loss 
of EUR 2.0 million on the disposal of AdJug Ltd.

Actual taxes were unchanged at EUR 2.0 million. 

financial position of the   
TOMORROW  fOCUS Group

Notes to the statement of cash flows
Net cash from operating activities in 2012 was 
down on the previous year at EUR 11.5 million com-
pared to EUR 17.4 million in 2011. This was mainly 
due to a reduction in liabilities not related to invest-
ment or financing activities following a decline in 
the level of current liabilities after adjusting for the 
first-time consolidation of recent acquisitions. 

Net cash used in investment activities rose from 
EUR 3.2 million in 2011 to EUR 18.4 million. The 
main factor was a higher figure of EUR 19.2 million 
in respect of net cash outflows for acquisitions. In 
2012, these net outflows included EUR 4.9 million 
for the acquisition of shares in  TOMORROW  Travel 
B.V., EUR 12.8 million for the acquisition of a 51 
percent stake in the Webassets B.V. sub-group and 
EUR 1.5 million for the acquisition of a 55 percent 
stake in RPC Voyages SAS. The figure for 2011 
included a payment of EUR 0.5 million to acquire 
the remaining shares in jameda GmbH. The dis-
posal of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s residual stake 
in  AdJug Ltd. and the digital rights of use to the 
brands  Cinema, Fit for Fun and TV Spielfilm gene-
rated cash inflows of EUR 1.2 million and EUR 4.8 
million respectively.

Net cash from financing activities declined from 
EUR 13.7 million to minus EUR 13.9 million. This 
was primarily due to cash inflows of EUR 36.5 mil-
lion in 2011 in connection with new borrowings. 
There were no new borrowings in 2012, and loan 
repayments produced cash outflows of EUR  8.0 
million. This compares to a figure of EUR  18.8 
million for loan repayments in the previous year. 
A further cash outflow of EUR 3.2 million in 2012 
was due to the company’s dividend payment. The 
dividend payout for 2011 produced an outflow of 
EUR 2.7 million.

Cash at the end of the year was down as a result 
from EUR 44.3 million in 2011 to EUR 23.4 million 
in 2012.
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The asset position of the  
TOMORROW fOCUS Group

Financial management objectives
The main financial management objective of the 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Group is to safeguard liqui-
dity at all times in order to ensure that the Group is 
able to perform its day-to-day business operations. 
Another objective is the optimisation of profitability 
to attain the maximum possible credit rating with 
a view to obtaining favourable refinancing terms. 

Notes on the capital structure
On the asset side of the consolidated balance sheet, 
non-current assets were up 75.4 percent from 
EUR 114.2 million in 2011 to EUR 200.3 million as at 
31 December 2012. This was primarily attributable 
to increases in the balance sheet items ‘Goodwill’ 
(up EUR 58.7 million), ‘Concessions, industrial pro-
perty rights and similar rights as well as the licences 
thereto’ (up EUR 20.8 million) and ‘Software deve-
loped in-house’ (up EUR 5.9 million) as a result of 
the first-time consolidation of Webassets B.V., RPC 
Voyages SAS and  TOMORROW TRAVEL B.V. 
 The balance sheet item ‘Deferred taxes’ also 
rose by EUR 2.6 million to EUR 3.0 million, mainly 
due to the recognition of deferred tax on loss car-
ryforwards on the first-time consolidation of RPC 
Voyages SAS. At the same time, the item ‘Equity-
accounted investments’ fell from EUR  3.2 million 
to EUR 0 following the sale of  TOMORROW  FOCUS 
AG’s residual 20 percent stake in the AdJug Group 
and the fact that AdAudience GmbH was no longer 
recognised at equity.

At EUR 59.2 million, current assets as at 31 Decem-
ber 2012 were 15.6 percent down on the previous 
year’s figure of EUR  70.2 million. The key factors 
here were a reduction of EUR 20.9 million in cash 
and cash equivalents to EUR 23.4 million, largely on 
account of investment in corporate acquisitions. At 
the same time, trade receivables rose by EUR 7.1 mil-
lion to EUR 29.2 million and the item ‘Other assets’ 
by EUR 2.1 million to EUR 5.0 million, both as a result 
of the first-time consolidation of recent acquisitions.

On the liabilities side of the consolidated balan-
ce sheet, equity was EUR  107.7 million as at 31 
December 2012, which is 11.5 percent higher than 
the year-end figure of EUR 96.6 million for 2011. 
This was mainly due to an increase of EUR 11.5 mil-

lion in accumulated retained earnings. This incre-
ase is calculated by subtracting the dividend pay-
ment (EUR 3.2 million) from Group earnings after 
taxes (EUR 14.7 million) 

As a result of increased liabilities, the equity ratio 
as at 31 December 2012 fell to 41.5 percent compa-
red to 52.4 percent at the end of the previous year.

Non-current liabilities as at 31 December 2012 
were EUR  111.1 million, up 95.6 percent from 
EUR 56.8 million as at 31 December 2011. 
 The main reasons for this increase were a rise 
of EUR 48.3 million to EUR 67.6 million in the item 
‘Other liabilities’ due to the recognition of put/call 
liabilities towards the minority shareholders of 
Webassets B.V. and RPC Voyages SAS and a high-
er figure for deferred taxes, which rose by EUR 4.8 
million to EUR 5.4 million following the first-time 
consolidation of RPC Voyages SAS.

Current liabilities rose by 31.0 percent from 
EUR  31.0 million to EUR  40.6 million as at 31 
December 2012. The main factors here were an in-
crease of EUR  8.3 million to EUR  19.7 million in 
trade payables (mainly due to the first-time conso-
lidation of recent acquisitions) and an increase of 
EUR 2.8 million to EUR 13.5 million in the balance 
sheet item ‘Other liabilities’ (the main factor being 
higher personnel provisions largely related to the 
first-time consolidation of recent acquisitions). 
There was a small increase of EUR 0.4 million to 
EUR 1.9 million in income tax liabilities, although 
liabilities to banks fell by EUR 2.4 million to EUR 1.5 
million, primarily owing to the repayment of a 
EUR 3.1 million loan. The item ‘Liabilities to banks’ 
mainly comprises interest liabilities of EUR 0.7 mil-
lion and a short-term bank loan of EUR 0.8 million 
taken out by Webassets B.V. 
 The figure for overall liabilities ended the year 
up 72.8 percent at EUR 151.7 million compared to 
the year-end figure of EUR 87.8 million for 2011.

Total assets increased by 40.7 percent from 
EUR 184.4 million at the end of 2011 to EUR 259.5 
million as at 31 December 2012. The relationship 
between items in the balance sheet shows a shift 
towards a greater level of external financing. Cur-
rent liabilities are covered entirely by current as-
sets, while non-current assets are covered entirely 
by equity and non-current liabilities. 
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financial performance indicators
Revenue, gross income, operating expenses and 
operating result are some of the parameters which 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG analyses and compares 
with the original business plan and the twice-yearly 
forecasts so that it can control and monitor the de-
velopment of individual subsidiaries. 

External indicators such as inflation rates, interest 
rates, general economic trends, business develop-
ment within each market and forecasts are also 
regularly analysed for company management pur-
poses in the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group. The year-

on-year development of return on sales and return 
on equity is also monitored. As can be seen from 
the following year-on-year comparison, both return 
on sales and return on equity showed a slight in-
crease.

Development of  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group key balance sheet figures

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

 55.3

 81.3

 137.9

 138.7w

 158.1

 160.4

Total assets  
(EUR million)

 184.4

 259.5

 40.2

 47.4

 49.2

 63.3

 83.7

 94.9

Equity  
(EUR million)

 96.6

 107.7

 15.1

 33.9

 88.7

 75.4

 74.4

 65.5

Debt  
(EUR million)

 87.8

 151.7

 72.7

 58.3

 34.9

 46.6

 52.9

 59.2

Equity ratio  
(in percent)

 52.4

 41.5

 27.3

 41.7

 65.1

 53.4

 47.1

 40.8

Debt ratio  
(in percent) 

 47.6

 58.5

AR 2012
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Non-financial performance indicators
In addition to an efficiently managed organisation, 
the following non-financial performance indicators 
make an important contribution to the long-term 
success of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group. 

Customer satisfaction 
Taking customer needs into account is an elementa-
ry aspect of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group‘s busi-
ness philosophy. The objective is to create optimum 
added value for customers by working precisely, to 
deadline and delivering high quality results while 
remaining flexible and aware of costs. In all this, we 
never lose sight of our customers‘ interests. 
 Customer satisfaction is measured decentrally 
by each Group company to allow for their different 
customer structures. 
 Members of the German Circle of Online Marke-
ters (OVK), one of which is  TOMORROW  FOCUS, 
commission it to conduct a detailed customer sa-
tisfaction survey every year. The survey results 
(not published here for contractual reasons) are 
evaluated in great detail by  TOMORROW  FOCUS, 
which then decides on and implements whatever 
measures are deemed necessary to make further 
improvements in customer satisfaction.
 In addition, HolidayCheck is the first hotel ra-
tings platform to have been awarded a certificate 
from the German Technical Control Board (TÜV 
Süd). It has come out on top in many tests such as 
the hotel brokerage portal comparison conducted 
most recently by the German consumer organi-
sation Stiftung Warentest in May 2012. Second 
place went to Zoover, which became part of the 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Group in July 2012. 
 The premium dating agency ElitePartner was 
also awarded a certificate by TÜV Süd in 2012. 
 Furthermore, from the financial year 2010 on-
wards, an annual customer satisfaction review is 
conducted centrally for the major B2C and B2B 
brands operated by the  TOMORROW  FOCUS 

Group, such as Cellular, ElitePartner, Finanzen100, 
 FOCUS Online, HolidayCheck and jameda.de.

Employee skills 
The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group generates the 
majority of its revenues through the know-how of 
its employees. That is why we provide employees 
with targeted development opportunities. They are 
encouraged to improve their personal and profes-
sional skills on a regular basis and to utilise their 
potential to the full. 
 To this end, a wide range of training seminars is 
offered for employees and managerial staff to sup-
port their professional development and strengthen 
their commitment to the company. Target agree-
ment and feedback interviews (TAF) are held bet-
ween employees and superiors on an annual basis.
 These measures form part of a corporate culture 
that is characterised by scope for creativity, flat hie-
rarchies, and open and constructive communication.

Product and service quality 
The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group is committed to de-
livering products and services marked by excellent 
quality and total customer orientation. To this end, 
regular in-house training is provided to the emplo-
yees of the Group. In addition outside inspectors 
regularly carry out checks in relation to the quality 
of services rendered by individual companies and 
brands of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group. 
 By way of example, the websites www.holiday-
check.de and www.elitepartner.de were awarded 
the s@afer shopping certificate by the German 
Technical Control Board (TÜV Süd) in recogniti-
on of their quality, security and transparency. We 
know that ongoing innovation, which allows us to 
keep improving our products and services, is vital 
to our long-term success.

Knowledge of markets 
One of the main factors contributing to the su-

important financial performance indicators of TOMORROW FOCUS Group

RATIO CAlCUlATION 2012 2011

Return on sales Group earnings after taxes ÷ consolidated revenue 9.9% 8.2%

Return on equity Group earnings after taxes ÷ equity 13.6% 11.6%

29

Management report



stainable development of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS 
Group has been its extensive knowledge of the mar-
kets that are relevant to the company, and this will 
come to be even more important in the future. Con-
sequently, the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group strives 
to recruit people with a good level of technical and 
industry knowledge for positions within the Group 
and to provide regular opportunities for professio-
nal development. Consulting firms specialising in 
the multimedia sector are also engaged to analyse 
the relevant markets.

Derivative financial instruments 
As part of the risk management system, derivative 
financial instruments may be used to limit the risks 
to which the company is exposed. These are pri-
marily a result of exchange rate and interest rate 
fluctuations. Their use is essentially intended to 
hedge existing or planned underlying transactions 
and reduce foreign currency and interest rate risks. 
They are not employed for trading or speculative 
purposes.

Derivative financial instruments used to hedge fo-
reign currency and interest rate risks are treated as 
a cash flow hedge in line with IAS 39 Financial In-
struments: Recognition and Measurement. The ef-
fective portion of the profit or loss from the hedging 
instruments is recognised directly in equity and is 
then transferred to profit and loss as soon as the 
hedged cash flows from the underlying transaction 
are also reflected in profit and loss or if a hedged 
future transaction does not actually take place.

In the event that hedged future transactions (refer-
red to in IAS 39 as ‘forecast transactions’) lead to 
the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, 
their carrying values are adjusted to the correspon-
ding figure in equity from the hedging transaction.

The fair values of the derivative financial instru-
ments used in the Group are shown in the table 
below.

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG employed currency for-
ward contracts to hedge cash flows denominated in 
CHF against possible exchange risks. These were 
calculated on a monthly basis as part of the busi-
ness planning process. The currency forward con-
tracts are subject to possible monthly calls and will 
remain in place up to the end of 2013.

As a result of the intra-year realisation of under-
lying transactions, in the financial year 2012 a total 
of EUR 34 thousand (2011: EUR 1,480 thousand) 
was transferred from equity (under other net in-
come/loss) to the statement of income.

A number of interest rate swaps were concluded in 
April 2011 in order to hedge the risk of fluctuation 
in the interest payable on variable rate non-current 
financial liabilities. These were assigned directly 
to the underlying transactions in the form of cash 
flow hedges. The interest rate swaps in place and 
recognised in equity at their market value on the 
balance sheet date expire on 30 December 2014 
and 9 March 2016. 

At the year-end, the interest rate swaps (nominal 
volumes EUR 5.0 million and EUR 6.0 million) had 
an aggregate negative market value of EUR  757 
thousand (2011: EUR 630 thousand). The negative 
valuation effect created by these interest rate swaps 
was shown in the interest result. 

No ineffective portions were produced as a result of 
cash flow hedges during the reporting year.

fAIR vAlUE 31 DECEMBER 2012 31 DECEMBER 2011

ASSETS
€ ’000

lIABIlITIES
€ ’000

ASSETS
€ ’000

lIABIlITIES
€ ’000

Currency forward contracts 0 53 0 0

Interest rate swaps 0 757 0 630

AR 2012
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6. Research and development activities

 TOMORROW  FOCUS Technologies GmbH, one of 
the companies making up the  TOMORROW  FOCUS 
Group, is responsible for either implementing many 
of the Advertising segment’s development activities 
itself or for commissioning and monitoring them. 
Research and development activities in the Trans-
actions and Technologies segments are conducted 
on a decentralised basis within the Group compa-
nies, and the relevant development costs are capi-
talised as software developed in-house. All other 
development costs are recognised as an expense 
under cost of materials. In general, there are no 
specific research expenses.

7. Remuneration report

Remuneration report for the Management Board
The overall structure of the remuneration system for 
the Management Board is determined by the entire 
Supervisory Board. There is therefore no commit-
tee within the Supervisory Board that deals speci-
fically with the issue of remuneration for members 
of the Management Board. The remuneration paid 
to the members of the Management Board depends 
on the company‘s size and orientation, as well as its 
economic and financial position. It is also fixed at a 
competitive rate as an incentive for committed and 
effective work in a dynamic environment. 
 The remuneration of Management Board mem-
bers includes a fixed element and a variable per-
formance-related element of between 20.0 percent 
and 35.0 percent. Around one third of this variable 
element is dependent on meeting individual perfor-
mance targets, while the other around two thirds 
are profit-related. The level and scope of each com-
ponent are specified by the Supervisory Board for 
each new financial year. 
 Since 2011, members of the Group’s Manage-
ment Board and other senior managers have been 
eligible for benefits under the Performance Share 
Plan. The plan generates cash payments in annual 
tranches over a five-year period. The vesting period 
in each case is the financial year. Senior employees 
are allocated a number of virtual shares in the com-
pany based on the degree to which EBTA targets 
have been met. These virtual shares are subject in 
each case to a minimum holding period of three 
years, after which the members of the company’s 

Management Board may receive a cash payment 
(beginning in 2015 for 2011). The granting of a 
tranche does not automatically create an entitle-
ment to further tranches. Equally, if the correspon-
ding plan thresholds are not met in a given year, 
this does not automatically invalidate the plan for 
subsequent years.

The number of virtual shares awarded per tranche 
under the long-term incentive plan (LTIP) is equal 
to the quotient obtained from dividing the under-
lying sum (based on EBTA) by the average initial 
reference price of the company’s shares (rounded 
up or down as per standard commercial practice to 
the nearest whole number). 

If the EBTA target is exceeded in a given year, the 
underlying sum is increased in line with the per-
centage by which the target is exceeded up to a 
maximum of 120 percent of the target underlying 
sum (which represents a 100 percent achievement 
of the target). If the EBTA target is not met in a 
given year, the underlying sum is reduced in line 
with the percentage shortfall. The underlying sum 
is automatically disregarded if EBTA falls below 80 
percent of the target figure in a given financial year. 
Equally, there is no allocation of virtual shares if the 
figure for net debt in the Group’s adopted finan-
cial statements (according to IFRSs) is more than 
double the figure for EBITDA. Net debt is the total 
of all the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities (inclu-
ding liabilities to banks and affiliated entities and 
payables under finance leases) less cash and cash 
equivalents. The initial reference price of the vir-
tual shares is the average closing price for shares 
in  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG on the XETRA trading 
platform over the last 100 stock exchange trading 
days prior to the annual general meeting of share-
holders at which the consolidated financial state-
ments for that year are presented following their 
approval by the Supervisory Board. 

The cash sum payable under the LTIP on expiry of 
the minimum holding period is calculated by mul-
tiplying the number of virtual shares allocated to 
each entitled party for the respective tranche by 
the closing reference price of the company’s shares 
plus the accumulated dividend per virtual share. 
The closing reference price is the average closing 
price for shares in  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG on the 
XETRA trading platform over the last 100 stock 
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exchange trading days prior to the annual general 
meeting of shareholders at which the consolidated 
financial statements are presented for the financial 
year after expiry of the three-year holding period 
for the relevant tranche following their approval by 
the Supervisory Board. The maximum payment is 
limited to three times the underlying sum (based on 
EBTA) for the tranche in question. 
 The fair value of the virtual shares for which the 
right of the counterparty to receive a cash sum has 
become unforfeitable was estimated using an IFRS 
2-compliant valuation model (binomial model). The 
figures are shown in the table below.

The above table on the right details the personnel 
costs for consideration received during the finan-
cial year.

A company car is also provided. There are no fur-
ther elements of remuneration.

At their general meeting on 1 June 2011 the share-
holders decided by qualified majority to apply 
an opt-out clause, thus exempting  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG from the statutory obligation to provide 
individual disclosures up to and including the finan-
cial year 2015.

In the financial year 2012, the remuneration of 
the Management Board (three members up to 30 
September and two members from 1 October to 
31 December inclusive) totalled EUR  1.6 million 
(2011: EUR 2.0 million). This figure includes fixed 
remuneration of EUR 1.0 million and variable rem-
uneration of EUR 0.6 million.

Shareholdings of Management Board members
Christoph Schuh held a total of 138,128  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS shares as at 31 December 2012. This cor-

responds to approximately 0.26 percent of the 
company‘s shares.

Dr Dirk Schmelzer held a total of 51,000 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS shares as at 31 December 
2012. This corresponds to approximately 0.10 per-
cent of the company’s shares.

In 2011,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG received the fol-
lowing disclosure of a securities transaction invol-
ving a member of the Management Board pursuant 
to section 15a of the German Securities Trading Act 
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG).

Other Management Board-related disclosures
The members of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG‘s execu-
tive bodies and the executive bodies of all affiliated 
entities are exempted by  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
from third-party claims if such exemption is legally 
admissible. The company has third-party liability 
cover (D&O insurance) in respect of the members 
of its executive bodies and its executive officers. It 
covers personal liability for claims in respect of fi-
nancial loss arising from the managerial activities 
of directors and officers. There is a deductible of 
EUR 0.55 million on the above D&O insurance for 
members of the Management Board. 

There are no other pension commitments in respect 
of Management Board members.

Other liabilities

OThER lIABIlITIES
2012

EUR ’000
2011

EUR ’000

Liabilities from share-based 
payments with cash settlement to 
Management Board members 851 543

Total 851 543

personnel costs

PERSONNEl COSTS
2012

EUR ’000
2011

EUR ’000

Cost of share-based payments  
with cash settlement to  
Management Board members 308 543

Total 308 543

AR 2012
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Remuneration report for the Supervisory Board
The remuneration of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
Supervisory Board is regulated in article 11 of 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG‘s articles of association, 
which stipulate a fixed amount of EUR 25,000 for 
every member of the Supervisory Board for each 
complete financial year and double this amount for 
the Chairperson. A pro rata sum is paid to members 
of the Supervisory Board who do not serve for a full 
financial year.  

The members of the Supervisory Board received the 
following remuneration in the financial year 2012:
see table below.

The company incurred EUR  8 thousand in costs 
compared to EUR 75 thousand in 2011 in connec-
tion with a service contract with a firm of lawyers in 
which one Supervisory Board member is a partner. 

Shareholdings of Supervisory Board members
At the end of the financial year 2012, the total number 
of shares in  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG held directly or 
indirectly by all members of the Supervisory Board 
stood at 854,854. No members of the Supervisory 
Board were above the established limit for individual 
disclosure of 1 percent of the total shares issued. 

Members of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG Super-
visory Board disclosed the following securities 
transactions in the financial year 2012 pursuant to 
Section 15a of the German Securities Trading Act 
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG): see table on 
the next page.

Other disclosures relating  
to the Supervisory Board
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG has third-party liability co-
ver (D&O insurance) without a deductible in respect 
of the members of its Supervisory Board. Further 
information about this insurance is provided un-
der Other Management Board-related disclosures 
which forms part of this remuneration report.

Other disclosures
In line with the incentive programme devised for 
members of the Management Board, senior em-
ployees of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG and the ma-
naging directors of its subsidiaries also qualify for 
long-term incentives in the form of a share price-
based performance share plan awarded in annual 
tranches. Qualifying staff are allocated a number of 
virtual shares in the company based on the degree 
to which EBTA targets have been met. These virtual 
shares are subject to a minimum holding period of 
three years, after which the holders receive a cash 
payment (vested after the first year).

There are no stock option plans or similar securities-
based incentive schemes for the Supervisory Board 
or other employees at  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG. 

Transactions in  TOMORROW  FOCUS shares

PERSON SUBJECT TO
TRANSACTION 
DATE TRANSACTION

STOCk 
 MARkET QUANTITy 

ShARE PRICE  
PER UNIT

Dr Dirk Schmelzer 30 Oct 2012 Purchase Xetra 5,000 EUR 3.45

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board 2012

SUPERvISORy BOARD 
MEMBER

COMPENSATION
EUR

Dr Paul-Bernhard kallen  
(Chairperson) 50,000

Dr Andreas Rittstieg  
(Deputy Chairperson) 25,000

Annet Aris 25,000

Prof Dr Stefan leberfinger 25,000

Martin Weiss 25,000

Philipp Welte 25,000
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8. employees

The average headcount for the  TOMORROW  FOCUS 
Group in 2012 was 679 full-time equivalents (FTEs). 
The corresponding figure for 2011 was 590 FTEs. 
On average, 23 people worked at  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG during the year (2011: 19), including 
the members of the Management Board. 

The employees of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group 
worked in the following segments (average figures 
for the year):

The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group‘s personnel costs 
amounted to EUR 45.5 million in financial 2012 fol-
lowing EUR 41.1 million in the previous year.

9. events of particular significance  
after the reporting date

 TOMORROW  fOCUS AG  
decides on capital increase
On 6 February 2013, the Management Board of 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG took the decision to draw 
on its authorised capital in order to increase the 
company’s total share capital by EUR  5,043,198 
from EUR 53,012,390 to EUR 58,055,588 through 
the issue of 5,043,198 new notional no-par-value 
bearer shares against cash contributions at a place-
ment price of EUR 3.80 per share. On this occasion, 
existing shareholders were not allowed to subscri-
be to the issue. The decision was approved by the 
Supervisory Board. The new shares, which qualify 
for a dividend from 1 January 2012, were placed 
with institutional investors as part of an accelerated 
bookbuilding process. 

The capital increase was entered in the commer-
cial register on 8 February 2013. On 12 February 
2013 the new shares were admitted, without the 
issue of a prospectus, to the Regulated Market of 

number of employees of TOMORROW FOCUS Group by segments

Holding 23 (2011: 19)

(2011: 148) Advertising 135

(2011: 337) Transactions 425

Technologies 96 (2011: 86)

Transactions involving  TOMORROW  FOCUS shares

PERSONS SUBJECT TO
DATE Of ThE 
TRANSACTION TRANSACTION STOCk  MARkET QUANTITy

ShARE PRICE  
PER UNIT

Dr Paul-Bernhard 
kallen

23 May 2012
23 May 2012
23 May 2012
23 May 2012

Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale

Munich stock exchange
Xetra
OTC market
OTC market

1,000
14,145

4,177
1,088

3.70 EUR
3.6559 EUR
3.6579 EUR
3.55 EUR

famcare Gmbh* 18 July 2012 Sale OTC market 200,000 3.70 EUR

Barcare Gmbh* 18 July 2012 Sale OTC market 281,250 3.70 EUR

*  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG shares held by Barcare GmbH and FamCare GmbH are attributable to Dr Paul-Bernhard Kallen pursuant to section 15a paragraph 3 of the German Securities Trading 
Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG). All transactions undertaken by Barcare GmbH and FamCare GmbH involving these shares must be disclosed pursuant to Section 15a paragraph 1 of this Act.

AR 2012
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Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse (FWB Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange) and to Deutsche Börse’s Prime Standard 
segment, which imposes high international repor-
ting and transparency standards. 

The capital increase was doubly oversubscribed, 
and the issue generated a gross sum of approxi-
mately EUR 19.2 million. The income generated by 
the issue will be used to finance further acquisitions 
and to increase the company’s stake in those of its 
subsidiaries where it has a majority holding.

Note: In order to simplify the implementation of 
a cash capital increase, the decision taken on 21 
December 2012 to increase capital against non-
cash contributions in order to fund the takeover 
of NetMoms GmbH was cancelled on 6 February 
2013. It was then re-adopted on 15 March 2013 af-
ter completion of the cash capital increase (see also 
section 9 of this Group Management Report).

10. Risk report

The  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group‘s  
risk management system
As holding company, the  TOMORROW  FOCUS 
Group is exposed to many different types of risk 
arising from the wide range of business activities 
of the individual companies making up the Group. 
These risks can result in the entire Group being un-
able to meet financial, operational or strategic busi-
ness objectives. The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group 
therefore has to identify and analyse the risks and 
implement suitable measures to eliminate or miti-
gate these risks in order to safeguard its long-term 
business success.

Report and notes pursuant to section 315, 
 paragraph 2, number 5 and section 289, 
 paragraph 5 of the German Commercial Code 
(handelsgesetzbuch, hGB)
The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group has established a 
comprehensive risk management system that forms 
an integral part of the Group’s value-based control 
and planning system. Furthermore, it is fully in-
corporated into the overall planning, control and 
reporting process covering all the relevant legal 
entities and central functions, and aims to syste-
matically identify, evaluate, check and document 
all significant risks including any risks that may 

jeopardise the company’s existence. Potential risks 
are usually assessed over a two-year planning pe-
riod, although in discussions aimed at establishing 
its medium-term and strategic targets  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG also identifies and monitors long-term 
risks. With regard to defined risk categories, the 
risk management process involves identifying risks 
to the Group’s business areas, operating units, as-
sociated companies and central areas, assessing 
the probability of those risks and evaluating the 
possible extent of damage, generally in terms of 
their potential impact on EBIT. The communication 
and reporting of relevant risks are controlled using 
parameters established by management. Those in 
positions of responsibility are also expected to devi-
se and, where applicable, initiate measures to avo-
id, reduce and safeguard against risks. During the 
course of the year, control processes are in place 
to monitor the principal risks and the correspondi-
ng measures taken to counter them. In addition to 
scheduled reporting, there is an internal Group re-
quirement covering the reporting of unanticipated 
risks that may emerge. The department responsible 
for central risk management prepares regular re-
ports for the Management Board and Supervisory 
Board on the risks it has identified. The risk ma-
nagement system allows the Management Board to 
identify significant risks at an early stage and adopt 
appropriate countermeasures. The in-house audit 
team assesses the efficacy of the risk management 
system as defined in the risk management hand-
book by means of targeted inspections. 
It conducts sample tests to examine compliance 
with statutory requirements and internal Group di-
rectives, and initiates appropriate measures where 
required.

With regard to the accounting process, the aim of 
the internal control and risk management system is 
to ensure the correctness and effectiveness of ac-
counting and financial reporting. It is an integral 
component of the accounting and financial repor-
ting processes within the  TOMORROW  FOCUS 
Group. Wherever accounting processes are out-
sourced to service providers, their control and risk 
management systems are adapted to the particular 
requirements of our company and monitored by us 
on an ongoing basis. 

The systems are supported by a finely woven net-
work of internal controls. The internal control 
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system was implemented under the supervision 
and responsibility of the Management Board and is 
designed to provide adequate assurance that:

•		financial	reporting	is	reliable	and	that	the	prepa-
ration of the consolidated financial statements 
complies with the legal requirements and with 
established standards including the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs); 

•		financial	statements	and	reports	are	complete;
•		authorisation	processes	are	observed	and	imple-

mented in good time;
•		the	cross-checking	principle	is	fully	implemented	

in relation to the allocation of IT accounting sys-
tems and only authorised persons have access to 
critical functions; 

•		the	principles	of	the	segregation	of	functions	and	
of cross-checking are maintained with regard to 
the preparation of financial statements; 

•		all	 transactions	 are	 recognised	 promptly	 and	 in	
due time so that the financial statements can be 
drawn up by the scheduled date;

•		intra-group	transactions	are	fully	recognised,	re-
conciled and eliminated; and

•		matters	of	accounting	significance	or	those	sub-
ject to disclosure requirements in relation to con-
tractual agreements are identified and correctly 
shown in the financial statements.

In evaluating the internal control system, processes 
at the level of the single legal entities were inclu-
ded where they were deemed to be of significance 
for Group reporting purposes. The control targets 
were checked against the implemented controls 
and evaluated. The effectiveness of these systems 
is continuously reviewed, further developed and 
improved. Systematic checks are performed to mo-
nitor compliance with the internal control system 
and to ensure that it remains up to date. The results 
of all accounting-related internal controls are sum-
marised in a report which is made directly available 
to the Management Board and Supervisory Board.

With regard to the accounting process, it should 
be noted that the internal control and risk manage-
ment system can only offer a relative degree of as-
surance. Regardless of the care taken in designing 
the system, it does not provide an absolute safe-
guard that financial reporting objectives will be met 
or that significant accounting inaccuracies will be 
detected or avoided. 

Economic risks of the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
Uncertainties as a result of changes to the political, 
legal or social framework can have a negative im-
pact on the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group‘s business 
operations, assets, financial and earnings positions. 
Germany, Central and Western Europe are the 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Group‘s core markets. 

While in the past they have proven to be relatively 
stable economic areas offering excellent develop-
ment opportunities to the companies operating 
there, in 2009 Central and Western Europe expe-
rienced the worst economic crisis since the end of 
the Second World War, one that produced swiftly 
increasing levels of debt among the states making 
up the European Union. Since then, the European 
Union and its member states have initiated wide-
ranging measures to tackle this debt issue, alt-
hough it remains to be seen how successful these 
measures will be in the long term. If they fail, the 
result could be further political, legal and social un-
rest on a large scale in individual member states, 
with a massive impact on those companies, inclu-
ding the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group, which ope-
rate there.  

Natural disasters, epidemics or terrorist attacks can 
also result in economic, political and social insta-
bility. This, in turn, can have a negative impact on 
the local, regional and even the world economy and 
place constraints on the investment decisions of the 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Group’s customers and their 
readiness to invest. However, the negative impacts 
of events of this nature on the economy in recent 
years have been relatively short-lived, and there-
fore have no long-term significance for our busi-
ness development. At the same time, we would like 
to emphasise that an event such as the outbreak of 
a global flu epidemic, resulting in a high number of 
deaths, could have an extremely serious effect on 
the world economy and on the companies opera-
ting in the world‘s markets. Terrorist attacks such as 
those targeted at the Internet‘s infrastructure could 
also have a significant impact on the  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Group‘s results and possibly even jeopar-
dise its going concern status. It is not possible to 
make any realistic assessment of the probability of 
such an attack. 

AR 2012

36

Management report



Market risks of the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
Innovative technologies are constantly being in-
troduced in the markets where the  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Group operates, and they are subject to ra-
pid and significant change. To satisfy the needs and 
requirements of customers in these markets, the 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Group continually develops 
new products and services, and regularly adapts 
existing ones. 
 The fact that the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group 
now has three pillars reduces its dependence on 
developments in any one specific sales market. 
The first is the Transactions segment, which gene-
rates B2C transaction-based revenue; the second 
is the Advertising segment, which generates B2B 
advertising revenue; and the third is the Technolo-
gies segment with its B2B IT services revenue. The 
Transactions and Advertising segments play a more 
dominant role.

Transactions segment
A general stagnation of spending by mostly private 
consumers in this segment could have a negative 
impact on its further business development and 
possibly also threaten the entire company‘s exi-
stence. Possible causes include increasingly strong 
competition, the entry of new competitors to the 
market, e.g. Google or Facebook, or new techni-
cal innovations which compete with the segment’s 
own products and services. In order to reduce the-
se risks, the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group  FOCUSes 
on established, well-known brands and screens the 
market on a regular basis. 

At the Group’s own travel portals Ecotour, Holi-
dayCheck, Tjingo and Zoover, any temporary or 
longer-term stagnation in holiday travel, e.g. as a 
result of natural disasters, political unrest in popu-
lar holiday areas, terrorist attacks, a sharp increase 
in energy prices or a recession, could have a very 
negative impact on the revenue and profits of those 
portals and the entire  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group. 

The companies making up the Transactions seg-
ment are also exposed to cost risks if considerably 
higher marketing expenditure becomes necessary, 
especially for television advertising and search en-
gine marketing (SEM), particularly on Google. The 
companies in this segment make intensive use of 
television advertising and SEM, as marketing in-
struments, in their marketing activities, so a sub-

stantial price increase by television broadcasters or 
Google would have a negative impact on the profit 
situation of the Transactions segment and the enti-
re  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group.

Many Internet users no longer search directly for 
news and other information on established web por-
tals such as  FOCUS Online. Instead, they use search 
engines, and in particular the market leader, Goo-
gle. As a result, search engine optimisation (SEO) 
has gained in significance. It ensures that websites 
appear high up on the search engine hit lists when 
specific search terms are entered. Higher rankings 
generally mean more traffic, which can also have a 
positive effect on advertising and business income. 
Search engine optimisation is therefore extreme-
ly significant from a commercial viewpoint for the 
websites of the Transactions and Advertising seg-
ments. Changes to the algorithms used by search 
engine operators, such as Google, can cause the 
Transactions and Advertising segments’ websites 
to slip down the hit lists at any time, either tempora-
rily or for a lengthy period of time, resulting in a 
decline in search engine-generated traffic. This can 
have a substantial negative impact on the revenue 
and profits generated by both of these segments 
and by the entire  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group.

Advertising segment
It is thanks to the Advertising segment that the 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Group is one of the biggest 
online marketing providers in Germany. Follow-
ing a particularly constant upswing in the online 
advertising market over a period of some years, 
2008 and 2009 were marked by a more subdued 
level of bookings for graphical online advertising 
(display advertising). This temporary development 
was partly a result of the economic downturn but 
also due to the dominant position of market pla-
yers such as Google. The result has been a fall in 
prices. Although bookings for display advertising 
experienced a tangible recovery from the financial 
year 2010 onwards, we cannot exclude the possibi-
lity that another severe economic downturn, even 
greater competition (e.g. from Google or Facebook) 
or, despite high market entry barriers, a reduction 
in use of the websites marketed by  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS will again depress income and thus lead to 
further losses. The highly volatile nature of the on-
line market in recent years means that this scena-
rio cannot be totally ruled out at the present time 
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despite recent success in attracting new customers 
and, as mentioned above, an improvement in the 
order situation.

Technologies segment
The Technologies segment develops, implements 
and operates complex stationary and mobile Inter-
net solutions. If the competitive situation becomes 
more acute or new competitors enter the scene, 
this could have a negative impact on the segment‘s 
business and margins. In cases where the economic 
crisis leads to new invitations to tender being issu-
ed for projects that had in fact already been decided 
on, this can have a very adverse impact on revenue 
and profits. In many cases, projects are associated 
with substantial advance outlay and a correspondi-
ngly high level of up-front financing requirements. 
Effective project controlling allows for the timely 
identification and minimisation of these risks and, if 
necessary, the implementation of countermeasures.

Strategic risks of the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
One major strategic objective is the further impro-
vement of the Group’s market position in the Adver-
tising and Transactions segments. The target will 
be achieved by developing successful new products 
and business models, and implementing other 
measures to increase the market share and achieve 
further corporate growth. However this also expo-
ses the company to risks which may have a negative 
impact on its financial position and earnings. 

The company is particularly exposed to strategic 
risks in connection with corporate acquisitions 
and equity investments. These harbour intrinsic 
risks such as the risk of integrating employees, 
processes, technologies and products. As a result, 
it is impossible to guarantee that all bought-in or 
internally developed business activities can be suc-
cessfully integrated or that the integrated measures 
will proceed as planned. Such transactions can 
also be associated with considerable acquisition, 
administration and other costs, including the cost 
of integrating acquired business activities. Portfo-
lio measures can also result in additional financing 
requirements, which in turn can increase debt and 
have a negative impact on the financing structure. 
Acquisitions and equity investments can substanti-
ally appreciate the value of non-current assets, in-
cluding goodwill. Impairment of these assets due 
to unforeseen business developments, e.g. a down-

turn in the wider economy, can strongly depress 
results. 

Over-performance of investments can also lead to 
a substantial increase in any agreed earn-out pay-
ment obligations leading to pressure on liquidity.

In recent years, the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group has 
proven that it is capable of successfully counterac-
ting risks in connection with new products, acqui-
sitions and equity investments, and that it makes 
effective use of opportunities. It therefore believes 
from today‘s perspective that the risk of a signifi-
cant negative impact on the planned development 
of profits due to product innovations and acquisi-
tions remains controllable.

Personnel risks of the  
 TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
Highly-qualified employees and managers are es-
sential to the long-term success of any business 
undertaking. The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group is 
strongly committed to fostering its employees‘ 
long-term loyalty to the company and to recruiting 
new, highly-qualified employees. Business develop-
ment could be impaired if a large number of these 
employees leave the company within a short time 
span and no adequate replacements can be found. 
In the event of increased competition in the labour 
market to recruit highly-qualified employees, parti-
cularly people with IT and Internet expertise, there 
is no guarantee that the Group will be able to retain 
key personnel over the long term. 

The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group is determined 
to exploit all business opportunities that present 
themselves and at the same time counteract gene-
ral personnel risks through a series of measures, 
in particular the provision of advanced training for 
further qualifications and the professional deve-
lopment for employees, rigorous succession plan-
ning and additional benefits such as performance-
related remuneration systems. As a result of these 
measures and the Group’s establishment of a solid 
reputation as an attractive employer over the past 
years, the company believes that it can draw on 
its employees’ skills to make effective use of the 
available business opportunities. It therefore cur-
rently classifies the risk of significant impairment 
to business development as a result of the loss of 
employees and managers as low. 
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financial risks of the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
In respect of financial risks, the  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Group is primarily exposed to liquidity, 
currency and interest rate risks.
 Negative developments on the capital markets 
can substantially increase the Group’s financing 
costs or even restrict its ability to obtain financing, 
thus seriously reducing its flexibility with regard to 
borrowing. As a consequence, the cash and cash 
equivalents available to the Group may not be suf-
ficient to meet its financial obligations within the 
stipulated periods. 
 In Germany, the past economic and financial 
crisis led to certain restrictions on the availability 
of corporate finance and created a scenario such 
as that outlined above. Against this background, 
the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group was able to secure 
long-term refinancing for all its existing liabilities 
to banks. These arrangements provide refinancing 
on more favourable terms, in part up to the be-
ginning of 2016. Thanks also to a gratifying de-
velopment in earnings,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s 
medium-term liquidity situation can be described 
as largely secure.
 However, looking ahead at the longer term, it is 
not possible to completely exclude future restricti-
ons on the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group’s liquidity 
situation, especially in the case of a return to the 
scenario described above. The Group conducts re-
gular simulations and analyses different scenarios 
to reduce the risk of an unexpected shortage of 
cash or financing. 
 The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group’s asset, liabili-
ties and financial position is largely dependent on 
the performance of its operating segments, but also 
on portfolio measures. A decline in operating re-
sults and cash flows or an increase in net debt could 
reduce its credit rating; in turn, this could drive up 
the cost of funds and have a negative impact on the 
earnings situation.
 At present, the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group can 
take advantage of comparatively attractive refinan-
cing options. This is clear, for example, from its 
available credit lines.
 HolidayCheck AG uses the euro as its functional 
currency, and the Group’s liabilities towards it are 
therefore charged in euros. The income generated 
by HolidayCheck AG is also calculated in euros. 
This has reduced the currency risk, although cer-
tain risks remain. There is a risk that the company’s 
salary, rent, marketing and other costs could rise 

substantially in the event of an increase in the rela-
tive value of the Swiss franc against the euro, and 
this could have a negative impact on HolidayCheck 
AG’s profits. This currency risk is partially hedged 
by means of forward transactions and options. 

The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group is also exposed 
to a receivables default risk in connection with its 
operating activities. Accounts receivable are ma-
naged on a decentralised basis by the subsidiaries 
and equity investments due to the sheer diversity 
of business areas in which the Group operates and 
the resulting diverse debtor structure. The Group 
counteracts default risks in connection with finan-
cial investments and accounts receivable by way of 
regular controls within a narrow time frame, con-
tinuous liquidity monitoring and liquidity control, 
and consistent debt management. 

Asset impairment risks of  
the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG regularly assesses the va-
lue of the entire Group‘s assets. It performs impair-
ment tests to assess whether there is any impair-
ment in the value of goodwill, intangible assets or 
property, plant and equipment. This might result in 
major asset write-downs which would not lead to 
payouts, but could considerably depress the results 
of the entire  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group. 
  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG counteracts this as best 
as possible by way of central investment controls 
and monthly reports from all Group companies. De-
viations from targets are reported to the Manage-
ment Board promptly so that suitable counterme-
asures can be initiated.

Other operational risks of  
the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group‘s Advertising seg-
ment uses and profits from its established offline 
brands  FOCUS and  FOCUS MONEY. The success of 
the online versions of these brands depends, inter 
alia, on their promotion outside the Internet, even 
though this dependency has successively lessened 
in past years. Any discontinuation of the printed 
magazines of the same names is likely to have tan-
gible consequences in terms of the popularity of the 
online offers, and thus could lead to a decline in 
reach figures. Given the close link between adver-
tising revenue and the site’s reach, any fall in user 
numbers is likely to depress advertising revenue. 
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Although  FOCUS Online content is created by the 
company‘s own in-house editing team, it is geared 
towards the content and design of the  FOCUS and 
 FOCUS MONEY magazines. In March 2000, the 
licence rights to these brands were limited to a 
period of 30 years.  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG holds 
all rights to reproduce and market both the above 
brands via the Internet and other online media.

Finally, the use of the Group’s Internet portals and 
technical systems may be disrupted temporarily, at 
worst over a longer period or even permanently for 
numerous reasons, and this may be accompanied 
by the loss of important data and information. The 
list of possible causes includes technical problems 
(e.g. in the form of defective software), disruption 
to the Internet or electricity supplies (e.g. through 
electromagnetic surges) and targeted attacks (e.g. 
computer viruses). Depending on the nature and 
duration of the disruption, the consequences would 
range from a more or less severe loss of revenue and 
earnings as well as high damage repair and restore-
to-service costs through to a potential threat to the 
continued existence of the entire Group. Despite 
the wide range of defensive measures which are in 
place, such as state-of-the-art firewall technology 
and virus detection software, we cannot completely 
exclude the possibility of such risks materialising.

Overall assessment of risks
The risks described in the above risk report 
could potentially have a substantial impact on 
the earnings, assets and financial position of the 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Group.
Given gratifying developments in revenue and ear-
nings, the overall risk situation of the  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Group shows an improvement on the prece-
ding year. As a result, when all known facts and cir-
cumstances are taken into consideration, no risks 
currently exist that could jeopardise the company‘s 
continued existence in the foreseeable future.

11. Opportunities report

Business opportunities are not reported as part of 
the risk management system. They are identified in 
the Group’s annual operational planning and follo-
wed up during the year in its periodic consolidated 
reporting. Direct responsibility for the early identi-
fication and exploitation of opportunities lies with 
the individual business areas. The strategy process 
involves identifying opportunities for further profi-
table growth in the long term. These are then consi-
dered as part of the decision-making process.

Economic opportunities of  
the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
As a business in the Internet sector, consumer con-
fidence and spending can have a direct or at least 
indirect impact on the revenue development. If 
the wider economy develops more positively than 
forecast, this can provide a boost to revenue and 
profitability of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group. The 
same applies to higher demand driven by tax policy 
amendments.
 Legislative alterations, such as changes to the 
rate of taxation on corporate profits, can also have 
a positive impact on the Group’s profitability.

Market opportunities of  
the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
As an established group of companies with a strong 
position in some areas of the Internet industry, the 
Management Board estimates that the  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Group is well placed to benefit in the me-
dium and long term from an anticipated period of 
market consolidation. This should enable it to take 
a greater share of the market and, in doing so, to 
increase revenue and profits, as expected.
 Equally, as the stationary and especially the 
mobile Internet continue to penetrate the markets 
in Germany and in other European countries, the-
re are opportunities for the  TOMORROW  FOCUS 
Group to achieve a sustained increase in revenue 
and profits. 
 In the Advertising segment, the continuous in-
crease in Internet reach could further boost the 
number of visitors to the Group’s own portals and 
those it markets on behalf of its partners. This 
would have a positive impact on the future revenue 
and profit situation.
 In the Transactions segment, the Internet’s pro-
gressive market penetration could help to intensify 
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the use of the Group’s own transaction-based Inter-
net portals, and thereby contribute to an improve-
ment in the future income and profit situation. 
 In particular, Group portals such as Ecotour, 
ElitePartner, HolidayCheck, Jameda, Tjingo and 
Zoover could benefit from the growing volume of 
Internet-based transactions that would be genera-
ted as a result of the Internet’s progressive market 
penetration. At Ecotour, HolidayCheck, Tjingo and 
Zoover, this could lead to an increase in the number 
of holidays arranged. At EliteMedianet and Jameda, 
the number of paying members would rise.
 The general expectation for the Technologies 
segment is also that progressive market penetra-
tion of stationary and especially mobile Internet 
applications will positively impact the future order 
situation and thus income and profits.
 Specifically, this would boost order levels at 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Technologies with a corre-
sponding increase in Cellular’s orders for Internet 
IT services.

Other opportunities arising  
from operating activities
The continuous optimisation of key business pro-
cesses and strict controls on costs are crucial in assu-
ring high levels of profitability and return on capital.
 At both a centralised and decentralised level, the 
Group consistently pursues new approaches with 
a view to achieving continuous improvements in 
profitability. In this context, one of our aims is to 
further simplify processes across the entire Group 
and individual segments as a means of reducing 
operating inefficiencies.
 With individual companies and segments pla-
cing their expertise at the disposal of the Group as a 
whole, the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group is able to ge-
nerate synergies that help to boost profits. One con-
crete example of this lies in Group-wide collaboration 
in the area of search engine optimisation (SEO).

Strategic opportunities of  
the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
The Group’s corporate strategy is coordinated 
by  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, and monitored and 
agreed on a regular basis in consultation with the 
business segments. An experienced management 
team and streamlined corporate structures also 
provide an excellent basis for the three business 
segments to make the most effective use of poten-
tial opportunities and achieve sustained corporate 

growth. A close-knit structure and the ensuing in-
teraction between the companies making up the 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Group also present opportu-
nities such as could only be created within a diver-
sified group of companies. This gives us an edge 
over those of our competitors who independently 
cover just a single market segment.

Personnel opportunities of  
the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group provides nu-
merous opportunities for its staff to obtain further 
qualifications and participate in professional deve-
lopment training programmes. It also offers addi-
tional benefits such as performance-related rem-
uneration systems. As a result of these measures 
and its successful corporate record in past years, 
the company sees itself as an attractive employer 
and one that is in a position to make effective use 
of its employees’ skills to exploit potential business 
opportunities. 

financial opportunities of  
the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
Favourable exchange rate and interest rate deve-
lopments can have a positive impact on the Group’s 
financial result. The  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group’s 
centralised finance department monitors develop-
ments in the financial markets closely in order to 
identify opportunities and exploit them in the in-
terest of the Group as a whole.

Overall assessment of opportunities
It is our assessment that in the financial year 2012 
the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group was able to expand 
its overall market position. This is clear from the 
revenue and earnings figures for 2012, which show 
an improvement over the preceding year. 
 The Management Board is confident that the 
strategic position adopted by the  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Group as a broadly based Internet media 
group will continue to provide a solid foundation 
for positive development of the business. 
 Looking ahead, in terms of opportunities, we be-
lieve that in 2013 the situation of the Group will be 
similar to that of 2012. 
 There is a distinct possibility that some of our 
key indicators will exceed the levels anticipated in 
the Group’s forward planning with an additional 
positive impact on its earnings, asset and financial 
position.
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12. Takeover-related disclosures and notes 
pursuant to section 289, paragraph 4 and 
section 315, paragraph 4 of the German Com-
mercial Code (handelsgesetzbuch, hGB)

Share capital structure
As at 31 December 2012, the company‘s subscribed 
share capital amounted to EUR  53,012,390. The 
share capital is divided into 53,012,390 notional no-
par-value bearer shares, each with a nominal value 
of EUR 1. The share capital is paid up in full. The 
shareholders have no entitlement to the issue of 
physical individual shares in accordance with article 
4, paragraph 3 of the articles of association, except 
when the issue of physical individual shares is re-
quired under the rules and regulations of the stock 
exchange where the shares are listed. Global certifi-
cates can be issued. All shares carry the same rights 
and obligations. Each share entitles the holder to 
one vote at the shareholders‘ meeting and evidences 
the right to a portion of the company‘s distributable 
profit. This does not apply to treasury shares held by 
the company, in respect of which the company does 
not have any rights. The shareholders‘ rights and 
obligations are specified in particular in sections 12, 
53a et seq, 118 et seq and 186 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG).

Transfer and voting rights restrictions
The company is not currently aware of any transfer 
or voting rights restrictions.

Disclosures relating to direct  
and indirect shareholdings
According to the German Securities Trading Act 
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG), any investor 
whose share of voting capital reaches, exceeds 
or falls below certain thresholds as the result of 
purchases, disposals or otherwise must notify the 
company in question and the German Federal Fi-
nancial Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt für 
Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht, BaFin) of this fact. 
In the financial year 2012, the company did not re-
ceive any notifications in respect of voting rights.

Special rights
Shares vested with special rights, such as control-
ling powers or delegation rights, do not exist.

voting right controls relating to shares  
held by employees
The Management Board is not aware of any voting 
right controls relating to shares held by employees 
of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG. 

Appointment and dismissal of Management 
Board members and amendments to the articles 
of association
The appointment and dismissal of Management 
Board members is governed by sections 84 and 85 
of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, 
AktG). Management Board members are appointed 
by the Supervisory Board for a maximum term of 5 
years. They may be re-appointed or have their term 
extended for one or more terms of up to a maxi-
mum of five years each. 
 Pursuant to article 5, paragraph 1 of the articles 
of association, the Management Board is made up 
of one or more persons. The Supervisory Board ap-
points the members of the Management Board and 
specifies their number. It can also appoint deputy 
Management Board members. The Supervisory 
Board may appoint a Chairperson of the Manage-
ment Board.
 Pursuant to article 5, paragraph 2, the company 
is represented by two members of the Management 
Board or by one member of the Management Board 
in conjunction with another employee holding gene-
ral commercial power of attorney (‘Prokurist’ under 
German law). In this respect, deputy Management 
Board members have the same status as ordinary 
Management Board members. If only one member 
of the Management Board is appointed, he or she re-
presents the company alone. The Supervisory Board 
may grant one or all members of the Management 
Board the authority to represent the company alone 
and/or exempt them from the ban on multiple re-
presentation under section 181 of the German Civil 
Code (Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch, BGB). The authori-
ty of sole representation and/or exemption from the 
ban on multiple representation under section 181 
of the German Civil Code (Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch, 
BGB) may be revoked at any time.
 Pursuant to section 84, paragraph 3 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG), the 
appointment of Management Board members and 
the appointment of the Chairperson of the Manage-
ment Board may be revoked if there is good cause.
 Amendments to the articles of association are 
subject to a resolution of the general meeting of 
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shareholders pursuant to section 179 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG). 
The authority to make amendments to the wording 
only is accorded to the Supervisory Board in article 
8, paragraph 5 of the articles of association. The 
Supervisory Board is also authorised by resolution 
of the shareholders‘ meeting to amend article 4 of 
the articles of association in accordance with the 
use of contingent capital.
 Resolutions by the general meeting of share-
holders are taken by simple majority pursuant to 
article 18 of the articles of association unless a lar-
ger majority is mandatory by law. Resolutions on 
amendments to the articles of association require 
at least a three-quarter majority of share capital re-
presented according to section 179, paragraph 2 of 
the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, 
AktG), unless otherwise stipulated in the company‘s 
articles of association.

Authority of the Management Board to buy  
back the company’s own shares and/or  
to issue new shares

1) The Management Board is authorised, subject 
to Supervisory Board approval, to undertake one or 
more increases in the company‘s share capital until 
15 May 2015 up to a maximum of EUR 26,506,195 
by issuing 26,506,195 notional no-par-value shares 
in exchange for cash or non-cash contributions 
(authorised capital 2010). The Management Board 
is authorised, subject to Supervisory Board appro-
val, to exclude shareholders’ statutory subscription 
rights in the following circumstances:
•	 	where	required,	to	settle	fractional	amounts;
•	 	where	 a	 capital	 increase	 in	 exchange	 for	 cash	

contributions does not exceed 10 percent of the 
share capital, and the issue price for the new 
shares is not significantly lower than the stock 
market price (section 186, paragraph 3, sentence 
4 of the German Stock Corporation Act, AktG); if 
this authority to exclude subscription rights un-
der section 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act is exercised, due 
regard should be given to other authorities to ex-
clude subscription rights granted by section 186, 
paragraph 3, sentence 4 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act;

•	 	where	 a	 capital	 increase	 in	 exchange	 for	 non-
cash contributions is carried out for the purpose 

of acquiring another company, an equity stake in 
another company or parts of another company 
or in order to purchase claims against the com-
pany.

Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
the Management Board is authorised to specify the 
remaining details pertaining to the capital increase 
and its implementation. The Supervisory Board is 
authorised to amend the wording of the articles of 
association in line with the use made of authorised 
capital. 

2) A conditional increase in share capital up to 
EUR 4,842,070 by way of issuing up to 4,842,070 
notional no-par-value bearer shares has been car-
ried out (conditional capital 2010). This conditio-
nal capital increase is only implemented to the ex-
tent that the holders of the convertible bonds and/
or bonds with warrants issued by the company up 
to 15 June 2015, on the basis of the authorisation 
of the general meeting of shareholders of 16 June 
2010, actually exercise their conversion or option 
rights or where the conversion obligations linked to 
such bonds are met and to the extent that no other 
methods of servicing such commitments are used. 
The new shares carry dividend rights from the be-
ginning of the financial year in which they are cre-
ated by the exercise of conversion or option rights 
or through the fulfilment of conversion obligations. 
Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
the Management Board is authorised to establish 
the further details pertaining to the execution of the 
conditional capital increase. The Supervisory Board 
is authorised to amend the wording of the articles 
of association in line with the use made of conditio-
nal capital.

3) By resolution of the annual shareholders‘ mee-
ting of 16 June 2010, the Management Board has 
been authorised to purchase the company’s own 
shares subject to the following conditions. This 
authorisation is limited to the purchase of the 
company’s own shares worth up to 10 percent of its 
share capital, based on the accounting par value. 
It may be exercised in full or in partial amounts, 
on one or more occasions, by the company or by 
third parties acting on its behalf. The authorisation 
expires on 15 June 2015. 

The purchase should be concluded on the stock 
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exchange or by means of a public offering directed 
at all the company’s shareholders.
aa)  If the shares are purchased on the stock ex-

change, the consideration per share paid by the 
company (excluding ancillary purchase costs) 
may not be more than 10 percent higher or 20 
percent lower than the average closing price 
over the ten trading days on the FWB Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange preceding the purchase of the 
shares (on XETRA or a comparable successor 
trading system) for shares of the same type.

bb) If the shares are acquired by means of a public 
offering to all the company’s shareholders, the 
price per share offered (excluding ancillary 
purchase costs) may not be more than 10 per-
cent higher or 20 percent lower than the ave-
rage closing price over the ten trading days on 
the FWB Frankfurt Stock Exchange preceding 
the publication of the offer. The purchase offer 
may stipulate further conditions. 

With respect to shares in the company that are 
acquired on the basis of this authorisation or that 
have been acquired on the basis of previous autho-
risations, the Management Board has been autho-
rised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
to dispose of the shares by means of an offering to 
all shareholders or selling on the stock exchange, 
or in addition: 
aa)  to offer them as consideration to third parties 

under a business combination agreement, for 
the acquisition of another company or of an 
equity stake in another company or parts of 
another company or for the purchase of claims 
against the company; 

bb)  to dispose of them to third parties; the price 
at which the shares are sold to third parties 
may not be significantly lower than the stock 
exchange price at the time of their disposal; if 
the company decides to make use of this autho-
risation, the exclusion of subscription rights 
on account of other authorisations pursuant 
to section 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, 
AktG) should be observed;

cc)  to grant shares to members of the Management 
Board or other employees of the company or to 
members of the senior management or emplo-
yees of affiliated entities as defined by sections 
15 et seq of the German Stock Corporation Act 
(Aktiengesetz, AktG), providing such persons 

are entitled to subscribe to the shares under 
employee stock option plans; the company’s 
Supervisory Board shall decide on any propo-
sals to transfer treasury shares to members of 
the company’s Management Board;

dd)  to withdraw the shares without a requirement 
for the withdrawal or its execution to be ap-
proved by means of a further resolution by the 
shareholders’ meeting; any such withdrawal 
would lead to a capital reduction; the shares 
may also be withdrawn by means of a simpli-
fied procedure without a capital decrease by 
adjusting the proportional accounting nominal 
value of the remaining notional no-par-value 
shares to the company’s share capital; with-
drawal may be limited to part of the shares ac-
quired by this means.

The above authorisations concerning the use of tre-
asury shares acquired by the company may be exer-
cised on one or more occasions, wholly or partially 
and singly or together. Shareholders’ subscription 
rights to treasury shares acquired by the company 
are excluded providing the shares in question are 
used under the authorisations detailed above in aa), 
bb) and cc). The Management Board will in each 
case report to the shareholders’ meeting on the 
reasons for and the purpose of the acquisition of 
treasury shares, the number of shares purchased, 
the amount of share capital they represent and the 
consideration paid for the shares.
 The Supervisory Board is authorised to amend 
the wording of the articles of association depending 
on the use made in individual cases of the authori-
sation to call in shares.
 As at 31 December 2012, the company did not 
hold any treasury shares.

Significant agreements to which the company is 
party that take effect upon a change of control 
following a takeover bid

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG is not aware of any agree-
ments which take effect upon a change of control 
following a takeover bid.

Compensation agreements between the company 
and members of the Management Board or em-
ployees providing for the event that a takeover bid 
takes place 
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If, by Supervisory Board resolution against the 
will of Christoph Schuh, the rules of procedure are 
changed resulting in changes to the business seg-
ments assigned to him or in a significant limitation 
of the scope of his powers as set forth in the rules of 
procedure, or the current or future Chairperson of 
the Supervisory Board is replaced by someone who 
is not a member of the current Supervisory Board, 
Christoph Schuh has the special right to give notice 
of terminating his service contract. 
If Christoph Schuh exercises this special right of 
termination, he is entitled to receive a severance 
payment or bridge money. These payments may not 
exceed two times his annual salary.

13. Declaration on Corporate Governance

The actions taken by the management and control-
ling bodies of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG are deter-
mined by the principles of responsible and proper 
corporate governance. For further details, please 
see the Declaration on Corporate Governance in 
accordance with section 3.10 of the German Cor-
porate Governance Code and section 289a, para-
graph 1 of the German Commercial Code (Handels-
gesetzbuch, HGB). This declaration was released 
by the Management Board, also on behalf of the 
Supervisory Board, and can be found on the web-
site of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG at http://www. 
TOMORROW- FOCUS.com/en/investor-relations/
fixed/investor-relations-corporate-governance_
aid_160.html.

14. Outlook

German economy on track for marginal growth
According to its 2013 Annual Economic Report, 
Germany’s Federal Ministry of Economics and 
Technology expects the country to achieve year-on-
year gross domestic product (GDP) growth of 0.4 
percent in 2013. 

Prospects for the industry
There follows a brief summary of the main econo-
mic prospects for the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group’s 
principal market segments in 2013.

Transactions
In the company’s view, Internet usage in Germany 

is likely to show a further increase in 2013 in line 
with the trend established in recent years. The Ger-
man market for transaction-financed online content 
in the area of private consumers (B2C) should be-
nefit from this development.
 It can be assumed that the Internet will gain fur-
ther ground as a sales channel especially in the area 
of tourism. Consequently,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
believes the current year will see growth in the vo-
lume of travel and hotel bookings made using the 
Internet. 
 By contrast, the company expects the online 
market for serious dating agencies to remain at the 
same level as in the previous year.

Online advertising
According to Nielsen Media Research‘s latest fi-
gures, gross expenditure in Germany for classic 
online advertising in January 2013 was around 
EUR 179.5 million, which is 1.7 percent lower than 
expenditure in January 2012. 
 We believe that net online advertising expen-
diture in Germany during January 2013 was at 
roughly the same level as in the previous year. Over 
the rest of the year, the Management Board antici-
pates a renewed upturn with percentage growth in 
single digits.

IT services
Growth of 3.0 percent to EUR  35.9 billion is ex-
pected in the German IT services market this year 
according to a recent survey conducted by the Ger-
man Association for Information Technology, Te-
lecommunications and New Media (BITKOM). We 
believe this assessment is also a realistic one for 
the area of web-based IT services. In particular, it 
anticipates gratifyingly high single-digit growth in 
IT services for the mobile Internet.
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Outlook for the  TOMORROW  fOCUS Group
The Management Board anticipates the follow-
ing developments in the Group’s three operating 
segments:

Transactions segment –
pattern of growth set to continue
The Transactions segment is set to deliver further 
growth in 2013. 
 HolidayCheck AG will initiate a series of key tech-
nical changes that should establish a solid founda-
tion for further sustainable growth in revenue and 
earnings. For financial 2013, the aim is to achieve 
low double-digit percentage growth in revenue and 
a slightly above-average increase in earnings.
As operator of the Zoover portals, Webassets B.V. 
plans to  FOCUS this year on expanding its port-
folio of package holidays on its booking platforms 
with the aim of generating double-digit percentage 
growth in both revenue and earnings. 
  TOMORROW Travel B.V. and RPC Voyages SAS, 
which respectively operate the holiday booking 
platforms www.tjingo.nl and www.ecotour.fr, are 
expected to increase their market share over the 
coming year in order to deliver profitable, double-
digit growth in revenue.
 EliteMedianet GmbH, which operates www.
elitepartner.de, again aims to expand its share of 
the premium online dating business despite a sta-
gnating market environment. Its objective is to ge-
nerate single-digit revenue growth with an above-
average rise in earnings.
 As well as increasing its reach figures, jameda 
GmbH, the company that operates the eponymous 
physician ratings portal, aims in particular to achie-
ve substantial growth in premium subscriptions for 
physicians. The goal here is profitable, clear dou-
ble-digit growth in revenue.
 Alongside these investments in organic growth, 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG is examining the possibili-
ty of further acquisitions in the area of national and 
international transaction-based portals, especially 
in the travel sector.

Advertising segment – 
mixed picture in the German advertising market 
At present, positive conditions in the German on-
line advertising market continue to boost the re-
sults of the Advertising segment, although it is pos-
sible that the current rate of growth will slow as the 
year progresses.

 TOMORROW  FOCUS Media, the premium online 
marketing division of  TOMORROW  FOCUS Media 
GmbH, lost a number of important marketing cu-
stomers at the end of 2012. Although it made up 
for this to some extent by signing up several new 
customers, the company’s revenue for 2013 is likely 
to remain at roughly the same level as the previous 
year with a slight decline in operating profit.
 The news portal  FOCUS Online ( TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Media GmbH’s other operating division) 
expects to achieve another increase in its reach fi-
gures in 2013 and further low double-digit growth 
in revenue and earnings.
 Finanzen100 GmbH and NetMoms GmbH, which 
respectively operate the finance and stock market 
portal Finanzen100 and the parent portal NetMoms, 
plan to increase their reach figures and generate 
profitable, double-digit growth in revenue.

Technologies segment – 
outlook for financial year 2013 unchanged
Looking ahead at 2013, results in the Technologies 
segment are expected to be roughly on a par with 
the figures recorded in 2012 for both  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Technologies GmbH and Cellular GmbH.

Targeting profitable growth  
in revenue and earnings
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG can look back on a suc-
cessful financial year 2012. Based on the informa-
tion currently available and despite prevailing cau-
tion about the macro-economic outlook for 2013, 
the Management Board is in confident mood, par-
ticularly with regard to the Transactions segment, 
which should deliver a positive boost to the Group’s 
revenue and operating result thanks to recent ac-
quisitions in France and the Netherlands and a con-
sequent reduction in the cost of internationalising 
its travel activities.

However, a major deterioration of the economy in 
Germany and elsewhere in Europe in 2013 cannot 
be ruled out, possibly as a result of serious geo-
political events or financial policy decisions. In 
the worst scenario, this could lead to a downturn 
in revenue and earnings. Depending on the nature 
of any such economic deterioration, there would 
probably be a decline in consumer demand in the 
Transactions segment, although more convenient 
marketing terms and expected gains in market sha-
re would be likely to mitigate the negative impact 
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on revenue and profits. In the Advertising segment, 
revenue and profits may well be affected by a down-
turn in the volume of orders accompanied by a fall 
in advertising prices. In the Technologies segment, 
the worst case scenario again involves a decline in 
orders with a corresponding impact on revenue and 
profits. In this event, the Management Board will 
take appropriate and adequate countermeasures, 
especially on the cost side, in order to safeguard 
the sound financial structure of the company.
 Although the most probable scenario for the 
wider economy in 2013 is one of moderate eco-
nomic growth, the Management Board’s forecast 
nevertheless anticipates continued growth for the 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS Group, with double-digit 
percentage increases in the Group’s revenue and 
operating EBITDA. With the financial result and tax 
result expected to show little change, and depre-
ciation and amortisation on operating assets (i.e. 
excluding impairment, and depreciation and amor-

tisation based on purchase price allocations) incre-
asing at a lower than average rate, it should also be 
possible to generate a slight increase in earnings 
per share. 
 Driven in part by its  FOCUS on internationalisati-
on, the Transactions segment is expected to deliver 
clear double-digit growth in revenue and operating 
EBITDA. 
 In the Advertising segment, the loss of some im-
portant customers is likely to mean stagnating reve-
nue growth and a decline in EBITDA in 2013. 
Revenue and EBITDA in the Technologies segment 
should be on a par with the figures recorded in the 
previous year. 
 Looking ahead at the financial year 2014, based 
on the information currently available, we antici-
pate further growth in consolidated revenue and 
Group EBITDA, primarily on the back of strong per-
formances from the Transactions and Advertising 
segments.

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance 
with the applicable reporting principles, the con-
solidated financial statements as at 31 December 
2012 give a true and fair view of the assets and 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of 
the   TOMORROW  FOCUS Group and the group ma-

nagement report includes a fair review of the deve-
lopment and performance of the business and the 
position of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS Group, toge-
ther with a description of the principal opportuni-
ties and risks associated with the expected develop-
ment of   TOMORROW  FOCUS Group.

RESponSIBILItY StatEMEnt 
BY thE LEGaL REpRESEntatIvES  
in accordance with Section 37y (1) of the WphG (German Securities Trading act) in  conjunction 
with Section 297 (2), 4 and Section 315 (1), 6 of the hGB (German Commercial law)

Munich, Germany, 21 March 2013

Dr Dirk Schmelzer
Chief Financial Officer

Christoph Schuh
Member of the Management Board

Antonius Bouten
Chief Executive Officer

Christoph Schuh
Member of the Management Board

Munich, Germany, 21 March 2013

Dr Dirk Schmelzer
Chief Financial Officer

Antonius Bouten
Chief Executive Officer 
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TOMORROW FOCUS AG

Good WIth nUMBERS
an OveRvieW OF The FinanCial COnTROllinG TeaM OF TOMORROW FOCUS aG

an eye On The FiGUReS

They analyse the company’s key fi-
gures meticulously day after day, 
prepare monthly, interim and annual 
reports, and they are responsible for li-
quidity and annual planning processes.
It is high time we introduce you to 
the Financial Controlling team of 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG. 

keRSTin TROTTnOW

An auditor by profession, Kerstin brings 
together all the various threads. As 
Commercial Manager she is responsi-
ble, among other things, for liquidity 
planning and giving final approval to 
the financial statements for internal use.

anDRé RaDke

André is the team’s travel specialist. 
He is responsible for controlling the 
operations of the Group’s subsidiaries 
and equity investments of the travel 
business-related segment. He also has 
primary responsibility for preparing 
the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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Talents

TOMORROW FOCUS AG

OliveR MiSChke

Oliver is the ad man. He is responsi-
ble for accounting and controlling at 
TOMORROW FOCUS Media and Net-
Moms. He is very actively involved in 
the operational activities of the two 
companies and prepares their single-
entity financial statements. 

MaRTin hOUzeR

Cash is king. Martin is responsible for 
cash management at the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group. He controls the purse 
strings and, as such, he ensures that 
there is always a sufficiently high level 
of liquidity. Martin is also responsible 
for controlling the operations of the 
Group’s subsidiaries and equity invest-
ments of the Technologies segment.

kaRin naWRaTh

Karin is the Financial Controlling de-
partment’s risk expert. She handles 
risk management for the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group and is responsible for 
controlling the operations of the Group 
subsidiary jameda.
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Consolidated balance sheet

ConSoLIdatEd BaLanCE ShEEt 

ASSETS NOTES 31 DEC 2012
EUR ‘000

31 DEC 2011
EUR ‘000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Intangible assets 

Concesssions, industrial property rights and  
similar rights as well as licences thereto 8.1. 37,251 16,415

Sofware developed in-house 8.1. 9,711 3,848

Goodwill 8.1. 144,712 85,958

Prepayments 8.3. 1,002 0

192,676 106,221

Property, plant and equipment

Property and equivalent rights 10 0

Other plant, furniture and fixtures 8.2. 3,855 3,486

3,865 3,486

financial assets

Shares in affiliated entities 31 0

Investments 459 0

Equity-accounted investments 8.4. 0 3,228

Other loans receivable 8.5. 68 31

558 3,259

Receivables and other asssets

Trade receivables 8.8. 0 66

Receivables from affiliated entities 8.10. 46 42

Other assets 8.11. 180 673

226 781

Deferred taxes 8.6./8.20. 2,968 429

TOTAl NON-CURRENT ASSETS 200,293 114,176

CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables and other asssets

Trade receivables 8.8. 29,248 22,131

Receivables from long-term construction contracts 8.9. 794 468

Receivables from affiliated entities 8.10. 646 331

Receivables from other long-term investees and investors 8.10. 2 39

Forderungen aus Ertragsteuern 122 38

Übrige sonstige Vermögenswerte 8.11. 4,993 2,883

35,805 25,890

Securities 11 0

Cash and cash equivalents 8.12. 23,386 44,288

TOTAl CURRENT ASSETS 59,202 70,178

TOTAl ASSETS 259,495 184,354

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012
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Consolidated balance sheet

EQUITy AND lIABIlITIES NOTES 31 DEC 2012
EUR ‘000

31 DEC 2011
EUR ‘000

EQUITy

Subscribed capital

Capital reserves 8.13. 53,012 53,012

Other reserves 8.13. 70,628 70,628

Accumulated retained earnings 8.16. –2,657 –2,397

Equity of holders of the parent company –13,237 –24,687

107,746 96,556

TOTAl EQUITy 107,746 96,556

lIABIlITIES

NON-CURRENT lIABIlITIES

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 8.17. 670 405

Deferred taxes 8.6./8.20. 5,403 588

Liabilities to banks 8.22. 37,430 36,500

Other liabilities 8.23. 67,603 19,292

TOTAl NON-CURRENT lIABIlITIES 111,106 56,785

CURRENT lIABIlITIES

Other provisions 8.21. 969 750

Liabilities to banks 8.22. 1,542 3,860

Trade payables 8.25. 19,736 11,372

Prepayments received on orders 8.24. 24 17

Liabilities to affiliated entities 8.10. 2,974 2,640

Liabilities to other long-term investees and investors 8.10. 0 181

Income tax liabilities 8.20. 1,885 1,471

Other liabilities 8.23. 13,513 10,722

TOTAl CURRENT lIABIlITIES 40,643 31,013

TOTAl lIABIlITIES 151,749 87,798

TOTAl EQUITy AND lIABIlITIES 259,495 184,354

51

 



Consolidated Statement of income

ConSoLIdatEd StatEMEnt oF InCoME

NOTES
1 JAN -  

31 DEC 2012
€ ‚000

1 JAN - 
 31 DEC 2012

€ ‚000

Revenue 9.1. 149,075 135,902

Other revenue 9.3. 12,592 5,368

Other own work capitalised 9.4. 3,364 1,840

Cost of materials 9.5. –24,831 –23,710

Personnel costs 9.7. –45,479 –41,149

Depreciation and amortisation of  
tangible and intangible assets –8,169 –4,628

Other expenses 9.8. –66,752 –57,049

Other taxes 157 218

Operating result 19,957 16,792

Financial income 9.9. 221 339

Financial expenses 9.10. –4,129 –3,826

Income from equity-accounted investments 8.4. –366 –223

financial result –4,274 –3,710

Earnings before taxes 15,683 13,082

Actual taxes 8.20. –2,032 –1,993

Deferred taxes 8.6./8.20. 1,043 100

Tax result –989 –1,893

Net profit after taxes 14,694 11,189

Net profit attributable to    

 equity holders of the parent company 14,694 11,347

 non-controlling interests 0 –158

14,694 11,189

in € in €

Basic and diluted earnings per share 8.15. 0.28 0.21

Average number of shares outstanding 53,012,390 53,012,390

FOR THE PERIOD 1  JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2012
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Consolidated Statement of comprehensive income

ConSoLIdatEd StatEMEnt oF CoMpREhEnSIvE InCoME

NOTES
1 JAN -  

31 DEC 2012
€ ‚000

1 JAN -  
31 DEC 2011 

€ ‚000

Net profit after taxes 14,694 11,189

Differences from currency translation 8.16. 28 –526

Share in other comprehensive income 
attributable to associated entities –156 135

Cash flow hedges 8.16./8.4. –179 –2,034

changes in fair value recognised in equity –213 –554

recognised in income 34 –1,480

Deferred taxes on cash flow hedges 8.16. 47 373

Other consolidated comprehensive income –260 –2,052

Consolidated comprehensive income 14,434 9,137

Consolidated comprehensive income/ (loss) attributable to

   equity holders of the parent company 14,434 9,349

   non-controlling interests 0 –212

14,434 9,137

FOR THE PERIOD 1  JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2012
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ConSoLIdatEd StatEMEnt oF ChanGES In EQUItY  

Statement of changes in consolidated equity

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company

Other reserves

Accumu-
lated  

retained 
earnings

€ ‚000
Total 

€ ‚000

Subscribed 
capital
€ ‚000

Capital 
reserves 

€ ‚000

Reserves for 
currency

translation 
differences 

€ ‚000

Reserves  
for cash 

flow hedges 
€ ‚000

Notes 8.13. 8.13. 8.16. 8.16.

1 JANUARy 2011 53,012 70,628 –1,581 1,236 –29,235 94,060

Consolidated net profit/ (loss) 
 according to consolidated 
 statement of income 0 0 0 0 11,347 11,347

Other comprehensive income 
according to consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income 0 0 –337 1) –1,661 0 –1,998

Consolidated comprehensive 
income/ (loss) 0 0 –337 –1,661 11,347 9,349

Distribution 0 0 0 0 –2,650 –2,650

Capital transactions involving a 
change in ownership interest 0 0 0 0 –4,149 –4,149

Changes in the reporting entity 
structure 0 0 0 2) 0 0 0

Other changes 0 0 –54 0 0 –54

31 DECEMBER 2011 53,012 70,628 –1,972 –425 –24,687 96,556

1 JANUARy 2012 53,012 70,628 –1,972 –425 –24,687 96,556

Consolidated net profit/ (loss) 
 according to consolidated 
 statement of income 0 0 0 0 14,694 14,694

Other comprehensive income 
according to consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income 0 0 –128 1) –132 0 –260

Consolidated comprehensive 
income/ (loss) 0 0 –128 –132 14,694 14,434

Distribution 0 0 0 0 –3,181 –3,181

Capital transactions involving a 
change in ownership interests 0 0 0 0 –40 –40

Other changes 0 0 0 0 –23 –23

31 DECEMBER 2012 53,012 70,628 –2,100 –557 –13,237 107,746

FOR THE PERIOD 1  JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2012

Notes

1) EUR -156 thousand (2011: EUR 135 thousand) of the other income is attributable to associated entities.

2) EUR 0 thousand (2011: EUR  minus 462 thousand) of the other income is attributable to the changes in the reporting entity structure.
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Statement of changes in consolidated equity

Non-controlling interests

Non- 
controlling 

interests 
€ ‚000

Reserves for 
currency 

translation 
differences 

€ ‚000
Total 

€ ‚000

Total 
con-

solidated 
equity
€ ‚000

Notes 8.16.

1 JANUARy 2011 801 68 869 94,929

Consolidated net profit/ (loss) 
 according to consolidated   
statement of income –158 0 –158 11,189

Other comprehensive income 
 according to consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income 0 –54 –54 –2,052

Consolidated comprehensive 
 income/ (loss) –158 –54 –212 9,137

Distribution 0 0 0 –2,650

Capital transactions involving a 
 change in ownership interest 75 0 75 –4,074

Changes in the reporting entity 
structure –718 –14 –732 –732

Other changes 0 0 0 –54

31 DECEMBER 2011 0 0 0 96,556

    

1 JANUARy 2012 0 0 0 96,556

Consolidated net profit/ (loss) 
 according to consolidated  statement 
of income 0 0 0 14,694

Other comprehensive income 
 according to consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income 0 0 0 –260

Consolidated comprehensive 
 income/ (loss) 0 0 0 14,434

Distribution 0 0 0 –3,181

Capital transactions involving a 
 change in ownership interests 0 0 0 –40

Other changes 0 0 0 –23

31 DECEMBER 2012 0 0 0 107,746
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

ConSoLIdatEd StatEMEnt oF CaSh FLoWS

NOTES
1 JAN -  

31 DEC 2012 
€ ‚000

1 JAN -  
31 DEC 2011

€ ‚000

CASh flOW fROM OPERATING ACTIvITIES

Net profit/ (loss) after taxes 14,694 11,347

Adjustments to translation of net profit/ (loss) after taxes to inflow/ outflow

– Financial income –221 –339

+ Financial expenses 4,129 3,826

–/+ Income from equity-accounted investments 366 223

+ Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets 8,169 4,628

+ Write-downs of financial assets 24 0

+/–
Effect of deconsolidation in connection with the  
disposal of HolidayCheck, France 30 –1,542

+/–
Increase/ reduction in personnel costs resulting  
from long-term incentive plans 610 1,043

–/+ Exchange rate-related revaluation or devaluation of currency holdings –31 246

–/+ Unrealised gains or losses on financial assets –27 439

–/+ Share in results attributable to non-controlling interests 0 –158

–/+ Changes in deferred taxes –1,043 –100

+/– Changes in pension provisions 265 108

= Operating result before changes in net working capital 26,965 19,721

–/+ Gains/ (losses) from disposal of non-current assets –3,422 250

–/+
Increase/ decrease in assets not attributable  
to investing or financing activities 3,307 –6,111

+/–
Increase/ decrease in liabilities not attributable  
to investing of financing activities –9,905 4,886

–/+
Changes in receivables from/ liabilities to affiliated  
entities, as well as to other long-term investees and investors –129 238

+/– Other non-cash income/ expenses 1) –3,533 –272

= Changes in net working capital –13,682 –1,009

= Cash from current operations 13,283  18,712

– Interest expenses –1,788 –1,293

= Net cash from operating activities 11,495 17,419

CASh flOW fROM INvESTING ACTIvITIES

 + Cash inflow from disposal of tangible and intangible assets 6,077 403

– Cash outflow for investment in tangible and intangible assets –7,348 –6,101

– Cash outflow for investment in financial assets –301 –12

+ Cash inflow from interest 329 184

+ Cash inflow from disposal of financial assets 1,375 19

+
Cash inflow from disposal of consolidated entities  
less cash disposed of 2) 640 2,864

–
Cash outflow for the acquisition of consolidated  
entities less cash acquired 3) 3.5. –19,158 -543

= Net cash used in investing activities –18,386 -3,186

FOR THE PERIOD 1  JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2012

AR 2012
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

NOTES
1 JAN -  

31 DEC 2012
€ ‚000

1 JAN -  
31 DEC 2011

€ ‚000

CASh flOW fROM fINANCING ACTIvITIES

+ Cash inflow from non-controlling interests 0 1

– Distribution to co-shareholders in subsidiary 4) –2,072 –911

– Dividend payment –3,181 –2,650

+ Cash inflow from loans 5) 0 36,500

– Cash outflow for repayment of loans –8,036 –18,833

– Payment of finance lease obligations –606 –428

= Net cash used in financing activities –13,895 13,679

vAlUATION-RElATED ChANGES IN CASh

+/– Non-cash change resulting from translation of cash flows to average costs 3 –2

+/– Change in value of cash due to change in exchange rate on reporting date 2 0

+/– Exchange rate-related revaluation or devaluation of currency holdings 31 –246

= valuation-related changes in cash 36 –248

= Net increase/ decrease in cash and cash equivalents –20,750 27,664

+ Consolidation-related change in cash –152 0

+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 44,288 16,624

= Cash at the end of the period 23,386 44,288

Additional information

In 2012 there were tax outflows of EUR 2,516 thousand (2011: EUR 890 thousand) and a tax inflows of EUR 295 thousand (2011: EUR 4 thousand).

Notes
1)  The amount of EUR 3,533 thousand reported as non-cash income relates to income from the revaluation of put option liabilities due to the earlier 

than anticipated option exercise in connection with the acquisition of the remaining shares in Tomorrow Travel B.V. The figure shown for 2011 

refers to the partial settlement of the purchase price obligation in relation to the acquisition of the shares in jameda GmbH.
2)  The amount of EUR 640 thousand results from the inflow of a retention amount in 2012 in connection with the disposal of shares in AdJug Ltd. in 

the previous year. The figure reported for 2011 resulted from the disposal of 35.86 percent of the shareholding in AdJug Ltd.
3)  There was a cash outflow of EUR 4,848 thousand for the acquisition of the shareholding in Tomorrow Travel B.V. Furthermore there were payments 

made for the acquisition of a 51 percent stake in the Webassets B.V. sub-group (EUR 12,846 thousand) and a 55 percent stake in RPC Voyages SAS 

(EUR 1,467 thousand). In 2011 the remaining shares in jameda GmbH were acquired, increasing the shareholding to 100 percent. The amounts 

shown refer to the acquisition costs paid, less cash acquired.
4)  The figure shown for the financial year under review includes profit distribution payments to co-shareholders and existing shareholders of subsidia-

ries. The amount reported for the previous financial year includes profit distribution payments to co-shareholders of a subsidiary.
5)  In 2011 the loan amount of EUR 36,500 thousand includes EUR 26,500 thousand for the issue of bonded loans.
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Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets for the year 2012

ConSoLIdatEd StatEMEnt  
oF ChanGES In non-CURREnt aSSEtS    

CARRyING AMOUNTS

31 DEC 2012
€ ‚000

31 DEC 2011
€ ‚000

1 JAN 2012
€ ‚000

INTANGIBlE ASSETS 

Concessions, industrial property rights and similar rights 
and assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 37,251 16,415 26,949

Software developed in-house 9,711 3,848 11,661

Goodwill 144,712 85,958 85,959

Prepayments 1,002 0 0

192,676 106,221 124,569

PROPERTy, PlANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equivalent rights 10 0 0

Other property, plant and equipment, furniture and fixtures 3,855 3,486 6,421

3,865 3,486 6,421

fINANCIAl ASSETS 

Shares in affiliated entities 31 0 0

Investments 459 0 0

Equity-accounted investments 0 3,228 3,278

Other loans 68 31 31

558 3,259 3,309

1 JAN 2012
€ ‚000

INTANGIBlE ASSETS 

Concessions, industrial property rights and similar rights 
and assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 10,534

Software developed in-house 7,813

Goodwill 1

Prepayments 0

18,348

PROPERTy, PlANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equivalent rights 0

Other property, plant and equipment, furniture and fixtures 2,935

2,935

fINANCIAl ASSETS 

Shares in affiliated entities 0

Investments 0

Equity-accounted investments 50

Other loans 0

50

FOR THE PERIOD 1  JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2012

AR 2012
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Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets for the year 2012

ACQUISITION AND PRODUCTION COSTS

ADDITIONS 
`000 EUR

ADDITIONS 
fROM INITIAl 

CONSOlIDATION
`000 EUR

DISPOSAlS 
€ ‚000

DISPOSAlS, 
SCOPE Of 

CONSOlIDATION
`000 EUR

TRANSfERS 
€ ‚000

CURRENCy 
RESERvES 

€ ‚000
31 DEC 2012

€ ‚000

1,848 23,566 3,181 0 0 2 49,184

3,295 4,761 1,381 0 0 1 18,337

0 61,135 0 1,219 0 0 145,875

1,002 0 0 0 0 0 1,002

6,145 89,462 4,562 1,219 0 3 214,398

7 0 1 0 5 0 11

1,196 488 289 3 –5 4 7,812

1,203 488 290 3 0 4 7,823

0 31 0 0 0 0 31

483 0 0 0 0 0 483

0 0 3,434 0 0 156 0

1 238 191 11 0 0 68

484 269 3,625 11 0 156 582

ACCUMUlATED DEPRECIATION 

ADDITIONS
€ ‚000

ADDITIONS 
fROM INITIAl 

CONSOlIDATION
`000 EUR

DISPOSAlS
€ ‚000

DISPOSAlS, 
SCOPE Of 

CONSOlIDATION
`000 EUR

TRANSfERS 
€ ‚000

CURRENCy 
RESERvES 

€ ‚000
31 DEC 2012

€ ‚000

3,730 0 2,332 0 0 1 11,933

2,065 0 1,252 0 0 0 8,626

1,163 0 1 0 0 0 1,163

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6,958 0 3,585 0 0 1 21,722

1 0 0 0 0 0 1

1,210 0 187 3 0 2 3,957

1,211 0 187 3 0 2 3,958

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

24 0 0 0 0 0 24

85 0 135 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

109 0 135 0 0 0 24
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Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets for the year 2011

ConSoLIdatEd StatEMEnt  
oF ChanGES In non-CURREnt aSSEtS

Carrying amounts

31 DEC 2011
`000 EUR

31 DEC 2010
`000 EUR

1 JAN 2011
`000 EUR

Intangible assets

Licences, industrial property rights and similar rights and 
assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 16,415 17,832 28,649

Software developed in-house 3,848 4,158 16,040

Goodwill 85,958 94,091 94,092

Down payments 0 133 133

106,221 116,214 138,914

Property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment, furniture and fixtures 3,486 2,709 6,270

Down payments  0 8 8

3,486 2,717 6,278

financial assets

Investments 0 0 28

At-equity investments 3,228 31 31

Other loans 31 38 38

3,259 69 97

1 JAN 2011
`000 EUR

Intangible assets

Licences, industrial property rights and similar rights and 
assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 10,817

Software developed in-house 11,882

Goodwill 1

Down payments 0

22,700

Property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment, furniture and fixtures 3,561

Down payments  0

3,561

financial assets

Investments 28

At-equity investments 0

Other loans 0

28

FOR THE PERIOD 1  JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2011

AR 2012
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Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets for the year 2011

Acquisition & manufacturing costs

ADDITIONS 
`000 EUR

ADDITIONS 
fROM INITIAl 

CONSOlIDATION
`000 EUR

DISPOSAlS
`000 EUR

DISPOSAlS, 
SCOPE Of 

CONSOlIDATION
`000 EUR

TRANSfERS
`000 EUR

CURRENCy 
RESERvES

`000 EUR
31 DEC 2011

`000 EUR

1,891 0 1,866 1,827 133 –31 26,949

1,840 0 5,628 581 0 –10 11,661

0 0 0 8,028 0 –105 85,959

0 0 0 0 –133 0 0

3,731 0 7,494 10,436 0 –146 124,569

2,370 0 1,578 635 8 –14 6,421

0 0 0 0 –8 0 0

2,370 0 1,578 635 0 –14 6,421

0 0 28 0 0 0 0

3,285 0 173 0 0 135 3,278

12 0 19 0 0 0 31

3,297 0 220 0 0 135 3,309

Accumulated Depriciation

ADDITIONS 
`000 EUR

ADDITIONS 
fROM INITIAl 

CONSOlIDATION
`000 EUR

DISPOSAlS
`000 EUR

DISPOSAlS, 
SCOPE Of 

CONSOlIDATION
`000 EUR

TRANSfERS
`000 EUR

CURRENCy 
RESERvES

`000 EUR
31 DEC 2011

`000 EUR

1,948 0 1,617 609 0 –5 10,534

1,507 0 5,332 242 0 –2 7,813

0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3,455 0 6,949 851 0 –7 18,348

1,173 0 1,470 323 0 –6 2,935

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1,173 0 1,470 323 0 –6 2,935

0 0 28 0 0 0 0

50 0 0 0 0 0 50

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

50 0 28 0 0 0 50

Note
* Adjustment of assessed value of investments carried on the balance sheet using the equity method.

*
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Consolidated Segment Report

ConSoLIdatEd SEGMEnt REpoRt

TRANSACTIONS
1 JAN -  31  DEC

ADvERTISING
1 JAN -  31  DEC

2012
in T €

2011
€ ‚000

2012
€ ‚000

2011
€ ‚000

External revenue 109,286 90,121 27,261 32,568

Inter-company revenue 3,178 1,293 1,635 860

112,464 91,414 28,896 33,428

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation  
and amortisation (EBITDA) 22,173 21,909 10,030 3,081

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 5,850 1,661 1,341 1,853

Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 16,323 20,248 8,689 1,228

External revenue by company location

thereof in Switzerland 

thereof in the Netherlands 

thereof in France 

thereof in the UK (included in the financial year 2011 

until July 2011 )

thereof in other countries 

Non-current assets

thereof in Switzerland 

thereof in the Netherlands 

thereof in France 

thereof in other countries 

FOR THE PERIOD 1  JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2012

AR 2012
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Consolidated Segment Report

TEChNOlOGIES
1 JAN -  31  DEC

hOlDING
1 JAN -  31  DEC

CONSOlIDATION
1 JAN -  31  DEC

GROUP
1 JAN -  31  DEC

2012
€ ‚000

2011
€ ‚000

2012
€ ‚000

2011
€ ‚000

2012
€ ‚000

2011
€ ‚000

2012
€ ‚000

2011
€ ‚000

12,528 13,213 0 0 0 0 149,075 135,902

3,289 3,058 538 519 –8,640 –5,730 0 0

15,817 16,271 538 519 –8,640 –5,730 149,075 135,902

1,547 1,676 –5,624 –5,246 0 0 28,126 21,420

808 976 170 138 0 0 8,169 4,628

739 700 –5,794 –5,384 0 0 19,957 16,792

NATIONAl
1 JAN -  31  DEC

INTERNATIONAl
1 JAN -  31  DEC

GROUP
1 JAN -  31  DEC

2012
€ ‚000

2011
€ ‚000

2012
€ ‚000

2011
€ ‚000

2012
€ ‚000

2011
€ ‚000

71,357 67,992 77,718 67,910 149,075 135,902

67,424 60,333 67,424

8,051 0 8,051  

2,230 0 2,230

0 7,567 0

13 10 13

31,954 38,819 164,813 71,669 196,767 110,488

76,373 71,640 76,373

62,571 0 62,571

25,812 0 25,812

57 29 57
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notES to thE ConSoLIdatEd FInanCIaL StatEMEntS 
for the financial year 2012

1. General disclosures
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG (also referred to below as 
‘ TOMORROW FOCUS’, ‘TFAG’ or the ‘company’) 
is an Internet media group based in the German 
city of Munich whose objects are the development, 
production and distribution of online services, soft-
ware solutions, the compilation of databases with 
editorial contents of all kinds for online services, 
the production of content and technology for inter-
active television, web TV and mobile applications, 
the marketing of editorial content and advertising 
space, and other services in the field of multime-
dia and online services, advising businesses in 
matters of e-commerce and content management 
solutions, application service providing, arranging 
partnerships between providers of online services 
and other enterprises, marketing consultancy and 
the provision of other marketing services. 

A total of 53,012,390 shares (ISIN: DE0005495329; 
stock exchange symbol: TFA) of the company were 
admitted to the Prime Standard of Deutsche Börse 
on the reporting date. The shares are notional no-
par-value bearer shares, each representing EUR 1 
of the company‘s share capital.

TFAG can be contacted at the following addresses: 

Postal address:  visitors‘ address:
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG  TOMORROW FOCUS AG
P.O. Box 81 01 64  Neumarkter Strasse 61
81901 Munich  81673 Munich
Germany  Germany

The companies of the TFAG Group are mentioned 
in the notes as follows: 
•	 		TOMORROW	 FOCUS	 Media	 GmbH	 (formerly	

 TOMORROW FOCUS Portal GmbH), Munich, 
Germany, (‘TFM’)

•	 		TOMORROW	FOCUS	Technologies	GmbH,	Mu-
nich, Germany, (‘TFT’)

	•	 	TF	 Digital	 GmbH	 (formerly	 	TOMORROW	
 Technologies GmbH), Munich, Germany, (‘TFD’)

	•	 	Cellular	GmbH,	Hamburg,	Germany,	(‘CELL’)
	•	 	HolidayCheck	 AG,	 Bottighofen,	 Switzerland,	

(‘HC’)
	•	 	EliteMedianet	GmbH,	Hamburg,	Germany,	(‘EP’)
	•	 	Finanzen100	 GmbH	 (formerly	 Findocs	 GmbH),	

Cologne, Germany, (‘F100’)

	•	 	jameda	GmbH,	Munich,	Germany,	(‘jameda’)
	•	 	AdJug	Ltd.,	London,	United	Kingdom,	(‘AdJug’)
	•	 	AdAudience	 GmbH,	 Düsseldorf,	 Germany,	

(‘AdAudience’)
	•	 		TOMORROW	Travel	B.V.,	Woerden,	Netherlands	

(‘ TOMORROW Travel’)
	•	 	WebAssets	 B.V.,	 Zeist,	 Netherlands,	 (‘Web-

Assets’)
	•	 	RPC	Voyages	SAS,	Paris,	France,	(‘RPC’)

2. Preparation of the annual report –  
accounting basis and standards 
The consolidated financial statements of TFAG are 
prepared in accordance with the International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as applicable 
in the European Union, and also according to the 
supplementary rules set out in section 315a para-
graph 1 of the German Commercial Code (Handels-
gesetzbuch, HGB).

The consolidated financial statements of TFAG have 
been prepared on a going concern basis.

With the exception of certain financial instruments 
recognised at fair value, the consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared on the basis of hi-
storical cost. 

 TOMORROW FOCUS AG has prepared a statement 
of income based on the nature of expense method.

The company’s reporting currency is the euro. 
Numerical disclosures are generally made in 
EUR thousand (or EUR ’000). 

The consolidated financial statements are prepa-
red on the basis of the single-entity financial state-
ments as at 31 December 2012 of those companies 
included in the consolidated financial statements.

All International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) that were mandatory as at 31 December 
2012 were applied. This also includes the Interna-
tional Accounting Standards (IASs) and the inter-
pretations issued by the International Financial Re-
porting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the 
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).

AR 2012
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2.1. effect of new and/or revised standards
The companies included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements all apply the same accounting and 
valuation policies. There has generally been no 
change from the accounting and valuation policies 
applied in TFAG‘s consolidated financial statements 
for 2011. 

In addition, the Group has applied the following 
new/revised standards that were mandatory for the 
financial year commencing on 1 January 2012. 

The amendments to IFRS 7 (Financial instruments: 
disclosures) introduced enhanced disclosure requi-
rements relating to the transfer of financial assets 
where the transferor retains a continuing involve-
ment in the assets being transferred. Additional dis-
closures (qualitative and quantitative information) 
are required in cases where an unusually high sum 
(or an unusually high proportion of such transac-
tions) is transferred at the end of a reporting period. 
This amendment to IFRS 7 is mandatory for financi-
al years beginning on or after 1 July 2012. It had no 
effect on the Group’s financial statements.

2.2. New and/or revised standards  
and interpretations not applied
The International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) and the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
have adopted a number of accounting rules and 
interpretations (see table below) that were not yet 
mandatory for the financial year 2012 and have not 
yet been applied within the TFAG Group. In part, 
their application is subject to approval by the Eu-
ropean Union (EU). Accordingly, the date on which 
they become mandatory may in some cases differ 
from the dates shown below.

The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Finan-
cial Statements concern the presentation of items 
under other comprehensive income (OCI). Under 
the new rule, items that are recycled in subsequent 
periods through the income statement have to be 
shown separately from those that remain in the 
statement of other comprehensive income. If the 
OCI items are shown before tax, the tax related to 
each of the groups described above must be shown 
separately. The amendments are mandatory for 
financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2012. 

These amendments are not expected to have any 
significant effect on TFAG’s future consolidated fi-
nancial statements. 

The revised version of IAS 19 Employee Benefits 
introduces a number of changes to existing prac-
tice. The recognition of actuarial profits and losses 
will no longer be postponed using the ‘corridor 
method’. Under new rules, they will be recognised 
immediately in equity under other comprehensive 
income (OCI). Other revisions affect the presen-
tation of changes to net liabilities/assets under 
performance-based pension plans, the recognition 
of net interest expenses/income from the pension 
plan’s net liabilities/assets and the recognition of 
past service costs. Applying the new version of IAS 
19 (without the corridor method), the figure for pro-
visions as at 31 December 2012 would have been 
EUR  333 thousand higher. At the same time, the 
expenses figure would have been EUR 85 thousand 
lower. The newly created actuarial losses totalling 
EUR  68 thousand would have been shown under 
other comprehensive income. In 2013, the amor-
tisation figure in pension expenses will no longer 
apply. As a result of the change in calculating net 
interest expense, which replaces previous assump-
tions regarding anticipated income and interest ex-
pense and is now to be calculated on the basis of 
discounting, the pension expense would have been 
slightly higher. For 2013, the net interest expense 
will also slightly exceed the sum of interest expense 
and anticipated income. 
 Precise details were not available at the time of 
completion of these financial statements. Past ser-
vice costs will now be recognised completely in 
profit and loss in the year they arise. This would 
have had no effect on these financial statements. 
The extent to which it will affect the financial state-
ments for 2013 will depend on future pension plan 
changes.
 The revised version of IAS 19 also requires addi-
tional disclosures in the notes concerning the par-
ticular features of pension plans and the associated 
risks to the company. The revised version is man-
datory for financial years beginning on or after 1 
January 2013.

The new IFRS 13 standard Fair Value Measurement 
includes a definition of fair value and rules on 
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how it is to be calculated in cases where other IFRS 
rules prescribe fair value measurement. The stan-
dard does not itself stipulate when fair value is to be 
used. With the exception of the standards explicitly 
exempted in the new standard, IFRS 13 defines 
uniform disclosure requirements in the notes for all 
assets and liabilities measured at fair value and for 
all assets and liabilities whose fair value must be 
disclosed in the notes. The new rules impose ad-
ditional disclosure requirements, especially in the 
area of non-financial assets. The new standard is 

mandatory for all financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013. At present, the Group does 
not expect that it will lead to additional disclosures 
in the notes.

The amendment to IFRS 7 Disclosures - Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities stipu-
lates additional disclosure requirements for finan-
cial assets and liabilities offset against each other 
in the balance sheet. This includes netting agree-
ments where netting is dependent on certain futu-

new and/or revised standards and interpretations not applied

RUlE
APPlICABlE 

fROM
EARly 

 ADOPTION
ENDORSED 

By EU

Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements –  
Presentation of Individual Items of Other Comprehensive Income

1 Jul 2012 No Yes

Revision of IAS 19 Employee Benefits 1 Jan 2013 No Yes

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 Jan 2014 No Yes

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 Jan 2014 No Yes

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 Jan 2014 No Yes

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 Jan 2013 No Yes

Revision of IAS 27 Single-entity Financial Statements 1 Jan 2014 No Yes

Revision of IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 Jan 2014 No Yes

Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International Reporting Standards 
-  Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

1 Jan 2013 No Yes

Amendment to IFRS 7 Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities

1 Jan 2013 No Yes

Amendment to IAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets 1 Jan 2013 No Yes

Amendment to IAS 32 Presentation of financial instruments -  
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

1 Jan 2014 No Yes

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 1 Jan 2013 No Yes

Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International Reporting Standards 
– Government Loans

1 Jan 2013 No No

Improvements to International Reporting Standards (May 2012) 1 Jan 2013 No No

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and IAS 27 Single-entity Financial 
Statements – Investment entities

1 Jan 2014 No No

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 
Mandatory application date and disclosures in the notes relating to  
transferred financial assets

1 Jan 2015 No No

AR 2012
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re events. This amendment to IFRS 7 is mandatory 
for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2013. In this context, the amendment to IAS 32 Fi-
nancial instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Fi-
nancial Assets and Financial Liabilities clarifies exi-
sting offsetting rules and is mandatory for financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. These 
amendments are not expected to have any signifi-
cant effect on TFAG’s future consolidated financial 
statements.

Three new IASB standards (IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and 
IFRS 12) concern the recognition of links between 
companies. At the same time, the publication of IAS 
27 Single-entity Financial Statements and IAS 28 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures intro-
duced revised versions of previous standards.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements intro-
duces a uniform definition of the concept of control 
for all entities and as such creates a uniform basis 
for determining the existence of a parent-subsidiary 
relationship and the corresponding inclusion of the 
subsidiary in the scope of consolidation. The stan-
dard includes comprehensive guidelines for deter-
mining whether the relationship is one of control. 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements deals with the treat-
ment of circumstances in which an entity exercises 
joint control over a joint venture or a joint opera-
tion. 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
brings together in a single standard all the disclo-
sures required of entities with interests or an in-
volvement in other entities. 

IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and the consequential 
amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28 are applicable 
to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2014. The Group will apply the amended standards 
in 2014 when they become mandatory. TFAG does 
not anticipate any significant effect on its consoli-
dated financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments revises the rules 
contained in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Reco-
gnition and Measurement on the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities. The 
new standard is the first of three phases intended to 

completely replace IAS 39. It adopts a uniform me-
thod for recognising financial assets at amortised 
cost or at fair value. 

The method used in IFRS 9 is based on how an 
entity manages its financial instruments (its busi-
ness model) and on the type of contractually agreed 
payment flows from those financial assets. The new 
standard also prescribes a uniform impairment me-
thod that replaces the different methods contained 
in IAS 39. Subject to EU approval, IFRS 9 will be 
mandatory for financial years beginning on or af-
ter 1 January 2015. The TFAG Group is currently 
assessing the likely impact of IFRS 9 on its asset, 
financial and income position.

We do not anticipate any significant impact on the 
presentation of the financial statements from the 
first-time application of the other accounting rules 
and interpretations adopted. However, they may 
produce changes in the scope of the disclosures 
required in the notes to the financial statements.
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3. Consolidation
3.1. principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
annual accounts of  TOMORROW FOCUS AG and its 
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2012, which is the 
balance sheet date for all Group entities. Subsidi-
aries are companies that are controlled directly or 
indirectly by  TOMORROW FOCUS AG. In this con-
text, the term control means the ability to control 
the company’s financial and operating activities in 
order to derive a corresponding benefit. In general, 
this is achieved by holding over 50 percent of the 
voting rights.

Associated entities are included in the consolidated 
financial statements using the equity method.

The separate financial statements of the subsidiari-
es are prepared on the basis of uniform accounting 
and valuation policies at the same balance sheet 
date as the parent company. 

All intra-group balances, transactions, revenue, ex-
penses, profits and losses from intra-group transac-
tions contained in the carrying amount of assets are 
eliminated in full.

3.2. Business combinations
Subidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
of acquisition, i.e. from the time when the TFAG 
Group gains control. Subsidiaries are no longer in-
cluded in the consolidated financial statements as 
soon as the parent company surrenders control.

Newly acquired Group companies are recognised 
using the acquisition method of accounting. This 
means that the costs of the business combination 
are distributed over the acquired, identifiable as-
sets and the acquired identifiable liabilities and 
contingent liabilities according to their fair values 
on the date of acquisition. Goodwill is created in 
cases where the costs of the equity holding exceed 
the Group’s share in the calculated equity of the 
company in question. This goodwill is checked for 
impairment at regular intervals and on the balance 
sheet date. Where necessary, the value of goodwill 
is written down by means of impairment. 

Agreed contingent consideration is recognised at 
fair value on the acquisition date. Any subsequent 
changes to the fair value of a contingent conside-

ration classed as an asset or liability are measured 
on the basis of IAS 39 and any resulting profit or 
loss recognised either in the statement of income 
or under other comprehensive income. If a con-
tingent consideration is classed as equity, it is not 
remeasured. Its subsequent settlement is shown 
under equity. 

Non-controlling interests represent the part of net 
income and net assets that is not attributable to the 
Group. Non-controlling interests are shown sepa-
rately in the consolidated statement of income, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
and the consolidated balance sheet. In the consoli-
dated balance sheet they are shown in equity, sepa-
rately from the equity attributable to the sharehol-
ders of the parent company.

Transactions with non-controlling interests are tre-
ated as transactions with the Group’s equity provi-
ders. Following the acquisition of a non-controlled 
interest, any difference arising between the con-
sideration paid and the corresponding interest in 
the carrying value of the subsidiary’s net assets is 
shown in equity. Profits and losses realised on the 
disposal of non-controlling interests are also shown 
in equity.

If the Group loses control or significant influence 
over an entity, the remaining interest is remeasured 
at fair value and the resulting difference recognised 
as a profit or loss. The fair value is that calculated on 
first recognition. In addition, all amounts relating to 
that entity and shown under other comprehensive 
income are accounted for using the same rules that 
would apply if the parent company had sold the as-
sociated assets and liabilities directly. This means 
that any profit or loss previously recognised under 
other comprehensive income is transferred from 
equity to the statement of income.

3.3. interests in associated entities
Associated entities are entities over which the 
Group exerts significant influence but not control. 
This is generally the case with a share of between 
20  percent and 50  percent of the voting rights. 
Equity interests in associated entities are treated 
for accounting purposes using the equity method 
and initially recognised at cost.
 Following the acquisition, the Group’s share of 
the associated entities’ profits and losses is inclu-
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COMPANy
PRINCIPAl PlACE 
Of BUSINESS

ShARE Of 
CAPITAl  

(PERCENT)

 TOMORROW FOCUS AG Munich, Germany –

 TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

 TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

TF Digital GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

Cellular GmbH Hamburg, Germany 100.00

Elitemedianet GmbH Hamburg, Germany 100.00

Finanzen100 GmbH Cologne, Germany 100.00

jameda GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

HolidayCheck AG 1) Bottighofen, Switzerland 94.00

HolidayCheck Polska Sp. zo.o. 2) Warsaw, Poland 100.00

HolidayCheck France SAS (i.L.) 2) 4) Paris, France 100.00

 TOMORROW Travel B.V. Woerden, Netherlands 100.00

WebAssets B.V. 1) Zeist, Netherlands 51.00

Zoover Media B.V. 3)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00

Zoover International B.V. 3)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00

Zoover GmbH 3)   Cologne, Deutschland 100.00

Meteoista B.V. 3) Zeist, Netherlands 100.00

SARL Zoover France 3) Paris, France 100.00

Zoover International Holland Filiaal 3) 6)  Zeist, Netherlands 100.00

Zoover Internet Teknolojileri Tuzim Ticaret Ltd. 3) 6) Kusadasi, Turkey 100.00

Zoover Italia SARL 3) 6) Monza, Italy 100.00

Zoover Travel B.V. 3)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00

RPC VOYAGES SAS 1) 5) Courbevoie, France 55.00

Scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2012

1) Put/call options in place for these companies covering additional shares 
2) Indirect holding via HolidayCheck AG
3) Indirect holding via WebAssets B.V. 

4) Company in liquidation 
5) Indirect holding via TF Digital GmbH
6) Non-consolidated affiliated entity as of minor importance

ded in the consolidated financial statements and is 
allocated to the carrying value of the equity interest. 
Dividends issued by associated entities reduce the 
recognised value of the equity interest. 

Providing there are objective reasons for impair-
ment, it is calculated on the basis of IAS 36. Changes 
shown directly in the equity of the associated entity 
are recognised by the Group and are shown in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

3.4. Reporting entity
As at 31 December 2012,  TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
had shareholdings in the following entities: see 
 table above.

TFAG directly holds the majority of the voting rights 
and/or exercises control in the case of all subsidiari-

es where it owns over 50 percent of the share capital.
  TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH, 
  TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH, Cellular GmbH 
and EliteMedianet GmbH took advantage of the 
exemption rules in section 264 paragraph 3 of the 
German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, 
HGB) in the annual financial statements as at 31 
December 2012.
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assets and liabilities of  TOMORROW Travel B.v.

3.5. Changes in the reporting entity 
 TOMORROW fOCUS AG acquires  
55 percent stake in  TOMORROW Travel B.v.
On 1 April 2012,  TOMORROW FOCUS AG ac-
quired a 55  percent stake in  TOMORROW Travel 
B.V., which operates the Dutch online travel agent 
Tjingo.nl. From this date onwards, the holding has 
been consolidated in  TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s 
Transactions segment.

The provisional fair values of the identifiable assets 
and liabilities of  TOMORROW Travel B.V. at the date 

of acquisition (based on purchase price allocation) 
and the associated carrying values immediately pri-
or to the date of acquisition (based on provisional 
purchase price allocations) are shown above. 

The intangible assets acquired include the custo-
mer base, the brand name, the Internet domain 
Tjingo.nl and software developed in-house. 
The following table shows a breakdown of the to-
tal acquisition costs for the business combination 
amounting to EUR 10,307 thousand.

The table on the left differs from that shown in the 
interim report on 30 September 2012 in that it inclu-
des a cash contribution of EUR 500 thousand already 
paid at the date of first consolidation as part of the ac-
quisition costs and cash at  TOMORROW Travel B.V. 

The purchase price also contains a licence valued 
at EUR 1,200 thousand in the form of a non-cash 
contribution. This licence includes the non-exclusi-
ve right to use the HolidayCheck.nl brand, platform 
and domain and its current and future content (re-
views) for a period of four years. Since the gran-

fAIR vAlUE ON 
ACQUISITION 

DATE
EUR ‚000

CARRyING 
vAlUE IMME-

DIATEly PRIOR 
TO  BUSINESS 

 COMBINATION
EUR ‚000

Assets   

Intangible assets 1,437 59

Property, plant and equipment 58 58

Trade receivables 7,918 7,918

Other assets 674 173

Cash and cash equivalents 1,554 1,554

11,641 9,762

liabilities   

Other provisions –61 –61

Trade payables –9,112 –9,112

Other financial liabilities –540 –540

Deferred tax liabilities –345 0

–10,058 –9,713

Net assets 1,583 49

Goodwill from acquisition 8,724  

Total acquisition costs 10,307  

acquisition costs of TOMORROW Travel B.v.

EUR ’000

Price paid for 55 percent stake 2,442

Cash contribution 500

Liability for put option covering 
remaining 45 percent stake 7,365

Total 10,307
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ted licence does not lead to the recognition of an 
asset for the consolidated financial statements of 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG (based on IFRSs), the por-
tion of the purchase price attributable to the licence 
does not constitute an acquisition cost as part of the 
business combination.

The put option reflected the payment obligation 
assuming that the option is exercised according 
to schedule and  TOMORROW Travel B.V. performs 
according to plan.

The difference between the cost of acquisition and 
the carrying amount of the acquired stake shown in 
the consolidated financial statements is EUR 8,724 
thousand. This amount has been recognised as 
goodwill. For synergetic and strategic reasons, this 
goodwill represents part of an additionally paid pre-
mium.

The fair value of trade receivables and other assets 
was EUR 8,592 thousand. The main component of 
this figure is trade receivables with a fair value of 
EUR  7,918 thousand. An estimate of contractual 
payment flows undertaken at the date of acquisition 
showed that the ratio of doubtful debts to net re-
venue was not material. Consequently, none of the 
trade receivables had to be written down.

Since 1 April 2012, the company has contributed 
EUR  1,404 thousand to the Group’s revenue as 
shown in the consolidated statement of income. Its 
total contribution to earnings after tax for the same 
period was minus EUR 224 thousand.

If the company had been consolidated on 1 Janua-
ry 2012, its contributions to Group revenue (in the 
consolidated statement of income) and earnings af-

ter tax would have been EUR 2,482 thousand and 
minus EUR 55 thousand respectively. These figures 
are based on pro forma calculations. 

Incidental acquisition costs totalling EUR  195 
thousand have been recognised as other operating 
expenses.

 TOMORROW fOCUS AG acquires remaining  
45 percent of  TOMORROW Travel B.v.
The minority shareholders of  TOMORROW Travel 
B.V. chose to exercise their contractually agreed put 
option before maturity, thus allowing  TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG to acquire the remaining 45 percent of 
the company’s shares earlier than expected on 31 
August 2012.

The shares were transferred in return for a purchase 
consideration of EUR 3,960 thousand. The purchase 
price was based on a contractually agreed fixed sum 
and a working capital adjustment, and it was well 
below the fair value of the balance sheet liability 
for the put option, which was based on an exercise 
date at maturity. The deal thus generated non-cash 
flow income of EUR 3,533 thousand.

Disposal of 20 percent stake in AdJug ltd.
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG sold its remaining 20 per-
cent shareholding in the London-based online mar-
keting firm AdJug with effect from 31 August 2012. 

The sale generated a total consideration of 
EUR 1,328 thousand in the form of a cash inflow of 
EUR 1,150 thousand. A contingent purchase price 
of EUR 178 thousand also exists.

loss on disposal of shares in adJug ltd.

EUR ’000

Consideration received 1,328

Derecognition of net assets –3,292

loss on disposal 1,964

Cash outflow due to acquisition  
of   TOMORROW Travel B.v.

EUR ’000

Cash acquired with subsidiary
1,554

Cash outflow –2,442

Total -888
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Acquisition of 51 percent stake in WebAssets B.v.
On 10 July 2012,  TOMORROW FOCUS AG acquired 
a 51 percent stake in WebAssets B.V., which ope-
rates Zoover, the Netherland’s biggest hotel and 
holiday reviews portal, and the weather platforms 
MeteoVista.

Further agreements were signed that could allow 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG to take over the remaining 
shares by 2017. 

The acquisitions will make it possible for Zoover to 
collaborate intensively with  TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG’s Dutch brand Tjingo. International content will 
be exchanged between Zoover and  TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG subsidiary HolidayCheck.

The shares in  TOMORROW Travel B.V. will be con-
solidated from 1 July 2012 in  TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG’s Transactions segment. 

The table above shows the fair values of the identi-
fiable assets and liabilities of WebAssets B.V. on the 
acquisition date (as provisionally calculated during 
purchase price allocation) and their corresponding 
carrying values immediately prior to the acquisition 
date.

The intangible assets acquired include the custo-
mer base, the brand names and Internet domains 
Zoover and MeteoVista/Weeronline and a reviews 
database. 

acquisition costs of Webassets B.v.

EUR ’000

Price paid for 51 percent stake 19,944

Liability for put option covering 
remaining 49 percent stake 29,054

Total 48,998

assets and liabilities of Webassets B.v.

fAIR vAlUE ON 
ACQUISITION 

DATE
EUR ‚000

CARRyING vAlUE 
IMMEDIATEly 

PRIOR TO 
 BUSINESS  

COMBINATION
EUR ‚000

Assets   

Intangible assets 26,631 8,006

Property, plant and equipment 361 361

Financial assets 731 731

Trade receivables 2,182 2,182

Receivables from shareholders and affiliated entities 356 356

Other assets 670 670

Cash and cash equivalents 1,567 1,567

32,498 13,873

liabilities   

Liabilities to banks –2,070 –2,070

Trade payables –275 –275

Liabilities to shareholders and affiliated entities –6,421 –6,421

Other financial liabilities –2,143 –2,143

Deferred tax liabilities –4,682 –26

–15,591 –10,935

Net assets 16,907 2,938

Goodwill from acquisition 32,091  

Total acquisition costs 48,998  
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The table below on the left page shows a breakdown 
of the provisional acquisition costs for the business 
combination amounting to a total of EUR  48,998 
thousand.

The put option reflects the payment obligation as-
suming that the option is exercised according to 
schedule and WebAssets B.V. performs according 
to plan.

The difference between the price paid for the 
51 percent stake and the cash outflow is mainly due 
to the assumption of a shareholder loan.
The difference of EUR  32,091 thousand between 
the cost of acquisition and the carrying value of 
the shares acquired as shown in the consolidated 
financial statements was recognised as goodwill. 
The goodwill also acted as an additionally paid pre-
mium reflecting the synergies and strategic benefit 
derived.

The fair value of the trade receivables and other as-
sets comes to EUR 2,852 thousand. The main part 
of this relates to trade receivables with a fair value 
of EUR 2,182 thousand. According to an estimate of 
contractual payment flows made at the date of ac-
quisition, the ratio of doubtful debts to net revenue 
was not material. Accordingly, none of the trade re-
ceivables was subjected to impairment.

Since 1 July 2012 the company has contributed 
EUR  6,781 thousand to the Group’s revenue as 
shown in the consolidated statement of income. Its 
contribution to earnings after tax for the same peri-
od was EUR 1,048 thousand.

If the company had been consolidated on 1 Janua-
ry 2012, its contributions to Group revenue (in the 
consolidated statement of income) and earnings af-

ter tax would have been EUR 13,937 thousand and 
EUR 2,246 thousand respectively. These figures are 
based on pro forma calculations.

Incidental acquisition costs totalling EUR  131 
thousand were recognised as other operating ex-
penses. 

Acquisition of 55 percent stake  
in RPC vOyAGES SAS
On 17 September 2012,  TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
indirectly acquired a 55 percent stake in the French 
online travel agent Ecotour.com (RPC VOYAGES 
SAS) through TF Digital GmbH. The aim of the 
takeover is to develop HolidayCheck.fr into an inte-
grated bookings and reviews platform.

Further agreements were signed that could allow 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG to take over the remaining 
shares by 2016. 

The shares in RPC VOYAGES SAS will be conso-
lidated from 30 September 2012 in  TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG’s Transactions segment.

The provisional fair values of the identifiable assets 
and liabilities of RPC VOYAGES SAS at the date of 
acquisition (based on purchase price allocation) 
and the associated carrying values immediately pri-
or to the date of acquisition are shown below.

acquisition costs of RpC vOyaGeS SaS

EUR ’000

Price paid for 55 percent stake 3,000

Contingent consideration 
(EARN-OUT) 3,305

Cash contribution 1,500

Liability for put option covering 
remaining 45 percent stake 12,413

Total 20,218

Cash outflow due to acquisition  
of Webassets B.v.

EUR ’000

Cash acquired with subsidiary 1,567

Cash outflow –14,414

Total –12,847
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The intangible assets acquired include the custo-
mer base and the brand names Ecotour and ARM. 
The table above shows a breakdown of the provisio-
nal acquisition costs totalling EUR 20,218 thousand 
for the business combination. 

In addition to the purchase price of EUR  3,000 
thousand, in 2013 and 2014 TFD is obliged to pay 
the shareholders who have sold their holdings an 
amount based on the extent to which revenue and 
EBIT targets are met for 2012 and 2013. The Group 
has taken into account EUR 3,305 thousand as con-
tingent consideration in conjunction with additio-
nal acquisition costs. This corresponds to their fair 
value at the date of acquisition based on an appro-
priate discounting rate. 

The put option reflects the payment obligation as-
suming that the option is exercised according to 
schedule and RPC VOYAGES SAS performs accor-
ding to plan.

The table above differs from that shown in the inte-
rim report on 30 September 2012 in that it includes 
a cash contribution of EUR 1,500 thousand already 
paid at the date of first consolidation as part of the 
acquisition costs and cash at RPC VOYAGES SAS.

The purchase price also contains a licence valued 
at EUR 4,000 thousand in the form of a non-cash 
contribution. This licence includes the non-exclusi-
ve right to use the HolidayCheck.fr brand, platform 
and domain and its current and future content (re-
views) for a period of four years. Since the licence 
does not lead to the recognition of an asset for the 
consolidated financial statements of  TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG (based on IFRSs), the portion of the 
purchase price attributable to the licence does not 
constitute an acquisition cost as part of the busi-
ness combination.

The difference between the cost of acquisition 
and the carrying amount of the acquired stake 

assets and liabilities of RpC vOyaGeS SaS

fAIR vAlUE ON 
ACQUISITION 

DATE
EUR ‚000

CARRyING vAlUE 
IMMEDIATEly 

PRIOR TO 
 BUSINESS  

COMBINATION
EUR ‚000

Assets   

Intangible assets 4,827 2,153

Property, plant and equipment 69 69

Financial assets 56 56

Trade receivables 1,491 1,491

Other assets (including prepaid expenses and accrued income) 875 875

Deferred tax assets 2,007 0

Cash and cash equivalents 3,037 3,037

12,362 7,681

liabilities   

Trade payables 7,854 7,854

Prepayments on orders 33 33

Other provisions 87 87

Other financial liabilities (including deferred income) 3,600 3,600

Deferred tax liabilities 891 0

12,465 11,574

Net assets –103 –3,893

Goodwill from acquisition 20,321  

Total acquisition costs 20,218  
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shown in the consolidated financial statements is 
EUR  20,321 thousand. This amount has been re-
cognised as goodwill. For synergetic and strategic 
reasons, this goodwill represents part of an additio-
nal premium paid.

The fair value of trade receivables and other assets 
was EUR 2,366 thousand. The main component of 
this figure is trade receivables with a fair value of 
EUR  1,491 thousand. An estimate of contractual 
payment flows undertaken at the date of acquisition 
showed that the ratio of doubtful debts to net re-
venue was not material. Consequently, none of the 
trade receivables had to be written down.

Since 30 September 2012, the company has contri-
buted EUR 2,299 thousand to the Group’s revenue 
as shown in the consolidated statement of income. 
Its contribution to earnings after tax for the same 
period was minus EUR 6 thousand.

If the company had been consolidated on 1 Janua-
ry 2012, its contributions to Group revenue (in the 
consolidated statement of income) and earnings 
after tax would have been EUR  10,830 thousand 
and minus EUR 973 thousand respectively. These 
figures are based on pro forma calculations.

Incidental acquisition costs totalling EUR  77 
thousand were recognised as other operating ex-
penses.

TfAG scales back holding in AdAudience
In October 2012, following an increase in the 
number of AdAudience GmbH shareholders, 
the percentage stake held by TFAG in the compa-
ny (previously recognised in the balance sheet at 
equity) fell from 25.0 percent to 14.29 percent. As a 
result, the remaining holding is now recognised as 
an investment.

4. Segment reporting
Business segment reporting is laid out in such a 
way as to conform to the method of in-house re-
porting to the principal decision-making body. The 
principal decision-making body is responsible for 
decisions on the allocation of resources to business 
segments and for the evaluation of their profitabili-
ty. The Management Board of TFAG constitutes the 
principal decision-making body.

At  TOMORROW FOCUS AG, the segments corre-
spond to the following divisions: 

	 •	Transactions
	 •	Advertising	
	 •	Technologies
	 •	Holding

5. Currency translation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in euros (EUR), the Group‘s functional currency and 
presentation currency. Each entity within the Group 
determines its own functional currency. The items 
included in the financial statements of the entity in 
question are measured in this functional currency. 
Transactions in a currency other than the euro are 
initially translated between the functional currency 
and the other currency at the spot rate valid on the 
date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other 
than the euro are translated into the functional 
currency on the reporting date. All currency diffe-
rences are recognised in the statement of income. 
Non-monetary items that are measured at cost in a 
currency other than the euro are translated at the 
rate applicable on the date of the transaction. Non-
monetary items measured at their fair value in a 
currency other than the euro are translated at the 
rate applicable at the time that the fair value was 
calculated. 

In the financial year 2012, with the exception of Ho-
lidayCheck Polska, whose functional currency is the 
zloty (PLN), all entities within the Group adopted 
the euro (EUR) as their functional currency.

The assets and liabilities of all Group entities with 
a functional currency other than the euro are trans-
lated into euros on the balance sheet date for 

Cash outflow due to acquisition  
of RpC vOyaGeS SaS

in T €

Cash acquired with subsidiary 3,037

Cash outflow -4,500

Total -1,463
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consolidation purposes. Income and expenditure 
are translated for each statement of income at the 
average exchange rate. All translation differences 
are recognised as a separate item in equity under 
other reserves.

Any goodwill created through the acquisition of a 
foreign entity and any adjustments to the fair values 
of the identifiable assets and liabilities are treated 
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated on the balance sheet date. Any resulting 
translation differences are shown in the foreign 
currency translation reserve. On disposal of this 
foreign entity, any corresponding amount in the fo-
reign currency translation reserve is transferred to 
the statement of income.

6. estimates and assumptions  
when applying accounting principles
In order to prepare the consolidated financial state-
ments, the Management Board members have 
to make the best possible estimates and assump-
tions on the basis of the information currently at 
their disposal. These may influence the recognised 
values of the assets and liabilities, the disclosures 
concerning contingent assets and liabilities, and 
cost estimates in connection with the percentage of 
completion (POC) on the balance sheet date, and 
also the income and expenses recognised for the 
reporting period. The actual results occurring at a 
later date may differ from these estimates. 

There follows an explanation of the most important 
assumptions in relation to the future and the main 
sources of uncertainty at the balance sheet date gi-
ving rise to the risk of material adjustments being 
made to the carrying amounts of the assets and lia-
bilities during the coming financial year:

a) Impairment of goodwill
The TFAG Group makes an impairment test in re-
lation to goodwill at least once a year or whene-
ver there are any indications that such impairment 
may have taken place. This requires an estimate of 
the recoverable value of the cash-generating units 
to which the goodwill is attributed. To estimate the 
value in use the Group has to estimate the likely 
future cash flows from the cash-generating unit 

and, in addition, select an appropriate discount rate 
in order to determine the present value of these 
cash flows. As at 31 December 2012, the carrying 
amount for goodwill amounted to EUR  144,712 
thousand (EUR 85,958 thousand in 2011). Further 
details can be found in note 8.1.

b) loss carryforwards 
TFAG recognises deferred tax assets for tax loss 
carryforwards, in as far as it is sufficiently certain 
that the loss carryforwards will be utilised in tax 
planning. For tax planning purposes, TFAG has to 
make estimates of the tax results to be achieved 
in the future. As at 31 December 2012 the defer-
red tax assets for loss carryforwards amounted to 
EUR 5,422 thousand (EUR 2,336 thousand in 2011) 
(see also notes 8.6 and 8.20).

c) Provisions
TFAG recognises provisions at the amount neces-
sary, according to the best possible estimates, to 
cover all legal or de facto liabilities that the Group 
has on the balance sheet date. Future events that 
could affect the amount needed to meet a liability 
are reflected in the size of the provision, providing 
they can be predicted with sufficient objective cer-
tainty. The amount recognised is that which is most 
likely on an objective assessment of the facts. In the 
case of large volumes (e.g. warranties), calculation 
is based on the anticipated figure. As at 31 Decem-
ber 2012, other provisions amounted to EUR 969 
thousand (EUR  750 thousand in 2011) (see also 
note 8.21).

d) Uncompleted construction contracts
In applying the percentage-of-completion method, 
contract revenue was reliably estimated by means 
of the contract underlying the order. This gives 
the contracting parties enforceable rights and ob-
ligations in relation to the work and services to be 
performed, defines the consideration to be provi-
ded and also the way in which and on what terms 
the contract work is to be brought to completion. 
On this basis, the revenue and expenses recorded 
in the internal budgeting system are evaluated as 
completion progresses, and reviewed and revised 
if necessary. 
 The stage of completion of ongoing projects is 
usually determined through an inspection by and 
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written confirmation from the other contracting 
party at the reporting date. If the other contracting 
party does not provide any confirmation, the ratio 
between the actual contract costs up to the repor-
ting date and the total estimated contract costs at 
the reporting date is taken as a reliable estimate 
of the stage of completion. The only contract costs 
that are taken into account are those that reflect the 
work and services performed up to this date (see 
note 9.2).
 
e) Measurement of put/call options
Standstill obligations in relation to put/call options 
covering HolidayCheck are recognised at the pre-
sent value of the payment obligation. The basis for 
the measurement of the put/call option is between 
10 and 12 times the expected average EBITDA for 
2007 to 2013, namely EUR 20,151 thousand. This 
is multiplied by the 6 percent (2011: 6.25 percent) 
ownership interest to be acquired and subsequent-
ly discounted. For the purpose of subsequent va-
luations, the resulting figure is compounded and 
recognised in the interest result in the statement 
of income. As at the last balance sheet date, in ac-
cordance with the retransfer agreement, shares 
amounting to 0.25 percent were shown at the no-
minal value plus any as yet undistributed profits. 
 Claims under standstill obligations in relation to 
put/call options covering the remaining shares in 
WebAssets B.V. may be made in three tranches of 
16.333 shares each in 2015, 2016 and 2017. The 
payment obligation is recognised at its present va-
lue. The put/call options are measured using mul-
tiples of EBIT for the financial years 2014, 2015 and 
2016 subject to meeting annual revenue and EBIT 
growth targets. These are multiplied by the percen-
tage ownership interest to be acquired and then 
discounted for the corresponding period. For the 
purpose of subsequent valuations, the resulting fi-
gure is compounded and recognised in the interest 
result in the statement of income. In line with IAS 
39, changes to the subsequent valuation of these 
financial liabilities are reported in the statement of 
income.

Standstill obligations in relation to put/call options 
covering the remaining shares in RPC VOYAGES 
SAS are recognised at the present value of the pay-
ment obligation. The put/call options are measured 

using multiples of EBIT for the financial year 2015 
subject to meeting revenue and EBIT growth tar-
gets. These are multiplied by the  percentage ow-
nership interest to be acquired and discounted 
for the corresponding period. For the purpose of 
subsequent valuations, the resulting figure is com-
pounded and recognised in the interest result in the 
statement of income. In line with IAS 39, changes 
to the subsequent valuation of these financial liabi-
lities are reported in the statement of income.

7. Main accounting and valuation principles
The companies included in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements all apply the same accounting 
and valuation principles. The following section de-
scribes the main accounting and valuation princip-
les applied in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at 
the cost of acquisition less accumulated deprecia-
tion. The cost figure includes all costs directly at-
tributable to the purchase together with the cost of 
borrowed funds (providing the recognition criteria 
are met).

Throughout the Group, the depreciation of proper-
ty, plant and equipment is based on the following 
useful lives for important assets: see table on the 
next page.

Property, plant and equipment are written down 
according to the straight-line method.

The cost of maintenance is treated as expense for 
the period.

Intangible assets acquired from third parties in 
return for payment are recognised at cost. Where 
there is a definite normal useful life, this figure is 
reduced by amortisation according to the straight-
line method over their normal useful lives. They are 
recognised only if it is sufficiently probable that a 
future benefit will thus accrue to the enterprise and 
the acquisition costs of the asset can be reliably de-
termined.
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Useful lives for important assets

The normal useful life of an asset is generally esti-
mated taking account of the following criteria: 

	•	 	anticipated	use	of	the	asset	by	the	enterprise;	
	•	 	typical	product	life	cycle	and	public	information	

concerning the estimated useful lives of compa-
rable assets; 

	•	 	technical,	 technological	 and	 other	 types	 of	 ob-
solescence;

	•	 	stability	of	the	sector	 in	which	the	asset	 is	em-
ployed. 

Self-generated intangible assets are recognised to 
the extent of the directly attributable development 
costs if all the conditions set out in IAS 38.57 have 
been fulfilled. The capitalisation of the costs ends 
when the product has been completed and has 
been generally released. 

According to IAS 38.57, the following six requi-
rements need to be met in order for development 
costs to be capitalised; in the following cases they 
have been met in full: 

1.  technical feasibility of the completion of the as-
set so that it is available for internal use and/or 
sale;

2.  the intention to complete the intangible asset 
and to either use or sell it;

3.  the ability to either use or to sell the intangible 
asset;

4.  evidence of presumable future economic bene-
fits; 

5.  the availability of adequate technical, financial 
and other resources to complete the develop-
ment and the ability to either use or to sell the 
intangible asset; and 

6.  the ability to establish a reliable measure of the 
expenditure attributable to the company during 
the development of the asset. 

In accordance with SIC-32, relaunches were not 
capitalised on producing the website if these were 
only updates of pre-existing sites. 

Expenses for research and general development 
that do not meet the above criteria are recognised 
immediately as expense in accordance with IAS 38. 

The normal useful life of the asset also forms the ba-
sis for straight-line amortisation of both purchased 
and internally generated intangible assets, star-
ting from the time of completion and the market rea-
diness of the internally generated intangible assets. 

Throughout the Group, the following useful lives 
form the basis of amortisation for important intan-
gible assets. Intangible assets acquired from third 
parties in return for payment and assets that are 
internally generated are amortised over the same 
periods. See table below.

From 2005, trademark rights that consist of ac-
quired online rights to use the well-known trade-
mark portals integrated within TFAG are amortised 
over 20 years, as these are trademarks with an un-
influenceable dependence on the print titles. The 
Tjingo brand, which originates from the acquisiti-
on of  TOMORROW Travel B.V., will be amortised 
over five years in line with its planned economic 
use. The brands HolidayCheck, ElitePartner, Zoo-
ver, MeteoVista/ Weeronline, Ecotour and jameda, 
however, are not amortised according to a planned 
schedule as these are Internet brands whose rights 
are in the full ownership of the company. They are 
tested for impairment every year. In this context, 
‘in the full ownership of the company’ means that 

IT hardware 4 years

Lines, technical installations 8 years

Furnishings 10 years

Technical devices 4 to 5 years

amortisation of intangible assets

Goodwill no amortisation

Internet domains no amortisation

Trademark rights/  
brand names

5 - 20 years /  
no amortisation

Software/ websites 3 - 15 years

Customer bases 5 years

Personality test no scheduled  
amortisation
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the company can directly influence the brand‘s de-
velopment by taking targeted measures, so that it 
does not depend on the success of print titles. As 
it is assumed that the Internet domains depend on 
the brand names, there is no regular amortisation 
in this case either.

The amortisation/depreciation period and the me-
thod of amortisation/depreciation for intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment are re-
viewed at the end of each financial year. If the ex-
pected useful life of an asset significantly deviates 
from prior estimates, the amortisation/depreciation 
period is adjusted accordingly. In the case of ma-
terial changes during the course of amortisation/
depreciation, a suitable amortisation/depreciation 
method is selected. 

All intangible assets and all items of property, 
plant and equipment are tested for impairment at 
the end of each financial year if the circumstances 
or changes in the circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of the assets may possibly be ir-
recoverable. If the recoverable amount of the asset 
is lower than the carrying amount, the impairment 
loss is recognised in the statement of income. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of the net selling 
price and the value in use of the asset. The net sel-
ling price is the recoverable amount from the sale 
of an asset at fair value less selling costs. The value 
in use is the present value of the estimated future 
cash flow to be expected from the continued use 
of an asset and its disposal at the end of its useful 
life. The recoverable amount is determined separa-
tely for each asset or, if this is not possible, for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
All goodwill and all intangible assets with an inde-
terminable useful life and intangible assets that are 
not yet in use are not subject to regular amortisati-
on. They are tested for impairment on the balance 
sheet date or whenever there are particular grounds 
for doing so, in order to determine whether they 
have kept their value.

The accounting treatment and valuation of financi-
al assets and liabilities (financial instruments) are 
based on the rules laid out in IAS 39.

Classification is dependent in each case on the spe-
cific purpose for which the financial assets were 

acquired. They are allocated by the Management to 
one of the following classes: 

	•	 	loans	and	receivables	originated	by	the	enterpri-
se;

	•	 	financial	instruments	measured	at	fair	value	and	
recognised in profit or loss;

	•	 	financial	instruments	measured	at	fair	value	and	
recognised in equity;

	•	 	held-to-maturity	investments;
	•	 	loans	granted	to	and	liabilities	of	the	enterprise.

On initial recognition of financial instruments the-
se are measured at cost, corresponding to the fair 
value of the consideration given on acquiring them. 
Transaction costs are included in as far as the fi-
nancial instrument is not recognised at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

financial assets measured at fair value and recog-
nised in profit or loss refers to financial assets held 
for trading purposes and financial assets that were 
classed on initial recognition as being measured at 
fair value and recognised in profit or loss. Financial 
assets are classed as held for trading purposes if 
they have been acquired with the intention of sel-
ling them in the near future.

Financial instruments measured at fair value and 
recognised in profit or loss are recognised at their 
value on the settlement date, taking account of fluc-
tuations in value between the trade date and the 
settlement date. They are measured at their fair 
values on the balance sheet date. The resulting in-
come or expense is immediately recognised in the 
statement of income. 

Financial instruments such as cash and cash equi-
valents, receivables and payables are measured at 
their nominal values, which on account of their ma-
turity are identical with their fair values. 

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or identifiable payments that are 
not listed on an active market. After initial recogni-
tion, they are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method less any impairment. 
If they are derecognised or impaired or their value 
reduced by amortisation, any profits and losses are 
recognised in profit and loss in the same period.
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Valuation adjustments are made in response to 
identifiable risks of default in the case of loans and 
receivables. The value of financial assets available 
for disposal is adjusted as soon as there is objective 
information pointing to a permanent loss of value.

Financial instruments are derecognised when the 
underlying rights and obligations expire or are 
transferred.

Financial assets and liabilities are set off against 
each other and their net value recognised in the 
balance sheet if there is a legal entitlement and 
intention to arrange for settlement on a net basis 
or to simultaneously realise the asset and settle an 
associated liability.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments 
such as currency forward contracts and interest 
rate swaps as a hedge against interest rate and 
currency fluctuation risks. These derivative finan-
cial instruments are recognised at fair value when 
the contract is signed and remeasured at fair value 
in subsequent periods. 
 The Group makes regular use of derivatives to 
secure future cash flows from pending or planned 
transactions (cash flow hedges). At the balance 
sheet date, there was one cash flow hedge in place 
as a hedge against interest rate risks.

When the hedge is first established, both the hed-
ging relationship and the Group’s risk management 
objectives and strategies in respect of the hedge are 
formally defined and documented. The documenta-
tion is regularly assessed to determine whether it 
was indeed highly effective during the entire repor-
ting period for which the hedging relationship was 
defined.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised as fi-
nancial assets if the fair value of the derivative is po-
sitive and as liabilities if their fair value is negative.

Profits or losses from changes to the fair value of 
derivative financial instruments during the financial 
year that do not meet the criteria for recognition 
as hedging relationships are immediately shown in 
profit or loss together with the ineffective portion 
of an effective hedging instrument. The effective 

portion of changes in the market value of derivative 
instruments intended as cash flow hedges is shown 
in equity under other reserves (after taking account 
of deferred taxes). The amounts accrued in equity 
are recognised in the statement of income in the 
financial year in which the underlying transaction is 
considered in the statement of income. For further 
information, please see note 8.16.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, can-
celled or exercised without being replaced or rolled 
over into another hedging instrument, or if the cri-
teria for recognition as a hedging relationship are 
no longer met, the amounts recognised in equity up 
to that point remain as a separate item in equity un-
til such time as the anticipated transaction or fixed 
obligation occur or take effect.

Receivables and other assets are generally 
measured at amortised cost or at fair value on the 
balance sheet date, whichever is lower. Adequate 
account is taken of risks by means of valuation ad-
justments. 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and other 
short-term, highly liquid financial assets with an 
original time to maturity of no more than three 
months. On the balance sheet, current account 
overdrafts are shown as payables to banks under 
current financial liabilities. 

Subscribed capital is recognised in equity at no-
minal values. Transaction costs on the issue of new 
shares are deducted from the capital reserve. 

Provisions are recognised at the amount that is ne-
cessary, according to the best possible estimate, in 
order for the Group to be in a position to meet all 
current commitments, legal or de facto, at the ba-
lance sheet date. Future events that could have an 
effect on the amount needed to meet a commitment 
have to be taken into account in forming the provisi-
on in as far as they can be predicted with sufficient 
objective certainty. The amount recognised is that 
which seems most likely on a careful examination 
of the circumstances. Provisions are discounted in 
as far as they are material. In the case of discoun-
ting, the passage of time is reflected in the periodic 
increase in the carrying amount of a provision. This 
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increase is recognised as an interest expense. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised as liabi-
lities in the consolidated financial statements until 
it is probable that they will materialise. They are 
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The pension provision is based on defined benefit 
pension plans for former employees of TFT and for 
the employees of HC. The provisions recognised in 
the balance sheet for defined benefit plans corre-
spond to the present value of the defined benefit ob-
ligation (DBO) at the balance sheet date less the fair 
value of the plan assets, adjusted to take account of 
accumulated actuarial gains and losses that are not 
recognised. The DBO is calculated annually by an 
independent actuarial expert using the projected 
unit credit method. Actuarial gains and losses are 
recognised using the corridor method. With the ex-
ception of interest income and expenses, which are 
reported under the financial result, pension costs 
are recognised as personnel costs.

The company generally recognises share options 
from the time they are granted to its employees, 
in accordance with IFRS 2. The expenses incurred 
on the basis of transactions settled through equity 
instruments are measured at the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the time that they are gran-
ted. The resulting figure is recognised as an ex-
pense over the vesting period and is derecognised 
accordingly in equity or, in the case of cash-settled 
share-based payments, in liabilities.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities 
for the current period and former periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the tax authorities on the basis of 
the tax rates and tax laws applicable on the balance 
sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are gene-
rally formed for all temporary differences between 
the amounts recognised for tax purposes and the 
amounts recognised according to IFRSs. This is 
done according to the liability method, which re-
flects the Group‘s expectations at the balance sheet 
date. The deferred tax assets also include unused 

tax credits resulting from the expected utilisation of 
existing tax loss carryforwards in subsequent years 
and whose realisation is sufficiently certain. Defer-
red tax liabilities are determined on the basis of the 
tax rates that apply or are expected to apply in the 
individual countries at the time of realisation, based 
on current tax rate legislation. Deferred taxes ba-
sed on events not related to income are recognised 
in equity.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is 
reviewed on each balance sheet date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer likely that sufficient 
taxable income will be available against which at 
least some of the deferred tax assets can be utili-
sed. Deferred tax assets that are not recognised are 
reviewed on each balance sheet date and recogni-
sed to the extent that it has become likely that futu-
re taxable income will allow the deferred tax assets 
to be utilised. 
 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
are offset provided that the Group has a legal right 
to the netting of actual tax refund claims against 
actual tax liabilities and these relate to the income 
tax of the same taxpayer or taxable object, and are 
levied by the same tax authority. 

Prepayments received from customers are recog-
nised at their nominal value.

liabilities are recognised if it is expected that the-
re will be an outflow of resources that embody an 
economic benefit in order to settle a liability and 
this amount can be reliably determined. Liabilities 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

Revenue is recognised in application of IASs 11 
and 18. Revenue is shown less value added tax, in-
come deductions and credits, after the elimination 
of intragroup sales. 

Revenue for product sales is recognised at the time 
when the ownership and risk passes to the custo-
mer, if the payment to be made has been agreed by 
contract or is determinable and it is likely that the re-
ceivables arising from these sales can be collected. 

Revenue for services is recognised when the 
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 service has been provided. Services are also provi-
ded within the framework of offsetting transactions. 
Unless these are of the same type, in which case 
they have to be eliminated in accordance with SIC-
31, services provided are shown gross in revenue 
and services received in the corresponding expen-
se items. 

Revenue in the context of projects is recognised at 
the balance sheet date in accordance with the pro-
gress of the project. 

Project revenue is reliably estimated by means of 
the contract underlying the project. This gives the 
contracting parties enforceable rights and obliga-
tions in relation to the service to be provided, de-
fines the consideration to be provided and also the 
way in which and on what terms the project is to be 
brought to completion. On this basis, the revenue 
and expense recorded in the internal budgeting 
system are evaluated as the project progresses. 

The degree of completion of ongoing projects is 
usually determined through an inspection and writ-
ten confirmation from the other contracting party 
at the balance sheet date. If the other contracting 
party does not provide any confirmation, the basis 
taken is the ratio between the number of project 
hours worked and the estimated total project hours, 
updated at the balance sheet date, until the final 
completion of the project. 

Interest income is recognised when the interest 
arises. Royalties from licences and rental income 
are allocated on a pro rata basis in accordance with 
the relevant contractual period. 

leasing payments within the framework of an 
operating lease are recognised as expense in the 
statement of income over the period of the lease 
using the straight-line method, unless a different 
systematic basis corresponds to the duration of the 
benefit for the company as lessee. A lease is classi-
fied as an operating lease if the leasing agreement, 
in economic terms, does not essentially transfer all 
risks and rewards associated with ownership to the 
company. 

Leasing agreements under which the Group bears 
the main risks and the benefit from ownership of 

the leased object are classified as financing leases. 
Assets under financing leases are capitalised at the 
commencement of the contractual leasing term at 
the lower of fair value of the lease object and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Lea-
sing obligations are capitalised to the same extent 
as non-current trade payables. Each lease instal-
ment is divided into interest and principal compo-
nents, so the leasing obligation attracts interest at 
a constant rate. The interest component of the lea-
sing instalment is recognised as an expense in the 
statement of income. Intangible assets held under a 
financing lease (content management software for 
which the lease expired in 2012) were amortised 
over the shorter of the following two periods: the 
useful economic life of the asset or the term of the 
leasing agreement.

8. notes to the consolidated balance sheet

8.1. intangible assets
The intangible assets acquired from third par-
ties were mainly acquired as a result of business 
combinations. They include the brand names and 
Internet domains Zoover (EUR  12,396 thousand; 
2011: EUR  0), ElitePartner (EUR  7,147 thousand; 
2011: EUR  7,147 thousand), HolidayCheck 
(EUR 3,386 thousand; 2011: EUR 3,386 thousand), 
Ecotour (EUR 2,641 thousand; 2011: EUR 0), Tjin-
go (EUR  273 thousand; 2011: EUR  0), and other 
miscellaneous Internet domains and websites 
(EUR 1,267 thousand; 2011: EUR 2,013 thousand).

The other miscellaneous Internet domains and 
websites comprise the domain Urlaub.com and the 
acquired online rights to use the brand portals inte-
grated within  TOMORROW Focus AG. 

This item also includes the customers bases ac-
quired as a result of the business combinations 
with Zoover (EUR 6,962 thousand; 2011: EUR 0), 
Tjingo (EUR 220 thousand; 2011: EUR 0) and Eco-
tour (EUR 30 thousand; 2011: EUR 0), as well as 
acquired software. 

In most cases, brand names and Internet domains 
from the business combinations are not written 
down. They are tested annually for impairment in 
relation to the impairment of goodwill. If any im-
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pairment risks should be discovered while determi-
ning the value in use of goodwill, a separate cal-
culation is made of the value in use of the brand 
names and the Internet domains. If this is not the 
case, it is implied that the brand names and do-
mains have also not suffered any impairment. For 
the assumptions underlying impairment we refer to 
the comments made in relation to goodwill. 

The self-created intangible assets of EUR  9,711 
thousand (EUR  3,848 thousand in 2011) entirely 
concern software developed in-house. The major 
part was invested in our own advertising opera-
tions. A further part originates from the internally-
developed software of RPC, HC and EP.

If additional software that has been developed and 
produced in-house is complete and ready to use, 
the capitalised development costs are written down 
over the normal useful life of the software. The 
company has estimated the normal useful life of 
software development costs capitalised within the 
TFAG Group to be between 3 and no more than 5 
years. This estimation has mainly been made on the 
basis of the possible technical and technological ob-
solescence of the portal and technology software.

With regard to the development of costs and the 
amortisation of intangible assets, reference is made 
to the consolidated statement of changes in non-
current assets for the financial years 2012 and 2011.

There was no unscheduled impairment on internal-
ly created intangible non-current assets in financial 
2012 (EUR 0; 2011: EUR 19 thousand).

Of the goodwill amounting to EUR 144,712 thousand 
(2011: EUR 85,958 thousand), EUR 17,718 thousand 
(2011: EUR  17,178 thousand) represents good-
will from the acquisition of EliteMedianet GmbH; 
EUR 67,051 thousand (2011: EUR 68,271 thousand), 
goodwill from the acquisition of HolidayCheck AG; 
EUR 12 thousand (2011: EUR 12 thousand) goodwill 
from the acquisition of Finanzen100 GmbH; EUR 498 
thousand (2011: EUR 498 thousand) from the Cel-
lular GmbH business combination. The changes to 
the existing figures for goodwill arise from the ac-
quisitions of  TOMORROW Travel B.V. (EUR  7,561 
thousand), WebAssets B.V. (EUR 32,091 thousand) 
and RPC Voyages SAS (EUR 20,321 thousand).

Impairment tests for goodwill are carried out on 
the basis of a calculation of the value in use of the 
relevant cash-generating unit, the latter being de-
fined as the company in question. To do this, we 
have used cash flow plans for the next 5 years ba-
sed on current results from operating activities, se-
nior management’s best estimate of future perfor-
mance and market assumptions. A perpetuity has 
also been taken into account in making the calcu-
lation, however with conservative rates of increase. 
The amounts calculated have been discounted to 
their present value using an interest rate calcula-
ted according to the capital asset pricing method 
(CAPM). The following disclosures concern the 
most important goodwill and the assumptions un-
derlying impairment:

a.  Goodwill from the acquisition of hC: carrying 
amount EUR 67,051 thousand 

  The forward plans adopted by HC were taken as 
the basis for 2013. For the years 2014 to 2017, 
a detailed plan was drawn up based on average 
growth of 11.4 percent. In addition, the perpetu-
ity was calculated on the basis of a growth dis-
count on cash flow of 2 percent. The weighted 
average cost of capital (WACC) before taxes was 
11.6 percent. 

b.  Goodwill from the acquisition of WebAssets: 
carrying amount EUR 32,091 thousand 

  In this case the plans adopted by WebAssets 
were taken as the basis for 2013. A detailed plan 
was drawn up for the years 2014 to 2017 based 
on average growth of 15.4 percent. The perpe-
tuity was calculated on the basis of a growth 
discount on cash flow of 2 percent. The WACC 
before taxes was 13.2 percent. 

c.  Goodwill from the acquisition of RPC: carrying 
amount EUR 20,321 thousand 

  In this case RPC’s adopted plans were taken as 
the basis for 2013. A detailed plan was drawn 
up for the years 2014 to 2017 based on average 
growth of 41.8 percent. The perpetuity was cal-
culated on the basis of a growth discount on 
cash flow of 2 percent. The WACC before taxes 
was 13.9 percent. 
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d.  Goodwill from the acquisition of  TOMORROW 
Travel: carrying amount EUR 7,561 thousand 

  In this case,  TOMORROW Travel’s adopted plans 
were taken as the basis for 2013. A detailed plan 
was drawn up for the years 2014 to 2017 based 
on average growth of 6.6  percent. The perpe-
tuity was calculated on the basis of a growth 
discount on cash flow of 2 percent. The WACC 
before taxes was 12.8 percent. Following impair-
ment testing, the amount of EUR 1,163 thousand 
was written down on the goodwill resulting 
from this acquisition and charged to the state-
ment of income. This was primarily because the 
planned introduction of HolidayCheck.nl to the 
Dutch market led by the management team at 
 TOMORROW Travel and the associated positive 
synergies with the hotel reviews platform Zoover 
following the successful acquisition of WebAs-
sets were no longer pursued to the extent origi-
nally planned at the time of acquisition. Overall, 
this led to lower than anticipated growth when 
the company was first consolidated. 

e.  Goodwill from the acquisition of EP:  
carrying amount EUR 17,178 thousand 

  In this case EP’s adopted plans were taken as the 
basis for 2013. A detailed plan was drawn up for 
the years 2014 to 2017 based on average growth 
of 4.4 percent. The perpetuity was calculated on 
the basis of a growth discount on cash flow of 
2 percent. The WACC before taxes was 8.6 per-
cent.

f.  Goodwill from the acquisition of CEll:  
carrying amount EUR 498 thousand

  In this case CELL’s adopted plans were taken as 
the basis for 2013. A detailed plan was drawn 
up for the years 2014 to 2017 based on average 
growth of 10.0 percent. The perpetuity was cal-
culated on the basis of a growth discount on 
cash flow of 2 percent. The WACC before taxes 
was 6.8 percent.

Write-downs of goodwill were calculated on the ba-
sis of impairment tests. With regard to other good-
will, a rise in the WACC of 1 percent would have had 
as little effect on the impairment of goodwill as a 
fall in revenue of 1 percent over the entire planning 
period with a corresponding decline in cash flows.

8.2. property, plant and equipment
The item ‘Property, plant and equipment’ relates 
primarily to furniture and fixtures to the value of 
EUR 3,855 thousand (2011: EUR 3,486 thousand). 

With regard to the development of costs and the 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, re-
ference is made to the consolidated statements of 
changes in non-current assets for financial years 
2012 and 2011. 
 
The development of non-current assets is shown in 
the following statements of changes in non-current 
assets: see tables on pages 58-61.

8.3. prepayments
Prepayments made on intangible assets (EUR 1,002 
thousand; 2011: EUR  0) primarily relate to pay-
ments made in advance for the programming of 
new online platforms.
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8.4. interests in associated entities
The first table below shows the changes in the car-
rying values of the Group’s interests in associated 
entities (recognised in the balance sheet at equity).

Following a rise in the number of shareholders at 
AdAudience and a consequent decrease in TFAG’s 
ownership interest in the company, the remaining sta-
ke is now recognised as an investment. Furthermore 
TFAG’s stake in AdJug was sold on 31 August 2012.

The second table below provides a summary of 
the aggregated statements of income and balance 
sheets of the entities reported at equity in the con-
solidated financial statements of TFAG. 

8.5. Financial assets
The financial assets (other loans) concern existing 
loans to third parties valued at EUR  68 thousand 
(EUR 31 thousand in 2011).

8.6. Deferred taxes
With regard to the composition and development 
of the deferred tax assets, reference is made to the 
comments regarding deferred taxes in note 8.20.

8.7. inventories
As at the reporting date, no work in process and 
finished goods were included on the balance 
sheet.

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Initial value as at 1 January 3,228 31

Acquisitions 0 2,985

Other changes in equity –35 300

Pro rata result –366 –223

Currency changes 156 135

Disposals –2,983 0

final value as at 31 December 0 3,228

Changes in the carrying values of the Group’s interests in associated entities 

aggregated statements of income and balance sheets of the entities 

ASSETS
EUR ’000

lIABIlITIES
EUR ’000

INCOME
EUR ’000

PROfIT/ 
(lOSS)

EUR ’000
INTEREST
(in percent)

31 December 2012

AdAudience 0 0 0 –220 14.29

AdJug Ltd. 0 0 0 –146 0.00

31 December 2011

AdAudience 493 238 624 –52 25.00

AdJug Ltd. 865 852 2.671 –171 20.00
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8.8. Trade receivables
The company constantly monitors trade receiva-
bles. All receivables have been tested for impair-
ment to determine whether their fair value is lower 
than their amortised cost. Risks of bad debts are 
taken into account through appropriate valuation 
adjustments.

The table above shows the due dates of trade re-
ceivables.

As at 31 December 2012, there were individual 
allowances for bad debts of EUR  3,139 thousand 
(2011: EUR 2,910 thousand). In 2012, the individu-
al allowances for bad debts included additions of 
EUR 1,761 thousand (2011: EUR 1,657 thousand), 
allowances used of EUR  1,206 thousand (2011: 
EUR 2,135 thousand) and the reversal of individual 
allowances for bad debts to the value of EUR 326 
thousand (2011: EUR  1 thousand). There are no 
indications that the creditors of the receivables for 
which an allowance has not been made or which 
are not overdue will not meet their payment obliga-
tions within the stipulated period.

8.9. Receivables from long-term  
construction contracts 
Receivables from long-term construction contracts 
result from the application of the  percentage-of-
completion method, which provides for revenue to 
be recognised according to the degree of completi-
on. Reference is made to note 9.2.

8.10. Receivables from and liabilities to affi-
liated entities as well as other long-term in-
vestees and investors
Receivables and payables in relation to affiliated 
entities as well as other long-term investees and 
investors are mainly due to trade relations. All re-
ceivables and payables correspond to the fair value. 
Their value has not been adjusted and they are not 
overdue.

8.11. Other assets
Other assets mainly consist of tax and interest re-
ceivables, items in transit, claims against insurance 
companies, creditors with debit balances as well as 
prepaid expenses and accrued income.

8.12. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are made up of cash 
on hand amounting to EUR  6 thousand (2011: 
EUR 6 thousand) and cash at banks of EUR 23,380 
thousand (2011: EUR 44,282 thousand).

8.13. equity
Subscribed capital
As at 31 December 2012, the subscribed ca-
pital of the company remained unchanged at 
EUR 53,012,390. It is divided into 53,012,390 no-
tional no-par-value bearer shares, each with an ac-
counting value of EUR 1. All shares in the company 
are fully paid up.

age structure of trade receivables

TRADE 
 RECEIvABlES

CARRyING 
AMOUNT

Thereof 
neither

impaired nor 
overdue at 

 reporting date

NUMBER Of DAyS OvERDUE

less than 
30 days 

Between  
31 and  

60 days 

Between  
61 and  

90 days 

Between  
91 and  

180 days 
More than 

181 days

as at 31 Dec 2012 29,248 26,311 1,501 528 309 286 313

as at 31 Dec 2011 22,197 20,747 753 584 62 35 16

 in EUR `000

AR 2012

86

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



Capital reserve
As at 31 December 2012, the capital reserve of TFAG 
remained unchanged at EUR 70,628 thousand.

The capital reserve has been formed from additio-
nal payments made in the context of capital incre-
ases. It may only be utilised as prescribed by Ger-
man stock corporation law.

According to section 150 of the German Stock Cor-
poration Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG), the statutory re-
serve and the capital reserve must together exceed 
a tenth of the share capital, so that they can be used 
to make up losses or for a capital increase out of 
company funds. As long as the total of statutory re-
serve and capital reserve does not exceed a tenth 
of the share capital, they may only be used to make 
up for losses in as far as the loss cannot be covered 
by carrying forward profits or by the net income for 
the year and cannot be balanced by releasing other 
retained income.

Authorised capital
By resolution of the general meeting of sharehol-
ders on 16 June 2010, the Management Board is 
authorised, subject to Supervisory Board appro-
val, to undertake one or more increases in the 
company‘s share capital until 15 May 2015 of up to 
EUR 26,506,195 by issuing 26,506,195 notional no-
par-value shares in exchange for cash or non-cash 
contributions (authorised capital 2010).

Contingent capital
At the general meeting of shareholders on 1 June 
2011, it was decided to nullify conditional capital 
2000/I, which stood at EUR  321,600; also condi-

tional capital 2001/II, which stood at EUR 42,500 
and conditional capital 2002/I, which stood at 
EUR 3,300,025.

The general meeting of shareholders on 16 June 
2010 adopted a resolution to create contingent ca-
pital of EUR 4,842,070 (contingent capital 2010/I). 
This contingent capital is intended to service con-
version and option rights. The authorisation is valid 
up to 15 June 2015.

8.14. Treasury shares
The general meeting of shareholders on 16 June 
2010 cancelled the company’s authorisation to ac-
quire its own shares worth up to a total of 10 per-
cent of its share capital until 19 November 2010. 
At the same time, however, the Management Board 
was authorised to acquire shares in the company 
up to an accounting par value of 10 percent of its 
share capital until 15 June 2015. 

8.15. earnings per share
Earnings per share in the reporting period, in relati-
on to the shares issued or assumed as issued, were 
as follows: see table above

earnings per share

 2012 2011 2010

Total Group net income accruing to shareholders of TFAG (EUR '000) 14,694 11,347 11,521

Weighted average of issued shares (per share) 53,012,390 53,012,390 53,012,390

Earnings per share (EUR) 0.28 0.21 0.22
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8.16. Other reserves
The item other reserves relates to a currency reser-
ve for currency differences arising from the trans-
lation of the results of companies whose functional 
currency is not the same as that of the Group. It also 
includes a reserve for hedging transactions (cash 
flow hedge accounting). See table above.

 The reserve for hedging transactions covers pro-
fits and losses from the effective cash flow hedge 
arising from changes in the fair value of the hedging 
transactions. The accumulated profit or loss from 
changes in the fair value of hedging transactions, 
as shown in the reserve for hedging transactions, is 
only transferred to the statement of income when the 
underlying transaction itself affects the statement of 
income, when the cash flows associated with the un-

derlying transaction are recognised in profit or loss 
or if the hedged transaction is cancelled.

8.17. provisions for pensions  
and similar obligations
As at 31 December 2012, the provision for pensions 
amounted to EUR 670 thousand (EUR 405 thousand 
in 2011). This figure includes the entitlements of 
active and former employees of TFT and the entitle-
ments of HolidayCheck AG employees. 

In order to deliver its own occupational pension 
scheme, HolidayCheck AG has joined a number 
of collective foundations. At present, the company 
maintains three employee pension schemes that 
pay out on retirement or invalidity, with benefits for 
the dependents of deceased employees. As a mini-

Other reserves

Reserve for cash 
flow hedges

EUR ‚000

Reserve for 
currency transla-

tion differences 
EUR ‚000

Tota l 
EUR ‚000

Initial level as at 1 January –425 –1,972 –2,397

Cash flow hedges 

Fair value changes recognised in equity –213 0 –213

Reversal and transfer to profit and loss 34 0 34

Deferred taxes on cash flow hedges 47 0 47

Currency differences 

Consolidated compehensive income/ (loss) 0 –128 –128

Other changes 0 0 0

final level as at 31 December –557 –2,100 –2,657

Development of pension commitments in the financial year

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Present value of the pension commitment at 1 January 2,259 1,446

Expense for additional entitlements acquired in the financial year 675 402

Employee contributions 430 329

Interest expenses for existing entitlements 57 58

Pension payments in the financial year –187 –165

Actuarial gains and losses 141 140

Exchange rate changes in the case of plans in a currency other than EUR 15 49

Disposal following deconsolidation 0 0

Present value of pension commitments at 31 December 3,390 2,259
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mum, the benefits provided under these schemes 
comply with the statutory requirements as prescri-
bed in the Swiss Federal Law on Occupational Re-
tirement, Survivors‘ and Disability Pension Plans 
(Bundesgesetz über die berufliche Alters-, Hinter-
lassenen- und Invalidenvorsorge, BVG). The level 
of death and invalidity benefit depends on the un-
derlying salary, while the retirement benefit is ba-
sed on the credits accumulated by employees when 

they retire. In accordance with IAS 19, these plans 
should be classed as defined-benefit plans.
 The expense of EUR 697 thousand in the finan-
cial year (2011: EUR 428 thousand in 2011) was re-
cognised in the statement of income. 

Out of these total commitments, plan assets are 
in place covering EUR  3,340 thousand (2011: 
EUR 2,213 thousand). 

Development of plan assets in the financial year

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Present value of the plan assets at 1 January –1,400 –896

Expected returns –52 –40

Employer contributions –433 –329

Employee contributions –430 –329

Pension payments in the financial year 187 165

Actuarial gains and losses –105 59

Exchange rate changes in the case of plans in a currency other than EUR –11 –30

Present value of plan assets at 31 December –2,244 –1,400

Derivation of pension provisions in the reporting period

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Present value of the plan assets at 31 December –2,244 –1,400

Present value of the pension commitment at 31 December 3,390 2,259

Benefit commitments in excess of assets 1,146 859

Unrealised actuarial losses –476 –454

Present value of pension provisions at 31 December 670 405

Derivation of pension expenses in the reporting period

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Expenses for the additional entitlements acquired in the financial year 675 402

Interest expenses for existing entitlements 57 58

Expected returns –52 –40

Actuarial gains and losses outside the corridor 17 8

Expense recognised in the statement of income 697 428
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The plan assets do not include any financial instru-
ments belonging to the company or property used 
by the company. For each category of plan assets, 
market expectations for investments of similar ma-
turities were taken as a basis. The actual income 
from the plan assets amounts to EUR 158 thousand 
(2011: loss of EUR 19 thousand).

The assumptions made with regard to future mor-
tality rates are based on death statistics published 

in Switzerland (Federal Law on Occupational Retire-
ment, Survivors‘ and Disability Pension Plans/ 2010) 
and Germany (Heubeck actuarial tables/ 2005 G).

Expected income from the plan assets is general-
ly determined by the investment policy of the plan 
with regard to asset class composition.

The following table shows the development over 
the last five years:

Development of benefit commitments in excess of assets

Breakdown of plan assets

2012
(in percent)

2011
(in percent)

Debt instruments 46.5 34.6

Equity instruments 19.1 26.0

Property 14.4 15.4

Other 20.0 24.0

TOTAl 100.00 100.00

actuarial assumptions

2012
in %

2011
in %

Interest rate 2.00 2.50

Expected returns 3.00 3.00

Rate of salary progression 1.50 2.00

Rate of pension progression 0.00 0.25

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

2010
EUR ’000

2009
EUR ’000

2008
EUR ’000

Present value of plan assets  
as at 31 December –2,244 –1,400    –896 –424 –470

Present value of pension commitments 
as at 31 December 3,390 2,259 1,446 671 643

Benefit commitments  
in excess of assets 1,146 859 550 247 173

Adjustments based on experience  

to pension commitments –47 –139 –81 19 –62

to plan assets –94 –3 –125 –20 33
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Anticipated contributions to the plan in 2013 
amount to EUR  426 thousand (2012: EUR  430 
thousand).

8.18. TOMORROW FOCUS aG  
employee stock option plans
Since 2011, members of the Group’s Management 
Board and other senior managers have been eligi-
ble for benefits under TFAG’s performance-based 
share plan. The plan generates cash payments in 
annual tranches over a five-year period. The vesting 
period in each case is the financial year. Senior em-
ployees are allocated a number of virtual shares in 
the company based on the degree to which EBTA 
targets have been met. These virtual shares are 
subject in each case to a minimum holding peri-
od of three years, after which the members of the 
company’s Management Board may receive a cash 
payment (beginning in 2015 for 2011). The gran-
ting of a tranche does not automatically create an 
entitlement to further tranches. Equally, if the cor-
responding thresholds are not met in a given year, 
this does not automatically invalidate the plan for 
subsequent years.

The number of virtual shares awarded per tran-
che under the long-term incentive plan (LTIP) is 
obtained by dividing the ‘underlying sum’ (based 
on EBTA) by the average initial reference price of 
the company’s share and rounding the figure up or 
down as per standard commercial practice to the 
nearest whole number. If the EBTA target is excee-
ded in a given year, the underlying sum is increased 

in line with the percentage by which the target is 
exceeded up to a maximum of 120 percent of the 
target underlying sum (which represents a 100 per-
cent achievement of the target). If the EBTA target 
is not met in a given year, the underlying sum is 
reduced in line with the percentage shortfall. 
The underlying sum is automatically disregarded if 
EBTA falls below 80 percent of the target figure in 
a given year. Equally, there is no allocation of vir-
tual shares if the figure for net debt in the Group’s 
adopted financial statements (IFRSs) is more than 
double the figure for EBITDA. The initial reference 
price of the virtual shares is the average closing pri-
ce for shares in Tomorrow Focus AG on the XETRA 
trading platform over the last one hundred stock 
exchange trading days prior to the annual general 
meeting of shareholders at which the consolidated 
financial statements for that year are presented fol-
lowing their approval by the Supervisory Board. 

The cash sum payable under the LTIP on expiry of 
the minimum holding period is calculated by multi-
plying the number of virtual shares allocated to each 
entitled party for the respective tranche by the clo-
sing reference price of the company’s shares plus 
the accumulated dividend per virtual share. The 
closing reference price is the average closing price 
for shares in Tomorrow Focus AG on the XETRA 
trading platform over the last one hundred stock 
exchange trading days prior to the annual general 
meeting of shareholders at which the consolidated 
financial statements are presented for the financial 
year after expiry of the three-year holding period 

Other liabilities

personnel costs

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Liabilities from share-based payments with cash settlement 1,653 1,043

Total 1,653 1,043

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Cost of share-based payments with cash settlement 610 1,043

Total 610 1,043
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for the relevant tranche following their approval by 
the Supervisory Board. The maximum payment is 
limited to three times the underlying sum (based on 
EBTA) for the tranche in question. 

The fair value of the virtual shares for which the 
right of the counterparty to receive a cash sum has 
become unforfeitable was estimated using an IFRS 
2-compliant valuation model (binomial model). The 
figures are shown in the following table.

8.19. employee stock option plans -  
subsidiaries
In 2011 and 2012, benefits were awarded to mem-
bers of the management and other senior managers 
at RPC Voyages SAS under a share-based remune-
ration scheme based on the company’s own shares. 
Following the takeover of RPC Voyages SAS by 
TF Digital GmbH, this share-based remuneration 
scheme was converted to cash settlement by means 
of a supplementary agreement under which TF Di-
gital GmbH would buy back any shares issued. The 
vesting period lasts up to the complete acquisition 
of all the remaining shares in RPC Voyages SAS in 
2016 and 2017.

On exercise, senior employees will pay RPC Vo-
yages an exercise premium of EUR 3.7523 per sha-
re issued under the scheme. In return for selling all 
the shares held to TF Digital GmbH, they will recei-
ve a cash payment based on EBIT, revenue and net 
financial liabilities in the financial year preceding 
exercise of this option.

Provided that none of the option holders resigns 
from his/her senior post or is relieved from office, 
the number of exercisable share options that also 

fall under the waiver agreement terms should be as 
shown in the table below. The maximum number of 
exercisable options is 387,126. Furthermore, in the 
event that the company is dissolved or goes public, 
or if all the shares or voting rights in RPC Voyages 
SAS are sold with immediate effect, all the share 
options will be exercisable immediately.

As at 31 December 2012, all rights were forfeitable 
under certain conditions. However, the forfeiture of 
these options is not determined at the discretion of 
RPC, TFD or TFAG. It can be controlled by the op-
tion holders. 

At present, it is not expected that any of the condi-
tions that might lead to forfeiture will actually arise. 
For this reason, the vesting period has been taken 
to be the period up to the point when the options 
first become fully exercisable at the end of the fi-
nancial year 2015.

For each option, the liability created by the share-
based remuneration scheme is calculated by multi-
plying the fair value of the anticipated payment pro 
rata over the vesting period by the number of share 
options awarded. The table below is based on the 
fair value of the anticipated payment at the date of 
the acquisition of RPC Voyages and on the relevant 
valuation date (calculated using the IFRS 2-compli-
ant Monte Carlo valuation model with due regard 
for the terms of the share options and the buy-back 
agreement). See upper table on the next page.

The total price payable by TFD for the shares 
purchased is based on a price formula. The price 
is determined by EBIT and by the multiplier con-
tained in the calculation. This multiplier depends 
on the level of revenue and EBIT achieved in the 
calendar year prior to exercise of the option. The 
formulae used to calculate the multiplier are diffe-
rent for the share acquisitions in 2016 and 2017. 
The calculation also has to take into account both 
the proportion of shares in RPC held by its founders 
before exercise of the share options and before bu-
ying back the shares issued and the amount paid to 
RPC on exercise of the share options by their hol-
ders.

The lower table on the next page details the per-
sonnel costs for consideration received during the 
financial year.

number of unforfeitable share options

DATE NUMBER Of UNfORfEITABlE  
ShARE OPTIONS

31 Dec 2012 0

1 Mar 2013 140,263

9 May 2013 193,563

31 Dec 2015* 387,126

*Under the terms of the waiver agreement, the options cannot be fully 
exercised until the date on which the annual financial statements of RPC 
Voyages SAS for the financial year 2015 are presented. This date has been 
assumed to be 31 December 2015.
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The terms of the share options and the buy-back 
agreement are identical to those of the put option 
agreement with the other shareholders of RPC (see 
note 6. e).

8.20. Deferred taxes 
Deferred taxes are formed on loss carryforwards 
and temporary differences between IFRSs and the 
tax balance sheet. Within the tax group, an average 
tax rate of 32.57 percent was taken as a basis for 
calculating the deferred taxes. The tax rate is cal-
culated on the basis of an average trade tax rate 
of 16.75 percent and a corporation tax rate of 15 
percent plus the solidarity surcharge of 5.5 percent 
of the corporation tax. 

The average tax rate for German companies within 
the tax group showed a small reduction from 32.58 
percent to 32.57 percent. The lower trade tax rate is 
due to a change in the average assessment rate for 
the tax group of TFAG. 

For the German companies outside the tax group 
and for the non-German companies, deferred taxes 
were calculated on the basis of each company’s in-
dividual tax rate (ranging from approximately 12.0 
percent for HolidayCheck to 33.33 percent for Zoo-
ver France SARL and RPC.

There are trade tax loss carryforwards of 
EUR  94,318 thousand (EUR  125,714 thousand 
in 2011), corporation tax loss carryforwards of 
EUR  97,196 thousand (EUR  128,941 thousand in 

2011) and foreign loss carryforwards of EUR 9,866 
thousand (EUR 0 in 2011) within the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group. Under section 8c of the German 
Corporation Tax Act (Körperschaftssteuergesetz, 
KStG), some of these loss carryforwards are no lon-
ger tax-deductible following a transfer of shares in 
financial 2012. 

The Group capitalised deferred tax assets on 
EUR 2,298 thousand (2011: EUR 383 thousand) of 
tax loss carryforwards for its subsidiaries with no 
opposing deferred tax liabilities arising from tem-
porary differences. In the past, these subsidiaries 
reported negative results. Based on the Group’s tax 
result forecast, in future there will be enough taxa-
ble income to be able to exploit previously unused 
tax loss carryforwards.

No deferred tax assets have been recognised on tra-
de tax loss carryforwards of EUR 90,149 thousand 
(EUR  124,547 thousand in 2011), corporation 
tax loss carryforwards of EUR  93,283 thousand 
(EUR 130,732 thousand in 2011) and foreign loss 
carryforwards of EUR  947 thousand (EUR  0 in 
2011) within the Group, as it is currently thought 
unlikely that they will be utilised. 

Although at present these losses can be carried for-
ward indefinitely, both tax loss carryforwards and 
their previous offsetting are subject to final scruti-
ny by the responsible taxation authorities. Several 
financial years have not yet been definitively as-
sessed by the taxation authorities. It is therefore 

Other liabilities

personnel costs

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Liabilities from share-based payments with cash settlement 104 0

Total 104 0

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Cost of share-based payments with cash settlement 104 0

Total 104 0
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Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

1 JAN 
2012

EUR ’000

ChANGE DUE 
TO ChANGE IN 

REPORTING 
ENTITy
EUR ’000

ADDITION 
RECOGNISED IN 

EQUITy AGAINST 
OThER RESERvES 

DUE TO CASh 
flOW hEDGES

EUR ’000

INCOME 
(+)/

EXPEN-
SES (-)

EUR ’000

31 DEC 
2012

EUR ’000

Resulting from temporary differences due to  

 Long-term construction contracts (PoC) 213 0 0 187 400

 Other financial liabilities 1.447 0 0 115 1,562

 Pensions and similar liabilities 43 0 0 31 74

 Interest swaps 205 0 41 0 246

 Other factors 4 –1 6 21 30

1.912 –1 47 354 2,312

Resulting from loss carryforwards 2.336 2,551 0 535 5,422

4.248 2,550 47 889 7,734

less deferred tax liabilities  
resulting from offsetting

Resulting from temporary differences due to

 Long-term construction contracts (PoC) 253 0 0 116 369

 Software produced in-house 665 0 0 84 749

  Other liabilities under long-term  
incentive programme 0 0 0 107 107

 Other intangible assets 2.673 891 0 –200 3,364

 Planned dividend payments by subsidiaries 228 0 0 –51 177

3.819 891 0 56 4,766

Balance of deferred tax assets 429 1,659 47 833 2,968

1 JAN 
2012

EUR ’000

ChANGE DUE 
TO ChANGE IN 

REPORTING 
ENTITy
EUR ’000

ADDITION 
RECOGNISED IN 

EQUITy AGAINST 
OThER RESERvES 

DUE TO CASh 
flOW hEDGES

EUR ’000

INCOME 
(+)/

EXPEN-
SES (-)

EUR ’000

31 DEC 
2012

EUR ’000

Resulting from temporary differences due to

Software produced in-house 127 653 0 –19 761

Other intangible assets 461 4,347 0 –191 4,617

Other factors 0 25 0 0 25

Balance of deferred tax liabilities 588 5,025 0 –210 5,403

Effect on statement of Income   1,043  
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possible that changes will have to be made to the 
tax loss carryforwards and to the assessed taxes as 
a result of external fiscal audits. 

In the year under review, deferred taxes of EUR 177 
thousand were recognised as tax liabilities in re-
spect of planned dividend payments by subsidiari-
es. By contrast, deferred taxes of EUR 164 thousand 
in respect of temporary differences in the retained 
earnings of subsidiaries were not recognised as li-
abilities, as the Group is in a position to control the 
time of reversing, and the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The following tables show a breakdown of the de-
ferred tax assets and liabilities in the balance sheet 
and the statement of income. The first table is car-
ried forward to deferred tax assets in the balance 
sheet. The second table is carried forward to defer-

red tax liabilities in the balance sheet.

Deferred tax assets of EUR 183 thousand (EUR 2 
thousand in 2011) and deferred tax liabilities of 
EUR 405 thousand (EUR 61 thousand in 2011) had 
less than one year remaining.

On account of their deferred tax effect, the changes 
(recognised in equity) in the fair value of deriva-
tives used for hedging purposes led to an increase 
of EUR 47 thousand (2011: EUR 373 thousand) in 
equity with no impact on the statement of income.

The table above shows the translation of the theore-
tical tax expense and tax income into the actual tax 
expense and tax income.

Tax expense and tax income of TOMORROW FOCUS Group

TAX EffECTS
2012

EUR ’000
2011

EUR ’000

Earnings before taxes 15,683 13,082

Notional tax expenses (32.57%; 2011: 32.58%) –5,108 –4,262

Adjustments to notional tax expenses 

Changes in income tax rate 0 2

Non-recognition of deferred tax assets on tax losses in reporting year –111 –3,167

Initial recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards 411 378

Deferred tax-asset valuation allowance relating to loss carryforwards –275 –166

Utilisation of unrecognised deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards 85 0

Temporary differences for which no deferred taxes were recognised in previous years 23 43

Tax-free income from disposal of investments 253 570

Other tax-free income from revaluation of purchase price liabilities  
covering shares in susbsidiaries 1,162 0

Tax reduction due to different tax rates in other countries 3,411 4,339

Amortisation of goodwill TFP 1,415 1,415

Tax increase due to non-deductible expenses –36 –317

Losses on disposal from disposal of investments and  
partial write-downs on investments and goodwill –1,963 –370

Tax effects due to additions and reductions for local taxes –91 –96

Recognition of deferred taxes on planned dividend payments –177 –228

Currency effect Switzerland 2 –27

Tax expenses not related to the period 6 –15

Other differences 4 8

Tax expenses according to statement of income –989 –1,893
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8.21. Other provisions
The following table shows the development of other 
provisions during the year under review: see table 
above.

The provision for severance payments mainly re-
lates to payments on termination of employment 
relationships. The Group recognises severance pay-
ments if there is sufficient evidence of the fact that 
entitlements to severance payment will arise becau-
se of the termination of employment relationships.

The provisions for warranties relate to provisions 
for customer goodwill and are payable within one 
year.

The litigation risks are mainly risks from expected 
legal disputes relating to injunctions.
As an enterprise operating in a number of different 
business segments, the Group is exposed to many 
legal risks. These can particularly be risks in con-
nection with warranties, tax laws and other legal 
disputes. The outcome of cases currently pending 
and future cases cannot be predicted with certainty, 
so court decisions may lead to expenses that are 
not entirely covered by insurance and that can have 
material effects on the business and its events. In 
the estimation of the Management Board, the liti-
gation currently pending does not involve decisions 
that could have a material detrimental effect on the 
Group‘s assets and income situation. 

Other provisions

CURRENT OThER 
PROvISIONS

AS AT
1 JAN 2012

EUR ’000
USED

EUR ’000
REvERSED

EUR ’000
ADDED

EUR ’000

AS AT
31 DEC 2012

EUR ’000

Death grants 5 0 0 0 5

Severance payments 341 283 30 166 194

Warranties 69 51 18 122 122

Litigation 335 16 166 495 648

Total other current provisions 750 350 214 783 969

Carrying amount

31 DECEMBER 2012 31 DECEMBER 2012

CURRENT 
EUR ’000

NON-CURRENT
EUR ’000

CURRENT
EUR ’000

NON-CURRENT 
EUR ’000

Bonded loans 0 26,500 0 26,500

Other liabilities to banks 1,542 10,930 3,860 10,000

Total 1,542 37,430 3,860 36,500
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8.22. liabilities to banks 
Liabilities to banks amount to EUR 38,972 thousand 
(EUR 40,360 thousand in 2011).

Out of the Group’s overall borrowing requirements, 
EUR  26,500 thousand is in the form of a bonded 
loan that was taken out in four tranches. The tran-
ches mature in 2016 and were provided solely by 
banks. 

The item ‘Other liabilities to banks’ comprises long-
term loans of EUR 10,660 thousand (repayable by 
2014) and EUR 270 thousand (repayable by 2015).

Looking at other liabilities to banks, EUR  1,542 
thousand (2011: EUR 3,860 thousand) are current 
liabilities that fall due within twelve months. In ad-
dition to loans, this figure contains deferred interest 
obligations of EUR 715 thousand (2011: EUR 735 
thousand). As at 31 December 2012, the Group 
also had unused credit lines totalling EUR 14,290 
thousand (2011: EUR 9,781 thousand). 

In 2012, the interest rates payable on existing borro-
wings were between 1.5 percent and 4.9 percent p.a.

The Group hedges part of its borrowings by me-
ans of interest swaps. This has the effect of trans-
forming the variable rate payments into fixed-rate 
payments. 

All loans are unsecured and are not subject to finan-
cial covenants that could allow a lender to cancel 
a loan with immediate effect if stipulated financial 
indicators are not met. 

8.23. Other liabilities
The figure for liabilities from put/call options con-
tains purchase price liabilities for the put/call op-
tions linked to the remaining 6 percent of the 
shares in HolidayCheck AG (EUR 12,892 thousand; 
2011: EUR 14,133 thousand); the remaining 49 per-
cent of the shares in WebAssets B.V. (EUR 29,637 
thousand; 2011: EUR 0); and the remaining 45 per-
cent of the shares in RPC Voyages SAS (EUR 12,437 
thousand; 2011: EUR 0).

The total figure for earn-out obligations is made 
up of EUR 3,759 thousand (2011: 3,606 thousand) 
linked to the increase in the Group’s stake in jame-
da GmbH in 2011 and EUR 3,337 thousand (2011: 
EUR 0) linked to the takeover of RPC Voyages SAS 
in 2012. 

The total for other non-current personnel liabi-
lities is made up of EUR  1,653 thousand (2011: 
EUR  1,043 thousand) covering obligations from 
share-based payment transactions for TFAG and 
EUR 104 thousand covering obligations from sha-
re-based payment transactions for RPC Voyages 
SAS (see notes 8.18 and 8.19). 

Other liabilities

31 DECEMBER 2012 31 DECEMBER 2012

CURRENT 
EUR ’000

NON-CURRENT
EUR ’000

CURRENT
EUR ’000

NON-CURRENT 
EUR ’000

Liabilities from put/call options 0 54,966 377 13,756

Earn-out obligations 0 7,096 0 3,606

Deferred income 5,451 0 3,588 0

Other personnel liabilities 3,386 1,757 2,337 1,043

Wage and church tax 1,157 0 806 0

Derivative financial instruments 53 757 0 630

Holiday pay 756 0 1,730 0

Social security liabilities 207 0 117 0

Other liabilities 2,503 3,027 1,767 257

Total 13,513 67,603 10,722 19,292
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Liabilities from derivative financial instruments re-
fer to the negative fair value of interest rate deriva-
tives and currency forward contracts.

The non-current other liabilities mainly relate to 
obligations from the acquisitions of WebAssets B.V. 
and RPC Voyages SAS. The figure is made up of a 
bonus totalling EUR 1,028 thousand (2011: EUR 0) 
for the successful completion of an IT migration 
project by one of the founders of WebAssets and 
a loan obligation totalling EUR  1,720 thousand 
(2011: EUR 0) towards one of the founders of RPC 
Voyages SAS.

As at 31 December 2012, all remaining liabilities 
were due within one year.

8.24. prepayments on orders 
As at 31 December 2012, prepayments on orders 
totalling EUR 24 thousand (2011: EUR 17 thousand) 
were recognised on the balance sheet.

8.25. Trade payables
Liabilities in relation to outstanding invoices amoun-
ted to EUR 3,237 thousand (EUR 2,301 thousand in 
2011) and are recognised under trade payables. 

Trade payables contain finance lease payables of 
EUR  0 (EUR  592 thousand in 2011). The figure 
for 2011 related to content management software 
which the Group rents under a finance lease ag-
reement. The contractual term expired in 2012, at 
which point the Group repurchased the software.

The minimum lease payments or the amount paya-
ble under the finance lease are shown in the table 
above.

Trade payables have a remaining term of less than 
one year.

8.26. Derivative financial instruments 
As part of the risk management system, derivative 
financial instruments may be used to hedge the 
risks to which the company is exposed. These are 
primarily a result of exchange rate and interest rate 
fluctuations. Their use is essentially intended to 
hedge existing or planned underlying transactions 
and to reduce foreign currency and interest rate 
risks. They are not used for trading or speculative 
purposes.

Derivative financial instruments used to hedge fo-
reign currency and interest rate risks are treated 
as a cash flow hedge in line with IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The 
effective portion of the profit or loss from the hed-
ging instruments is recognised directly in equity 
and is then transferred to profit or loss as soon as 
the hedged cash flows from the underlying transac-
tion are also reflected in profit or loss or if a hedged 
future transaction does not actually take place.

In the event that hedged future transactions (refer-
red to in IAS 39 as ‘forecast transactions’) lead to 
the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, 
their fair values are adjusted to the corresponding 

payables under finance leases – minimum lease payments

 
2012

EUR ’000
2011

EUR ’000

Payables under finance leases – minimum lease payments   

up to 1 year 0 607

after more than 1 year and up to 5 years 0 0

after more than 5 years 0 0

 0 607

Future financing costs from finance leases 0 –15

Present value of payables from finance leases 0 592

of which

up to 1 year 0 592

after more than 1 year and up to 5 years 0 0

after more than 5 years 0 0
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figure in equity from the hedging transaction.

The fair values of the derivative financial instruments 
used in the Group are shown in the table above.

TOMORROW FOCUS AG employed currency for-
ward contracts to hedge cash flows denominated 
in CHF with a nominal volume of EUR  9 million 
against possible exchange rate risks. These were 
calculated on a monthly basis as part of the busi-
ness planning process. The currency forwards are 
subject to possible monthly calls and mature at the 
end of 2013.

As a result of the intra-year realisation of under-
lying transactions, in the financial year 2012 a total 
of EUR 34 thousand (2011: EUR 1,480 thousand) 
was transferred from equity (under other compre-
hensive income) to the statement of income.

A number of interest rate swaps were agreed in 
April 2011 in order to hedge the risk of fluctuation 
in the interest payable on variable rate, non-current 
financial liabilities. These were assigned directly 
to the underlying transactions in the form of cash 
flow hedges. The interest rate swaps in place and 
recognised in equity at their market value on the 
balance sheet date expire on 30 December 2014 
and 9 March 2016. 

At the year-end, the interest rate swaps (nominal 
volumes EUR 5 million and EUR 6 million) had a 
negative market value of EUR 757 thousand (2011: 
EUR 630 thousand). The negative valuation effect 
created by these interest rate swaps was shown in 
the interest result. 

No ineffective portions were produced as a result of 
cash flow hedges during the reporting year.

8.27. additional disclosures  
on financial instruments
The carrying amounts, amounts recognised and 
fair values by valuation category as at 31 December 
2012 and 31 December 2011 are shown in the ta-
bles on pages 102-105.

Cash and cash equivalents, securities, trade recei-
vables, receivables under long-term construction 
contracts, receivables from affiliated entities, re-
ceivables from other long-term investees and inve-
stors, and other assets mostly have short remaining 
terms. For this reason, their carrying amounts on 
the reporting date were approximately the same as 
their fair values.

In the absence of an exchange or market price, it 
was not possible to derive a fair value for the cor-
responding period on the basis of similar transac-
tions. A valuation based on the discounting of anti-
cipated cash flows was not undertaken as the cash 
flows could not be reliably determined. Recognition 
was therefore based on acquisition cost.

The other loans are not due before one year. As the 
rate of interest is more or less equivalent to the nor-
mal market rate, the carrying amount and the fair 
value are approximately the same.

In the case of liabilities to banks, the carrying 
amount and the fair value are approximately the 
same, as the loans attract interest at the normal 
market rate.

The majority of trade payables, payables to affilia-
ted entities, payables to other long-term investees 
and investors, and other financial liabilities not cre-
ated by purchase price liabilities have short remai-
ning terms. Their carrying amounts on the repor-

Fair values of the derivative financial instruments

31 DECEMBER 2012 31 DECEMBER 2012

ASSETS
EUR ’000

lIABIlITIES
EUR ’000

ASSETS
EUR ’000

lIABIlITIES
EUR ’000

Currency forward contracts 0 53 0 0

Interest rate swaps 0 757 0 630
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ting date were therefore approximately the same as 
their fair values. In the previous year, liabilities un-
der financing lease agreements were recognised at 
the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
As a result, the carrying value and the fair value 
were approximately the same.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments 
used in hedge accounting is measured by applying 
appropriate valuation methods. The corresponding 
assumptions are very largely based on market con-
ditions on the balance sheet date.

The fair values of other financial liabilities (IFRS 3 
2008) resulting from purchase price liabilities were 
calculated on the basis of the discounted contin-
gent consideration (see section 6 e).

8.28. Financial instruments by category
The table below contains a breakdown of the 
Group’s financial assets and liabilities according to 
their valuation category and asset class.

In addition to the figures for the previous financi-
al year, the table for 2011 includes other financial 
liabilities measured at fair value in respect of con-
tingent consideration of EUR  3,606 thousand as 
required by IFRS 3 2008. Other financial liabilities 
of EUR 1,043 thousand in respect of an employee 
stock option plan are shown separately as required 
by IFRS 2, as they do not fall under the scope of 
IFRS 7. The table disclosures allocating financial in-
struments measured at fair value to the three levels 
of the fair value hierarchy have also been extended 
(see table above). 

The item ‘Other non-financial liabilities’ for both 
2011 and 2012 contains other financial liabilities 
that do not constitute a contingent purchase price 
liability within the scope of IFRS 7 (as the liability is 
adjusted through goodwill with no impact on pro-
fit and loss as prescribed by IFRS 3 2004). This is 
intended to simplify the transfer of such liabilities 
to the consolidated balance sheet. See table above. 

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair va-
lue are allocated to the following levels in the fair 
value hierarchy: 

•	 	Level	 1	 –	 quoted	 prices	 (unadjusted)	 in	 active	
markets for identical assets or liabilities 

•	 	Level	2	–	inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	inclu-
ded within level 1 that are observable for the as-
set or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

•	 	Level	 3	 –	 information	not	based	on	observable	
market data (unobservable inputs) 

The table above shows the allocation of financial in-
struments measured at fair value to the three levels 
of the fair value hierarchy.

In accordance with IFRS 7.27B, the fair value of the 
derivative financial instruments has to be allocated 
to level 2 and is calculated using suitable measure-
ment techniques in the form of recognised actuarial 
valuation models (mark-to-market) based on mar-
ket prices. The valuation factors (e.g. exchange ra-
tes) can be observed directly or indirectly on active 
markets.

Financial liabilities measured at market value

31 Dec 2012
EUR ’000

level 1
EUR ’000

level 2
EUR ’000

level 3
EUR ’000

Interest rate swap with hedging relationship 757 0 757 0

Currency forward contracts 53 0 53 0

Contingent consideration 49,170 0 0 49,170

31 Dec 2011
in  T  €

level 1
EUR ’000

level 2
EUR ’000

level 3
EUR ’000

Interest rate swap with hedging relationship 630 0 630 0

Currency forward contracts without 
 hedging relationship 211 0 211 0

Contingent consideration 3,606 0 0 3,606
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The table above shows the initial and closing fi-
gures for fair value measurement in level 3 of the 
fair value hierarchy.

The change in fair value of the financial liabilities 
shown under level 3 is due to compounding of 
the contingent consideration (EUR  792 thousand; 
2011: EUR  134 thousand) and additional contin-
gent liabilities linked to the acquisitions of WebAs-
sets (EUR  29,054 thousand) and RPC Voyages 
(EUR 15,718 thousand) in 2012.

As the acquired companies are not listed on the 
stock exchange, price quotations are not available. 
The fair value calculations are therefore allocated to 
level three of the fair value hierarchy. Accordingly, 
the fair value of the shares was calculated using dis-
counted cash payment flows based on a probability-
weighted average of the range of possible results. 
Descriptions of the key valuation parameters and 
assumptions used in the measurement process can 
be found in note 6.

8.29. Financial risk management
A comprehensive risk management system for 
TFAG Group companies has been adopted and im-
plemented by the Management Board. The risk ma-
nagement system and financial risks are discussed 
in section 10 of the management report.

The company‘s strategy can be characterised as 
risk-averse. The company avoids contracts and 
business relationships that could jeopardise its fu-
ture, pose a threat to its liquidity or hamper its fur-
ther development.

Credit risk
In the risk management system, the Finance de-
partment ensures that no credit limits are excee-

ded and that reminders are sent out at fortnightly 
intervals. The maximum extent of the potential bad 
debts to which the Group is exposed corresponds to 
the reported aggregate amount of trade receivables 
and other financial instruments.

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither 
overdue nor impaired is determined by reference 
to external credit ratings (where available) or to 
past experience of the default ratios of the business 
partners concerned. The creditworthiness of finan-
cial assets that are neither overdue nor impaired is 
assumed. There are no securities or other credit im-
provement measures in place that would reduce the 
risk of default from financial assets.

Investment strategy
Cash that is not needed in the short term is partly 
invested in fixed deposits.

Currency risk
The currency risks to which the TFAG Group is ex-
posed arise from its operating activities. Currency 
risks are partly hedged in as far as they affect the 
Group’s cash flows. Risks resulting from the transla-
tion of assets and liabilities of entities domiciled out-
side Germany into the Group‘s presentation curren-
cy, on the other hand, are not generally hedged.

The operating activities of the individual companies 
in the Group are mainly conducted in the functional 
currency, i.e. the euro. However, some Group com-
panies are exposed to foreign currency risks in re-
lation to planned expenditure outside their functio-
nal currency. This primarily concerns the ongoing 
expenditure of HC in CHF. TFAG makes regular use 
of currency forwards (cash flow hedges) to hedge 
these payments in advance. In 2012, TFAG was not 
exposed to any significant exchange rate risks 

initial and closing figures for fair value measurement

2012
in T €

2011
in T €

As at 1 January 3,606 0

Resulting from increased stakes 0 3,472

Resulting from business combinations 44,772 0

Total profit and loss recorded in the statement of income 792 134

as at 31 December 49,170 3,606
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Classification of financial instruments as at 31 December 2012

ASSETS
Measurement 

category
as per IAS 39

Carrying 
amount  

31  Dec 2012 
EUR ’000

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 23,386

Securities LaR 11

Trade receivables LaR 29,248

Receivables from long-term construction contracts LaR 794

Receivables from affiliated entities as well as from other 
long-term investees and investors LaR 694

Other assets  

Other financial assets LaR 2,115

Other non-financial assets n/a 3,058

Other loans LaR 68

lIABIlITIES
Measurement 

category
as per IAS 39

Carrying 
amount  

31  Dec 2012 
EUR ’000

Liabilities to banks FLAC 38,972

Trade payables FLAC 19,736

Liabilities to affiliated entities as well as to other long-term investees and investors FLAC 2,974

Other liabilities 

Derivatives with hedging relationship no category 810

Other financial liabilities (IFRS 3 2008) no category 49,170

Other financial liabilities FLAC 11,036

Other financial liabilities outside scope of IFRS 7 (IFRS 3 2004) n/a 12,892

Other financial liabilities outside scope of IFRS 7 (IFRS 2) n/a 1,757

Other non-financial liabilities n/a 5,451

 

Of which aggregated by measurement category as per IAS 39

Loans and Receivables LaR 56,316

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost FLAC 72,718

AR 2012
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AMOUNT RECOGNISED

Amortised 
costs 

EUR ’000

Acquisition 
costs

EUR ’000

fair value not 
recognised in 

income 
EUR ’000

fair value 
recognised  

in income 
EUR ’000

valuation 
according  
to IAS 17
EUR ’000

Carrying 
amount 

EUR ’000
fAIR vAlUE

EUR ’000

23,386 23,386 23,386

11 11 11

29,248 29,248 29,248

794 794 794

694 694 694

       

2,115 2,115 2,115

3,058   

68 68 68

AMOUNT RECOGNISED

Amortised 
costs 

EUR ’000

Acquisition 
costs

EUR ’000

fair value not 
recognised in 

income 
EUR ’000

fair value 
recognised  

in income 
EUR ’000

valuation 
according  
to IAS 17
EUR ’000

Carrying 
amount 

EUR ’000
fAIR vAlUE

EUR ’000

38,972 38,972 38,972

19,736 19,736 19,736

2,974 2,974 2,974

     

 810 810 810

 49,170 49,170 49,170

11,036 11,036 11,036

   

   

   

     

      

56,316 56,316 56,316

72,718 72,718 72,718
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Classification of financial instruments as at 31 December 2011

ASSETS
Measurement 

category
as per IAS 39

Carrying 
amount  

31  Dec 2011 
EUR ’000

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 44,288

Trade receivables LaR 22,197

Receivables from long-term construction contracts LaR 468

Receivables from affiliated entities as well as from  
other long-term investees and investors LaR 412

Other assets  

Other financial assets LaR 2,589

Other non-financial assets n/a 967

Other loans LaR 31

lIABIlITIES
Measurement 

category
as per IAS 39

Carrying 
amount  

31  Dec 2011 
EUR ’000

Liabilities to banks FLAC 40,360

Trade payables FLAC 10,780

Liabilities from financial lease no category 592

Liabilities to affiliated entities as well as to other long-term investees and investors FLAC 2,821

Other liabilities 

Derivatives with hedging relationship no category 630 

Derivatives without hedging relationship FLHfT 211 

Other financial liabilities (IFRS 3 2008) no category 3,606

Other financial liabilities FLAC 6,800

Other financial liabilities outside scope of IFRS 7 (IFRS 3 2004) n/a 14,133

Other financial liabilities outside scope of IFRS 7 (IFRS 2) n/a 1,043

Other non-financial liabilities n/a 3,591

 

Of which aggregated by measurement category as per IAS 39

Loans and Receivables LaR 69,985

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost FLAC 60,761

Financial Liabilities Held for Trading FLHfT 211
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AMOUNT RECOGNISED

Amortised 
costs 

EUR ’000

Acquisition 
costs

EUR ’000

fair value not 
recognised in 

income 
EUR ’000

fair value 
recognised  

in income 
EUR ’000

valuation 
according  
to IAS 17
EUR ’000

Carrying 
amount 

EUR ’000
fAIR vAlUE

EUR ’000

44,288 44,288 44,288

22,197 22,197 22,197

468 468 468

412 412 412

       

2,589 2,589 2,589

  

31 31 31

AMOUNT RECOGNISED

Amortised 
costs 

EUR ’000

Acquisition 
costs

EUR ’000

fair value not 
recognised in 

income 
EUR ’000

fair value 
recognised  

in income 
EUR ’000

valuation 
according  
to IAS 17
EUR ’000

Carrying 
amount 

EUR ’000
fAIR vAlUE

EUR ’000

40,360 40,360 40,360

10,780 10,780 10,780

592 592 592

2,821 2,821 2,821

    

630 630 630 

 211 211 211 

3,606 3,606 3,606

6,800 6,800 6,800

14,133   

1,043   

3,591   

    

     

69,985 69,985 69,985

60,761 60,761 60,761

211 211 211
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in the operating area as a result of these hedging 
activities.

Assuming all other variables remained constant, if 
there had been a 10 percent change in the EUR/
CHF exchange rate as at 31 December 2012, net 
income/ (loss) for the year as a whole would have 
been EUR 1,113 thousand higher or lower (2011: 
EUR 1,340 thousand).

Assuming all other variables remained constant, if 
there had been a 10 percent change in the EUR/
PLN exchange rate as at 31 December 2012, net in-
come/ (loss) for the year as a whole would have been 
EUR 7 thousand higher (2011: EUR 1 thousand) or 
EUR 5 thousand lower (2011: EUR 1 thousand).

Interest rate risk
TFAG is only exposed to interest risks in the euro-
zone and in Switzerland. In so far as it affects the 
Group, the risk of fluctuations in market interest ra-
tes relates predominantly to long-term borrowings 
at variable interest rates.

If market interest rates on existing variable rate 
borrowings had been 100 base points higher (low-
er) as at 31 December 2012, earnings before taxes 
would have been EUR 255 thousand lower (higher).

liquidity risk
The aim of TFAG’s business policy is to continue to 
achieve a positive cash flow in the future. In order 
to retain sufficient flexibility, financing instruments 
are selected that offer the most suitable maturities 
and corresponding liquidity. The risk of a shortfall 
in cash is monitored by holding periodic cash plan-
ning meetings.

As at 31 December 2012, liabilities to banks amoun-
ted to EUR 38,972 thousand (EUR 40,360 thousand 
in 2011).

The table below shows the maturity dates for the 
Group’s liabilities. The figures are based on con-
tractual, undiscounted payments.

In addition to the figures for the previous financial 
year, the 2013 to 2015 column in the table for 2011 
includes other interest-bearing financial liabilities 
measured at fair value in respect of a contingent 
consideration of EUR 3,606 thousand. In addition, 
both tables contain other financial liabilities that fall 
outside the scope of IFRS 7 (in respect of a con-
tingent purchase price obligation adjusted through 
goodwill with no impact on profit and loss as 
prescribed by IFRS 3 2004 and an employee stock 
option plan disclosed under IFRS 2). 

liabilities over their term

2013
EUR ’000

2014 to  2016
EUR ’000

f rom 2017
EUR ’000

Liabilities to banks 2,560 40,943 0

Trade payables, liabilities to affiliated entities as well as to other 
long-term investors and investees 22,710 0 0

Other financial liabilities 8,399 46,634 13,070

Other financial liabilities outside the scope of IFRS 7 0 15,460 0

2012
EUR ’000

2013 to  2015
EUR ’000

f rom 2016
EUR ’000

Liabilities to banks 5,693 14,833 26,749

Trade payables, liabilities to affiliated entities as well as to other 
long-term investors and investees 14,225 0 0

Other financial liabilities 7,011 4,367 388

Other financial liabilities outside the scope of IFRS 7 0 16,395 0

AR 2012
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8.30. additional disclosures  
on capital management
The capital management policy at TFAG is primari-
ly geared towards ensuring that adequate financing 
is available for the Group’s long-term growth. 

Reflecting common practice within the industry, the 
Group monitors its capital on the basis of its debt-
to-capital ratio (the ratio between net debt and total 
capital). Net debt is made up of total debt (inclu-
ding financial liabilities, trade payables and other 
liabilities as per the consolidated balance sheet) 
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is cal-
culated by adding the consolidated balance sheet 
figure for equity and net debt. 

Equity increased by 11.6 percent in the financial 
year 2012, mainly as a result of the consolidated 
net income achieved by the Group and the corre-
sponding reduction in the figure for consolidated 
accumulated retained earnings.

The decline in the equity ratio is mainly due to an 
increase in total assets, predominantly as a result of 
the increase in non-current assets and liabilities. At 
the same time, thanks to a significant improvement 
in consolidated earnings after taxes, the Group was 
able to improve the figure for consolidated accumu-
lated retained earnings and increase both its return 
on equity and return on total capital.

In terms of capital management, the Group’s aims 
are to safeguard the company as a going concern, 
and thus continue to generate income for share-
holders and provide other interested parties with 
the payments to which they are entitled. A further 
target is to maintain the most efficient capital struc-
ture possible in order to reduce capital costs.

The equity ratio helps the Group to monitor its ca-
pital, i.e. the equity shown in the consolidated ba-
lance sheet. 

Capital management

INDICATOR METhOD Of CAlCUlATION 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Equity ratio Equity / total assets 41.5 % 52.4 %

Return on equity
Consolidated earnings after 
taxes / average equity

14.4 % 11.7 %

Return on total capital
Consolidated earnings after 
taxes / average total capital

6.6 % 6.5 %
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9. notes to the consolidated  
statement of income
9.1. Revenue
The composition of the Group‘s revenue is shown 
in the table below.

The increase in commission revenue is partly due 
to a rise in the volume of travel booking referrals 
made by HC. Another factor was the additional 
commission revenue generated by those new com-
panies in the Transactions segment acquired by 
TFAG in 2012. 

Sales revenue was boosted by an increase in sub-
scription sales at EP and jameda.

Thanks to an increase in online advertising reve-
nue at TFM and the first-time inclusion of WebAs-
sets, the Group nearly made up for the loss of reve-
nue in this category from the AdJug Group, which 
was sold in 2011.

Revenue from project work was higher as a result 
of greater demand for iPhone apps. This figure in-
cludes revenue of EUR 1,969 thousand (EUR 1,990 
thousand in 2011) from swap transactions covering 
goods and services.

9.2. percentage of completion 
In the year under review, revenue from long-term 
construction contracts determined according to the 
percentage-of-completion (PoC) method and inclu-
ded under revenue from project work amounted to 
EUR 1,134 thousand (EUR 776 thousand in 2011). 
The total costs in the financial year 2012 for the 
contracts not yet completed at the balance sheet 
date and settled according to the stage of comple-
tion amounted to EUR  1,038 thousand (EUR  654 
thousand in 2011). Valuation adjustments were 
made in respect of receivables totalling EUR  97 
thousand (EUR 0 in 2011).

As at 31 December 2012, prepayments of EUR 340 
thousand (EUR 308 thousand in 2011) had been re-
ceived on long-term construction contracts totalling 
EUR 1,134 thousand (EUR 776 thousand in 2011). 

9.3. Other income
In financial 2012, other operating income of 
EUR 12,592 thousand was recognised (EUR 5,368 
thousand in 2011). This was mainly due to non-
recurring income of EUR 5,125 thousand from the 
sale of digital rights of use (EUR  1,542 thousand 
in 2011 from the sale of AdJug Ltd.); other income 
of EUR  4,869 thousand (EUR  1,843 thousand in 
2011); the reversal of provisions totalling EUR 214 

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Commission revenue 76,367 67,795

Sales revenue 31,186 28,275

Online advertising revenue 24,916 25,858

Revenue from project work 12,716 11,561

New media revenue 145,185 133,489

Other revenue 3,890 2,413

Total 149,075 135,902

Group‘s revenue

Receivables from long-term construction contracts

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Receivables from long-term construction contracts 1,134 776

Less prepayments –340 –308

Total receivables from long-term construction contracts 794 468
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thousand (EUR  389 thousand in 2011); the dere-
cognition of liabilities of EUR  1,037 thousand; 
(EUR 735 thousand in 2011); and income not ge-
nerated in the period under review of EUR  641 
thousand (EUR 657 thousand in 2011). 

The item ‘Other income’ includes income of 
EUR 3,533 thousand with no impact on cash flow 
from derecognition of the put option liability for To-
morrow Travel (see note 3.5). 

The Group sold the digital rights of use to its brands 
TV Spielfilm, Fit for Fun and Cinema, including all 
the associated tangible and intangible assets and 
rights (e.g. domains; intellectual property rights; 
and trademark, title and name rights). The purchase 
agreement was dated 29 October 2012.

9.4. Other own work capitalised
Other own work capitalised totalling EUR  3,364 
thousand (EUR  1,840 thousand in 2011) mainly 
concerns the capitalisation of software produced 
in-house by the Transactions and Advertising seg-
ments. The increase reflects an ongoing push to de-
velop IT and mobile applications for use within the 
Group together with other software solutions, alt-
hough it is also due to major website revisions and 
development work performed by the companies 
first consolidated in the financial year under review. 

9.5. Cost of materials
Materials cost is predominantly incurred by TFM, 
TFT, Cellular and HC. They relate primarily to 
services purchased for editorial content, bought-
in production-related IT services and software 
licences. 

9.6. Research and development costs
The TOMORROW FOCUS Group holds a stake in 
TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH, which 
itself either generates or is involved in commissi-
oning a large proportion of the developments for 
the Advertising segment. In the Transactions and 
Technologies segments, development activities are 
decentralised and are conducted within the compa-
nies themselves. Development costs that can be ca-
pitalised are shown in the balance sheet as self-pro-
duced software. Research expenses do not apply.

9.7. number of employees  
and personnel expenses
On average over the year, the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group had 678 full-time equivalents (FTEs) (590 in 
2011). 

Average headcount over the financial year (inclu-
ding Management Board members): 

In the financial year 2012, personnel costs amoun-
ted to EUR 45,479 thousand (EUR 41,149 thousand 
in 2011). Out of this total, EUR 2,852 thousand was 
attributable to pensions (defined benefit plans) 
(EUR  2,279 thousand in 2011) and EUR  2,708 
thousand to other social security expenses 
(EUR 2,394 thousand in 2011). 

The figure for personnel expenses includes seve-
rance payments of EUR  166 thousand (EUR  302 
thousand in 2011) in connection with the terminati-
on of employment contracts.

Personnel costs from the long-term incentive 
(LTI) programme totalling EUR  1,610 thousand 
(EUR 1,043 thousand in 2011) are also included.

average number of employees

fTE
2012 

fTE
 2011

Management Board members 3 3

Holders of general commercial 3 1

Managing directors and chief 
executives of the subsidiaries 

13 12

Staff 659 574

Total 678 590
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9.8. Other expenses
The advertising expenses largely originate from 
EP, HC and TFM. The increase is primarily due to 
HC and EP, which spent much more on advertising 
on a positive cost/revenue basis. 

The distribution and marketing costs are largely 
made up of sales commissions, travelling expenses 
and entertainment costs, and were mainly incurred 
by EP.

In the reporting period, EUR 4,358 thousand was 
spent on rent (EUR 3,623 thousand in 2011). This 
was largely in relation to office space and servers. 
EUR 174 thousand was spent on leasing (EUR 174 
thousand in 2011). This was mainly in relation to 
the leasing of vehicles by the companies. 

As regards the binding force of the tenancy, rental 
and leasing agreements, reference is made to note 
13.2 ‘Contingent liabilities and other liabilities’.

In 2011, the item ‘licences’ primarily consisted 
of the licence costs incurred by HC for a booking 
platform. Beginning in 2012, these licences are 
now shown as work or services purchased un-
der cost of materials as they relate directly to the 
company’s revenue.

legal, consulting and audit costs arose primarily 
in connection with expenses that could not be capi-
talised in relation to potential acquisitions in 2012. 
Also included are in-house audit expenses incurred 
by the Group, general consultancy expenses and 
statutory audit costs (see note 13.8).

Bad debts mainly affect EP and also include custo-
mer goodwill.

Services mainly refers to IT services, and agency or 
business management agreements.

Communication and information expenses large-
ly relate to telecommunications, further professio-
nal training and market research.

Ancillary personnel costs include recruitment fees 
and subsidised staff catering facilities.

Other expenses mainly include price and curren-
cy differences, operating expenses such as repairs 
and maintenance, charges and premiums, money 
transaction costs and insurance. This item also in-
cludes a loss of EUR 1,964 thousand from disposal 
of the Group’s holding in AdJug Ltd. 

Other operating expenses

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Advertising expenses 38,433 30,031

Distribution and marketing costs 6,046 6,474

Rent/ leasing costs 4,532 3,797

Legal, consulting and audit costs 3,877 2,831

Bad debts 2,784 2,638

Ancillary personnel costs 2,039 1,207

Communication/ information expenses 1,360 1,345

Services 1,167 1,435

Administrative expenses 1,016 885

Licences 524 3,057

Expenses relating to other periods 384 478

Outgoing freight 80 0

Other expenses 4,510 2,871

Total 66,752 57,049
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9.9. Financial income
Total financial income of EUR  221 thousand 
(EUR  339 thousand in 2011) was made up of in-
terest and similar income.

In future the success of the company‘s investment 
strategy will be largely determined by interest rate 
movements on the capital and money markets. 

9.10. Financial expenses
The financial expenses of EUR  4,129 thousand 
(EUR  3,826 thousand in 2011) result mainly 
from interest expenses of EUR  3,327 thousand 
(EUR  2,951 thousand in 2011). Interest expenses 
also include expenses from compounding in the 
sum of EUR  1,393 thousand (EUR  954 thousand 
in 2011) and financing-related interest expenses 
of EUR  1,934 thousand (EUR  1,997 thousand in 
2011). The item ‘Financial expenses’ also includes 
dividends to existing shareholders of HolidayCheck 
AG totalling EUR 778 thousand (EUR 874 thousand 
in 2011).

9.11. net results according  
to valuation category
The valuation adjustments to trade receivables and 
the fair value measurement of derivatives without a 
hedging relationship (which fall into the loans and 
receivables category) are recognised under other 
operating expenses). All other components of the 
net result with an impact on profit or loss are inclu-
ded in the financial result.

10. notes on segment reporting
The segment report is broken down into the follow-
ing segments: Transactions, Advertising, Technolo-
gies and Holding. These are the primary segments 
of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group.

Business segment reporting is laid out in such a 
way as to conform to the method of internal repor-
ting to the principal decision-making body.

The Transactions segment contains all the Group’s 
transaction-based business models. These are the 
hotel reviews and holiday bookings portals Holi-
dayCheck, Tomorrow Travel, WebAssets and RPC 
Voyages; the premium online dating portal Elite-
Partner; the physician ratings portal jameda; and 
the weather portals MeteoVista.

The Advertising segment includes the Group’s 
online advertising and marketing business as well 
as Finanzen100 (a finance and stock market portal) 
and (up to August 2011) AdJug (a marketing plat-
form for surplus advertising space). 

The Technologies segment covers TFT’s entire IT 
services and project business as well as Cellular’s 
mobile business.

In addition to the Administration division, the 
 holding segment includes expenses and invest-
ments in new business and all matters external to 
the above-mentioned segments. 

Transfers between the segments were evaluated 
and invoiced on the basis of full costs. 

The geographical information reflects the location 
of the company’s registered office.

The accounting and valuation methods used for 
those segments subject to statutory disclosure are 
based on the principles described in note 7. 

For further details on the segment reporting please 
see page 62f.

net results of valuation categories

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Loans and Receivables –1,325 –1,341

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost –1,801 –1,912

Financial Liabilities Held for Trading 0 –211

Total –3,126 –3,464
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11. notes to the consolidated  
statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows shows how the Group‘s 
cash and cash equivalents changed during the 
course of the reporting period through inflows and 
outflows of cash. In accordance with IAS 7 (State-
ment of Cash Flows), a distinction is made between 
operating activities, investing activities and finan-
cing activities. The Group applies the indirect me-
thod for cash flows from operating activities and 
the direct method for cash flows from financing and 
investing activities. The liquidity shown in the fi-
nancial statement includes cash on hand and cash 
at banks. 

12. events after the balance sheet date
Takeover of parent portal NetMoms Gmbh
With effect from 1 January 2013, TOMORROW FO-
CUS AG acquired all shares in NetMoms GmbH, 
which operates the parent portal Netmoms.de. 

The aim of the takeover is to strengthen TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS AG’s Advertising segment by integra-
ting vertically structured, high-reach thematic por-
tals with considerable potential for synergies in the 
areas of search engine optimisation (SEO), content 
and marketing.

The shares in NetMoms GmbH will be consolidated 
in TOMMORROW FOCUS AG’s Advertising seg-
ment from 1 January 2013.

The provisional acquisition costs for the business 
combination totalled EUR 3,347 thousand. A break-
down of this figure is shown in the following table.

The purchase price was settled by means of a 
payment of EUR 2,457 thousand and the issue of 
258,040 new shares in TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
as part of a non-cash capital increase out of the 
company’s authorised capital.

The provisional net assets of NetMoms GmbH as at 
31 December 2012 are shown below at their car-
rying value.

As the acquisition of NetMoms GmbH took place 
so close to the date on which these Group financial 
statements were completed, the market valuations 
and other calculations required were not yet availa-
ble. Consequently, the net asset figures shown abo-
ve should be regarded as provisional. 

All disclosures relating to the balance sheet re-
cognition of this acquisition as at 1 January 2013 
should be regarded as provisional in every area. 
The figures are based on estimates that may be 
revised to take account of facts and circumstances 
that already existed at the time of acquisition. 

The provisional acquisition costs were provisional-
ly allocated to derivative goodwill since further in-
formation relating to the purchase price allocation 
may become available with respect to the fair value 
measurement and recognition of liabilities.

Capital increases 
On 6 February 2013, the Management Board 
of TFAG took the decision to draw on its autho-
rised capital in order to increase the company’s 
total share capital by EUR  5,043,198 from 
EUR 53,012,390 to EUR 58,055,588 through an is-
sue of 5,043,198 new notional no-par-value bearer 
shares against cash contributions at a placement 
price of EUR 3.80 per share. On this occasion, exi-
sting shareholders were not allowed to subscribe 
to the issue. The decision was approved by the Su-
pervisory Board.

The capital increase was entered in the commercial 
register on 8 February 2013 and generated net in-
come of EUR 18,589 thousand.

The acquisition of NetMoms GmbH was settled 
partly from the issue of 258,040 new shares in 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG through a non-cash capi-
tal increase out of authorised capital. To this end, 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board, on 21 
December 2012 the Management Board had taken 
the decision to increase the share capital of the 
company by EUR 258,040 from EUR 53,012,390 to 
EUR 53,270,430 through the issue of 258,040 new 
shares against non-cash contributions.

acquisition costs netMoms Gmbh

EUR ’000

Payment 2,457

Equity instruments 890

Total 3,347
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In order to simplify the implementation of a cash 
capital increase the decision taken on 21 December 
2012 to increase capital against non-cash contri-
butions in order to fund the takeover of NetMoms 
GmbH was cancelled on 6 February 2013. It was 
then re-adopted on 15 March 2013 after completion 
of the cash capital increase.

13. Other disclosures
13.1. Related parties 
The Group is controlled by Burda Digital GmbH, 
which holds 64.52 percent of the shares in TFAG. 
The consolidated financial statements of TFAG are 
therefore included in the subgroup financial state-
ments of Burda GmbH, Offenburg, Germany (which 
holds the shares in Burda Digital GmbH) and in the 
group financial statements of Hubert Burda Media 
Holding KG, Offenburg, Germany. The consolidated 
financial statements are submitted to the operator 
of Germany’s electronic Federal Gazette (Bundes-
anzeiger) for publication. 

In addition to the entities included in the consolida-

ted financial statements of TFAG, the entities ma-
king up the Hubert Burda Media Group are closely 
related to TOMORROW FOCUS AG, as are persons 
and entities in the management structure of TFAG 
and in the Hubert Burda Media Group that exert a 
significant influence on financial and business poli-
cies, including close family members and interme-
diate entities.
 
All transactions with related entities primarily con-
cern services as defined by IAS 24.21c. All transac-
tions between related persons were concluded on 
the basis of normal market terms such as apply to 
transactions between third parties.

Balances and transactions between TFAG and its 
subsidiaries, which constitute related parties, were 
eliminated in full as part of the consolidation pro-
cess and are not included in these notes. The fol-
lowing table shows a list of the transactions entered 
into with related parties.

Under a sale agreement dated 29 October 2012, 
TFM sold the Internet operations of TV Spielfilm, 

net assets of netMoms Gmbh as at 31 December 2012 

Provisional 
figures

EUR ’000

Non-current assets 41

   + current assets 189

   + cash acquired 98

   – non-current and current liabilities –282

Net assets 46

Goodwill from acquisition (provisional) 3,301

Total costs of acquisition 3,347

Revenue

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Burda Digital GmbH 22 12

Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 5,858 5,679

Associated entities of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 213 203

Associated entities of TFAG 478 374

TOTAl 6,571 6,268
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Receivables

liabilities

Fit for Fun and Cinema, including all the associated 
tangible and intangible assets and rights (e.g. do-
mains; intellectual property rights; and trademark, 
title and name rights). The sale generated a profit of 
EUR 5,125 thousand.

The price obtained for the rights was equal to their 
fair value at the time of the sale.

The following balances remained outstanding at 
the end of the reporting period: see table above.

The outstanding balances at the end of the repor-
ting period are unsecured and do not bear interest. 

They are settled by cash payment. There are no 
guarantees in place in respect of receivables from 
and payables to related parties. There were no ad-
justments to the value of receivables from related 
parties in either 2012 or 2011. 

liabilities to related parties 
Liabilities to related parties mainly include obliga-
tions in respect of rent and leasing agreements and 
agency agreements for services provided by vari-
ous entities in the Burda Group (cf. also note 13.2 
Contingent liabilities and other liabilities). There 
were no liabilities towards related persons as at the 
balance sheet dates. 

Work and services purchased/ other operating expenses

2012
EUR ’000

2011
EUR ’000

Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 162 161

Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 4,296 3,575

Associated entities of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 3 4

Associated entities of TFAG 14 12

TOTAl 4,475 3,752

31 DEC 2012
EUR ’000

31 DEC 2011
EUR ’000

Burda Digital GmbH 1 1

Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 414 373

Associated entities of TFAG 279 53

TOTAl 694 427

31 DEC 2012
EUR ’000

31 DEC 2011
EUR ’000

Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 16 16

Burda Digital GmbH 0 14

Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 2,665 3,020

Associated entities of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 0 72

Associated entities of TFAG 293 181

TOTAl 2,974 3,303
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Remuneration of persons in key Group positions
The following remuneration was paid to members 
of the Management Board and Supervisory Board 
as consideration for their work:

•		The	emoluments	paid	to	the members of the Su-
pervisory Board in the reporting period amoun-
ted to a total of EUR  175 thousand (EUR  175 
thousand in 2011). Furthermore, the company 
incurred expenses of EUR 8 thousand from a con-
tract for services with a law firm to which a mem-
ber of the Supervisory Board belongs (EUR  75 
thousand in 2011). 

•		In	 the	 reporting	 period	 the	 emoluments	 paid	
to the members of the Management Board of 
TFAG amounted to a total of EUR 1,573 thousand 
(EUR  1,992 thousand in 2011). This includes 
variable components amounting to EUR  337 
thousand (EUR 390 thousand in 2011) and share-
based payments of EUR 308 thousand (EUR 543 
thousand in 2011). 

With a qualified majority, the general meeting of 
shareholders held on 1 June 2011 passed a reso-
lution to make use of the opt-out clause. This me-
ans that TOMORROW FOCUS AG is exempted up 
to and including the year 2016 from the statutory 
obligation to make separate disclosure of the rem-
uneration paid to its officers and directors. 

The company has liabilities to members of the Su-
pervisory Board to the sum of EUR 199 thousand 
(EUR  175 thousand in 2011) and of EUR  1,076 
thousand to Management Board members 
(EUR 933 thousand in 2011). There were no recei-
vables from members of the Supervisory Board or 
the Management Board. 

As regards the presentation of TFAG‘s Manage-
ment Board and the Supervisory Board, we refer to 
our comments in note 13.6 Management Board and 
in note 13.7 Supervisory Board.

The company has neither granted loans to mem-
bers of TFAG‘s Management Board nor stood su-
rety and/or given any other types of guarantee for 
these persons. 

As at the balance sheet date, the total number of no-
par-value shares in the company held by members 
of the Management Board was 189,128 (297,944 in 
2011).

As at the balance sheet date, the total number of 
shares in the company held directly or indirectly by 
members of the Supervisory Board in accordance 
with section 15a paragraph 3 of the German Securi-
ties Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG) 
was 854,854 (1,356,514 in 2011).

 

TOTAl
EUR ’000

Of WhICh DUE  
TO OThER  

BURDA GROUP
ENTITIES
EUR ’000

Under tenancy and leasing agreements (temporary)

Due in 2013 3,256 470

Due between 2014 and 2017 6,929 754

Due after 2017 76 0

Total 10,261 1,224

liabilities under other contracts (temporary)

Due in 2013 4,377 1,044

Due between 2014 and 2017 935 124

Due after 2017 2,631 0

Total 7,943 1,168

Other financial liabilities in 2012
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13.2. Contingent liabilities  
and other liabilities
As part of its business activities, TFAG assumed 
contingent liabilities and other liabilities in relation 
to a large number of underlying events. 

TFAG issued a liquidity guarantee on behalf of three 
subsidiaries, and TFD issued a liquidity guarantee 
on behalf of RPC. These guarantees oblige TFAG 
and TFD to provide enough financing to ensure the 
continued operation of the subsidiaries. 

According to the latest information available, the 
parties to the guarantee are in a position to meet 
the underlying obligations in all cases. It is not ex-
pected that the guarantee will need to be exercised.

The following tables show the Group’s other liabi-
lities under long-term tenancy and leasing agree-
ments as at the balance sheet date.

The liabilities primarily arise from rental and lea-
sing contracts for buildings, IT systems and office 
machinery. These contracts usually run for 12 to 60 
months and more than 60 months in exceptional 
cases. The economic risks and rewards remain with 
the owner due to obligations to return the items 
and rights to require purchase. 

The other contracts mainly relate to service con-
tracts with various entities in the Burda Group 
(business management) and other providers and to 
future liabilities under the performance share plan.

 

TOTAl
EUR ’000

Of WhICh DUE TO
OThER  

BURDA GROUP
ENTITIES
EUR ’000

Under tenancy and leasing agreements (temporary)

Due in 2012 3,373 758

Due between 2013 and 2016 8,879 1,793

Due after 2016 77 0

Total 12,329 2,551

liabilities under other contracts (temporary)

Due in 2012 5,087 1,097

Due between 2013 and 2016 2,485 905

Due after 2016 2,494 0

Total 10,066 2,002

Other financial liabilities in 2011

equity interests in the company

ShAREhOlDER

lAST RE-
PORTED ShARE 

Of vOTING 
RIGhTS

( in  percent )
DATE Of 
 NOTIfICATION 

Burda Digital GmbH, Munich, Germany (subsidiary of Burda GmbH) 63.61* 20 Oct 2010**

Burda GmbH, Offenburg, Germany 63.61* 20 Oct 2010

Deutsche Bank AG, Frankfurt/Main, Germany 5.04 13 Dec 2006

DWS Investments GmbH, Frankfurt/Main, Germany (subsidiary of Deutsche Bank AG) 5.04 13 Dec 2006

* Share of voting rights as at balance sheet date: 64.52 percent
** Three notifications contained the same share of voting rights.
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13.3. equity interests in the company as 
defined by section 21 paragraph 1 sentence 1 
of the German Securities Trading act (Wert-
papierhandelsgesetz, WphG) in conjunction 
with section 160 paragraph 1 number 8 of 
the German Stock Corporation act (aktien-
gesetz, aktG) 
In the financial year 2012 there were no acquisi-
tions or disposals subject to mandatory disclosure 
under section 21 paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the 
German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhan-
delsgesetz, WpHG). 

As at 31 December 2012, Hubert Burda Media Hol-
ding Kommanditgesellschaft (formerly Hubert Bur-
da Media GmbH & Co. Kommanditgesellschaft), Of-
fenburg, Germany, held 64.52 percent of the shares 
in TOMORROW FOCUS AG, either directly or indi-
rectly, making it the majority shareholder.

13.4. Section 25 paragraph 1 sentence 
1 of the German Securities Trading act 
( Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WphG)
In the financial year 2012 no notifications were re-
ceived in relation to section 25 paragraph 1 sen-
tence 1 of the German Securities Trading Act (Wert-
papierhandelsgesetz, WpHG)

13.5. Corporate governance
The company has made the declaration required 
under section 161 of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG) for this financial year 
and, in December 2012, published it on its website 

(http://www.tomorrow-focus.de) for perusal by the 
shareholders.

The company is included in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements of Hubert Burda Media Holding 
Kommanditgesellschaft (formerly Hubert Burda 
Media GmbH & Co. Kommanditgesellschaft) in 
Offenburg, Germany. These consolidated financi-
al statements are submitted for publication to the 
operator of the electronic Federal Gazette (Bundes-
anzeiger).

13.6. Management Board
In the financial year 2012, the following persons 
held positions as Management Board members of 
the company with rights of representation, either 
jointly with another member of the Management 
Board or together with a holder of general commer-
cial power of attorney (‘Prokurist’ under German 
law). See table above.

Up to 30 September 2012, Stefan Winners was re-
sponsible for the following areas of responsibility: 
information and consultation with the Supervisory 
Board; overall strategy and corporate development; 
portal content and editorial management; Finan-
zen100, HolidayCheck, jameda and TFT; human 
resources: senior management, high-potential em-
ployees, personnel development; Group communi-
cations; Group auditing.

In 2012, Christoph Schuh was responsible for the 
equity interests AdJug (up to 31 August 2012), 

Management Board

 
POSITION SUPERvISORy BOARD MANDATES

Antonius Bouten Chief Executive Officer 
(Chairperson of the 
Management Board) 
from 1 January 2013

Chairperson of the Advisory Board of Teufel Holdco Sàrl, Lux-
embourg; Chairperson of the Board of Directors, HolidayCheck 
AG, Bottighofen, Switzerland (from 18 February 2013)

Stefan Winners 
Chief Executive Officer 
(Chairperson of the 
Management Board) up 
to 30 September 2012

Chairperson of the Board of Directors, HolidayCheck AG, 
Bottighofen, Switzerland (up to 18 February 2013); member of 
the Supervisory Board of Zooplus AG, Munich, Germany (from 
5 July 2012)

Christoph Schuh Member of the 
 Management Board

Board member of AdJug Ltd., London, UK  
(up to 31 August 2012) 

Dr Dirk Schmelzer Member of the 
 Management Board 

Member of the Board of Directors, HolidayCheck AG, 
 Bottighofen, Switzerland
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Cellular and ElitePartner; portal (marketing activi-
ties of TFM including client marketing); subsidiari-
es and equity investments with advertising business 
models (national and international); marketing and 
sales; links with trade associations as the represen-
tative of TFAG (and ad interim from 1 October to 31 
December 2012 for portal (content and editorial), 
Finanzen100, jameda and Group communications).

In 2012, Dr Dirk Schmelzer held the following are-
as of responsibility: financial, investment and per-
sonnel planning; controlling, reporting systems, 
risk management and internal control systems; 
management of equity investments; financing and 
bank relations; external financial reporting; inve-
stor relations; legal, contractual and tax manage-
ment; general administration including purchasing; 
human resources administration and services; com-
pensation and benefits(and ad interim from 1 Oc-
tober to 31 December 2012 HolidayCheck, Zoover, 
Tjingo, Ecotour and TFT).

According to its articles of association, the compa-
ny is represented by two members of the Manage-
ment Board or by one member of the Management 
Board jointly with one holder of general commercial 
power of attorney (‘Prokurist’ under German law). 
If only one Management Board member has been 
appointed, this member represents the company 
alone. The members of the Management Board re-
present the company as set out in the articles of 
association. 

13.7. Supervisory Board
See table above.

13.8. auditor’s fees
The fees paid to the accountants were recognised 
as expenses in the financial year and amounted to 
EUR 249 thousand for the audit (EUR 154 thousand 
in 2011), EUR 41 thousand (EUR 4 thousand in 2011) 
for other assurance services and EUR 62 thousand 
(EUR 27 thousand in 2011) for other services. 

 
POSITION OCCUPATION / 

OThER SUPERvISORy BOARD MANDATES

Dr Paul-Bernhard 
kallen

Chairperson of the 
Supervisory Board

Chairperson of the Management Board, Hubert Burda Media 
Group; Member of the Supervisory Board, Verlagsgruppe Weltbild 
GmbH, Augsburg, Germany; Chairperson of the Supervisory Board, 
Doğan Burda Dergi Yayincilik ve Pazarlama A.Ş., Istanbul, Turkey

Dr Andreas Rittstieg Deputy Chairperson of 
the Supervisory Board

Lawyer, Member of the Supervisory Board, Brenntag AG, Mühlheim 
a.d.R., Germany; Member of the Advisory Board, Huesker Holding 
GmbH, Gescher, Germany; Member of the Advisory Board, Berenberg 
Bank, Hamburg, Germany; Member of the Supervisory Board, Hapag 
Lloyd Holding AG and Hapag Lloyd AG, Hamburg, Germany; Member 
of the Board of Directors, Kühne Holding AG Schindellegi, Switzerland

Annet Aris Member of the 
 Supervisory Board

Graduate Engineer (Diplom-Ingenieurin), MBA Adjunct Professor of 
Strategy, Institut Européen d’Administration des Affaires (INSEAD), 
Fontainebleau, France; Member of the Supervisory Board, ASR Ne-
derland N.V., Utrecht, Netherlands; Deputy Chairperson of the Super-
visory Board, Hansa-Heemann AG, Rellingen, Germany; Member of 
the Board, The Sanoma Group Oy, Helsinki, Finland; Member of the 
Supervisory Board, Jungheinrich AG, Hamburg, Germany; Member of 
the Supervisory Board, Kabel Deutschland AG, Munich, Germany

Prof Dr Stefan 
 leberfinger

Member of the 
 Supervisory Board

Certified public accountant (Wirtschaftsprüfer), tax consultant Chair-
person of the Supervisory Board, DOMAG Wohnbau AG, Munich, 
Germany; Member of the Advisory Board, Thurn und Taxis`schen 
Gesamtverwaltung, Regensburg, Germany; Chairperson of the 
Supervisory Board, Bankhaus Herzogpark AG, Munich, Germany

Philipp Welte
Member of the 
 Supervisory Board

Member of the Management Board, Hubert Burda Media 
Group, Munich, Germany

Martin Weiss Member of the 
 Supervisory Board 

Management consultant, Member of the Supervisory Board, 
smartblue AG, Munich, Germany

Supervisory Board

AR 2012

118

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



Dr. Dirk Schmelzer
Chief Financial Officer

Christoph Schuh
Member of the Management Board

Munich, Germany, 21 March 2013

Antonius Bouten
Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer
Chief Financial Officer

Christoph Schuh
Member of the Management Board

Munich, Germany, 21 March 2013

Antonius Bouten
Chief Executive Officer

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance 
with the applicable reporting principles, the con-
solidated financial statements as at 31 December 
2012 give a true and fair view of the assets and li-
abilities, financial position and profit or loss of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group and the group manage-

ment report includes a fair review of the develop-
ment and performance of the business and the po-
sition of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group, together with 
a description of the principal opportunities and 
risks associated with the expected development of 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group.

13.9. exemption from the requirement to 
prepare annual financial statements in 
 accordance with section 264 paragraph 3  
of the German Commercial Code (handels-
gesetzbuch, hGB)
The following subsidiaries of TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG, which were included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements and meet all other preconditions, 
have opted to make use of the exemption pursuant 
to section 264 paragraph 3 of the German Commer-
cial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB): 

a. Tomorrow Focus Media GmbH
b. Tomorrow Focus Technologies GmbH
c. Cellular GmbH 
d. EliteMedianet GmbH

13.10. authorisation to publish  
the annual financial statements
On 21 March 2013, the Management Board relea-
sed TFAG‘s consolidated financial statements and 
consolidated management report for presentation 
to the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board 
is expected to approve the consolidated financi-
al statements and release them for publication on 
21 March 2013. 

RESponSIBILItY StatEMEnt BY  
thE LEGaL REpRESEntatIvES 
in accordance with Section 37y (1) of the WphG (German Securities Trading act) in conjunc-
tion with Section 297 (2), 4 and Section 315 (1), 6 of the hGB (German Commercial law)
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We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments prepared by the TOMORROW FOCUS AG, 
Munich, Germany, comprising the consolidated 
balance sheet, consolidated income statement and 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity, con-
solidated cash flow statement and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, together with 
the group management report of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG, Munich, Germany, for the business 
year from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2012. 
The preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the group management report in accor-
dance with the IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, and 
the additional requirements of German commercial 
law pursuant to § (Article) 315a Abs. (paragraph) 1 
HGB („Handelsgesetzbuch“: German Commercial 
Code) is the responsibility of the parent Company‘s 
Board of Managing Directors. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements and the group management report ba-
sed on our audit. 
 We conducted our audit of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB 
and German generally accepted standards for the 
audit of financial statements promulgated by the In-
stitut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Au-
ditors in Germany) (IDW). Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit such that mis-
statements materially affecting the presentation of 
the net assets, financial position and results of ope-
rations in the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework and in the group management report are 
detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of 
the business activities and the economic and legal 
environment of the Group and expectations as to 
possible misstatements are taken into account in 
the determination of audit procedures. The effec-
tiveness of the accounting-related internal control 

system and the evidence supporting the disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements and in the 
group management report are examined primarily 
on a test basis within the framework of the audit. 
The audit includes assessing the annual financial 
statements of those entities included in consolidati-
on, the determination of the entities to be included 
in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation 
principles used and significant estimates made by 
the Company‘s Board of Managing Directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report. We believe that our audit pro-
vides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit 
the consolidated financial statements comply with 
the IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant 
to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB and give a true and fair view 
of the net assets, financial position and results of 
operations of the Group in accordance with these 
requirements. The group management report is 
consistent with the consolidated financial state-
ments and as a whole provides a suitable view of 
the Group‘s position and suitably presents the op-
portunities and risks of future development.

Munich, Germany, 21 March 2013

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Andreas Fell ppa. Hermann Plankensteiner
German Public Auditor German Public Auditor

Auditor’s report
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GLoSSaRY

Cash Flow
A measure of cash and cash equivalents inflows 
and outflows.

Corporate Governance
Corporate governance stands for a form of re-
sponsible company management and control ge-
ared to long-term creation of value.

Debt
Debt (total assets less   equity) represents the 
portion of funds which are not made available by 
the company or its owners. It includes bank lo-
ans and can be categorised with other financial 
instruments under the generic term of liabilities. 

Deferred taxes 
This balance sheet item can be an asset and/or 
a liability. It arises from timing differences bet-
ween actual tax liabilities as assessed by the tax 
authorities and the company‘s tax liabilities under 

 IFRS.

earnings per share
Earnings divided by the average number of ordi-
nary shares outstanding.

eBT
Earnings before taxes

eBiT
Earnings before interest and taxes

eBiTDa
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortisation

eBTa
Earnings before interest, taxes and amortisation

equity
Equity (total assets less   debt) represents the 
funds paid in and/or contributed by the sharehol-
ders plus retained earnings which are available to 
the company.

equity ratio 
Equity as a percentage of total assets (the higher 
the ratio, the lower the gearing).

Financial derivatives
Financial derivatives are financial futures transac-
tions which hedge against risks from unexpected 
price changes and whose price is directly or in-
directly dependent on the price of an underlying 
asset, e.g. interest rates or exchange rates.

Free float
Shares of a public company that are freely availa-
ble to the investing public.

Full-time equivalent 
Full-time equivalent (or FTE) is a unit for measu-
ring the theoretical number of employees in full-
time posts within a company. Any part-time posts 
are added together to calculate the overall result. 
By way of example, 3 half-time posts and 1 full-
time post would give 2.5 FTEs.

C

D

e

e

F
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Goodwill
An intangible economic good representing the 
value of the intangible assets of a business entity 
which are not capitalised at acquisition. Calculati-
on: purchase price of the entity less its proportio-
nal, newly valued equity.

impairment
A reduction in the value of an asset in addition 
to depreciation or in place of amortisation in 
the case of intangible assets with indefinite use-
ful lives. An impairment test is implemented to 
ascertain whether an asset‘s carrying amount is 
higher than its recoverable amount. If necessary, 
the asset is depreciated to its recoverable amount.

international Financial  
Reporting Standards (iFRS) 
This uniform system of accounting rules is inten-
ded to facilitate the task of comparing data bet-
ween companies. In accordance with EU regula-
tions, all listed companies are obliged to adopt 
these rules for reporting and accounting purpo-
ses. 

long-term incentive plan 
A long-term incentive plan or programme (LTIP) 
is a business plan for the creation of long-term 
performance incentives for managerial staff. It is 
essentially a profit-sharing model, which can, for 
example, be used for the issue of (virtual) shares, 
share options or convertible bonds. An LTIP the-
refore forms part of the salary.

Risk management
On-going, systematic and continuous identifica-
tion, analysis, evaluation and control of potential 
risk to which a company‘s assets, financial posi-
tion and income situation are exposed in the me-
dium and long term. The objective is to ensure 
the continued existence of the company, to ensu-
re the achievement of the company‘s objectives 
supported by suitable measures against adverse 
occurrences and to increase the enterprise value.

Segment reporting
Disclosure of earnings and assets data for indivi-
dual areas of business.

Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows shows inflows and 
outflows of cash from the operating business and 
from financing and investing activities over the fi-
nancial year. It also serves to reconcile the levels 
of cash and cash equivalents held at the begin-
ning and end of the financial year. 
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FInanCIaL CaLEndaR 2013*

Financial Calendar 

* provisional dates

June
12 Juni 2013
Annual General Meeting at Haus der Bayerischen 
Wirtschaft, Max-Joseph-Strasse 5, 80333 Munich, 
Germany 

august
8 August 2013
Publication of the interim report  
for 2Q 2013

May
8 May 2013 
Publication of the interim report  
for 1Q 2013

June
27 June 2013
Investors’ meeting at the Pan-European Small & Mid 
Cap Conference 2013 of Bank of America Merrill 
Lynch in London, United Kingdom 

September
23 – 25 September 2013
Investors’ meeting at the German Corporate 
 Conference 2013 of Goldman Sachs and  
Berenberg Bank in Munich, Germany

november
11 - 13 November 2013
Analysts’ meeting at the German Equity Forum 2013 
in Frankfurt am Main, Germany

november
8 November 2013
Publication of the interim report  
for 3Q 2013

1Q 2013

3Q 2013

2Q 2013
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„WE Want to CREatE 
onE oF EURopE´S 
LEadInG IntERnEt 
GRoUpS“.
The Management Board, TOMORROW FOCUS aG
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